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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD
APPLICATION FOR PERMIT

SECTION |. IDENTIFICATION, GENERAL INFORMATION, AND CREGELV E D
This Section must be completed for all projects. 0CT 31 2024

Facility / Project Identification MEALTH FACILITIES &

Facility Name: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

Street Address: 2028 N Seminary St.

City and Zip Code; Galesburg IL 61401

County: Knox Health Service Area: 2 Health Planning Area: C-04

Applicant(s) [provide for each applicant {see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1130.220)]

Exact Legal Name: Graham Hospital Association

Street Address: 210 W Walnut St

City and Zip Code: Canton IL 61520

Name of Registered Agent: Robert Senneff

Registered Agent Street Address: 210 W Walnut St

Registered Agent City and Zip Code: Canton IL 61520

Name of Chief Executive Officer: Robert Senneff

CEQ Street Address: 210 W Walnut St

CEQ City and Zip Code: Canton IL 61520

CEOQ Telephone Number: 309 647 5240

Type of Ownership of Applicants

X Non-profit Corporation ] Partnership
O For-profit Corporation O Governmental
] Limited Liability Company O Sole Proprietorship O Other

o  Corporations and limited liability companies must provide an IHinois certificate of good standing.
o Partnerships must provide the name of the stale in which they are organized and the name and address of each partner
specifying whether each is a general or limited partner.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 1, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

Primary Contact [person to receive ALL correspondence or inquiries]

Name: Robert Senneff

Title: President & CEO

Company Name: Graham Hospital Association

Address:210 W Walnut St

Telephone Number: 309 647 5240

E-mail Address: rsenneff@grahamhospitat.org

Fax Number:

Additional Contact [person who is also authorized to discuss the application for permit]

Name: Allison Sours

Title: Chief Operating Officer

Company Name: Graham Hospital Association

Address: 210 W Walnut St

Telephone Number; 309 647 5240

E-mail Address: asours@grahamhospital.org

Fax Number:
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Post Permit Contact [person to receive all correspondence after permit issuance — this person must be
employed by the licensed health care facility as defined at 20 ILCS 3960]

Name: Robert Senneff

Title: President & CEQ

Company Name: Graham Hospital Association

Address:210 W Walnut St

Telephone Number: 309 647 5240

E-mail Address: rsenneff@gmail.com

Fax Number:

Site Ownership [provide this information for each applicable site]

Exact Legal Name of Site Owner: Graham Hospital Association

Address of Site Owner: 210 W Walnut St. Canton IL 61520

Street Address or Legal Description of the Site: 2028 N. Seminary St. Galesburg IL. 61401

Proof of ownership or control of the site must be provided as Attachment 2. Examples of proof of ownership are property tax
statements, tax assessor's documentation, deed, notarized statement of the corporation attesting to ownership, an option to
lease, a letter of intent to lease, or a lease.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTAGCHMENT 2, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION,

Operating Identity/Licensee [provide this information for each applicable facility and insert after this page]

Exact Legal Name of Site Owner: Graham Hospital Asscciation

Address of Site Owner; 210 W Walnut St. Canton IL 61520

= Non-profit Corporation (] Partnership
O For-profit Corporation ] Governmental
O Limited Liability Company O Sole Proprietorship 1 Other

o  Corporations and limited liability companies must provide an lllinois Cerlificate of Good Standing.

o Partnerships must provide the name of the state in which organized and the name and address of each partner
specifying whether each is a general or limited partner,

o Persons with 5 percent or greater interest in the licensee must be identified with the % of  ownership.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 3, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

Organizational Relationships

Provide (for each applicant) an organizational chart containing the name and relationship of any person or
entity who is related (see 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1130.140 and 1130.220). If the related person or entity is
participating in the development or funding of the project, describe the interest and the amount and type of any
financial contribution.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 4, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

Flood Plain Requirements [refer to application instructions]

Provide documentation that the project complies with the requirements of lllinois Executive Order #2006-5
pertaining to construction activities in special flood hazard areas. As part of the flood plain requirements,
provide a map of the proposed project location showing any identified floodplain areas. Floodplain maps can
be printed at www.FEMA.gov or www.illinoisfloodmaps.org. This map must be in a readable format. In
addition, provide a statement attesting that the project complies with the requirements of lllinois Executive
Order #2006-5. NOTE: A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA AND 500-YEAR FLOODPLAIN
DETERMINATION FORM has been added at the end of this application that must be completed to deem a
project complete.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 5, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

Historic Resources Preservation Act Requirements [refer to application instructions]

Document compliance with the requirements of the Historic Resources Preservation Act.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 6. IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION,
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DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT

1. Project Classification [check as applicable - refer to 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.20 and 1120.20(b))

Part 1110 Classification :

[X] Substantive
| Non-substantive

2, Narrative Description

In the space below, provide a brief narrative description of the project. Explain WHAT is to be done in State Board
defined terms, NOT WHY it is being done. If the project site does NOT have a street address, include a legal description
of the site. Include the rationale regarding the project's classification as substantive or non-substantive.

Graham Health Association proposes to establish a multi-specialty, not-for-profit Ambulatory Surgical
Treatment Center {ASTC), in Galesburg IL. at the Health System’s North Seminary campus. The project will be
new construction. The facility will have two operating rooms and seven recovery bays, as well as all
components required for licensure as an ASTC.

The Graham Hospital Ambulatory Surgery Center’s site is located in HSA 2. Graham Hospital Association is
the sole-owner of the proposed ASTC. The official street address of the facility is 2028 N. Seminary St.
Galesburg, IL 61401.

Construction costs for this project will be below the Certificate of Need benchmark. Additional services within
the North Seminary campus include: state-of-the-art radiology suite (MRI, CT, Mammography, X-Ray, Ultra-
Sound, & Dexa services}, laboratory services, two-room endoscopy center, and physician exam rooms.

This project will be fully funded by Graham Hospital Association. Construction costs for the building are
documented within this application at Fair Market Value {FMV). These are the anticipated actual costs that
Graham Hospital Association will incur to complete all aspects of the project (furniture, fixes, & equipment).

This project proposes to establish a new health care facility and is classified as substantive (20 ILCS 3960/12).
The floor pians for the ASTC are included below and the site for the new construction is defined as follows:
Topography: The proposed project area is in the level to rolling uplands drained by a tributary to Henderson
Creek to the west to the Mississippi. This upland landscape is a loess capped Wisconsinan age glacial till plain.

The west end of the tract steps up dramatically.

Soils: The project area is mapped as Ipava Silt Loam and Sable Silty Clay Loam. These soil series formed under
prairie conditions.

The site was previously used for agriculture. When sold to Graham Hospital Association, the previous owners
intended that the land be used for community benefit. Since purchasing, Graham Health System has
constructed a new multi-specialty clinic which has been operational since August 2024. The ASTC will sit
adjacent to this existing structure.

—— Page4 —
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Project Costs and Sources of Funds

Complete the following table listing all costs {see 77 Ili. Adm. Code Part 1120.110) associated with the project.
When a project or any component of a project is to be accomplished by lease, donation, gift, or other means,
the fair market or dollar value (see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1130.140) of the component must be included in the
estimated project cost. If the project contains non-reviewable components that are not related to the provision
of health care, complete the second column of the table below. Note, the use and sources of funds must equal.

Project Costs and Sources of Funds

USE OF FUNDS CLINICAL NONCLINICAL TOTAL

Preplanning Costs 0.00 0.00 0.00
Site Survey and Soil Investigation 7,235.00 0.00 7,235.00
Site Preparation 168,064.00 0.00 164,064.00
Off Site Work 0.00 0.00 0.00
New Construction Contracts 4,401,263.00 0.00 4,401,263.00
Modernization Contracts 0.00 0.00 0.00
Contingencies 479,433.00 0.00 479,433.00
Architectural/Engineering Fees 205,083.00 0.00 205,083.00
Consulting and Other Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00
D:no%\;?:ri?sc))r Other Equipment (not in construction 2.602,337.49 0.00 2,602,337.49
Bond Issuance Expense (project related) 54,505.40 0.00 54,505.40
Net Interest Expense During Construction {project 0.00 0.00 0.00
related) ’

Fair Market Value of Leased Space or Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Costs to Be Capitalized 0.00 0.00 0.00
Acquisition of Building or Other Property {excluding 0.00 0.00 0.00
land)

TOTAL USES OF FUNDS 7,917,920.89 0.00 7,917,920.89

SOURCE OF FUNDS CLINICAL NONCLINICAL TOTAL

Cash and Securities 3,605,420.89 0.00 3,605.420.89
Pledges 0.00 0.00 0.00
Gifts and Bequests 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bond Issues (project related) 4,312,500.00 0.00 4,312,500.00
Mortgages 0.00 0.00 0.00
Leases (fair market value) 0.00 0.00 0.00
Governmental Appropriations 0.00 0.00 0.00
Grants 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Funds and Sources 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL SOURCES OF FUNDS 7.917,920.89 0.00 7,917,920.89

NOTE: ITEMIZATION OF EACH LINE ITEM MUST BE PROVIDED AT ATTACHMENT 7, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE

END OF THE APPLICATION.
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Related Project Costs

Provide the following information, as applicable, with respect to any land related to the project that will be
or has been acquired during the last two calendar years:

Land acquisition is related to project X Yes ] No
Purchase Price:  $_12,844,57
Fair Market Value: $_24,858.76

The project involves the establishment of a new facility or a new category of service
Yes [1 No

If yes, provide the dollar amount of all non-capitalized operating start-up costs (including operating deficit
through the first full fiscal year when the project achieves or exceeds the target utilization specified in Part 1100.

Estimated start-up and operating deficit costs $ _3,176,459 Start-up; no-anticipated operating deficit

Project Status and Completion Schedules

For facilities in which prior permits have been issued please provide the permit numbers.

Indicate the stage of the project's architectural drawings:

[J None or not applicable (] Preliminary
[] Schematics BJ Final Working

Anticipated project completion date (see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1130.140): July 2026

Indicate the following with respect to project expenditures or to financial commitments (see 77 1ll. Adm. Code
1130.140):

[ ] Purchase orders, leases or contracts pertaining to the project have been executed.
[] Financial commitment is contingent upon permit issuance. Provide a copy of the contingent

“certification of financial commitment” document, highlighting any language related to CON
Contingencies.

X Financial Commitment will occur after permit issuance.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 8, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

State Agency Submittals [see 77 |Il. Adm. Code 1130.620(c)}
Are the following submittals up to date as applicable?
BJ Cancer Registry
X APORS
& Al formal document requests such as IDPH Questionnaires and Annual Bed Reports been submitted
X All reports regarding outstanding permits

Failure to be up to date with these requirements will result in the application for permit being deemed
_incomplete.

- — S N
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Cost Space Requirements-Left blank and included Attachment 9 with ASTC Category

Provide, in the following format, the Departmental Gross Square Feet (DGSF) or the Building Gross Square
Feet (BGSF) and cost. The type of gross square footage {either DGSF or BGSF) must be identified. The sum
of the department costs MUST equal the total estimated project costs. Indicate if any space is being
reallocated for a different purpose. Include outside wall measurements plus the departments or area’s portion
of the surrounding circulation space. Explain the use of any vacated space.

Not Reviewable Space {i.e., non-clinical}: means an area for the benefit of the patients, visitors, staff, or employees of a health care
facility and not direclly related to the dragnosis, treatment, or rehabilitation of persons receiving services from the health care facility.

"Non-clinical service areas” include, bul are not limited to, chapels; gift shops, newssfands; compuler Systems, tunnels, walkways, and
elevalors; telephone systems; projects o comply with life safety codes; educational facilities; student housing, palient, employee, staff, and
visitor dining areas, administration and volunteer offices; modernization of structural components (such as roof replacement and masonry
work); boiler repair or replacement; vehicle maintenance and sforage facilities; parking facilities; mechanical systems for healing,
venlifation, and air conditioning, loading docks, and repair or replacement of carpeting, file, wall coverings, window coverings or
trealments, or furniture. Solely for the purpose of this definition, “non-clinical service area” does not include health and fitness centers,

[see 20 ILCS 3960/3)

GSF Amount of Proposed Total GSF That Is:
_— New . Vacated
Dept. / Area Cost Existing Proposed Const. Modernized Asls Space
REVIEWABLE

Medical Surgical
Intensive Care
Diagnostic Radiology
MRI

Total Clinical
NON-REVIEWABLE
Administrative
Parking

Gift Shop

Total Non-clinical

TOTALS
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 9, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

Facility Bed Capacity and Utilization

Complete the following chart, as applicable. Complete a separate chart for each facility that is a part of the
project and insert the chart after this page. Provide the existing bed capacity and utilization data for the latest
Calendar Year for which data is available. Include observation days in the patient day totals for each bed

service. Any bed capacity discrepancy from the Inventory will result in the application being deemed
incomplete.
FACILITY NAME: Not Applicable to Project | CITY:
REPORTING PERIOD DATES: From: To:
Category of Service Authorized Admissions Patient Bed Changes Proposed
Beds Days Beds
Medical/Surgical
Obstetrics
Pediatrics

Intensive Care

Comprehensive Physical Rehabilitation

Acute/Chronic Mental lliness

Neonatal Intensive Care

General Long-Term Care

Specialized Long-Term Care

Long Term Acute Care

Other (identify)

TOTALS:




CERTIFICATION

The Application must be signed by the authorized representative(s) of the applicant entity (see 77 Nl. Adm.
Code 1130.140). Authorized representatives are:

o inthe case of a corporation, any two of its officers or members of its Board of Directors.

o in the case of a limited liability company, any two of its managers or members {or the sole manager or
member when two or more managers or members do not exist).

o in the case of a partnership, two of its general partners (or the sole general partner, when two or more
general partners do not exist).

o in the case of estates and trusts, two of its beneficiaries {or the sole beneficiary when two or more
beneficiaries do not exist}; and

o inthe case of a sole proprietor, the individual that is the proprietor.

This Application is filed on the behalf of Gj\f OL\\OLW\ H‘D‘B’Pﬁh\ Mwl'w\/\ G

in accordance with the requirements and procedures of the lllinois Health Facilities Planning Act. The
undersigned certifies that he or she has the authority to execute and file this Application on behalf of
the applicant entity. The undersigned further certifies that the data and information provided herein,
and appended hereto, are complete and correct to the best of his or her knowledge and belief. The
undersigned also certifies that the fee required for this application is sent herewith or will be paid
upon request.

P ST e

SlGNAT SIGNATURE
/ g—nmtipdﬁ- e Sows

PRINTED NAME e PRINTED NAME
L]
Fats;mﬁ 4 C£O Cwiet Oatr&hrux Oy
PRINTED TITLE PRINTED TITLE
Notarization: Notarization:
Subscribed and sworn to before me Subscribed and sworn to before me
this day of this day of
Signature of Not Signature of Notary 0’
MONICA J. JONES  } [t -
Seal QOFFICIAL SEAL 4 Seal j "':'\ Mg NIL%?AJ JON i
Notary Public - State of llinois p j ? Notary Public - Staie o
My Commission Expires smor ’éo mwtﬂfe of llinols
May 13, 2026 ia Yy gggixpires

*Insert the EXACT Iegal name of the applicant .
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SECTION . DISCONTINUATION

This Section is applicable to the discontinuation of a health care facility or the discontinuation of more than one
category of service in a six-month period. If the project is for the discontinuation of a health care facility, the
Background of the Applicant(s) and Purpose of Project must be addressed. Also, a copy of the Notices listed
in Item 7 below must be submitted. https:/iwww.ilga.qov/legislation/ilcs/documents/002039600K8.7.htm

Review the criteria and provide the following information: NOT APPLICABLE TO PROJECT

GENERAL INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS (see 77 ll. Adm. Code 1110.290(a)}

1.

2.

Identify the categories of service and the number of beds, if any, that are to be discontinued.
Identify all other clinical services that are to be discontinued.

Provide the anticipated date of discontinuation for each identified service or for the entire facility.
Provide the anticipated use of the physical plant and equipment after the discontinuation occurs.

Provide the anticipated disposition and location of all medical records pertaining to the services being
discontinued and the length of time the records will be maintained.

Provide copies of the notices that were provided to the local media that would routinely be notified about
facility events.

For applications involving the discontinuation of an entire health care facility, provide copies of
the notices that were sent to the municipality in which the facility is located, the State
Representative and State Senator of the district in which the health care facility is located, the
Director of Public Health, and the Director of Healthcare and Family Services. These notices
shall have been made at least 30 days prior to filing of the application.

For applications involving the discontinuation of an entire health care facility, certification by an
authorized representative that all questionnaires and data required by HFSRB or DPH (e.g., annual
questionnaires, capital expenditures surveys, etc.} will be provided through the date of discontinuation,
and that the required information will be submitted no later than 90 days following the date of
discontinuation.

REASONS FOR DISCONTINUATION (see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.290(b)}

The applicant shall state the reason(s) for the discontinuation and provide data that verifies the need for the
proposed action (see 77 lll. Adm, Code 1110.290(b) for examples).

IMPACT ON ACCESS (see 77 [Il. Adm. Code 1110.290(c))

1.

Document whether the discontinuation of each category of service or of the entire facility will have an
adverse effect upon access to care for residents of the facility's market area (see 77 Ill. Adm. Code
1100.510(d)}.

2. Document that a written request for an impact statement was received by all existing or approved
health care facilities (that provide the same categories of services as those being discontinued)
located within the geographic service area.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 10, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTSAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION, |
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SECTION Iil. BACKGROUND, PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT, AND ALTERNATIVES
INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS

This Section is applicable to all projects except those that are solely for discontinuation with no project costs.

Review the criteria and provide the following information:

BACKGROUND OF APPLICANT (77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.110(a))

1. Alisting of all health care facilities owned or operated by the applicant, including licensing and certification, if
applicable.

2. A listing of all health care facilities currently owned and/or operated in lllinois, by any corporate officers or
directors, LL.C members, partners, or owners of at least 5% of the proposed health care facility.

3. For the following questions, please provide information for each applicant, including corporate officers or
directors, LLC members, partners, and owners of at least 5% of the proposed facility. A heaith care facility
is considered owned or aperated by every person or entity that owns, directly or indirectly, an ownership
interest.

a. A certified listing of any adverse action taken against any facility owned and/or operated by the
applicant, directly or indirectly, during the three years prior to the filing of the application.

b. A certified listing of each applicant, identifying those individuals that have been cited, arrested,
taken into custody, charged with, indicted, convicted, or tried for, or pled guilty to the commission of
any felony or misdemeanor or violation of the law, except for minor parking violations; or the
subject of any juvenile delinquency or youthful offender proceeding. Unless expunged, provide
details about the conviction, and submit any police or court records regarding any matters
disclosed.

C. A certified and detailed listing of each applicant or person charged with fraudulent conduct or any
act involving moral turpitude.

d. A certified listing of each applicant with one or more unsatisfied judgements against him or her,

e. A certified and delailed listing of each applicant who is in default in the performance or discharge of
any duty or obligation imposed by a judgment, decree, order or directive of any court or
governmental agency.

4. Authorization permitting HFSRB and DPH access to any documents necessary to verify the information
submitted, including, but not limited to official records of DPH or other State agencies; the licensing or
certification records of other states, when applicable; and the records of nationally recognized accreditation
organizations. Failure to provide such authorization shall constitute an abandonment or withdrawal
of the application without any further action by HFSRB.

5. f, during a given calendar year, an applicant submits more than one application for permit, the
documentation provided with the prior application may be utilized to fulfill the information requirements of
this criterion. In such instances, the applicant shall attest that the information was previously provided, cite
the project number of the prior application, and cerify that no changes have occurred regarding the
information that has been previously provided. The applicant can submit amendments to previously
submitled information, as needed, to update and/or clarify data.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 11, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
EACH ITEM {1-4) MUST BE IDENTIFIED IN ATTACHMENT 11.
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PURPOSE OF PROJECT (77 Iii. Adm. Code 1110.110(b}))

1. Document that the project will provide health services that improve the health care or well-being of the market
area population to be served.

2. Define the planning area or market area, or other relevant area, per the applicant's definition,
3. Identify the existing problems or issues that need to be addressed as applicable and appropriate for the project.
4. Cite the sources of the documentation.

5. Detail how the project will address or improve the previously referenced issues, as well as the population’s health
status and well-being.

6. Provide goals with quantified and measurable objectives, with specific timeframes that relate to achieving the
stated goals as appropriate.

For projects involving modemization, describe the conditions being upgraded, if any. For facility projects, include
statements of the age and condition of the project site, as well as regulatory citations, if any. For equipment being
replaced, include repair and maintenance records.

NOTE: Information regarding the "Purpose of the Project” will be included in the State Board Staff Report.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 12, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
EACH ITEM (-8} MUST BE IDENTIFIED IN ATTACHMENT 12.

ALTERNATIVES (77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.110(d))
1. Identify ALL the alternatives to the proposed project:
Alternative options must include:
A} Proposing a project of greater or lesser scope and cost.
B) Pursuing a joint venture or similar arrangement with one or more providers or entities to meet alt or a
portion of the project's intended purposes; developing alternative settings to meet all or a portion of the

project’s intended purposes,

C) Utilizing other health care resources that are available to serve all or a portion of the population
proposed to be served by the project; and

D) Provide the reasons why the chosen alternative was selected.

2. Documentation shall consist of a comparison of the project to alternative options. The comparison shall address
issues of total costs, patient access, quality, and financial benefits in both the short-term (within one to three years
after project completion) and long-term. This may vary by project or situation. FOR EVERY ALTERNATIVE
IDENTIFIED, THE TOTAL PROJECT COST AND THE REASONS WHY THE ALTERNATIVE WAS REJECTED
MUST BE PROVIDED.

3) The applicant shall provide empirical evidence, including quantified outcome data that verifies improved quality of
care, as available.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 13, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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SECTION IV, PROJECT SCOPE, UTILIZATION, AND UNFINISHED/SHELL SPACE

Review the criteria and provide the following information:

SIZE OF PROJECT (77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.120(a))

1. Document that the amount of physical space proposed for the proposed project is necessary and not excessive.
This must be a narrative and include the basis used for determining the space and the methodology
applied.

2. W the gross square footage exceeds the BGSF/DGSF standards in 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.Appendix B, justify the
discrepancy by documenting one of the following:

a. Additional space is needed due to the scope of services provided, justified by clinical or operational
needs, as supported by published data or studies and cenlified by the facility’'s Medical Director.

b. The existing facility's physical configuration has constraints or impediments and requires an architectural
design that delineates the constraints or impediments.

c. The project involves the conversion of existing space that results in excess square footage.

d. Additional space is mandated by governmental or certification agency requirements that were not in
existence when Appendix B standards were adopted.

Provide a narrative for any discrepancies from the State Standard. A table must be provided in the
following format with Attachment 14,

SIZE OF PROJECT

PROPOSED MET
BGSF/DGSF STATE STANDARD DIFFERENCE STANDARD?

DEPARTMENT / SERVICE

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 14, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

NOT APPLICABLE TO PROJECT

PROJECT SERVICES UTILIZATION (77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.120(b}))

This criterion is applicable to projects or portions of projects that involve services, functions, or equipment for which
HFSRB has established utilization standards or occupancy targets in 77 1ll. Adm. Code 1100,

Document that in the second year of operation, the annual utilization of the service or equipment shall meet or exceed the
utilization standards specified in 77 Il. Adm. Code 1110.Appendix B, A narrative of the rationale that supports the
projections must be provided.

A table must be provided in the following format with Attachment 15,

UTILIZATION
HISTORICAL
DEPT./ (Pﬂlgﬁgg\%) PROJECTED | STATE MEET
SERVICE | (L rarlNTs) | UTILIZATION | STANDARD | STANDARD?
ETC.
YEAR 1
YEAR 2

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 15, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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UNFINISHED OR SHELL SPACE (77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.110(d))

1.

2.

Total gross square footage {GSF) of the proposed shell space.

The anticipated use of the shell space, specifying the proposed GSF to be allocated to each
department, area, or function.

Evidence that the shell space is being constructed due to:
a. Requirements of governmental or certification agencies: or

b. Experienced increases in the historical occupancy or utilization of those areas proposed to
occupy the shell space.

Provide:
a. Historical utilization for the area for the latest five-year period for which data is available; and
b. Based upon the average annual percentage increase for that period, projections of future

utilization of the area through the anticipated date when the shell space will be placed into
operation.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 16, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION,

ASSURANCES (77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.110(e))

1.

Verification that the applicant will submit to HFSRB a CON application to develop and utilize the shell
space, regardless of the capital thresholds in effect at the time or the categories of service involved.

2. The estimated date by which the subsequent CON application (to develop and utilize the subject shell
space) will be submitted; and
3. The anticipated date when the shell space will be completed and placed into operation.
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 17, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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SECTION V. - MASTER DESIGN AND RELATED PROJECTS

NOT APPLICABLE TO PROJECT
This Section is applicable only to proposed master design and related projects.

System Impact of Master Design (77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.130(a))

Provide documentation that addresses the following:

1.

The availability of alternative health care facilities within the planning area and the impact that
the proposed project and subsequent related projects will have on the utilization of such
facilities.

How the services proposed in future projects will improve access to planning area residents.

What the potential impact upon planning area residents would be if the proposed services were
not replaced or developed.

The anticipated role of the facility in the delivery system including anticipated patterns of patient

referral, any contractual or referral agreements between the applicant and other providers that

willresult in the transfer of patients to the applicant's facility.

Master Plan or Related Future Projects (77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.130(b))

Provide documentation regarding the need for all beds and services to be developed and document the
improvement in access for each service proposed. Provide thefollowing:

1.

2.

The anticipated completion date(s) for the future construction or modernization projects; and

Evidence that the proposed number of beds and services is consistent with the need
assessment provisions of Part 1100; or documentation that the need for the proposed number
of beds and services is justified due to such factors, but not limited to:

a.  limitation on government funded or charity patients that are expected to continue.

b. restrictive admission policies of existing planning area health care facilities that are
expected to continue.

c. the planning area population is projected to exhibit indicators of medical care problems
such as average family income below poverty levels or projected high infant mortality.

Evidence that the proposed beds and services will meet or exceed the utilization targets
established in Part 1100 within two years after completion of the future construction of
modernization project(s), based upon:

a. historical service/beds utilization levels.

b. projected trends in utilization (include the rationale and projection assumptions used in
such projections).

c. anticipated market factors such as referral patterns or changes in population
characteristics (age, density, wellness) that would support utilization projections; and
anticipated changes in delivery of the service due to changes in technology, care delivery
techniques or p hysician availability that would support the p r ojected utilization levels.
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Relationship to Previously Approved Master Design Projects (77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.235(c))

Review the criteria which requires that projects submitted pursuant to a master design permit are
consistent with the approved master design project. Provide the following documentation:

1. Schematic architectural plans for all construction or modification approved in the master design
permit.

2. The estimated project cost for the proposed projects and also for the total
construction/modification projects approved in the master design permit.

3. An item-by-item comparison of the construction elements (i.e., site, number of buildings, numberof
floors, etc.) in the proposed project to the approved master design project.

4. Acomparison of proposed beds and services to those approved under the master design permit.

[ APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 18, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

— Page 16 - e



SECTION VI. SERVICE SPECIFIC REVIEW CRITERIA

This Section is applicable to projects proposing to establish, expand, or modernize categories of
service that are subject to CON review. It is comprised of information requirements, as well as charts
for each service, indicating the review criteria that must be addressed for each action. After
identifying the applicable review criteria for each category of service, provide the required information.

A, Medical/Surgical, Obstetric, Pediatric and Intensive Care

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize the Medical/Surgical, Obstetric, Pediatric and/or
Intensive Care categories of service must submit the following information:

Indicate bed capacity changes by Service: Indicate # of beds changed by action(s}:

# Existing # Proposed
Beds Beds

Category of Service

[J Medical/Surgical
[] Obstetric
[] Pediatric
[] Intensive Care

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA Establish | Expand | Modernize
1110.200(b){1) — Planning Area Need - Formula Calculation X

1110.200(b)(2) - Service to Planning Area Residents X X

1110.200(b)(3) - Establishment of Category of Service X

1110.200(b)(4) - Expansion of Existing Category of Service X

1110.200(b)(5} - Service Accessibility X

1110.200(c){1) - Unnecessary Duplication of Services X

1110.200(¢)(2) - Maldistribution X X

1110.200(c)(3) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers X

1110.200{d}{1-3} - Deteriorated Facilities X
1110.200(d)(4) - Occupancy X
1110.200(e) - Staffing Avaitability X X

1110.200(f) - Performance Requirements X X X
1110.200(g) - Assurances X X

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 19, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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B. Comprehensive Physical Rehabilitation

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize the Comprehensive Physical Rehabilitation

category of service must submit the following information:

Indicate bed capacity changes by Service:

Category of Service

[] Comprehensive Physical Rehabilitation

# Existing
Beds

# Proposed
Beds

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

Indicate # of beds changed by action(s):

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA Establish | Expand | Modernize
1110.205(b}{1) — Planning Area Need - Formula Calculation X

1110.205{b){2) - Service to Planning Area Residents X X
1110.205(b)(3) - Establishment of Category of Service X

1110.205(b){4) - Expansion of Existing Category of Service X
1110.205(b)(5) - Service Accessibility X

1110.205(c){1) - Unnecessary Duplication of Services X

1110.205(c)(2) - Maldistribution X

1110.205(c)3) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers X

1110.205(d)(1-3) - Deteriorated Facilities X
1110.205(d)(4) - Occupancy X
1110.205{e)}{1) - Staffing Availability X X

1110.205(f) - Performance Requirements X X X
1110.205(g) - Assurances X X

C. Acute Mental lliness and Chronic Mental lliness

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize the Acute Mental lliness and Chronic Mental

IIness categories of service must submit the foltowing information:

Indicate bed capacity changes by Service:

# Existing

Category of Service

[] Acute Mental lliness

Beds

# Proposed
Beds

[] Chronic Mental lliness

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation;

Indicate # of beds changed by action(s):

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA

Establish

Modernize

1110.210(b)(1) - Planning Area Need - Formula Calculation

1110.210(b)}2) - Service to Planning Area Residents

1110.210(b)(3) - Establishment of Category of Service

1110.210(b){4) - Expansion of Existing Category of Service

1110.210(b)(5} - Service Accessibility

1110.210(c)(1) - Unnecessary Duplication of Services

1110.210(c)(2) - Maldistribution

1110.210(c)(3) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers

2| | X = 2| m

1110.210(d){1-3) - Deteriorated Facilities

1110.210(d)(4) - Occupancy

1110.210(e)(1) - Staffing Availability

X

1110.210(f) - Performance Requirements

X

HK[:|[X

1110.210{g) - Assurances

X

APPEND DOCUMEN_TAﬁON_AS ATTACHMENT 21, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END
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D. Open Heart Surgery

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize the Open-Heart Surgery category of service must
submit the following information.

Indicate bed capacity changes by Service: Indicate # of beds changed by action(s):

# Existing # Proposed

Category of Service Bods Beds

L] Open Heart Surgery

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

1. 1110.220(b){1), Peer Review
Review the criteria and submit a detailed explanation of your peer review program.
2, 1110.220{b}(2), Establishment of Open-Heart Surgery

Review the criteria and provide the following information:
a. The number of cardiac catheterizations (patients) performed in the latest 12-month period
for which data is available.
b. The number of patients referred for open heart surgery following cardiac catheterization at
your facility, for each of the last two years.

3. 1110.220(b){3), Unnecessary Duplication of Services

Review the criteria and address the following:

a. Contact all existing facilities within the established radii of your facility which currently
provide or are approved to provide open heart surgery to determine what the impact of the
proposed project will be on their facility.

b. Provide a sample copy of the letter written to each of the facilities and include a list of the
facilities that were sent letters.

¢. Provide a copy of all the responses received.

4. 1110.220(b)(4), Support Services

Review the criteria and indicate on a service-by-service basis which of the services listed in this
criterion are available on a 24-hour inpatient basis and explain how any services not available on a
24-hour inpatient basis can be immediately always mobilized for emergencies.

5. 1110.220(b)(5), Staffing

Review the criteria and for those positions described under this criteria provide the following informatia
a. The name and qualifications of the person currently filling the job.
b. Application filed for a position,
¢. Signed contracts with the required staff.
d. A detailed explanation of how you will fill the pasitions.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 22, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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E.

Cardiac Catheterization

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize the Cardiac Catheterization category of service
must submit the following information.

Indicate bed capacity changes by Service: Indicate # of beds changed by action{s):

# Existing # Proposed
Beds Beds

Category of Service

[0 cardiac Catheterization

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

1.

1110.225(a), Peer Review

Review the criterion and submit a detailed explanation of your peer review program.
1110.225(b), Establishment or Expansion of Cardiac Catheterization Service
Review the criteria and, if applicable, submit the following information:

a. Amap {on 8 1/2" x 11" paper) showing the location of the other hospitals providing cardiac
catheterization services within the planning area.

b. The number of cardiac catheterizations performed for the last 12 months at each of the
hospitals shown on the map.

c. Provide the number of patients transferred directly from the applicant’s hospital to another
facility for cardiac catheterization services in each of the last three years.

1110.225(c), Unnecessary Duplication of Services
Review the criteria and, if applicable, submit the following information.

a. Copies of the letter sent to all facilities within the planning area that currently provide
cardiac catheterization. This letter must contain a description of the proposed project and a
request that the other facility quantify the impact of the proposal on its program.

b. Copies of the responses received from the facilities to which the letter was sent.

1110.225(d), Modernization of Existing Cardiac Catheterization Laboratories

Review the criterion and, if applicable, submit the number of cardiac catheterization procedures
performed for the latest 12 months.

1110.225(e}, Support Services

Review the criterion and indicate on a service-by-service basis which of the listed services are
available on a 24-hour basis and explain how any services not available on a 24-hour basis will be
available when needed.

1110.225(f), Laboratory Location

Review the criterion and, if applicable, submit line drawings showing the location of the proposed
laboratories. If the laboratories are not in proximity, explain why.
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7. 1110.225(g), Staffing
Review the criterion and submit a list of names and qualifications of those who will fill the positions
detailed in this criterion. Also, provide staffing schedules to show the coverage required by this
criterion.

8. 1110.225(h), Continuity of Care
Review the criterion and submit a copy of the fully executed written referral agreement(s).

9.  1110.225(i), Muiti-institutional Variance

Review the criteria and, if applicable, submit the following information:

a. A copy of a fully executed affiliation agreement between the two facilities involved.

b. Names and positions of the shared staff at the two facilities.

¢. The volume of open-heart surgeries performed for the latest 12-month period at the existing
operating program.

d. A cost comparison between the proposed project and expansion at the existing operating
program.

e. The number of cardiac catheterization procedures performed in the last 12 months at the
operating program.

f.  The number of catheterization laboratories at the operating program.

g. The projected cardiac catheterization volume at the proposed facility annually for the next 2
years.

h. The basis for the above projection.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 23, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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F. In-Center Hemodialysis

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize the In-Center Hemodialysis category of service
must submit the following information:

Indicate station capacity changes by Service: Indicate # of stations changed by action(s):

# Existing # Proposed

R 61/ e Stations Stations

[] In-Center Hemodialysis

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA Establish | Expand | Modernize
1110.230{b}{1) - Planning Area Need - Formula Calculation
1110.230{b)(2) - Service to Planning Area Residents
1110.230(b}(3) - Establishment of Category of Service
1110.230(b}{4) - Expansion of Existing Category of Service
1110.230(b}{5) - Service Accessibility

1110.230{c)(1) - Unnecessary Duplication of Services
1110.230{c)2) - Maldistribution

1110.230{c}¥3) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers
1110.230(d}{1-3) - Deteriorated Facilities and Documentation
1110.230(e) - Staffing

1110.230(f) - Support Services

1110.230{g) - Minimum Number of Stations

1110.230(h} - Continuity of Care

1110.230(1) - Refocation (if applicable)

1110.230(j) - Assurances X |
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 24, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION. |

XK XK K] XXX | XXX

Projects for relocation of a facility from one location in a planning area to another in the same planning area
must address the requirements listed in subsection (a){(1) for the “Establishment of Services or Facilities”, as
well as the requirements in Section 1130.525 - “Requirements for Exemptions Involving the Discontinuation of
a Health Care Facility or Category of Service” and subsection 1110.230{(i) - Relocation of an in-center
hemodialysis facility.
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G. Non-Hospital Based Ambulatory Surgery

Applicants proposing to establish, expand andfor modernize the Non-Hospital Based Ambulatory
Surgery category of service must submit the following information.

ASTC Service

[l Cardiovascular

[J Colon and Rectal Surgery
[J Dermatology
[0 General Dentistry

Bd General Surgery

[J Gastroenterology

[J Neurological Surgery

[0 Nuclear Medicine
Obstetrics/Gynecology

[] ophthalmelogy

[ Oral/Maxillofacial Surgery

X Orthopedic Surgery

(K Otolaryngology

B Pain Management

[ Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation
[J Plastic Surgery

I Podiatric Surgery
[J Radiology

[J Thoracic Surgery
X Urology

[0 other

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA Establish New ASTC | Expand Existing
or Service Service

1110.235(c)(2)(B) - Service to GSA Residents X X

1110.235(c)(3} - Establishment of an ASTC or Additional ASTC Service X

1110.235(c)(4} - Expansion of Existing ASTC Service X

1110.235{c)(5}) - Treatment Room Need Assessment X X

1110.235(c)(B) - Service Accessibility X

1110.235(c)(7)(A) - Unnecessary Duplication X

1110.235(c)(7)(B) - Maldistribution X

1110.235(c)(7XC) - Impact to Area Providers X

1110.235(c)(8) - Staffing X X

1110.235(c)(92} - Charge Commitment X X

1110.235(c)(10} - Assurances X X
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 25, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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H. Selected Organ Transplantation

Applicants proposing to establish or modernize the Selected Organ Transplantation category of service must

submit the following information:

Indicate changes by Service: Indicate # of rooms changed by action(s):

Transplantation Type

O

Beds

# Existing # Proposed

Beds

O

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA

Establish

Modernize

1110.240(b)1) - Planning Area Need - Formula Calculation

1110.240(b)(2) - Service to Planning Area Residents

1110.240(b)(3) - Establishment of Category of Service

1110.240(b)(4) - Service Accessibility

1110.240(c){1) - Unnecessary Duplication

1110.240(c){(2) - Maldistribution

1110.240(c)3) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers

AP g g

1110.240(d){1-3)} - Deteriorated Facilities

1110.240(d){4) - Utilization

1110.240(e) - Staffing Availability

1110.240(f) - Surgical Staff

1110.240{g) - Collaborative Support

1110.240(h) - Suppori Services

1110.240(1) - Performance Requirements

X

1110.240(j} - Assurances

D K| X

X

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 26, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

. Kidney Transplantation

Applicants proposing to establish or modernize the Kidney Transplantation category of service must submit the

following information:

Indicate changes: Indicate # of key rooms by action:

Category of Service Beds

[] Kidney Transplantation

# Existing # Proposed

Beds

Review the applicable criteria below and submit required documentation:

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA

Establish

Modernize

1110.245(b)(1) - Planning Area Need - Formula Calculation

1110.245(b)(2) - Service to Planning Area Residents

1110.245(b){3) - Establishment of Category of Service

1110.245(b){4) - Service Accessibility

1110.245(c)(1) - Unnecessary Duplication

1110.245(c)(2) - Maldistribution

1110.245(c)(3) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers

2 | 3 2 2K

1110.245(d¥{ 1-3) - Deteriorated Facilities

1110.245(d}{4) - Occupancy

1110.245(e) - Staffing Availability

1110.245(f) - Surgical Staff

1110.245(g) - Support Services

1110.245(h) - Performance Requirements

X

1110.245(]) - Assurances

K| P X
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J. Community-Based Residential Rehabilitation Center

A. 1110.260(b){1), Staffing
Review the criteria and provide the following information:

1. A detailed staffing plan that identifies the number and type of staff positions dedicated to the
model and the qualifications for each position.

2. How special staffing circumstances will be handled.

3. The staffing patterns for the proposed center; and

4. The way non-dedicated staff services will be provided.
B. 1110.260(b)(2), Mandated Services

Review the criterion and provide a narrative description documenting how the applicant will provide
the minimum range of services required by Section 35 of the Alternative Health Care Delivery Act.

C. 1110.260(b)(3), Unit Size

Review the criterion and provide a narrative description that identifies the number and location of all
beds in the model. Include the total number of beds for each residence and the total number of beds
for the model.

D. 1110.260(b)(4), Utilization

Review the criterion and provide documentation that the target utilization for the model will be
achieved by the second year of the model's operation. Include supporting information such as
historical utilization trends, population growth, expansion of professional staff or programs, and the
provision of new procedures that may increase utilization.

E. 1110.260(b)(5), Background of Applicant

Review the criterion and provide documentation that demonstrates the applicant's experience in
providing the services required by the model. Provide evidence that the programs offered in the
model have been accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities as a
Brain Injury Community-Integrative Program for at least three of the last five years.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 28, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE LAST END OF THE APPLICATION.
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K. Long Term Acute Care Hospital

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize Long Term Acute Care Hospital Bed projects
must submit the following information;

Indicate the bed service(s} and capacity changes by Service:
Indicate the # of beds by action(s):

# Existing # Proposed

Category of Service

LTACH
Intensive Care

Beds Beds

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA Establish | Expand | Modernize
1110.265(b)(1) - Planning Area Need - Formula Calculation X
1110.265(b)}(2) - Service to Planning Area Residents X X
1110.265(b)(3) - Establishment of Category of Service X
1110.265(b)(4) - Expansion of Existing Category of Service X
1110.265(b)(5) - Service Accessibility X
1110.265(c)(1) - Unnecessary Duplication X
1110.265(c)(2) — Maldistribution X
1110.265(c)(3) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers X
1110.265(d}{1-3) - Deteriorated Facilities X
1110.265(d){4) - Occupancy X
110.265(e) - Staffing Availability X X
1110.265(f} - Performance Requirements X X X
1110.265{(g) - Assurances X X
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 29, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

L. Clinical Service Areas Other than Categories of Service

Applicants proposing to establish, expand andfor modernize Clinical Service Areas Other than categories of
service must submit the following information;

indicate changes by Service: Indicate # of key room changes by action(s):

Service # Existing # Proposed

Key Rooms Key Rooms

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

Project Type Required Review Criteria
New Services or Facility or Equipment (b) - Need Determination — Establishment

Service Modernization (c)(1) — Deteriorated Facilities
and / or
(cX2) - Necessary Expansion
Plus
(c}3XA) - Utilization — Major Medical Equipment
or
(c)(3)B) - Utilization — Service or Facility
|_APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 30, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION,

T Page 26 -——— -——— —~ o



Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services

1110.280 - Establishment of Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services

Review the criteria and provide the following information:

1.

Projected Utilization — Provide the projected number of patient visits per day for each treatment station in
the FEC based upon 24-hour availability, including an explanation of how the projection was determined.
(see 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.280(c){3)}(B)

The identification of the municipality of the FEC and FECMS and the municipality's population as
reported by the most recently available U.S. Census Bureau data. (see 77 . Adm. Code
1110.280(b)(5))

The identification of the hospital that owns or controls the FEC and the distance of the proposed FEC
from that hospital, including an explanation of how that distance was calculated. (see 77 I, Adm. Code
1110.280(b)(5)B))

The identification of the Resource Hospital affiliated with the FEC, the distance of the proposed FEC
from that Resource Hospital, {including an explanation of how that distance was calculated), and
identification of that Resource Hospital's EMS system, including certification of the hospital's Resource
Hospital status. (see 77 Ili. Adm. Code 1110.280(b){(5)(C))

Certification signed by two authorized representative(s) of the applicant entity(s) that they have
reviewed, understand and plan to comply with both of the following requirements (see 77 Ill. Adm. Code
1110.280(b)6)):

A) The requirements of becoming a Medicare provider of freestanding emergency services; and

B) The requirements of becoming licensed under the Emergency Medical Services Systems Act
[210 ILCS 50/32.5].

Area Need, Service to Area Residents - Document the proposed service area and projected patient
volume for the proposed FEC (see 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110,280(c)}):

A) Provide a map of the proposed service area, indicating the boundaries of the service area, and
the total minutes travel time from the proposed site, indicating how the travel time was
calculated.

B) Provide a list of the projected patient volume for the proposed FEC, categorized by zip code.
Indicate what percentage of this volume represents residents from the proposed FEC's service
area.

C} Provide either of the following:

a) Provide letters from authorized representatives of hospitals, or other FEC facilities,
that are part of the Emergency Medical Services System (EMSS) for the defined
service area, that contain patient origin information by zip code, {each letter shall
contain a cerlification by the authorized representative that the representations
contained in the letter are true and correct. A complete set of the letters with original
notarized signatures shall accompany the application for permit), or

b) Patient origin information by zip code from independent data sources {e.g., lWinois
Health and Hospital Association COMP data or IDPH hospital discharge data), based
upon the patient's legal residence, for patients receiving services in the existing
service area's facilities’ emergency departments (EDs), verifying that at least 50% of
the ED patients served during the last 12-month period were residents of the service
area.

Area Need; Service Demand — Historical Utilization (see 77 lll. Adm, Code 1110.280(c)(3)XA)}

A} Provide the annual number of ED patients that have received care at facilities that are in the
FEC's service area for the latest two-year period prior to submission of the application.
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10.

11.

12,

Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services (continued)

B) Provide the estimated number of patients anticipated to receive services at the proposed FEC,
including an explanation of how the projection was determined.

Area Need; Service Accessibility - Document one of the following (using supporting documentation as
specified in accordance with the requirements of 77 Nl. Adm. Code 1110.280(c)(4)B) Supporling
Documentation):

A) The absence of the proposed ED service within the service area.
B) The area population and existing care system exhibit indicators of medical care problems.
C) All existing emergency services within the 30-minute normal travel time meet or exceed the

utilization standard specified in 77 Il Adm. Code 1100,

Unnecessary Duplication - Document that the project will not result in an unnecessary duplication by
providing the following information {see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.280{d)(1)):

A) A list of all zip code areas (in total or in part) that are located within 30 minutes normal travel
time of the project's site.

B) The total population of the identified zip code areas {based upon the most recent population
numbers available for the State of lllinois population); and

C} The names and locations of all existing or approved health care facilities located within 30
minutes normal travel time from the project site that provide emergency medical services.

Unnecessary Maldistribution - Document that the project will not result in maldistribution of services by
documenting the following {see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.280(d)2)):

A) Historical utilization {for the latest 12-month period prior to submission of the application) for
existing ED departments within 30 minutes travel time of the applicant's site; or

B) That there is not an insufficient population to provide the volume or caseload necessary to
utilize the ED services proposed by the project at or above utiiization standards.

Impact on Area Providers (see 77 Ifl. Adm. Code 1110.280(d)(3)) ~ Document that, within 24 months
after project completion, the proposed project will not lower the utilization of other service area providers
below, or further below, the ulilization standards specified in 77 ll, Adm. Code 1100,

Staffing Availability - Document that a sufficient supply of personnel will be available to staff the service
{see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.280(f)).

1410.280 — Expansion of Existing Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services

Review the criteria and provide the following information:

1.

The identification of the municipality of the FEC and FECMS and the municipality’s population as
reported by the most recently available U.S. Census Bureau data. (see 77 . Adm. Code
1110.280(b)(5)A))

The identification of the hospital that owns or controls the FEC and the distance of the proposed FEC
from that hospital, including an explanation of how that distance was calculated. {see 77 lll. Adm. Code
1110.280(b)5)B}))

The identification of the Resource Hospital affiliated with the FEC, the distance of the proposed FEC
from that Resource Hospital (including an explanation of how that distance was calculated), and
identification of that Resource Hospital's EMS system, including certification of the hospital’s Resource
Hospital status. {(see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.280(b)}(5)(C))

Provide copies of Medicare and EMS licensure, in addition to certification signed by two authorized
representative(s) of the applicant entity(s), indicating that the existing FEC complies with both of the
following requirements (see 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.280{a)(bXA} and (B)):
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Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services (continued)

A) The requirements of being a Medicare provider of freestanding emergency services; and
B) The requirements of being licensed under the Emergency Medical Services Systems Act [210
ILCS 50/32.5).
5. Area Need; Service to Area Residenls - Document the proposed service area and projected patient

volume for the expanded FEC (see 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.280(c)(2)):

A) Provide a map of the proposed service area, indicating the boundaries of the service area, and
the total minules travel time from the expanded FEC, indicating how the travel time was
calculated.

B) Provide a list of the historical (latest 12-month period) patient volume for the existing FEC,

categorized by zip code, based on the patient's legal residence. Indicate what percentage of
this volume represents residents from the existing FEC's service area, based on patient's legal
residence.

6. Staffing Availability - Document that a sufficient supply of personnel will be available to staff the service
{(in accordance with the requirements of 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.280(f)).

C. 1110.280 - Modernization of Existing Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services

Review the criteria and provide the following information:

1. The historical number of visits {based on the latest 12-month period} for the existing FEC.

2. The identification of the municipality of the FEC and FECMS and the municipality’s population as
reported by lhe most recently available U.S. Census Bureau data. (see 77 Il. Adm. Code
1110.280(b)(5)(A))

3. The identification of the hospital that owns or controls the FEC and the distance of the proposed FEC
from that hospital, including an explanation of how that distance was calculated. (see 77 IIl. Adm. Code
1110.280({b)(5)(B}))

4, The identification of the Resource Hospital affiliated with the FEC, the distance of the proposed FEC

from that Resource Hospital, (including an explanation of how that distance was calculated), and
identification of that Resource Hospital's EMS system, including certification of the hospital's Resource
Hospital status. (see 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.280.(b)(5)(C))

5. Provide copies of Medicare and EMS licensure, in addition to cerification signed by two authorized
representative(s} of the applicant entity(s), indicating that the existing FEC complies with both of the
following requirements (see 77 Ill. Adm. Code 1110.280(b)(6){A) and {B)):

A) The requirements of being a Medicare provider of freestanding emergency services; and
B) The requirements of being licensed under the Emergency Medical Services Systems Act [210
ILCS 50/32.5].
6. Category of Service Modemization - Document that the existing treatment areas to be modernized are

deteriorated or functionally obsolete and need to be replaced or modemized due to such factors as, but
not limited to high cost of maintenance, non-compliance with licensing or life safety codes, changes in
standards of care, or additional space for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes. Documentation shall
include the mosl recent IDPH Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMMS) Inspection reports,
and Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations reports. Other documentation shall
include the following, as applicable to the factors cited in the application, copies of maintenance reporis,
copies of citations for life safety code violations, and other pertinent reports and data.

I APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 31, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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N. BIRTH CENTER

Applicants proposing to establish, expand and/or modernize a Birth Center must submit the following

information:

Indicate the bed service(s) and capacity changes by Service:
Indicate the # of beds by action(s):

Category of Service
[] Birth Center

# Existing

Beds

# Proposed
Beds

Review the applicable criteria below and submit the required documentation:

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA Establish | Expand | Modernize
1110.285(c)(2} - Service to Area Residents X X

1110.285(c)(3) - Service Accessibility X X

1110.285(d)(1) - Unnecessary Duplication X

1110.285(d)(2) - Maldistribution X

1110.285(d)(3-4) - Impact of Project on Other Area Providers X

1110.285(e) - Modernization X
1110.285(f) - Staffing Availability X

1110.285{g) - Charity Care X

1110.285{h) - Admission Policies X

1110.285({i) - Transfer Agreement and Hospital Proximity X

1110.285(j) - Prenatal Care and Community Education X

1110.285(k) - Quality Assurance X -
APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 32, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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SECTION VII. AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS (77 ILL. ADM. CODE 1120.120)

This criterion DOES NOT need to be addressed by the applicants or co-applicants responsible for
funding or guaranteeing the funding of the project if the applicant has a bond rating of A- or better
from Fitch's or Standard and Poor's or a rating of A3 or better from Moody's. The rating shall be
affirmed within the latest 18-month period prior to the submittal of the application.

The applicant shall document that financial resources are available and are equal to or exceed the estimated
total project cost plus any related project costs by providing evidence of sufficient financial resources from the
following sources, as applicable (Indicate the dollar amount to be provided from the following sources):

X a}

b)

¢}

e)

9)

Cash and Securities - statements {e.g., audited financial statements, letters from financial
institutions, board resolutions) as to:

1) the amount of cash and securities available for the project, including the identification of
any security, its value and availability of such funds; and

2) interest to be eamed on depreciation account funds or to be earned on any asset from the
date of applicant's submission through project completion.

Pledges - for anficipated pledges, a summary of the anticipated pledges showing anticipated
receipts and discounted value, estimated timelable of gross receipts and related fundraising
expenses, and a discussion of past fundraising experience.

Gifts and Bequests - verification of the dollar amount, identification of any conditions of use, and
the estimated timetable of receipts.

Debt - a statement of the estimated terms and conditions (including the debt time, variable or
permanent interest rates over the debt time, and the anticipated repayment schedule) for any
interim and for the permanent financing proposed to fund the project, including:

1) General obligation bonds, proof of passage of the required referendum or evidence that
the governmental unit has the authority to issue the bonds and evidence of the dollar
amount of the issue, including any discounting anticipated.

2) Revenue bonds, proof of the feasibility of securing the specified amount and interest rate.

3) For mortgages, a letter from the prospective lender attesting to the expectation of making
the loan in the amount and time indicated, including the anticipated interest rate and any
conditions associated with the morigage, such as, but not limited to, adjustable interest
rates, balloon payments, elc.

4) For any lease, a copy of the lease, including all the terms and conditions, including any
purchase options, any capital improvements to the property and provision of capital
equipment.

5) For any option to lease, a copy of the option, including all terms and conditions.

Governmental Appropriations - a copy of the appropriation Act or ordinance accompanied by a
statement of funding availability from an official of the govermmental unit. If funds are to be made
available from subsequent fiscal years, a copy of a resolution or other action of the governmental
unit attesting to this intent.

Grants - a letter from the granting agency as to the availability of funds in terms of the amount
and time of receipt.

All Other Funds and Sources - verification of the amount and type of any other funds that will be
used for the project.

TOTAL FUNDS AVAILABLE

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 33, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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SECTION Vill. FINANCIAL VIABILITY

This criterion DOES NOT need to be addressed by the applicants or co-applicants responsible for
funding or guaranteeing the funding of the project if the applicant has a bond rating of A- or better
from Fitch's or Standard and Poor's rating agencies, or a rating of A3 or better from Moody's. The
rating shall be affirmed within the latest 18-month period prior to the submittal of the application.

All applicants and co-applicants shall be identified, specifying their roles in the project funding, or guaranteeing
the funding (sole responsibility or shared) and percentage of participation in that funding.

Financial Viability Waiver NOT APPLICABLE TO PROJECT

Financial viability ratios are not required if:
1. The applicant has an “A” Bond rating or better (see 77 lIl. Adm. Code 1120.20(b(3)); or
2. All the project's capital expenditures are completely funded through internal sources; or

3. The applicant’s current debt financing or projected debt financing is insured or anticipated to be
insured by MBIA (Municipal Bond Insurance Association Inc.) or equivalent; or

4. The applicant provides a third-party surety bond or performance bond letter of credit from an A rated
guarantor.

See 77 IIl. Adm. Code 1120.130(b) for information to be provided.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 34, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.

The applicant or co-applicant that is responsible for funding or guaranteeing funding of the project shall
provide viability ratios for the latest three years for which audited financial statements are available and for
the first full fiscal year at target utilization, but no more than two years following project completion.
When the applicant's facility does not have facility specific financial statements and the facility is a member of
a health care system that has combined or consolidated financial statements, the system’s viability ratios shall
be provided. [f the health care system includes one or more hospitals, the system's viability ratios shall be
evaluated for conformance with the applicable hospital standards.

[y : Historical Three Years Projected
P Ente:r Hlshtmo:I::al and/or Projected Years: 2021 2022 2023 2024
Current Ratio 1.49 1.56 1.19 1.30
Net Margin Percentage 3.5% 3.0% 1.1% -2.0%
Percent Debt to Total Capitalization 27.8% 28.2% 29.6% 30.6%
Projected Debt Service Coverage 36 7.3 2.9 1.8
Days Cash on Hand 501.1 426.8 388.7 380.3
Cushion Ratio 39.08 29.58 25.72 26.38

Provide the methodology and worksheets utilized in determining the ratios detailing the calculation
and applicable line item amounts from the financial statements. Complete a separate table for each
co-applicant and provide worksheets for each,

Variance
Applicants not in compliance with any of the viability ratios shall document that another organization,

public or private, shall assume the legal responsibility to meet the debt obligations should the
applicant default.




This criterion DOES NOT need to be addressed by the applicants or co-applicants responsible for
funding or guaranteeing the funding of the project if the applicant has a bond rating of A- or better
from Fitch's or Standard and Poor's rating agencies, or a rating of A3 or better from Moody's. The

SECTION IX. ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY

rating shall be affirmed within the latest 18-month period prior to the submittal of the application.

A. Reasonableness of Financing Arrangements (77 lll. Adm. Code 1120.140{a))

The applicant shall document the reasonableness of financing arrangements by submitting a notarized
statement signed by an authorized representative that attests to one of the following:

1)

2)

That the total eslimated project costs and related costs will be funded in total with cash and
equivalents, including investment securities, unrestricted funds, received pledge receipts and
funded depreciation; or

That the total estimated project costs and related costs will be funded in total or in part by
borrowing because:

A) A portion or all the cash and equivalents must be retained in the balance sheet asset
accounts to maintain a current ratio of at least 2.0 times for hospitals and 1.5 times for all
other facilities; or

B) Borrowing is less costly than the liquidation of existing investments, and the existing
investments being retained may be converted 1o cash or used to retire debt within a 60-
day period.

B. Conditions of Debt Financing (77 . Adm. Code 1120.140(b))

This criterion is applicable only to projects that involve debt financing. The applicant shall document that the
conditions of debt financing are reasonable by submitting a notarized statement signed by an authorized
representative that attests to the following, as applicable:

1)
2)

3}

That the selected form of debt financing for the project will be at the lowest net cost available.

That the selected form of debt financing will not be at the lowest net cost available but is more
advantageous due to such terms as prepayment privileges, no required mortgage, access to
additional indebtedness, term (years), financing costs and other factors.

That the project involves (in total or in part) the leasing of equipment or facilities and that the
expenses incurred with leasing a facility or equipment are less costly than constructing a new
facility or purchasing new equipment,

C. Reasonableness of Project and Related Costs (77 lll. Adm. Code 1120.140(c)}

Review the criterion and provide the following: |dentify each department or area impacted by the  proposed
project and provide a cost and square footage allocation for new construction and/or modernization using the
following format (insert after this page).

COST AND GROSS SQUARE FEET BY DEPARTMENT OR SERVICE
A B8 c D E F G H
Department Total Cost
(Listbelow) | Cost/Square Foot Gross Sq. Ft. Gross Sq. Ft. Const. $ Mod. § (G +H)
New Mod. New Circ.* | Mod. Circ.” (AxC) (B xE)

ASTC $565.96 8,436 $4,774,410 $4,774,410
Contingency | $56.83 $479,433 $479,433
TOTALS $622.79 8,436 $5,253,843 $5,523,843
* Include the percentage (%) of space for circulation
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Projected Operating Costs (77 lll. Adm. Code 1120.140(d))

The applicant shall provide the projected direct annuat operating costs (in current dollars per equivalent
patient day or unit of service) for the first full fiscal year at target utilization but no more than two years

following project completion. Direct cost means the fully allocated costs of salaries, benefits and supplies
for the service.

Total Effect of the Project on Capital Costs (77 llIl. Adm. Code 1120.140(e))

The applicant shall provide the total projected annual capital costs (in current dollars per equivalent

patient day) for the first full fiscal year at target utilization but no mare than two years following project
completion.

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 36, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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SECTION X. SAFETY NET IMPACT STATEMENT

SAFETY NET IMPACT STATEMENT that describes all the following must be submitted for ALL SUBSTANTIVE
PROJECTS AND PROJECTS TO DISCONTINUE HEALTH CARE FACILITIES [see 20 ILCS 3960/5.4]:

1. The project's material impact, if any, on essential safety net services in the community, including the impact on
racial and health care disparities in the community, to the extent that it is feasible for an applicant to have such
knowledge.

2. The project's impact on the ability of another provider or health care system to cross-subsidize safety net services, if
reasonably known to the applicant.

3. How the discontinuation of a facility or service might impact the remaining safety net providers in each community, if
reasonably known by the applicant.

Safety Net Impact Statements shall also include all the following:

1. For the 3 fiscal years prior to the application, a certification describing the amount of charity care provided by the
applicant. The amount calculated by hospital applicants shall be in accordance with the reporting requirements for charity
care reporting in the llinois Community Benefits Act. Non-hospital applicants shall report charity care, at cost, in
accordance with an appropriale methodology specified by the Board [see 20 ILCS 3960/5.4(d){1)].

2. For the 3 fiscal years prior to the application, a certification of the amount of care provided to Medicaid patients. Hospital
and non-hospital applicants shall provide Medicaid information in a manner consistent with the information reported each
year to the lllinois Department of Public Health regarding "Inpatients and Qutpatients Served by Payor Source™ and
“Inpatient and Outpatient Net Revenue by Payor Source" as required by the Board under Section 13 of this Act and
published in the Annual Hospital Profile.

3. Any information the applicant believes is directly relevant to safety net services, including information regarding
teaching, research, and any other service.

A table in the following format must be provided as part of Attachment 38,

SAFETY NET INFORMATION
CHARITY CARE
Charity (# of patients) 2023 2022 2021
Inpatient 10 7 10
Outpatient 518 315 421
TOTALS 528 3322 431
Charity (cost in dollars)
Inpatient $314,353 $422,730 $726,634
Outpatient |  $1,211,633 $1,316,901 $2,263,631
TOTALS $1,525,086 $1,739,631 $2,990,265
MEDICAID
Medicaid (# of patients) 2023 2022 2021
Inpatient 580 655 566
Outpatient 62,734 57,275 56,712
TOTALS 63,314 57,930 57,278
Medicaid (revenue)
Inpalient |  §2 228 220 $2,048,291 $2,125,689
Qutpatient |  $7,978,932 $7,056,290 $6,392,133
TOTALS $10,207,152 $9,104,581 $8,517,822

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS ATTACHMENT 37, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION,
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SECTION X!I. CHARITY CARE INFORMATION

Charity Care information MUST be furnished for ALL projects (see 77 Iil. Adm. Code 1120.20(c)).

1. All applicants and co-applicants shall indicate the amount of charity care for the latest three audited
fiscal years, the cost of charity care and the ratio of that charity care cost to net patient revenue.

2. If the applicant owns or operates one or more facilities, the reporting shall be for each individual facility
located in lllinois. If charity care costs are reported on a consolidated basis, the applicant shalil provide
documentation as to the cost of charity care; the ratio of that charity care to the net patient revenue for
the consolidated financial statement; the allocation of charity care costs; and the ratio of charity care
cost to net patient revenue for the facility under review.

3 If the applicant is not an existing facility, it shall submit the facility's projected patient mix by payer
source, anticipated charity care expense and projected ratio of charity care to net patient revenue by
the end of its second year of operation.

Charity care means care provided by a heaith care facility for which the provider does not expect to receive
payment from the patient or a third-party payer {20 ILCS 3960/3]. Charity Care must be provided at cost.

A table in the following format must be provided for all facilities as part of Attachment 38.

CHARITY CARE
2023 2022 2021
Net Patient Revenue $103,846,242 $93,018,619 $82,056,144
Amount of Charity Care (charges) $3,558,636 $3,437,553 $4,146,565
Cost of Charity Care $1,525,986 $1,739,631 $2,990,265

APPEND DOCUMENTATION AS CHMENT 38, IN NUMERIC SEQUENTIAL ORDER AT THE END OF THE APPLICATION.
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SECTION XIi. SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA AND 500-YEAR FLOODPLAIN
DETERMINATION FORM

In accordance with Executive Order 2006-5 (EO 5}, HFSRB must determine if the site of the CRITICAL
FACILITY, as defined in EOQ 5, is in a mapped floodplain (Special Flood Hazard Area) or a 500-year
floodplain. All state agencies are required to ensure that before a permit, grant or a development is
planned or promoted, the proposed project meets the requirements of the Executive Order, including
compliance with the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) and state floodplain regulation.

1. Applicant: _Graham Hospital Association 210 W. Walnut St.
(Name) {Address)
Canton L 61520 309 647 5240

(City) T (State) (ZIP Code) (Telephone Number)

2. Project Location: 2028 N Seminary St. Galesburg, IL
(Address) {City) (State)
Knox
(County) {Township) (Section)

3. You can create a small map of your site showing the FEMA floodplain mapping using the FEMA
Map Service Center website (hitps:/msc.fema.qov/portal/lhome) by entering the address for the
property in the Search bar. If a map, like that shown on page 2 is shown, select the Go to NFHL

)
Viewer tab above the map. You can print a copy of the floodplain map by selecting the
icon in the top corner of the page. Select the pin tool icon 9 and place a pin on your site. Print
a FIRMETTE size image.

If there is no digital floodplain map available select the View/Print FIRM icon above the aerial
photo. You will then need to use the Zoom tools provided to locate the property on the map and
use the Make a FIRMette tool to create a pdf of the floodplain map.

IS THE PROJECT SITE LOCATED IN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA?
Yes___No _x

IS THE PROJECT SITE LOCATED IN THE 500-YEAR FLOOD PLAIN? No

If you are unable to determine if the site is in the mapped floodplain or 500-year floodplain, contact
the county or the local community building or planning department for assistance.

If the determination is being made by a local official, please complete the following:

FIRM Panel Number:__ | ToA 14 Effective Date: 10/4/2024

Name of Official: Keith J. Plavec P.E. Title: Project Manager

Business/Agency:_Maurer-Stutz, INC. Address: 1670 East Ash St.

Canton IL 61520 309 647 5240
(City) {State) {ZIP Code) (Telephone Number)

Signature:_See enclosed letter on Attachment 38. Date:




NOTE: This finding only means that the property in question is or is not in a Special Flood Hazard Area
or a 500-year floodplain as designated on the map noted above. It does not constitute a guarantee that
the property will or will not be flooded or be subject to local drainage problems.

If you need additional help, contact the lllinois Statewide Floodplain Program at 217-782-4428.

After paginating the entire completed application indicate, in the chart below, the page numbers for the
included attachments:

INDEX OF ATTACHMENTS
ATTACHMENT
NO, PAGES
1 | Applicant Identification including Certificate of Good Standing !
2 | Site Ownership A=p_|

3 | Persons with 5% or greater interest in the licensee must be identified with the
percent of ownership.

4 | Organizational Relationships (Organizational Chart) Certificate of Good Standing, 7 X
Etc. ¥
5 | Flood Plain Requirements “-to
6 | Historic Preservation Act Requirements lf-51
7 | Project and Sources of Funds ltemization -4
8 | Financial Commitment Document if required Te-57
9 | Cost Space Requirements
10 | Discontinuation
11 | Background of the Applicant T=-bf
12 | Purpose of the Project b%.gg
13 | Alternatives to the Project
14 | Size of the Project 70

15 | Project Service Utilization

16 | Unfinished or Shell Space

17 | Assurances for Unfinished/Shell Space

Service Specific:
18 | Medical Surgical Pediatrics, Obstetrics, ICU

19 | Comprehensive Physical Rehabilitation

20 | Acute Mental lliness

21 | Open Heart Surgery

22 | Cardiac Catheterization

23 | In-Center Hemodialysis

#4 | Non-Hospital Based Ambulatory Surgery Ti-twp
25 | Selected Organ Transplantation

26 | Kidney Transplantation

27 | Community-Based Residential Rehabilitation Center
28 | Long Term Acute Care Hospital

29 | Clinical Service Areas Other than Categories of Service
30 | Freestanding Emergency Center Medical Services

31 | Birth Center

Financial and Economic Feasibility:

| 3542 | Availability of Funds //i-,g(;:
33 | Financial Waiver
25 @ | Financial Viability N

35 | Economic Feasibility .
36 | Safety Net Impact Statement -
37 | Charity Care Information A

38 | Flood Plain Information \A-3e5
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File Number 0971-173-2

I, Alexi Giannoulias, Secretary of State of the State of Illinois, do
hereby certify that I am the keeper of the records of the

Department of Business Services. I certify that

GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, A DOMESTIC CORPORATION, INCORPORATED
UNDER THE LAWS OF THIS STATE ON OCTOBER 16. 1905, APPEARS TO HAVE
COMPLIED WITH ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THE GENERAL NOT FOR PROFIT

CORPORATION ACT OF THIS STATE. AND AS OF THIS DATE. IS IN GOOD STANDING AS
A DOMESTIC CORPORATION IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS.

InTestimony Whereof, 1 iereto set

my hand and cause to be affixed the Great Seal of
the State of Illinois, this 29TH

dayof OCTOBER A.D. 2024 .

Authenticabon B 2430304602 vesilable unlf 10/2972025 W ﬂ'l /

Authenticata 8L hitpe Jiwww B3os gov
SECRETARY OF STATE
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantor has caused its name to be signed to these presents
by its members on January 3, 2023,

GRANTOR:  Schachirup Enterpriscs Managemenit Company, LLC,
an Ulinois limited liability company

By: s“ﬁf&‘ Aebahte
te hachtrup, Manager 1~

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF KNOX

1, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for Knox County, Illinois, DO HEREBY
CERTIFY that Stephen Schachtrup and F. Michael Schachtrup, not personally, but as
managers of Schachtrup Enterprises Management Company, LI1.C, an 1llinois Limited
Liability Company, ("Grantor”), are personally known to me to be the same persons
whose names are subscribed to the foregoing decd and that they appearcd before me this
day in person and acknowledged that as such member, they signed and delivered this deed
as their free and voluntary act, for the uses and purposcs therein sct forth.

GIVEN under my hand and Official Seal on January 3, 2023.

ﬂotary %ﬁlc ’; . k k

OFFICIAL SEAL

NOT,
1Y COMMISSION EXPIRES 10-41-200%
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Chief County Assessmant Office
121 §. Prairie Street, Suita 1
Galesburg, It 81401

KNOX COUNTY ASSESSMENT NOTICE

8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday thru Friday

Date of Notice: 09/05/2024

GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION

Pin {Patcal} No : 99-03.225-009
%LONV_I‘! "::A:-LNI%T ST DENNY SCHACHTRUP SD
ON, IL 61520 PHASE 2 QUTLOT AS3 T11
R{ DOOCKETH
24-048-00000
§903-226-008 & 009 100%
3.80 Acros
Property Value
Asgessad Valuation
12023) Prior Yoar {2024) Current Yoar Reason for
Current Year's velustion change
jeroperty Type
Landiat or farm homesite 2,030 0
Noa Farm Buildings ] 0
Farmiand 4] 1,750 REASSESSMENT
Fam buildinga/siructuras 0 ¢
Tolal 2.030 1,750

Percant Change from prier year 1o current yoar: -13.79%

2024 Full Fake Cash Volue $0 1 ! i

Assessmonts of property, other than farmiang and coal, aré requved to be aszetsed et 33 1/3% of is fair marke! value

Alocs! tgwnship equalization factar, based on a 3 yor sales rotio study from 2021-2023, WAS appdad to tha values shown above,
{encop! for farmiand & farm burdings), to actiove the 33 173% The oqualization factor fs: ____1.0328 for CITY OF GALESBURG
Township.

Assossmont chenges wil be publishod in the Tofkrarng newspagar: THE BURG

Publication date: 09/05/2024 Prica por copy. $1,00
Homestead Exemptions: Exemptions marked wil be subiracied trom the Equalizad Assessed Value
Gangral Homestead Examplion Refurning Vetsrans' Homestead Exsmption |
Senior Citzen Homestend Exemplan Dmadlad Persons” He ) Exgmpton
Low-Income Senioe Citgren Exemption Fraeze Crsablod Voterany' H tead Exemption
Horms Improvamant Exermption Disablod Veterans' Homestaad Exomption (Spadial adaptod housing}

Steps to Review and Appes! Your Property's Assessment

Step 1. Review your | A cotated doscription and assessmont reconds of ol parcels wihin your tovnship‘multi-toanship are availatie i the
property’s rocords township/multi-lownship ol5ca or on the ntemot st WY c0 knox lusidepliassossmant-olion for paroels in Knox County.

to discuss your lownship psseasor,
property’s ) )
sssossment, LAURA E WILLIAMS Phone: (309) 342.1108

121 W. TOMPIINS ST,
GALESBURG Il 61401

Step 2. Questiona? 1 you belleve tha ull fair marke? value of YOUr propesty i Incoftecl, of its as3essed vaug s nol uniform wab other
Contact your sssesaor Comparatia propartes In yout Bres. of an errar has boen made, (2.9, property characlerstics), you may talk 1o your

Step 3. Howtofilc an | NOTE wa have ail new rules and forms for 2024, In ordar to determmne standinyg o f8q & complant, See Section C papa 7

roprasent you or hive your altomey represent you at the hearing.

assessment appesl & 8 of the Knox County Board of Review Rulgs, You mey nppoal your assessment to the Knox County Board of Rovigw,

with the Knox Courty | Appoals must ba fiod by the deadine dale shown, (30 days alter the publication date of tho a3sessment changes by CCAQ

Board of Roview? n tho newspaper). If you file 199, your appoeal wit not be heard, Board of Roview complain forms, and complant rules ang
Procodures are avilable in the Board of Review office o on king at WAW,C0 kNoX | r g

FILING DEADLINE | xnox County Board of Review Phong. (309 ) 345-3845
121 8. Prairio Street, Swle 1

BY4pPM. Golesturg, I 81401
10/07/2024
Step 4. Board of Revigw the Board of Roview's tenimive decision made baved on avdence submiltod with your appeal, If not satisfiod with
Review Declslons the tantative dectsion, roquos! and attend o hesring. You may represont yoursel, 9ive someone lagal powear of sltomay o

Review detenming from the notico if you want to £ 8 further appaal 10 the State Property Yax Appoal Board

Step 5. Notica of Final | The Board of Raview witl mail you a notice of its fnal docision on tha Bsseseed vaug And carlly aszassed values.
Declslon by Board of equallzation by 1he board of revaw) fo’ the County Cheek to axtond 1ax0s for tha collection of Proporty thxes You can

{aftor

Attachment 2 Page 1 of 5
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Chief County Assessmant Office
121 S. Praine Street, Suite 1

-

Lo b ]

Galesburg, I 61401

KNOX COUNTY ASSESSMENT NOTICE
8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday thru Friday

Date of Nolice: 09/05r2024

g
i

GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION
210 W WALNUT ST
CANTON, IL 61520

Pin (Parcel) No.: 99-03-226-008
DEKNY SCHACHTRUF 30
PHASE 2LOT4 83 TR
DOOCKETHN 24-048.00009
99-03.228-008 & 000 100%
EXEMPT BY STATE

EXCEPT
36 50 Acres
Property Value
Assessed Valustion
{2023). Prior Year {2024) Currant Yoar Reason for
Pr Type Current Year's valuation change
Land/lot or farm homasite 2!.2'-30 o
Nen Farm Bubdings [ [}
Farmiann a 24020 REASSESSMENT
Farm butdingsiairuciuros a 0
| Total 21,230 24.020

Porcont Chonge from prios yoat o cutrent ynar 13 (4%

2024 Full Fair Cosh Value 30 iog Entniend and Farm Bulldings}

Aseezzmentz of property, other then farmlsnd and coal, are required 1o bo assessed at 33 173% of its 13k markel valyg

Alocal towrahip equaiization factor, basad on 8 3 year asles ralio study from 2021-2023, WAS appltod 1o the values shoun above,
(excopt for tarmiand & Farm buitdings), io achiava the 33 1/3% Tho equalizabon Iactor is: 10028 for CITY OF GALESBURG

Township

Aszessment changes wé bs published In the lolkang nawspoper THE BURQ
Publcation gate: 09/05/2024

Price per copy: $1.00

Homaestead Exemplions: Exomptons marked will be sublracted from the Equntizod Assossed Vauo

Ganeral Homestead Exemplion

Retuming Velerans' Homostead Exemnpton

Senior Citizen Homestand Exemption

Daabled Parsona’ Homostoad Exempgion

Low-Incormo Senlor Citizen Exemption Freeze

Dsadlod Vaterans' Hi d E xamption

Home improvement Exempilon

Disablad Vetarans' Homeglead Examplan {Special adapted hosing)

Steps to Review and Appes| Your Property’s Assessmant

Step 1. Review your | A detaled dosoription and nssassmant records of aif parcels within yout lownshipimuti-townahip ara available ri the
property’s records towrship/muli-Lownship office or on the infomat at wa €0 KpOxX (LuNGeRassassmant-office for parcals in Knox County
Step 2. Questions? If you betava the full fair markat valus of your (HOpoMy 15 MOGITECE, O NS 33EAS50d VAILE B N0 NFOT with other
Contact your assessor | compamble prepertios v your aroa, of an effor has boen made, (0.0.. property characteristica). you may talk (o your

to discuss your oranahip aasassor.

property's :

Riaees . LAURA € WILLIAMS Phone: (300) 342-1108

121 W, TOMPKINS ST.
GALESBURG L 61401

Step 3. How to file an
assessment appeal
with the Knox County
Board of Review?

FILING DEADLINE

NOTE we have a1l new rules and forma lor 2024, in ordar 1o detnrming slanding 1o fie a complainl, Sea Saction G poga 7
& 3 of the Knox County Board of Raviaw Rules You may appeal your azsessmant to the Knox County Board of Raviev
Appeals must de filed by tha deadling dato shown, {30 days after ihe publicat:on date of the 335a3SMont changes by CCAD
in the newspapor) If you the late. your appenl wil not be heard. Board of Review complaint forms, and complaint ndas pard
procedures org avallablo in the Board of Haview offica or on fine at wiaw £o knax 8 ysigentiassassment-ofice,

Knox County Board of Rowew
121 5. Prairiy Sveet, Swio 1

Phone. (309 ) 345-2845

8Y4pP.M. Galesburg, L 61401
10/07/2024
Step 4. Board of Reoviaw the Board of Roview's tentative docision made bazed on avidence submiited with your appeal If not satinf-ed with
Roview Declsions the lanlative decision, request and attend a hoRrng. You may repraton] yourselr, give someone legal power of atiomay to

reprasont you of have your attomoy repteaent you al the haaring

Stop 5. Motice of Final
Owclsion by Board of
Raviow

The Board of Reviaw will mad you & notice of its final dacision on the a33es500 value and cedily assessed valucs, (afier
oqualizaon by the bosrd of rgview) for the County Cletk 1o axtend taxes for tho collaction of property taxes. You can
datarmina from the nntics If you want to fle a further appesl 10 the State Property Tax Appaal Board

Attachment 2 Page 2 of 5



Non-Homestead Property Tax Exemption §
Certificate

—a
-05 l2
A
ne

Auvgust 1, 2024

@ LT
ROBERT SENNEFF

210 WWALNUT ST Lotter 1D: L0250851624
02/02 CANTON, IL 81520-2444 Decision Date:  August 1, 2024
County: Knax
Docket no.: 24-048-00009

Co Reference No:

Property Ovmer or applicant: GRAMAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION
Valid from 1712024 to 1213172024

We have determined that the organization, identified above, has met the exemption qualifications necessary to receive a non-
homestead propetty tax exemption under 35 ILCS 200/15-86

Property index number, laga! description, or both;

99-03-226-008 and 99-03-226-009 are exempt excopt for the 28 1 acres leased as farmiand { not in exempl use)

You will need to file an annyal affidavit using Form PTAX-300.HA with the CCAQ on or before January 31 of each year

H you do not agree, you must file a protost with us, the lflinols Department of Revenue, and request an administrative
hearing within 60 days of this notice. Your request must be in wriling, must clearly indicate thal you want to prolest. and stale

concisely the mistakes alioged to have been made or the new evidence to be presented (351LCS 200/8-35(b)). Inciude the

Revenue docket number, listad above, on all correspandence regarding this proporty. Mail or fax your reques! 1o the address or
number listed below.

number are below

David Harris, Director

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
EXEMPTION SECTION MC 3-520
ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
101 WEST JEFFERSON STREET
SPRINGFIELD IL 62702

217 785-2252
217 524-1966 fax

cc: Clerk of Board of Review, County Clerk

ITAX-301-CCet (N-01/23)

P O00024

Attachment 2 Page 3 of 5



Prepared hy:

Patrick C. Egan

Egan Law, LLC

Hawthome Business Center
2101 Windish Drive
Galesburg, LL 61401

Mail Tax Bills and
Rctum to:

Graham Hospital Association,

an lllinois not-for-profit corporation
210 W, Walnut $1,

Canton, I1. 61520

AR ERTE AN DT TR I

1084333
SCOTT 6 ERICKSON
KHOX COUNTY CLERK & RECORDER
GALESBURG, ILLINDIS
01/04/2023 97:02 AN

PAREES: 2
RHSP SLRCHARGE FEE .00
RECORDING FEE 64.00
$7 REV FEE $,175.00
CTY REV FEE 2,587.50

company, of Peoria Heights, llinois, for an
considcration, and pursuant 1o the authority

WARRANTY DEED
JLimited Liability Company]

THE GRANTOR, Schachtrup Enterprises Mmmfcmcm Company, LLC, an [llinois limited linbility

in consideration of $2.00 and other valuable
given by the Managers and Members of said company,
CONVEYS AND WARRANTS 1o GRANTEE Graham Hospital Association, an llinois not-for-

profit corporation, of Canton, IL, the following-described real estate:

Lot 4 of the Benny Schachtrup Subdivision Phasc 2, being a resubdivision of

Lot 2 of Benny Schachtrup Subdivision, being a part of the Northeast Quarter of
Scction 3, Township 11 North, Range 1 East of the Fourth Principal Meridian, City
of Galesburg, Knox County, Illinois, as set forth on Plat dated January 9, 2015, and
recorded May 1, 2015, in Book 41 Plats at Page 38 as Document No. 1025457

PIN: 99-03-226-008

No Common Address

Outlot A of the Benny Schachirup Subdivision Phase 2, being a resubdivision of Lot
2 of Benny Schachtrup Subdivision, being a part of the Northeast Quarter of Section
3, Township 11 North, Range 1 East of the Fourth Principal Meridian, City of
Galesburg, Knox County, Iilinois, as set forth on Plat dated January 9, 2015, and
recorded May 1, 2015, in Book 41 Plats at Page 38 as Document No. 1025457,
PIN: 99-03-226-009

No Common Address

Subject to general taxes for 202) and subsequent years. Subject 1o any restrictions and
casements of record.
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File Number 0971-173-2

Pt

To all to whom these Presents Shall Come, Greeting:

I, Alexi Giannoulias, Secretary of State of the State of Illinois, do
hereby certify that I am the keeper of the records of the

Department of Business Services. I certify that

GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, A DOMESTIC CORPORATION, INCORPORATED
UNDER THE LAWS OF THIS STATE ON OCTOBER 16, 1905. APPEARS TO HAVE
COMPLIED WITH ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THE GENERAL NOT FOR PROFIT
CORPORATION ACT OF THIS STATE, AND AS OF THIS DATE. IS IN GOOD STANDING AS
A DOMESTIC CORPORATION IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS.

InTestimony Whereof, 1 hcreto set

my hand and cause to be affixed the Great Seal of
the State of Hlinois, this 29TH

dayof OCTOBER A.D. 2024 .

20
Authentication 8. 2430304802 verifiable unlt 102072025 W d'. /

Aulhenticate al hips Siwrww iisos.gov
SECRETARY OF STATE

Attachment 3 - Page 1 of 1



Attachment 4 — Organizational Chart of Facilities

Organizational Chart

Graham Hospital Association

Graham Medical Group
Center for Ambulatory Surgery
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fIN MAURER-STUTZ

ENGINMEERS SURVEYORS
October 4, 2024

Mr. Robert Senneff, President & CEQ
Graham Medica! Group

210 West Walnut Strect

Canton, IL 61520

RE: Floodplain at the Graham Medical Clinic in Galesburg, IL

Dear Mr. Scnncfl,

Maurer-Stutz, Inc. was asked to review the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)
{loodplain maps to determine if the proposed surgical center at the current Graham Medical
Clinic located at 2028 North Seminary Strect in Galesburg is in a floodplain.

From our review of the FEMA website, the entire Graham Medicat Group property at this
location in Galesburg, Illinois, is listed as Zone X which is defined as an area of minimal flood
hazard. See the enclosed FEMA FIRMette that was produced from FEMAs website for your
reference. '

Pleasc contact me if you have any further questions regarding this matter.

Sincerely,
MAURER-STUTZ, INC.

Kgith J. Plavec, P.E.

1670 East Ash Stroe! » Canton, lflinols 61520
TEL 309-847-7831 + FAX 309-847-6155
mstlz.com

Attachment 5 - Page 1 of 2
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SHPO LOG NUMBER: 019041923

ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY SHORT REPORT Reviewer: Date:
State Historic Preservation Office Accepted _ Rejected
Onc Natural Resources Way IHPA usc only (FORM ASSR0889)

Springfield, [llinois 62702 {217-785-4997)

SHPO LOG NUMBER: 019041923
Title: A Phasc | Archacological Survey of the Proposed Galesburg Seminary Street Clinic

LOCATIONAL INFORMATION AND SURVEY CONDITIONS:
County: Knox
Quadrangle: Galesburg East 7.5-minute

Funding or Permitting Agency :FEPA

Sec:3 Town: TIIN Range: RIE
Natural Division: 7a

Project Description: A Phase | archacological survey was conducted for a proposed development in the northern portion of the City of
Galesburg (Figure 1). .

Topography: The proposed project area is in the level to rolling uplands drained by a tributary to Henderson Creek to the west to
the Mississippi. This upland landscape is a locss capped Wisconsinan age glacial till plain. The west end of the tract steps up
dramatically..

Soils: The project arca is mapped as Ipava Silt Loam and Sable Silty Clay Loam. These soil series formed under prairie
conditions.

Land Use/Ground Cover (Include % Visibility): The proposed project area consists of fallow bare ground and weeds, yielding a
rangc from 10 to 60 percent ground surface visibility with .most of the arca near the upper limit of this range.

Survey Limitations: The visibility was generally good but could have been better. There were also numerous picces of high-
quality Burlington shatter which confused us initially until we had cxamined enough of them to realize they were modem.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL INFORMATION

Sources:
Andreas and Lyter

1870  Hlustrated Atlas Map of Knox County, Illinois. Andrcas and Lyter, Davenport.
Ogle, George A.

1903 Standard Atlas of Knox County, lllinois. George A, Ogle, Chicago.
Thompson, M.H.

1861  Map of Knox County, Tllinois. M.H. Thompson, Chicago.
USGS

1927 Galesburg 15-Minute Quadrangle. U.S. Geological Survey, Washington, D.C.

Previously Reported Sites: No sites in the project area:

Previous Surveys: No archacological surveys in the project arca.

Regional Archacologists Contacted: lllinois Inventory of Archaeological Sites

Investigation Technique: Ficld investigation began with archival research of map sources and the IAS site file followed by

ficldwork consisting of pedestrian survey under good conditions at a 5 m intervals across the project arca. Though there had been
a farmstead on the tract in the past, there are currently no buildings there.

Acres: ca. 3 Sq. m: 12, 140 Time Expended: ca. 3 person hours
Materials: yes Sites/Spots Located: 11KN362
Collection Techniques: total observation Curated at: WIARC

“ Prl,‘ludnmﬂf (o



SHPO LOG NUMBER: 019041923

Recommendation: The pedestrian survey and background research found one new archacological site (11KX362). Due to the
twentieth century age, site 11KX362 is not considered cligible for listing on the NRHP, 1t is recommended that the project area
be cleared from an archacological perspective.

Phase I Archacological Reconnaissance Has Located No Archacological Material; Project Clearance is Recommended.
X Phasc [ Archaeological Reconnaissance Has Located Archacological Materials; Site(s) Does (Do) Not Meet
Requirements For National Register Eligibility; Project Clearance [s Recommended.

Phase | Archacological Reconnaissance Has Located Archaeological Materials; Site(s) May meet Reguirements For
National Register Eligibility; Phase [ Testing ts Recommended.
Phasc 11 Archacological Investigation Has Indicated That Site(s) Does (Do) Not Mcet Requirements For National Register
Eligibility; Project Clearance Is Recommended.
Phase Il Archacological Investigation Has Indicated That Site(s) Mcet Requirements For National Register Eligibility;
Formal Report [s Pending and a Determination of Eligibility is Recommended.

Comnents: We got a good look at this tract and arc confident there are no significant cultural resources there.

ARCHAEQOLQGICAL CONTRACTOR INFORMATION:
Archacological Contractor: Lawrence A. Conrad
Address: 3100 W. Adams, Macomb, IL 61455 / Phone: 309-333-6783

Surveyor(s): Lawrence Conrad, Fred Finney Survey Date(s): Junc 20, 2023
Report Completed by: Lawrence A. Conrad Date: June 23, 2023

Submitted By (signature and titlc);

Attachment Check List:  (#1 Through #4 Are Mandatory)

X 1) Relevant Portion of USGS 7.5 Topographic Quadrangle Map(s) Showing Project Location And Any Recorded Sites

X 2) Project Map(s} Depicting Survey Limits and, When Applicable, Approximate Site Limits and Concentrations of Cultural
Materials.

X 3) Site Forin(s): Two Copies of Each Form,

nfa 4) All Relevant Preject Correspondence.

X 5) Additional Information Sheets as Necessary.

Address of Owner/Agent’/Agency To Whom SHPO Comment Should Be Mailed:
Contact Person: Jason Myetich

Maurer-Stutz, Inc

1670 East Ash Street

Canton, [L 61520 Phone:

Reviewer's Comments:

List of Figures

|. Project Location (LISGS).

2. Skectch Map for Project Areca.

3. The 1861 Knox County Wall Map.

4. The 1870 Knox County Atlas.

5. The 1903KnoxCounty Atlas.

6. The 1927 Galesburg | 5-minute Quadrangle.
7. Acrial Photograph of Project Area.

frtuchment (o



SHPO L.OG NUMBER: 019041923

TOPO! map printed on 06/20/23 from "Untitled.tpo”
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Figure 1. Project Location (base map from USGS Galesburg East 7.5-minute Quadrangle).
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SHPO LOG NUMBER: 019041923

——————— = ———— T

—_ _!| ————— —1:- _____ -I I‘ - ! B ‘\ .
' ' | g5 -
| | | “I I |
| : i : e,
| 8 ....--_'L':j."."'_"'.'._lj}_u SINeSses I 32R:int
| Q I TN P |
5 | soms! ':m |
-2 ~
I ey (L1
Iii e : = I
lgi | corn field |
Hij | - —— - | .
_:!-.'.-_..._- i LS ’ | o1 g-':u
| IR 22| e
! - !- ’ % 1
! 4 ,_%“‘_[ | FeRE
| ey ! ‘ 4 L A E ‘E
i Nl 0 o f
.-u,- bdre_, weeds, corn 1 :
= '_‘_ﬁtubble 10—6,0% ,,f : msi&'.-
I "E’;,_ h E E el 1 - Xl
'-:"'}: - EUE-‘H.! \ ¥ ' e

"~ Nemr

residences

a” i
Al

=l

l

Figure 2. Sketch Map for the Project Area (from map supplied by cliemt). The Project Area is outlined in red.
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Figure 6. The 1927 Galesburg 15-Minute Quadrangle showing the Project Area (USGS 1927).
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SHPO LOG NUMBER: 019041923

Figure 7. Aerial Photograph of the Topography surrounding the Project Area (from Google Earth). The Project Area is outlined
n red.
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I8 Pritzker, Govarnor * Natalie Phelps Finnie, Director
INlinois One Natural Resources Way ¢ Springfield, lllinois 62702-1271

Department of www.dnr.illinois.gov
Natural
Ml Resources

Knox County PLEASE REFER TO: SHPO LOG #019041923
Galesburg

North Seminary Street

IEPA, MSI-24123001

New construction, medical clinic - Graham Medical Group Galesburg Clinic

May 8, 2023
SURVEY REQUEST
Jason Myetich
Maurer-Stutz, Inc.
1670 E. Ash 5t.
Canton, IL 61520

Dear Mr. Myetich:

The lllinois State Historic Preservation Office is required by the Illinois State Agency Historic Resources Preservation Act (20 ILCS 3420, as
amended, 17 TAC 4180) to review all state funded, permitted or licensed undertakings for their effect on cultural resources. We have
received information indicating that the referenced project will, under the state law cited above, require comments from our office and our
comments follow. Should you have any contrary information, please contact our office at the number below.

According to the information provided to us concerning your proposed project, apparently there is no federal involvement in your project.
However, please note that the state law is less restrictive than the federal cultural resource laws concerning archaeology, therefore if your
project will use federal loans or grants, need federal agency permits or federal property then your project must be reviewed by us under a
slightly different procedure under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended. Please notify us immediately if such is the
case.

The project area has a high probability of containing significant prehistoric/historic archaeological resources. Accordingly, a Phase I
archacological reconnaissance survey to locate, identify, and record all archacological resources within the project area will be required, in
addition to the survey we will also need clear photographs of all structures in, or adjacent to, the current project area. This decision is base
upon our understanding that there has not been any large scale disturbance of the ground surface (excluding agricultural activities) or maj:
construction activity within the project area which would have destroyed existing cultural resources prior to your project. If the area has
been disturbed, please contact our office with the appropriate written and/or photographic evidence. The area(s) that need(s) to be
surveyed (within the zone that needs to be surveyed) include(s) all area(s) that will be developed as a result of the issuance of the state
agency permit(s) or the granting of the state funds or loan guarantees that have prompted this review. Enclosed you will find an attachme
briefly describing Phase I surveys and listing archaeological contracting services. A COPY OF QUR LETTER WITH THE SHPO LOG
NUMBER SHOULD BE PROVIDED TO THE SELECTED PROFESSIONAL ARCHAEOLOGICAL CONTRACTOR TQ ENSURE THAT TH
SURVEY RESULTS ARE CONNECTED TO YOUR PROJECT PAPERWORK.

If you have further questions, please contact Jeff Kruchten, Chief Archacologist at 217/785-1279 or Jeffery.kruchteniillinois.gov.
Sincerely,

caAa-(L.Mmfar

Carey L. Mayer, AIA
Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer

Enclosure {see website)
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JB Pritzker, Governer » Natahie Phelps Finnie, Director
lilinois One Natural Resources Way » Springfield, linois 62707-1271

Department of www.dnr.illinois.gov
Natural
AlResources

Knox County PLEASE REFER TO: SHPO LOG #007060524
W of N Seminary St & Mayo Dr

Section:3-Township: | IN-Rangc: 1E

TEPA, MSI-24123001

New Construction, Graham Medical Group Clinic

June 9, 2024

Jason Myectich
Maurer-Stutz, Tnc.
1670 E. Ash St.
Canton, IL 61520

The Tllinois State Historic Preservation Office is required by the Illinois State Agency Historic Resources Preservation Act (20 TLCS 342(
as amended, 17 TAC 4180) to review all statc undertakings for their effect on cultural resources. Pursuant to this requirement, we have
received information regarding the above referenced project for our comment.

According to the information provided there is no federal involvement in your project. Be aware the state law is less restrictive than the
federal cultural resource laws concerning archacology. If your project will use federal loans or grants, need federal agency permits, use
federal property, or involve assistance from a federal agency, then your project must be reviewed under the National Historic Preservation
Act of 1966, as amended. Please notify us immediately if such is the case.

Our files do not identify any known historic properties within this proposed project area, nor is it within the high probability area for
archaeological resourcces as defined in the state Act. Accordingly, this project is EXEMPT pursuant to Scction 6 of the Hlinois State
Agency Historic Resources Preservation Act. An archacological survey for your above referenced project is not required under Illinois lay
as there is no public funding and it is not on public land. Please know, however, we are always receptive to reviewing the results of any d
diligence survey coverages that may help prevent unanticipated discoveries during construction.

This does not pertain to any discovery during construction, nor is it a clearance for purposes of the Illinois Human Remains Protection Ac
(20 ILCS 3440).

If further assistance is needed please contact Jeff Kruchten, Principal Archacologist, at 217/785-1279 or jeffkruchteni@illinois.gov,

Sincerely,

CﬂmL.Mzu{of

Carey L. Mayer, ATA
Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer

Hactheont ¢



JB Pritzker, Governor * Natalie Phelps Finnie, Ditector
One Natural Resources Way » Springfield, Hilinois 627021271
y * apring

Department of www.dnr.illinois.gov

Natural
Al Resources

Knox County PLEASE REFER TO: SHPO LOG #019041923
Galesburg

North Seminary Street

11KX362, Section:3-Township:11N-Range:1E

IETA, MSI-24123001

New construction, medical clinic - Graham Medical Group Galesburg Clinic

July 24, 2023

Lawrence A. Conrad

Western IL Archaeology Research Center
3100 West Adams Road

Macomb, IL 61455

Dear Mr. Conrad:

The Illinois State Historic Preservation Office is required by the Ilinois State Agency Historic Resources Preservation Act (20 ILCS 3420, as
amended, 17 1AC 4180) to review all state funded, permitted or licensed undertakings for their effect on cultural resources. Pursuant to thi
we have received information regarding the referenced project for our comment.

Our staff has reviewed the specifications under the state law and assessed the impact of the project as submitted by your office. We have
determined, based on the available information, that no significant historic, architectural or archacological resources are located within the
proposed project area.

According to the information you have provided concerning your proposed project, apparently there is no federal involvement in your
project. However, pleasc note that the state law is less restrictive than the federal cultural resource laws concerning archaeology. If your
project will use federal loans or grants, need federal agency permits, use federal property, or involve assistance from a federal agency, then
your project must be reviewed under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended. Please notify us immediately if such is ti
case.

This clearance remains in effect for two (2) years from date of issuance. It does not pertain to any discovery during construction, nor is it a
clearance for purposes of the IL Human Skeletal Remains Protection Act (20 TLCS 3440).

Please retain this letter in your files as evidence of compliance with the Illinois State Agency Historic Resources Preservation Act.

If further assistance is needed please contact Jeff Kruchten, Principal Archaeologist at 217/785-1279 or jeffery. kruchten@illinois.gov.

Sincerely,

Cﬂm-(L.Ma.-.for

Carey L. Mayer, ATA
Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer

s Hachient ¢



MNMAURER-STUTZ

ENGINEERS SURVEYORS
April 19, 2023

State Historical Preservation Office - IDNR
Attn: Review & Compliance

One Natural Resources Way

Springfield, llinois 62702

Re:  Graham Medical Group Galesburg Clinic
SHPO Project Review and Sign-off
MSI Project No. 24123001

Dear Reviewer;

The purpose of this correspondence is to solicit comments and/or a sign-off letter from the
Illinois Historic Preservation Agency for the Graham Medical Group Galesburg Clinic. Please
find enclosed for your information a copy of the preliminary project drawings.

Construction is planned to begin in the Summer of 2023 and after all permits have been obtained.
The project will include the construction of a medical clinic on a 7.0-acre site on the west side of
North Seminary Street south of Carl Sandberg Drive. The project will include a 13,672sf
commercial building, concrete parking lot, site utilities, storm detention, and site grading. The
work will take place on private property and in the right-of-way of North Seminary Street within
the City of Galesburg in Knox County.

All proposed work will be governed by the requirements of the latest editions of the Standard
Specifications for Water & Sewer Main Construction in Illinois, the llinois Department of
Transportation Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction, all State & City
Building Codes, and in addition to any requirements placed on the project by permits required by
the State and City of Galesburg.

If you have any questions or require any further clarifications regarding this matter, please do not
hesitate to contact me at (309) 647-7831.

Sincerely,
MAURER-STUTZ, INC.

T I42)

Jason MyeticT
Project Engineer

Enclosures
cc: file

0:241-Civil\2023\24123001.00 - GMG Galesburg Clinic\Permitting\IHPA\IHPA Leuter.doc

1670 East Ash Street » Canton, Hlinois 61520
TEL 308-647-7831 « FAX 309-647-6155
maurerstutzinc.com
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MYMAURER-STUTZ

ENGINEERS SURVEYORS

June 5, 2024

State Historical Preservation Office - IDNR
Attn: Review & Compliance

One Natural Resources Way

Springfield, Ilinois 62702

Re:  Graham Medical Group Galesburg Clinic
SHPO Project Review and Sign-off
MSI Project No. 24123001

Dear Reviewer:

The purpose of this correspondence is to solicit comments and/or a sign-off letter from the
Illinois Historic Preservation Agency for the Graham Medical Group Galesburg Clinic. Please
find enclosed for your information a copy of the preliminary project drawings.

Construction is planned to begin in the Summer of 2024 and after all permits have been obtained.
The project will include the construction of a medical clinic on a 15.5-acre site on the west side
of North Seminary Street south of Carl Sandberg Drive. The project will include a commercial
medical building, concrete parking lot, site utilities, storm detention, and site grading. The work
will take place on private property and in the right-of-way of North Seminary Street within the
City of Galesburg in Knox County.

All proposed work will be governed by the requirements of the latest editions of the Standard
Specifications for Water & Sewer Main Construction in Illinois, the Illinois Department of
Transportation Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction, all State & City
Building Codes, and in addition to any requirements placed on the project by permits required by
the State and City of Galesburg.

If you have any questions or require any further clarifications regarding this matter, please do not
hesitate to contact me at (309) 647-7831.

Sincerely,
MAURER-STUTZ, INC.

Enclosures
cc: file

0:\241-Civil\2023124123001 .00 - GMG Galesburg Clinic - 2024 Revisions & Additions\Permitting ITHPA 2024\ THPA Letter doc

1670 East Ash Streat » Canton, iflinois 61520
TEL 309-647-7831 » FAX 309-647-6155
maurerstutzinc.com
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Attachment 7

Designh Development Budget

DD Documents dated 10/04/2024
8,436 Square feet

Description of Work Cost / SF Cost

General Conditions $37.26 5314,338
Demolition $1.53 $12,930
Building Concrete/Excavation $18.68 $157,620
Masonry $31.04 $261,830
Structural/Misc. Steel $3.91 $33,000
Rough Carpentry - Trusses/Walls $34.13 $287,955
Finish Carpentry $27.36 $230,841
Siding I $2.74 $23,094
Roofing $11.23 594,735
Dr/Fr/ Hw $16.72 $141,027
Glass / Windows / Aluminum $11.42 $96,310
Studs / Drywall / Acoust / Insulation $33.16 $279,700
Flooring $21.22 $179,000
Painting $0.00 $0
Specialties $8.25 $69,627
Elevator $0.00 1)
Fire Protection $6.84 $57,735
Plumbing $34.38 $290,000
Heat/Vent/Controls 5102.90 $868,034
Electrical $94.82 $799,900
Subtotal $497.59 54,197,676
Overhead & Profit (4.85%) $24.13 $203,587
Building Total $521.72 $4,401,263

50
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Attachment 7

Description of Work

Cost/SF Cost
Sitework $14.22 $120,000
Site Concrete $4.78 $40,290
Site Utilities - Storm Only $0.00 $0
Fencing I $0.00 $0
Utilities (Ameren, Mediacom, Mid Century $0.00 $0
Site Subtotal $19.00 $160,290
Owerhead & Profit (4.85%) $0.92 $7.774
Siteworlk Total $19.92 $168,064
Construi:tion Total $541.65 $4,569,327
Contingency (5%) $456,933
Winter Condition Allowance $22,500
Unsuitatile Soils Allowance $0
Suneying/GeoTech $0
Exsiting Improvements $0
Owerhead & Profit (4.85%) $0
Plannin[g Total $0
Architectural Design $140,000
Civil Design/Sunveying $23,000
MEP Design $26,900
Landscaping Design $0
Design Misc tems $5,607
Design Subtotal $195,597
Overhead & Profit (4.85%) $9,486
Design Total $205,083
PROJE(ET GRAND TOTAL $622.79 $5,253,844
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Attachment 7

Movable or Other Equipment Detail

Qty Item Description Unit Price | Total Price
4 |patient Cart -Big Wheel Stretcher $ 11,11591 | $  44,463.64
7 |Patient Wall Monitor S 11,0230 S 77,161.70
7 |Oxygen Wall Regulator S 50.00 | $ 350.00
7 {Suction Mount with Regulator $ 366.62 | $ 2,566.34
5 |TV - Bradfield's LG 28" Healthcare TV S 395.00 | 5 1,975.00
S |Flat Screen Bolt Down Stand - Bradfield's 5 4500 | 225.00
S |White Boards36x24 $ 2950 [ 147.50
25 |Waiting Chairs 3 24471 | S 6,117.75
1 |Trash Can s 150.00 | $ 150.00
10 |Glove Box Wall Holder S 39.00 | $ 390.00
1 |Large Hamper with Lid 5 669.59 | 5 669.59
6 |EME Bag Dispenser - Medline Emesis Bag Dispenser S 14.27 | & 85.62
1 [Standard Crash Cart - Uline Cabinet 5 525.00 | $ 525.00
1 Defibrillator - ACLS Lifepak 20 $ 10,000.09 | S 10,001.09
1 {Supply Cart S 1,32545| 5 1,325.45
12 |55helf Wire Rack S 248.84 | § 2,986.08
1 |Hamper - Small S 121.48 | § 121.48
1 |Hamper - Large S 248,22 | § 248.22
9 |Desktop Computers S 1,031.83| % 9,286.47
12  |Monitors S 168.00 | $ 2,016.00
3  |Fax/Copy/Scanner - Large 5 385,00 | § 1,155.00
1 |Pyxis Cabinets $ 175,000.00{ $  175,000.00
8 |Office Chairs 5 25592 | $ 2,047.36
1 |lce Machine w/Water Dispenser S 3,29761| 5 3,297.61
1 |Coffee Maker s 336.99 | & 336.99
5 |3TierCart S 230.00 | $ 1,150.00
4 |Exam Stool Rolling/No Back S 226.63 | S 506.52
2 |Exam Stool Rolling/With Back S 478.50 | S 957.00
2 |Anesthesia Machine $ 54,000.00| S  108,000.00
2 |Patient Monitor S 17,334.18 | § 34,668.36
2 |Procedural Cart S 501.62 | 5 1,003.24
2 [3TierCart 5 230.00 | & 460.00
2 {Hamper S 248.22 | § 496.44
2 [Hamper 5 121.48 | $ 242.56
2 IV Pole E) 121.04 | $ 242.08
1 |[Lights /Booms / Video Processing and Integration $ 658,000.00 | $  658,000.00
1 |Power $ 212,000.00 [ 5 212,000.00
1 Neptune Rover and Docking Station $ 71,000.00 | S 71,000.00
1 OR Beds $ 106,000.00 [ S 106,000.00
1 [Cautery and Advanced Bipolar S 87,000.00 | & 87,000.00
1 |Storage Cabinets S 6000005 6,000.00
1 !Instrumentation $ 150,000.00 | §  150,000.00
1 |Positioning Devices S 75,000.00 | S 75,000.00
1 |Specialty Tables, Mayo Stands, Etc $ 150,000.00 | & 150,000.00
1 [C-Arms $ 175,000.00 | S  175,000.00
1 |ASP SPD Quote $ 103,650.00 | $ 103,690.00
1 [Steris SPD Quote $ 317,872.00 | S 317,872.00

Total $ 2,602,337.49
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Attachment 7

Bond Issuance Expense

Bond issuance Costs $ 143,098 |
Bond Funds-ASC S 4,312,500
Bond Funds-Total S 11,322,000
ASC % of Bond Funds 38.1%
Bond Issuance Expense-ASC | $ 54,505.40

Attachment 7-Page 4 of 4
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Land Value Calculation

Land Cost-Net of Donation

Attachment 8

Parcel Acres Sq Ft PerAcre|  Total Square Feet
9903226009 3.8 43,560 165,528
9903226008 36.5 43,560 1,589,940
Total Square Feet 1,755,468
Acquisition Cost B $ 2,672,919,96
Cost per Square Foot-Cost S 1.52
ASC Square Footage 8,436
ASC Land Cost - Allocated S 12,844.87
Land Acquisition
Parcel AEres = Sq Ft Per Acre Total Square Feet
9903226009 3.8 43,560 165,528
9903226008 36.5 43,560 1,589,940
Total Square Feet 1,755,468

Acquisition Cost

S 5,172,919.96

Cost per Square Foot-Acquisition $ 2.95
ASC Square Footage 8,436
ASC Land Acquisition Cost - Allocated S 24,858.76

S
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Attachment 8

Financial Projection-Project Costs and Deficit, if Applicable

First full fiscal year when project achieves target utilization (80% of 250 days, 7.5 hours per day).
Anticipated to be months 25-36 of operations.

Gross Revenue S 6,535,871
Net Revenue S 3,538,366
Expenses:
Salaries S 1,651,400
Benefits S 412,850
Supplies S 1,112,210
Total Expense S 3,176,459
Operating Income/{Loss) 5 361,907
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Attachment 9

Gross Square Feet Amount of Proposed Total Gross Square Feet That Is:
- New .
Dept. / Area Cost Existing | Proposed Const Modernized As s Vacated Space

REVIEWABLE

ASTC $7,917,920.89 8,436

Total Clinical $7,917,920.89 8,436

NON-REVIEWABLE

Total Non-clinical | $ - 0

TOTAL $7,917,920.89 8,436
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Attachment 11 - Background of Applicants

A listing of all health care facilities owned or operated by the applicant, including licensing, and
certification if applicable.

The following is a list of all lllinois healthcare facilities (as that term is defined in the Act) owned
by Graham Hospital Association:

e Graham Hospital

o License Number: 0000869

o Accreditation Number:140001
e Graham Medical Group — Canton

o License Number:1205072626

o Accreditation Number: CCN:14-3492
¢ Graham Medical Group — Convenient Care Canton

o License Number:124735402

o Accreditation Number: CCN 14-8661
* Graham Medical Group — Farmington

o License Number:1841436268

o Accreditation Number: CCN:14-3494
* Graham Medical Group — Lewistown

o License Number: 1750527172

o Accreditation Number: CCN-14-3493
* Graham Medical Group — ElImwood

o License Number: 1093288797

o Accreditation Number: CCN-14-8603
* Graham Medical Group — Williamsfield

o License Number: 1508463563

o Accreditation Number: CCN-14-8636
¢ Graham Medical Group - Glasford

o License Number: 1104604529

o Accreditation Number: 140001
s Graham Medical Group — Macomb

o License Number: 1780321117

o Accreditation Number: CCN-14-8660
e Graham Medical Group — Galesburg A

o License Number: 1194462101

o Accreditation Number: 140001
e Graham Medical Group — Galesburg

o License Number: 1063128601

o Accreditation Number: CCN-14-8662
e Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Care

o License Number: 1134975576

o Accreditation Number: CCN-148659

e Graham Medical Group South Primary and Convenient Care
o License Number: 1346093937
o Accreditation Number: 140001
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Attachment 11 - Background of Applicants

2. Alisting of all health care facilities currently owned and/or operated in Iflinois, by any corporate
officers or directors, LLC members, partners, or owners of at least 5% of the proposed health
care facility.

Graham does not have a five percent (5%) or greater ownership interest in any other lllinois
healthcare facilities.

3. For the following questions, please provide information for each applicant, including corporate
officers or directors, LLC members, partners, and owners of at least 5% of the proposed facility.
A health care facility is considered owned or operated by every person or entity that owns,
directly or indirectly, an ownership interest.

a. A certified listing of any adverse action taken against any facility owned and/or operated
by the applicant, directly or indirectly, during the three years prior to the filing of the
application.

Graham attests that in the last three years prior to filing of this CON application, there has been no
“adverse action” (as that term is defined in 77 IAC 1130.140) against any lllinois health care facility owned
and operated by Graham.

b. A certified listing of each applicant, identifying those individuals that have been cited,
arrested, taken into custody, charged with, indicted, convicted, or tried for, or pled guilty
to the commission of any felony or misdemeanor or violation of the law, except for minor
parking violations; or the subject of any juvenile delinquency or youthful offender
proceeding. Unless expunged, provide details about the conviction, and submit any police
or court records regarding any matters disclosed.

Graham attests that there are no applicants for which the above is applicable.

C. A certified and detailed listing of each applicant or person charged with fraudulent
conduct or any act involving moral turpitude.

Graham attests that there are no applicants for which the above is applicable.

d. A certified listing of each applicant with one or more unsatisfied judgements against him
or her.

Graham attests that there are no applicants for which the above is applicable.

e. A certified and detailed listing of each applicant who is in default in the performance or
discharge of any duty or obligation imposed by a judgment, decree, order or directive of
any court or governmental agency.

Graham attests that there are no applicants for which the above is applicable.

4. Authorization permitting HFSRB and IDPH access to any documents necessary to verify the
information submitted, including, but not limited to official records of DPH or other State
agencies; the licensing or certification records of other states, when applicable; and the records
of nationally recognized accreditation organizations.

Attachment 11 - Page 2 of 3
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Attachment 11 - Background of Applicants

HFSRB and IDPH are hereby authorized by Graham to access any documents necessary to verify the
information submitted with this application relating to Graham, including, but not limited to: official
records of IDPH or other State agencies; the licensing or certification records of other states, when
applicable; and the records of nationally recognized accreditation organizations.
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Attachment 12 — Section lll. Criterion 1110.110 (b} & {d)

1. Document that the project will provide health services that improve the healthcare or
wellbeing of the market area population to be served.

Graham Health System’s proposed Ambulatory Surgical Center will improve both healthcare
access and well-being of patients in the project’s geographic service area. Graham Hospital
Association is currently serving patients in the market through its four multi-specialty clinics. The
addition of the ASC will provide patients with increased healthcare services within the
community.

This will be a new addition to the existing Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Care &
Imaging located at 2028 N. Seminary St. The project will be fully funded by Graham Hospital
Association. In addition to the new ASC, the building will offer the following services to patients
in the market: imaging (CT, MRI, Mammography, X-Ray, Dexa, & Ultrasound), endoscopy,
primary care, pediatrics, podiatry, urology, dermatology, and many other speciaity services.

The proposed ASTC achieves the following for the market:

e Provides an appropriate setting where surgeons on the medical staff of Graham
Hospital Association can perform outpatient surgeries on current patients in the
projects GSA in a setting that is more aligned with payer requirements.

e The project introduces additional capacity into the market and gives current GHS
patients in the GSA choices for their heaithcare without requiring them to travel out of
the market.

s This ASTC brings services to the market that are currently not available or underserved
in the GSA: urology, pain management, vascular, gynecology, & ENT.

In addition, the Graham Medical Group ASC addresses the void left when Galesburg Cottage
Hospital left the market. Per data obtained using IHA’s CompData tool, in Fiscal Year 2024, 53%
of the population received outpatient surgical services outside of the immediate market area.

2. Define the planning area or market area or other relevant area, per the applicant’s definition.

The Graham Medical Group ASC’s market area is defined by the health service area {HSA). The
proposed site (2028 N. Seminary St.) is located within HSA 2, as is Graham Health System Center
for Ambulatory Care & Imaging.

The market area, as defined by 77 lil. Adm. Code 1110.210(d), consists of zip codes located
within 21 miles of the proposed ASTC as specified for health care facilities in Knox County. Using
this definition, nearly all of the patients currently being seen at Graham Medical Center for
Ambulatory Care reside within these zip codes (see following table). Attestations for referral
patterns of providers demonstrate that these patients will shift care from healthcare services
outside of the GSA, to the new Graham ASTC are included in Appendix A of Attachment 25.
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Attachment 12 — Section lll. Criterion 1110.110 (b} & {d)

Zipcodes & Population within Project's GSA
dl 4 Primary City | % of County Population

61401 Galesburg 65%
61410 Abingdon 7%
61448 Knoxville 7%
61414 Altona 2%
61428 Dahinda 2%
61430 East Galesburg 2%
61436 Gilson 2%
61458 Maquon 2%
61467 Oneida 2%
61488 Wataga 2%
61489 Williamsfield 2%
61572 Yates City 2%
61472 Rio 1%
61485 Victoria 1%
61439 Henderson 0.50%
61474 Saint Augustine 0.50%
61434 Galva 0.30%
61449 La Fayette 0.20%
61544 London Mills 0.20%
61529 Elmwood 0.10%
61531 Farmington 0.10%
61490 Woodhull 0.10%

All of these zip codes are located in HSA 2, the Geographical Service Area in which Graham
currently serves through its Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Care & Imaging.

More than 81% of Graham'’s patients receiving clinical care at Graham Medical Group’s
Galesburg facilities reside within both the GSA and HSA 2.

(3
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Attachment 12 — Section lll. Criterion 1110.110 (b) & {d)

Patient Visits by City of Origin
Zip Code City Count of Visits | % of Total Visits
61401 Galesburg 8495 69.23%
61410 Abingdon 907 7.39%
61414 Altona 125 1.02%
61428 Dahinda 141 1.15%
61430 E Galesburg 3 0.02%
61434 Galva 52 0.42%
61436 Gilson 182 1.48%
61439 Henderson 134 1.09%
61448 Knoxville 1084 8.83%
61488 Wataga 298 2.43%
61449 La Fayette 14 0.11%
61458 Magquon 72 0.59%
61467 Oneida 223 1.82%
61472 Rio 149 1.21%
61474 St. Augustine 64 0.52%
61485 Victoria 105 0.86%
61489 Williamsfield 50 0.41%
61490 Woodhull 88 0.72%
61529 Elmwood 11 0.09%
61531 Farmington 13 0.11%
61544 London Mills 45 0.37%
61572 Yates City 16 0.13%
Total Visits from GSA 12271 100%
Total Visits at GHS Galesburg Clinics 15091 81%

3. Identify the existing problems that need to be addressed as applicable and appropriate for the

project.
l.

Lack of specialty services in the area. There are not any ASTC’s in the immediate
Geographical Service Area & few in the HSA. The lack of ASTC's and specialty care in
the current market leave patients at a disadvantage. The following services are not
available in the immediate service area:

o Urology

o Gynecology
© WVascular

o ENT

Lack of choice due to Cottage closing / outmigration. As stated previously, only 47% of
patients receive surgical services within the market. Since 2022, there have heen 2,256
fewer outpatient surgeries completed for patients in the GSA due to Cottage closing.
With the population remaining fairly constant over the last two years, it can be assumed
that these patients are going without care or traveling significant distances.

Drive to outpatient services by payers. Asthe cost to deliver healthcare, specifically
surgical services, continue to rise — payors are looking for the least costly solution for
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Attachment 12 — Section [)l. Criterion 1110.110 (b) & (d}

their covered lives. Most payors, specifically Medicare and Medicaid, are driving care to
the outpatient setting. This trend is expected to continue. As indicated in the 2023
Berkley University of California Study: “...[Berkley Researchers analyzed] government
data to identify how much money ASCs saved Medicare in recent years, and then,
forecast how much more ASCs will save Medicare in the future. The key findings are the
following:

o During the four-year period from 2008 to 2011, ASCs saved the Medicare
program and its beneficiaries 57.5 billion. ASCs saved Medicare and its
beneficiaries 52.3 billion in 2011 alone.

o  S6 billion of these savings were realized by the federal Medicare program. The
remaining $1.5 billion went directly to Medicare beneficiaries. In other words,
Medicare patients nationwide saved $1.5 billion thanks to the less expensive
care offered at ASCs.

o ASCs have the potential to save the Medicare program and its beneficiaries up to
§57.6 billion more over the next decade.

o Beneficiaries themselves also stand to save considerably in future years. Because
Medicare reimburses ASCs at a lower rate than HOPDs, patients also pay a
smaller coinsurance amount in an ASC. The authors use the example of cataract
surgery, noting that a Medicare beneficiary will save 5148 on his or her
coinsurance by electing to undergo surgery in an ASC instead of a hospital.”

IV.  Underserved & Uninsured Populations with unmet needs due to lack of facilities that
accept these patients. In the GSA, 20.9% of patients are covered by Medicaid and 17.1%
of patients are covered by Medicare. Additional providers in that accept all payers or
offer charity care in the market will allow this population greater choices and access to
healthcare.

4. Cite the sources of the documentation above.

The following resources were used to determine and analyze the healthcare related problems that
the proposed ASTC would address:

Historical data from both Graham Hospital and Graham Medical Group patient activity.
lllinois Ambulatory Surgical Treatment Center Licensing Requirements (77 Ill. Adm. Code 205)
{HA CompData

https://www.ascassociation.org/asca/about-ascs/savings/medicare-cost-savings/medicare-cost-
savings-tied-to-ascs

https://datausa.io/profile/geo/knox-county-il#health

5. Detail how the project will address these issues and improve the population’s well-being.

The Graham Health System ASC will address the healthcare issues in the region and improve the
well-being of the residents within the market area through the following:

1. The center will offer the following surgical services which are not available in the GSA:
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Attachment 12 — Section IIl. Criterion 1110.110 {b} & {d)

Urology
Gynecology
Vascular
ENT

O 0 O ©

The not- for- profit ambulatory surgical center Graham Health System is proposing will
give patients a local option for health care that they do not currently have. The two
operating room facility, equipped with state-of-the-art equipment and advanced
imaging services, will allow residents in the market a new choice after Galesburg
Cottage Hospital closed.

Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery will provide a cost-effective, out-
patient option for surgical service not currently available in the market. This will meet
the expectations of many payers, primarily Medicare and Medicaid. 38% of residents in
the GSA are currently covered by either Medicare or Medicaid.

The proposed center will address the lack of options for patients with certain Medicare
and Medicaid plan by accepting all payors for surgical services. Graham Hospital
Association currently accepts all types of payors and intends to extend these same
contracts to the ASTC. This will give a significant percentage of the population access to
care within the GSA that they currently do not have.

6. Provide goals with quantified and measurable objectives, with specific timeframes that relate
to achieve the stated goals as appropriate.

In it’s first year of operation, the ASTC will have the capacity to provide over 1900 cases.
The goal will be to reach 100% of this capacity.

Introduce the following specialty surgical services to the market that are not currently
available or underserved:

Pain

Vascular

Gynecology

Urology

ENT {adult & pediatric)

O 0 0 0 0

Offer care to 100% of the population who are currently underinsured or uninsured in
alignment with our mission, charity care policy, and practice to contract with any and all
payors, i.e. Medicare, Medicaid and Medicare/Medicaid Managed programs.

This effort will be bolstered by the recent opening of Graham Medical Group’s clinic in
the southern portion of Galesburg (455 E 3% St., Galesburg IL 61401), an area with a
higher minority population and historically underserved by providers.
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Attachment 12 — Section Ill. Criterion 1110.110 (b} & {d}
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1.

Attachment 13 Section lil. Criterion 1110.110 (d} Alternatives

Identify ALL alternatives to the proposed project

A). Proposing a project of greater or lesser scope and cost.

Alternatives to the proposed project were considered. These alternatives were either not
feasible for the health system or did not address the needs within the community.

Graham Hospital Association leadership considered expansion of the current surgical
center at Graham Hospital, located in Canton, IL. (Fulton County). This option proved to
be less desirable because, although less in cost and less construction time, it did not
address the immediate needs within the HSA or Geographical Service Area. Given the
Health System’s presence in the Galesburg market, it was understood that additional
capacity was needed for cost-effective surgical care. Additionally, establishing a new
ASTC in the market created new jobs for professionals in the immediate service area, as
well as created a more cost-effective and efficient option for patients and third-party

payers.
ASCV. Expansion at GH Galesburg Canton
GMG - Ambulatory Surgery Center 2 Sultes Graham Hospital - 2 Additional OR Sultes
Total Population Served 48,000 35,000
OP Surgery Competition (Miles} {1) {5t. Mary's) (30- 70} Peoria/Galesburg/s-Field/Macomb
Additional OP Cases (8 per day /40 per week /2000 per year, 2,000 Annually 480 Annually
Additlonal IP Cases {10%) 200 Annually 72 Annually
Female Reproductive Cases Yes - ENT, Pain, Yascular, Urology, Gyne No
Total Construction Costs S 7,917,920.00 s 7,102,337.49
Anesthesia Additional MD or CRNA Additional MD or CRNA
RN Staffing Surgery Additicnal 4 Additional 2
RN Staffing Surgery Pre-Post Additional 2 Additional 2
Tech Staffing Additional 1 Additional 1
Registration Additional 0
EVS Additional 0
Access to ICU - Higher level of Care O5F 5t, Mary's Graham Hospital
Access 10 ED {Code Situation) OSF St. Mary's Graham Hospital
Access to Additional Providers Graham GMG Graham Hospital

Pharmacy Compounding No Change
Lab Point Of Care Testing No Change
Imaging X Ray / CT/MRI/Mammo/US/Dexa No Changes

B) Pursuing a joint venture or similar arrangement with one or more providers or
entities to meet all or a portion of the project's intended purposes; developing
alternative settings to meet all or a portion of the project’s intended purposes.

A joint venture or similar arrangement with other entities was discussed. This option
was determined infeasible because the most logical partner in the service area is a
Catholic Facility which would have limited the types of services Graham Health System
aims to offer. Due to their religious directives, patients are unable to receive a
vasectomy, tubal, or other family planning procedures.

Joint ventures with independent providers was not an option as it would have
complicated the core mission of this endeavor which is to deliver ASTC service to the
GSA within the next 18-24 months and ensure all existing payer contracts are eligible.

ux
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Attachment 13 Section lll. Criterion 1110.110 (d) Alternatives

Creating a new entity separate from Graham Hospital Association would have
introduced complexity and delays that did not allow for immediate goals to be met.

C) Utilizing other health care resources that are available to serve all or a portion of
the population proposed to be served by the project; and

This alternative is not applicable to the proposed project. The intent of establishing a
new ASTC in HSA 2 was to provide appropriately sized ambulatory surgical services in a
facility that is constructed to support this type of care. Additionally, the center seeks to
expand the services in the area available to residents so that outmigration of the market
is prevented. Not all proposed services can be provided utilizing existing resources in
the area.

Two options for surgical services in the geographical service area is advantageous for
the market as a whole. This dynamic will not only create more access to care for
patients, but will also create reasonable competition to regulate pricing. Services
provided in the ASTC will be done so in a more cost-effective manner than those in a
traditional hospital surgery center {which is the only option in the market). The total
population is over 48,000 residents (per US Census Website 7/2023). In similarly sized
markets.

As indicated in the physician and APP support letters [Attachment 25), over 1500
Graham Hospital Association patients who received care in Fiscal Year 2024 at Graham
Hospital, or other facilities within the GSA, would have been referred to the Graham
Medical Group ASTC had it been operational.

D) Provide the reasons why the chosen alternative was selected.
Graham Health System Leadership, along with physician and APP support, chose to
move forward with the Ambulatory Surgery Treatment Center because it created the

best opportunity to provide local, high-quality, cost-effective care to all patients in the
Geographical Service area.
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Attachment 14 — Section IV. Size of Project 77 Ill Adm. Code 1110.12 (a)

The Graham Medical Group Ambulatory Surgical Center, located at 2028 North Seminary Street in
Galesburg, lllinois will be an approximately 8,400 square foot space that will house two operating rooms,
three post anesthesia care unit bays, and four prep/recovery bays. T

he Center will be physically attached to an existing (circa 2024/2025) 22,000 square foot outpatient
facility that houses primary and specialty care clinics, an endoscopy center, and a full-service imaging
center, with CT, X-Ray, Ultrasound, Mammography, Dexa Scan and mobile MR} and Pet/CT.

Multiple planning & design meetings were held with David Guile, RN, Director of Surgical Services at
Graham Hospital Association, Robert Senneff, President & CEOQ of Graham, Brian Slayback, Director of
Facilities and the design team consisting of Studio 483 Architects, Keith Engineering and Design, and the
general contractor, PJ Hoerr, Inc. Additional members of the medical staff and Board of Trustees were
consulted on the proposed design.

in these meetings, programming information was given by the end users as to qualify the needs of the
facility. Utilizing lllinois Administrative Code to verify requirements for ambulatory surgical centers, and
also information from The Facilities Guidelines Institute, a list of minimum requirements and spaces to
support the facility were established. This information was then used to determine the size of the
spaces and ultimately the overall size of the facility.

In addition to the rooms mentioned above, the facility will also contain men’s and women'’s locker
rooms, clean and soiled rooms, a sterile processing department to serve the needs of two OR's, a
pharmacy space, a clean core storage, a surgery equipment room, consult room, nurse stations, and
IT/mechanical space. There will also be public spaces such as toilet rooms, waiting areas, and
receptionist area.

The proposed facility meets all of the requirements by the Illinois Administrative Code and Illinois
Department of Public Health, as well as the specialized needs of the end users.
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Attachment 25
Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

The proposed project is to establish a Not-For-Profit, Non-Hospital Based Ambulatory Surgery Center
{Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery) on the Health System’s current North Seminary
campus.

Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery will have the following services:

e Ambulatery surgery with 2 operating rooms. Providing procedures in the following specialties:
o General Surgery

Urclogy

0B GYN

Vascular

Orthopedic

Podiatry

ENT

Pain Management

Ophthalmology

e Pre- & Post Op Care

O 0 0O ¢ C 0 0 O

Documentation that the proposed project meets the specified review criterion: 1110.235 C 2 B Service
to GSA Residents:

The primary purpose of this project is to improve the health care and well-being of the project’s
geographic service area (GSA}, which consists of zip codes located within 21 miles of the proposed ASTC,
as specified for health care facilities in Knox County per 77 lll Adm. Code 1100.510 (d) {2). All of these
zip codes are located in the health care service area HSA 2, the planning area in which the Graham
Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery will be located (see following table for specifics).
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Attachment 25

Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

Patient Visits by City of Origin
Zip Code City Count of Visits | % of Total Visits|
61401 Galesburg 8495 69.23%
61410 Abingdon 9507 7.39%
61414 Altona 125 1.02%
61428 Dahinda 141 1.15%
61430 E Galesburg 3 0.02%
61434 Galva 52 0.42%
61436 Gilson 182 1.48%
61439 Henderson 134 1.09%
61448 Knoxville 1084 8.83%
61488 Wataga 298 2.43%
61449 La Fayette 14 0.11%
61458 Magquon 72 0.59%
61467 Oneida 223 1.82%
61472 Rio 149 1.21%
61474 St. Augustine 64 0.52%
61485 Victoria 105 0.86%
61489 Williamsfield 50 0.41%
61490 Woodhull 88 0.72%
61529 Elmwood 11 0.09%
61531 Farmington 13 0.11%
61544 London Mills 45 0.37%
61572 Yates City 16 0.13%
Total Visits from GSA 12271 100%
Total Visits at GHS Galesburg Clinics 15091 81%

While the rate of patients from the GSA at Graham Health System Clinics in Galesburg is significant, the

In-Patient Hospital numbers do not reflect the same trends. This is mainly because the hospital is

situated outside of the GSA, making it a less immediate option for that patients who are the focus of the
ASTC project. Currently, only 8.23% of hospital activity is related to patients from the GSA. Patient

hospital volumes for Fiscal Year 2024 are included in the following table:
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Attachment 25
Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

Zip Code City Count of Patients
61531 Farmington 95
61401 Galeshurg 24
61529 Elmwood 25
61410 Abingdon 7
61572 Yates City 7
61489 Williamsfield 3
61542 Cuba 2
61488 Wataga 2
61414 Altona 2
61458 Maguon 2
61474 St. Augustine 2
61448 Knoxville 1
61428 Dahinda 1

Total Hospital Admissions from GSA 173
Total Hospital Admissions 2080
% of Total Admissions 8.32%

In addition to the volumes referenced above, market share related to Cottage Hospital, a primary
provider of health service to the region who exited the market in late 2022, is a key factor in Graham's
decision to pursue this project. The outmigration in the table below is key to understanding the service
gap in the region. As noted in the Safety Net Narrative, in 2017 — 1,649 patients received surgical care at
Cottage Hospital. When Cottage closed, these patients were left with minimal options. The chart below
demonstrates that neither OSF St. Mary’s hospital nor OSF Holy Family have been able to absorb all of
the patient needs in the region:

-

| 2017 i j| =i 2022 ! Change
Y Cottage St. Mary's|  Holy Family St. Ma\r~|.|"_s___I_-!_o__l'gﬂ_FaLnll_',_rI

Cardiovascular 10 36 . 21 - {25)
General 349 1,528 366 1,631 400 (212)
GYNE 199 165 - 258 - (106)
Ophthalmology 496 | 565 - B -1 1,05 {5)
Ortho 445 249 20 26 | 3 {496)
ENT - - - - - -
Podiatry 13 118 33 156 18 10
Urology 136 401 - 173 - {364)
Total 1649] 3,082 419 | 2455 | 1477 (1,198)

Currently, only 47% of patients from the GSA receive services in the market (IHA CompData). These
trends are iliustrated in the following table.
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Attachment 25
Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

FY 2024 Outpatient Procedures for Patients within GSA*

Total Cutpatient Surgical| % of Total
Facility Facility Location GSA (Y/N) Procedures Procedures

OSF ST MARY Galesburg Y 1055 46.99%
OSF ST FRANCIS Peoria N 419 13.66%
GRAHAM HOSPITAL Canton N 295 13.14%
CARLE PROCTOR Peoria N 104 4.63%
OSF HOLY FAMILY Monmouth N 83 3.70%
CENTER FOR HEALTH ASC Peoria N 72 3.21%
CARLE METHODIST Peoria N 66 2.94%
PEORIA ASC Peoria N 26 1.16%
HAMMOND HENRY HOSPITAL Geneseo N 17 0.76%
MCDONOQUGH DISTRICT HOSPITAL Macomb N 16 0.71%
UNITYPOINT TRINITY ROCK ISLAND Rock Island N 14 0.62%
CARLE PEKIN Pekin N 13 0.58%
UNITYPOINT TRINITY MOLINE Moline N 11 0.49%
MH SPRINGFIELD MEMOQRIAL Springfield N 9 0.40%
GENESIS SILVIS Silvis N 6 0.27%
OSF ST LUKE Kewanee N 6 0.27%
BLESSING HOSPITAL Quincy N 4 0.18%
CARLE FOUNDATION Urbana N 3 0.13%
HSHS ST JOHNS Springfield N 3 0.13%
LOYOLA UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER Chicago N 3 0.13%
QOSF STANTHONY ROCKFORD Rockford N 3 0.13%
UCHICAGO MEDICINE Chicago N 3 0.13%
ENDEAVOR EDWARD Elmhurst N 2 0.09%
MORRISON COMMUNITY HOSPITAL Morrison N 2 0.09%
OSF ST ELIZABETH OTTAWA Ottawa N 2 0.09%
CHAMPAIGN SURGICENTER Champaign N 1 0.04%
CITY OF HOPE CHICAGO Chicago N 1 0.04%
GENESIS ALEDO Aledo N 1 0.04%
MH DECATUR MEMORIAL Decatur N 2 0.09%
RUSH UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER Chicago N 1 0.04%
SHRINERS HOSPITALS - CHICAGO Chicago N 1 0.04%
Ul HEALTH Chicago N 1 0.04%

Total Procedures 2245 100.00%

% of Patients Treated in GSA 47%

*Obtained from |HA's CompData tool 10.2024. Data includes only those procedures Graham Health System intends 1o offer at the propased ASTC

he entry of the Graham Clinics & the proposed Ambulatory Surgery Center will fill the healthcare void
and allow patients more options to receive local, high-quality healthcare.

Documentation that the proposed project meets the specified review criterion: 1110.235 (C){3)
Service Demand — Establishment of an ASTC

The establishment of the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery is necessary to meet
the healthcare needs in the area as demonstrated by both historic and projected referrals.
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Attachment 25
Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

Physician referral letters are documented in Appendix A of this attachment.

Included are referral letters from both physicians and advanced practice providers, all of whom are
members of Graham Health System’s medical staff. This support illustrates the need for additional care
centers for patients in the region.

Additionally, support letters from Graham Health System specialist are included to demonstrate the
current and anticipated referral patterns to the ASTC for patients in the GSA.

As indicated in their letters, these providers (who represent a portion of all staff who will refer patients
to the proposed ASTC) referred a combined 400 patients to Graham Hospital Association affiliated
surgeons and treated over 6,200 patients within the GSA. The surgery referrals are not indicative of all
refers to surgery. A significant group of patients were referred to facilities closer to home because they
could not travel to Canton, IL. to receive care. These providers confirm their intention to refer future
patients who are under their care and live within the market to the Graham Medical Group Center for
Ambulatory Surgery, once established.

1110.235(C} 5
Treatment Room Need Assessment — Justification of the Number of Surgical/Treatment Rooms

The Graham Health System Center for Ambulatory Surgery is proposing to have two multi-specialty
operating rooms. All surgical specialties will be performed in these rooms.

This proposed number of operating rooms is based on the historic and anticipated volumes outlined in
the letters from physicians who plan to request privileges at the Graham Medical group Center for

Ambulatory Surgery.

The projected utilization during the first 2 years of operation for these surgery spaces is based on the
physician referral patterns and market data shown in the below tables:
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Attachment 25

Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

Referrals for Patients within GSA

Specialty FY 2024 Referral Volume
Dermatology 47
ENT 191
General Surgery 588
Gynecology 52
Ophthalmology 36
Orthopedic Surgery 242
Pain Medicine 67
Podiatrist 123
Urology 169
Vascular Surgery 34
Total 1549
All Surgery Cases 8581
% from GSA 18%
Historic Utilization Projected Utilization State Guideline | Total Proposed Rooms
FY 24 Yearl Year 2
Total Cases for Operating Rooms 2004 1400 1680 N/A 2
Total Hours for Operating Rooms 7746.5 2100 2520 1500 HR / OR

The proposed number of operating rooms are justified based on the projected utilization for Years 1 and

Years 2.

As previously stated, the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery will have two multi-
specialty operating rooms for ali cases.

The anticipated caseloads for each of these types of procedures and reference data used to determine
these volumes is illustrated in the below table:

Time per Treatment {hours)
Anticipated Vol.
Surgical Specialty After Year 2 Average per Case Total Annual Time Methodology

General Surgery 520 1.4 728
Gynecology 156 2 312
Orthopedic Surgery 156 1.5 234
ENT 208 1.5 312 . .
Pain Management 416 0.6 249.6 FY2024 Historical Data
Podiatry 104 2.1 218.4
Vascular 104 1.6 166.4
Urology 312 1.2 374.4
Total 1976 [ 15 2594.8
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This projected utilization is further supported by the physician referral letters included in this
application.

The average time per case, including room preparation & cleaning, would be the same as that
experienced in Graham Health System’s Hospital operation rooms for the identified ASCT procedures.

The average time per case was calculated separately by specialty, as shown in the below table. The total
hours were determined by aggregating the cases by specialty.

FY 24 Surgery Data
Surgical Specialty Total Cases FY 24 Average Hour / Case
General Surgery 1073 1.4
Gynecology 232 2.0
Orthopedic Surgery 156 15
ENT 431 15
Pain Management 472 0.6
Podiatry 107 2.1
Vascular 68 16
Urology 644 1.2
Total 3183 1.6

In compliance with 77 lll Administrative Code 1110.235 (c)(3)(B){iii), which states that “The anticipated
number of referrals cannot exceed the physician’s experienced caseload,” the projected surgical cases in
year 1is 1,400 cases and in year 2 is 1680, both of which are below the 3,183 FY 2024 surgical cases
completed by the physicians who plan to provide care at the new ASTC.

Documentation that the proposed ASTC services being established are necessary to improve access for
residents of the GSA is provided in this section in accordance with 77 lll. Administrative Code
1110.235(c){6)

The above referenced Administrative Code indicates that the applicant must document that at least one
of the four stated conditions exist in the GSA:

A} There are no other IDPH-licensed ASTCs within the identified GSA of the proposed project. A

recent search on IDPH’s website confirms that there are no other ASTC's in the GSA. Those that
are nearest to the region are:

Attachment 25 - Page 8 of 40
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Approximate

Distance from
Agency Name Address City County Zip GSA
Center for Health Ambulatory Surgery Center -}l 303 N William Kumpf Biwd, 2nd FL |Peoria Peoria 61605 49.8
Center for Health Ambulatory Surgery Center, LLC [8800 North State Route 91 Peoria Peoria 61615 44.9
Central lllinois Endoscopy Center, LLC 1001 Main Street Ste 5008 Peoria Peoria 61606 49.6
Renal Intervention Center, LLC 430 W Maxine Dr Morton  [Tazewell 61550 59.5
Peoria Ambulatory Surgery Center 4909 N Glen Park Place Peoria Peoria 61614 46.6
Springfield Clinic, LLP 7308 North Knoxville Avenue Peona Pearia 61614 52.3

The establishment of an ASTC is justified given the current healthcare landscape in the service area for

the following reasons:

An ASTC is necessary to provide alternative care options for patients in the immediate service
area. With the closure of a major healthcare provider in the area over three years ago, patients
are left with limited options, and increased wait times. If they cannot gain access to services
locally, they are forced to travel a significant distance to find care. As stated previously in this
attachment, Galesburg Cottage Hospital performed 1,649 procedures in 2017. OSF St. Mary’s &
OSF Holy Family performed a combined 3,481 surgeries in the same period. Five year's later, St.
Mary’s performed 2,455 and OSF Holy Family served 1,477 surgical patients. This is a decline of
over nearly 1,200 procedures in the area. Additionally, only 47% of the population received
surgical care in the GSA. The majority of patients were forced to travel to Peoria for care. This is
over 3 fifty-mile drive for most patients in the region.

In 2022, Graham Health System entered the service area with a robust network of clinics to
increase primary care capacity and options for patients. Since September 2022, 28,389 clinic
visits have occurred. When patients need surgical services, Graham providers are referring to
overloaded specialists in the market — requiring patients to wait longer than necessary, or they
are asking patients to travel to Canton, IL. to receive more timely care. The addition of an ASTC
in the market will allow Graham Health System to provide a better continuum of care for
patients.

Graham Hospital Association currently accepts all payers, with a significant amount of care being
provided to patients with Medicare and Medicaid. It is important that residents in the GSA have
access to care covered by their insurance to guarantee their overall well-being. In the region,
nearly 20.9% of patients are currently covered by Medicaid programs and 17.1% are covered by
Medicare (https://datausa.io/profile/geo/knox-count-il).

Documentation that the proposed ASTC will not result in an unnecessary duplication or
maldistribution, as specified in 77 Ill. Administrative Code 1110.235 (c}(7){A)

A. The total population of Knox County is 48,111 according to the most recent United States
Census ( https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/knoxcountyillinois/PST045223 ).

B. There are currently no other ASTC's within the GSA. The nearest facilities are as follows:

G
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Approximate

Distance from
Agency Name Address City County ap GSA
Center for Health Ambulatory Surgery Center - Il 303 N William Kumpf Biwd, 2nd FL |Peocria Peoria 61605 49.8
Center for Health Ambulatory Surgery Center, LLC [8800 North State Route 91 Pearia Peoria 61615 44.9
Central linois Endoscopy Center, LLC 1001 Main Street Ste 5008 Peoria Peonia 61606 49.6
Renal Intervention Center, LLC 430 W Maxine Dr Morton  |Tazewell  |61550 59.5
Peaoria Ambulatory Surgery Center 4909 N Glen Park Place Peoria Pecria 61614 46.6
Springfield Clinic, LLP 7309 North Knoxville Avenue Peoria Peoria 61614 52.3

Patients in the GSA who need surgery have limited options due to the absence of an Ambulatory Surgery
Center in the region. Most patients receive care at OSF St. Mary’s, Galesburg IL. or OSF Holy Family,
Monmouth IL. While these options are near to patients in the GSA, they do not offer all of the services
that Graham Hospital Association intends to provide with the proposed project. Specifically, patients
cannot access services related to family planning at either facility {vasectomy, tubal, etc.).

Documentation that the proposed ASTC will not result in a maldistribution of services, as specified in
77 l Administrative Code 1110.235 (c}{7)(B)

The proposed project will not cause maldistribution of services as the current population within the

geographical service area is sufficient to support the addition of 2 operating rooms in the region.

Documentation that, within the 24 months after project completion, the proposed ASTC will not lower
the utilization of other area providers below the utilization standards specified in 77 Il Adm. Code
1100.640 (c} and will not lower, to a further extend, the utilization of other GSA facilities that are
currently (during the latest 12- month period) operating below the utilization standards, as specified

in 77 lll. Adm Code 1110.235 (c)(7}(C)
Impact to Area Providers

The emergence of Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery will not lower utilization of
other area providers within the 24 months after project completion for the following reasons:

i.  As document in the physician referral letters and the data in previous sections, the majority of
patients receiving services at the new facility will be from within the GHS network. Current
state, those patients are being referred out of the Geographical Services Area or are receiving

care at the Canton facility.

ii.  The services to be offered at the Graham Medical Group ASTC are greater than those being
offered at alternative Hospital surgery centers in the immediate Health Service Area.
Additionally, there will be provided in a method that is more attractive to insurance companies
making it more likely that patient’s healthcare needs & services will be covered at the ASTC than

at an alternative site.
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Surgical Specialty |Graham Medical Group ASC| Other Local {Hospital) Surgery Center
General Surgery X X
Gynecology X X - some procedures excluded

Orthopedic Surgery X X
ENT X

Pain Management X X
Vascular X
Urology X

Podiatry X X

Documentation of staffing, as specified in 77 11l. Administrative Code 1110.235 (c) (8)
A. Relevant staffing needs for the proposed project were considered, and the staffing
requirements of licensure of accrediting bodies can be met. The staffing matrix for GHS’s ASTC

in Year 1 are illustrated in the below table:

Role

-
m

Site Director

Circulating RN

Scrub RN

Pre-Op/Post-Op Registered Nurses

Pre-Op/Post-Op Staff C.N.A.

Sterilization Tech

CRNA

Hl—thNwl—\|

Total Daily Staff

[
U

B. Proposed staffing will be achieved in the same manner as Graham Health System currently

recruits its staff. This process includes:

a. Open positions for the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery will be
posted on the Health System’s website, just as all other positions are posted.

h. Open positions are shared through social media (Facebook, LinkedIn, & Instagram}, with
information on how to access the job postings on the website.

c. Jobh postings are also viewable on indeed.com

d. Graham Health System will continue to cultivate its strong relationships with local
school systems and commerce groups. This will help build pathways to recruiting and
ensure GHS is participating in local career fairs.

e. Graham Health System’s hiring protocols ensure diversity, equity, and inclusion in all
facilities and in all roles.

%1l
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C. Rozana Dwyer, M.D., FACS will be the Medical Director of the Graham Medical Group Center for
Ambulatory Surgery. Dr. Dwyer has been a part of Graham Hospital Association’s medical staff
from 2019. Sheis a Board Certified General & Robotic surgeon. Dr, Dwyer has played a pivotal
role in the growth of the health system’s surgery services and will be an advocate for patient
access to care and quality outcomes.

Dr. Dwyer’s surgery volumes & referral rates for the previous fiscal year are included in in her
letter of support. A recent copy of her Curriculum Vitae (C.V.} is also enclosed for review. Both
of these documents can be found in Appendix B of this Attachment (25).

Documentation of the charge commitment, as specified in 77 Il Administrative Code 1110.235 {(c) {9}

A. Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery’s proposed charges are as listed in the
below tahle.

B. Graham Health System’s commitment that these charges will not increase for a minimum of two
years, unless the appropriate permits are obtained, is found in Appendix C of this attachment.

Assurances, as specified in 77 Il Administrative Code 1110.235(c)10

A. An attestation is found on Page 13of this attachment, stating that a Quality Assurance program
will be in place for the GHS ASTC to ensure quality standards are meet and patient outcomes
meet or exceed those standards. Should any measure not be met, a quality improvement plan
will be created to correct the issue.

B. As stated earlier, by the second year of operation, the annual utilization of the surgical rooms
will meet or exceed the utilization standard specified in 77 Ill. Administrative Code 1100.640(c).
Documentation of projected annual utilization is shown on page 7 of this attachment.

This documentation is based on the referral letters found in Appendix A. These surgical referral
letters indicate that these physician’s historical caseloads during Fiscal Year 2024 will meet
utilization standard, based upon the outpatient surgical hours at GHS during the same time
period.
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Dl_) GRAHAM Phon(309)647-5240

210w
9 HEALTH SYSTEM by
Canton, IL 81520
October 10, 2024
Ilinois Health Facllities and Services Review Board
525 W Jefferson
Second Floor

Springfield, 11 62761

Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

As the Chief Operating Officer of Graham Health System, | oversee our Quality programs. As an
authorized representative of Graham Hospital Association, | hereby attest to the following, in
accordance with 77 lll. Adm. Code 1110.235 (C){10}{A):

A peer review program will be implemented specific to the services and procedures performed at the
Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery. The Quality Assurance program will evaluate
outcomes to ensure they are consistent with the quality standards established for ambulatory surgical
treatment center services.

The Quality Assurance program will include Focused Practice Performance Evaluation {FPPE) for
physicians who are new to the medical staff or for those that request an increase in privileges. Ongoing
Practice Performance Evaluation (OPPE) will be conducted every six months for established physicians
who are providing care at the Ambulatory Surgery Center.

All required patient safety metrics will be monitored for trends monthly,

if it is found that outcomes do not meet or exceed these standards, an improvement plan will be
initiated to ensure patient safety & quality outcomes.

Sincerely,
) ey Puble - it offinots
Allison Sours -ormi-hnm “ m&w&u

Chief Operating Officer

Graham Hospital Association MHMA,QX %-ng_s

210 W, Wainut 5t.
Canton IL,, 61520
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Appendix A

@ @G RAHAM Phone(309)647-5240

210 W

Qg HEALTH SYSTEM canon 6550

Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

1 am a physician and a member of the medical staff of Graham Hospital Association. 1t is my intention to
refer patients to Graham Medlcal Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed project
of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area {GSA).
88% of the patients § care for live within the GSA. In FY 2024, | made 39 referrals to surgery for patients
within the GSA. When these patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to
receive care at Graham Hospital or are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to
lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option. |intend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the first two years after the ASC is operational.

By signing below, 1 verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to support
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

I also verify that the information provided in this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.

Sincerely,

(lor

Chad Lampe, M.D.
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Appendix A

@\@ GRAHAM Phone (309)647-5240

210w

QG HEALTH SYsTEM B

FY 2024 Chad Lampe, M.D.
Spacialty Count of rafarrals

Demmatology 4
ENT 3
General Surgery 13
OB - Gynecology 2
Ophthalmology 3
Orthopedic Surgery 3
Podiatrist 3
Urology 4
Vascuylar Surgery 2
Total 39

FY 2024 Lampe Patient Visits from GSA
Patient Zip Code Patient City Total Visits
61401 GALESBURG 265
61410 ABINGDON 24
161414 ALTONA Si
61430 EAST GALESBURG 3
[61434 GALVA 1
61442 KEITHSBURG 1
61448 KNOXVILLE 1{)
61467 ONEIDA 12
61474 SAINT AUGUSTINE

61485 VICTORIA 7
61488 _|waTtaGA 7
61489 WILLUAMSFIELD |
61490 WOODHULL 1d
Total Patients Visits from GSA 347
Total Visits 394
% of Patients from G5A 88%
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Appendix A

@I@G RAHA M Phone{309) 847-6240

©§ HEALTH SYSTEM o2t

October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

‘To Whom it May Concern,

1am an Advanced Practice Provider and a member of Graham Hospital Association. It is my intention to
refer patients to Graham Health System Center for Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed project of
this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area {GSA).
31% of the patients | care for live within the GSA. In FY 2024, | made 48 referrals to surgery for patients
within the GSA. When these patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to
receive care at Graham Hospltal or are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to
lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA In £Y 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option. I intend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the first two years after the ASC is operational.

8y signing below, | verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to support
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

I also verify that the information provided in this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.

Sincerely,

kg

Dawn Knutson, APP
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Appendix A

@\@G RAHAM Phone(309)647-5240

210w

2\J HEALTH SYSTEM com

FY 2024 Dawn Knutson, APP
Specialty Count of referrals
ENT 10
General Surgery 19
OB - Gynecology 1
Orthopedic Surgery 6
Pain Medicine 4
Podiatrist 2
[Urology 6
Total a8
FY 2024 Xnutson Patient Visits from GSA
Patlent Z2ip Code Patient City Total Vis}
61401 GAELSBURG 535
61410 ABINGDON 41
61414 ALTONA 10
61428 DAHINDA 6
61430 EAST GALESBURG 9
61436 GILSON 13
61439 HENDERSON 6
61448 KNOXVILLE 43
61467 ONEIDA 8
61472 RIO 6
61474 SAINT AUGUSTINE 2
61485 VICTORIA 17
61488 WATAGA 19
61490 WOODHULL 1|
Total Patients Visits from GSA 716
Total Visits 789
% of Patients from GSA 91%

Attachment 25 - Page 17 of 40

<1



Attachment 25
Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

Appendix A

C\l')G RAHAM Phane (309)647-5240

210 W

©G HEALTH SYsTEM s

October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

I am an Advanced Practice Provider and a member of Graham Hospital Association, It Is my intention to
refer patients to Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed project
of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter Includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area {GSA).
91% of the patients | care for live within the GSA. In FY 2024, | made 48 referrals to surgery for patients
within the GSA. When these patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to
receive care at Graham Hospital or are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to
lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option. 1intend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the Rirst two years after the ASC is operational.

By signing below, ! verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to suppart
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

1 also verify that the information provided In this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to

the best of my knowledge.
Sincerely,
QSQGIIQ i” A_G)p ey NDHICAL JORES :
E% tex Pmm-smg&ng-
o W May 13, 2629 i
i ons, APP :
Shana Simm W\ %%S

Attachment 25 - Page 18 of 40



Attachment 25
Section V. Service Specific Review Criteria

Appendix A

C\@ G RAHAM Phone (308)647-5240

210W

©GHEALTH SYsTEM e

FY 2024 Shana Simmons, APP
Specialty Count of referrals

ENT 8

[General Surgery 39

[oB- Gynecology 1

Ophthalmology 1

Orthopedic Surgery 17

[Pain Medicine 5

[Podiatrist 1

[urology 12

[vascular Surgery 3

Total 87

FY 2024 Simmons Patient Visits from GSA

Patlent Zip Code Patient City Total Visits
61401 GALESBURG 1761
61410 ABINGDON 177
61414 ALTONA 36
61428 DAHINDA 24
61430 EAST GALESBURG 33
{61434 GALVA 4
l61436 GILSON 32
|61439 HENDERSON 35
(61447 [KiIRkWOOD 12|
(61448 [kNOXVILLE 209
|61449 LA FAYETTE 2
61453 |cALESBURG 3|
61458 |maquon 9|
61467 |oNEIDA 37
61472 [ri0 44
61474 SAINT AUGUSTINE 12
51485 VICTORIA 32
61488 WATAGA 79|
61489 WILLIAMSFIELD 11
51450 WOODHULL 18|
51544 LONDON MILLS 2
61572 YATES CITY 2
Total Patlents Visits from GSA 2574
Total Visits 3078
% of Patients from GSA 8a%
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Appendix A

@E))G RAHAM Phone(308) 6475240
©F HEALTH SYSTEM o

October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Cancern,

I am an Advanced Practice Provider and a member of Graham Hospital Assoclation. It is my intention to
refer patients to Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed project
of this Centificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients | cutrently treat from the geographlcal service area {GSA).
85% of the patients | care for live within the GSA. In FY 2024, | made 87 referrals to surgery for patients
within the GSA. When these patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to
receive care at Graham Hosphal or are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to
lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option. 1intend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the first two years after the ASC is operational.

By signing below, | verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to support
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

t also verify that the information provided in this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge,

0wl

Christina McDorman, APP
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C\F)G RAHAM Phone(309) 647-5240

210W

QG HEALTH SYSTEM oy

FY 2024 Christina McDorman, APP
Specialty Count of refemrals

[ent 14
[General Surgery 20
Ophthalmology 1

Orthopedic Surgery 26
[Pain Medicine 9

IPodIalrIst &

IUrology 11
Total 87

FY 2024 McDorman Patient Visits from GSA
Patient Zip Code Patient City Total Visits
|s1401 GALESBURG 971
l61410 ABINGDON 96
61414 ALTONA 10
61428 |DAHINDA 24
61430 [EAST GALESBURG 21
61434 {GaLva 7
61436 |eison 17
61439 |HENDERSON 12
61448 [KNOXVILLE 101
61449 [LA FAYETTE 10
61458 |maqQuon 4
61467 |oNEIDA 41
61472 [rio 19]
61474 SAINT AUGUSTINE 7
61485 VICTORIA 7
61488 WATAGA 33
61489 WILLAMSFIELD 7
61490 WOODHULL 6
61529 |[ELMWOOD 5
61531 |[FARMINGTON 2
61544 |LONDON MILLS 6
Total Patients Visits from GSA 1406
Total Visits 1645
% of Patients from GSA 85%
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DF)G RAHAM Phone (300)647-5240

©G HEALTH SYsTEM =

October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

1am a physician and a member of the medical staff of Graham Hospital Association. It is my Intention to
refer patients to Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed project
of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area (GSA).
88% of the patients | care for live within the GSA. In FY 2024, | made 135 referrals to surgery for
patients within the GSA. When these patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance
to receive care at Graham Hospital or are referred out to providers that are not within the market due
to lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option. lintend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the first two years after the ASC is operational.

By signing below, | verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to support
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

{ also verify that the information provided in this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.

Sincerely,

Mark Deyoung, M,
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@[E)) GRAHAM Phone (309) 647-5240

210w

Qg HEALTH SYSTEM e

Patient Referrals to Surgery within GSA
FY 2024 Mark Deyoung, M.D.
clal Count of referrals
Dermatelogy 9
ENT 17
General Surgery 55
Ophthalmology_ 8
Orthopedic Surgery 17
Pain Medicine 5
Podiatrist 9
Umlogv 11
Vascular Surgery 4
Total 135
FY 2024 Deyoung Patleats from GSA
Patient Zip Code Patient City JTotal Visits
61401 GALESBURG 607
61410 ABINGDON 144
61414 ALTONA 5
61428 DAHINDA 16
61430 EAST GALESBURG 20
61434 GALVA 1
61436 GILSON 32|
61439 HENDERSON 16|
61448 KNOXVILLE 277
61488 WATAGA 2
61458 MAQUON 17]
61467 QONEIDA 15
61472 RKD 16{
61473 ROSEVILLE 4
61485 VICTORIA 5
61488 WATAGA 23
61489 WILLIAMSFIELD 8
61490 WOODHULL 1|
61529 ELMWOOD 1|
61531 FARMINGTON 2
61544 LONDON MILLS 2
61572 YATES CITY 1
Total Patients Visits from GSA 1215
Total Visits 1374
% of Patients from GSA 88%
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@E))G RAHAM Phona(308)647-5240

210 W,

Qg HEALTH SYSTEM s

October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

Te Whom it May Concern,

I am a physician specializing in obstetrics & gynecology and a member of the medical staff of Graham
Hospital Association. It is my intention to refer and treat patients to Graham Medical Group Center for
Ambutatory Surgery, which Is the proposed project of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area [GSA). In
Fiscal Year 2024, | performed 41 surgical procedures for patients who reside in the market. When these
patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to receive care at Graham Hospital or
are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option. 1intend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the first two years after the ASC is operational,

By signing below, | verify that the patient refervals Indicated in this letter have not been used to suppont
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

I also verify that the information provided in this letter and attached to this letter Is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.
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C5GRAHAM —
©F HEALTH SYSTEM Sectc

|__FY2024 Alyssa Crawford, M.D. |
Patlent Procedures within GSA
PatientZip |  Patient
Code Volumes |
61401 22
61410 2
61434 1
61436 1
SIS 1. EL R il et
| 6la48 | 3 |
61467 1 |
61474 1
61489 | 1
61529 | 1
| 61531 | 6 |
61544 | 2
Total 41
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©F HEALTH SYSTEM atiii s

October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

1 am a physician specializing in Otorhinolaryngology and a member of the medical staff of Graham
Hospital Association. It is my intention to refer and treat patients to Graham Medica! Group Center for
Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed project of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area (GSA). In
Fiscal Year 2024, t performed 68 surgical procedures for patients who reside In the market. When these
patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to receive care at Graham Hospital or
are referred out 1o providers that are not within the market due to lack of options.

In addition to providing surgical services in the area at the ASTC, Graham Health System intends to hold
clinic in the adjacent Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Care. The region does not currently
have an ENT specialist providing routine care. it is my expectations that these surgicat volumes will
increase significantly when the clinlc schedule opens in FY 2025.

By signing below, | verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to support
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

1also verify that the information provided in this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.

Sincerely,
([J ' //d" ! -

Gary Shaw, M.D.
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FY2024 Gary Shaw, M.D.

Patient Procedures within GSA

Patient Zip Code Patient Volumes

61401 23
61410
61414
51428
61435
61448
61467
61488
61529
61531
61544
61572

Grand Total

- IR TVE [ J 1% ') P PO (WY O POy PPN
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October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

| am a physician specializing fn orthopedics and a member of the medical staff of Graham Hospital
Assoclation. Itis my Intention to refer and treat patients to Graham Medical Group Center for
Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed project of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area (GSA). iIn
Fiscal Year 2024, | performed 39 surglcal procedures for patients who reside in the market. When these
patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to recelive care at Graham Hospital or
are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referced 10 the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambutatory Surgery had It been an option. | intend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the first two years after the ASC is operational.

By slgning below, [ verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to support
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

1 also verify that the information provided in this fetter and attached to this fetter Is true and comect to

the best of my knowledge.
Sincerely,
H -¢ Publi B&u ol
\ry éoﬂvrlihuun
RN X1 - M
Brett Barnhart, M.D. "Y\M % %?‘Mﬁ
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FY2024 Brett Barnhart, M.D.
Patient Procedures within GSA
Patient Zip Code Patlent Volumes

6140% 10
61436 1
61448 2
61458 1
61529 6
61531 i5
61544 1
61572 3
Total a9
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October 10, 2024

Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

I am a vascular surgeon and a member of the medical staff of Graham Hospital Association. It is my
intention to refer and treat patients to Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery, which Is
the proposed project of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients 1 currently treat from the geographical service area [GSA). In
Fiscal Year 2024, | performed 11 surgical procedures for patients who reside In the market. When these
patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to receive care at Graham Hospltal or
are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to lack of options.

In addition to providing surgical services in the area at the ASTC, | intend to hold dlinic in the adjacent
Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Care. The region does not currently have a vascular
surgeon providing routine care. It is my expectations that these surgical volumes will increase
significantly when the clinlc schedule opens in FY 2025.

By signing below, | verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used 10 suppont
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

I also verify that the information provided In this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to

the best of my knowledge.
Sincerely,
——
nm!c.\ J. ﬁf’
&M @mﬂ!nw Sugo of Tinon
1
Andy Chiou, M.0. HEE

a«mf;%
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FY2024 Andy Chlow, M.D.
Patient Procedures within GSA
Patient 2lp Code Patient Volumes
61401 6
61436 2
61529 2
61531 1
Total 11
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October 10, 2024
Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

1am a podiatrist and a member of the medical staff of Graham Hospital Association. It is my Intention to
refer and treat patients to Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery, which is the proposed
project of this Certificate of Need application.

This letter includes a summary of patients 1 currently treat from the geographical service area (GSA). In
Fiscal Year 2024, 1 performed 20 suegical procedures for patients who reside in the market. When these
patients need surgery, they are asked to travel significant distance to receive care at Graham Hospital or
are referred out to providers that are not within the market due to lack of options.

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option, |intend to
continue to refer at the same cadence during the first two years alter the ASC is operationa!.

By signing below, | verify that the patlent referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to suppornt
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

1 also verify that the informatlon provided in this letter and attached to this letter Is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.
Sincerely,

A [2g o

Jake Rul, DPM
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FY 2024 Jake Ruff, DPM
Patlent Procedures within GSA
Patient Zip Code Patient Volumes

61401 4
61410 1
61448 1
61529 S
61531 6
61544 2
61572 1
Total 20
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Re: Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery

To Whom it May Concern,

I am a physiclan and a member of the medical staff of Graham Hospital Association. It is my intention to
assume the role of Medical Director for the proposed Graham Medicat Group Center for Ambulatory
Surgery in Galesburg IL {H5A 2),

This letter includes a summary of patients | currently treat from the geographical service area (GSA}. In
Fiscal Year 2024, | completed 213 surgeries for patients within the region. This represents 21% of my
total cases for the period. Currently, my clinfc practice Is based in Canton, IL. With the proposed ASC, |
will hold Clinic at the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Care, which will increase my
referral rates for patients in the area. | expect my volume of patients from the region to grow
signiicantly In the first two years the ASC is operational,

The vast majority of patients who were referred to surgery from the GSA in FY 2024 would have been
referred to the Graham Medical Group Center for Ambulatory Surgery had it been an option. | intend to
continue to refer and accept referrals in my specialty at the same cadence during the first two years
after the ASC is operational.

By signing below, I verify that the patient referrals indicated in this letter have not been used to support
another pending or approved Certificate of Need Application for these services.

| also verify that the information provided in this letter and attached to this letter is true and correct to
the best of my knowledge.

Sincerely,

“~“WONICA J. JONES
- (B i e
’%" "d?'—— 1% e - e
. . -
Rozana Dwyer, M.D, FACS %“—} 3“‘4
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FY 2024 Rozana Dwyer, M.D. FACS
Patient Procedures within GSA
Patlent ZIp Code Patlent Volumes
61401 36
61410 7
61414 2
61428 5
61430 1
61434 1
61436 5
61448 11
6144% 1
61458 5
61474 2
61485 3
61488 2
61489 9
61529 44
61531 55
61544 9
61572 15
Total 213
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ROZANA H. DWYER, MD

EDUCATIOR & CERTIFICATIONS

American Board of Surgery Certification

Healogics{Wound Care & Hyperbaric Medicine Certification

University of illinois College of Medicine at Peoria
General Surgery Residency

Loyola University Chicago. Stritch Schood of Medicine
M.D. Hopors in Research

Loyola University Chicago
B.5 Mathematics & Biology, Magna Cum Laude

LEADERSRIP & WORK EXPERIENCE

Graham Healdh System
Gereral Surgeon

Bread and Butter General Surgery. Upper & Lower Endoscopy, Robotic Surgery

Fulton & Mason County Wound Qlinic

Medical Director

Administrative oversight of wound dinic and hyperbaric oxygen therapy
Unversity of [linois

Department of Surgety. General divition

Clinical Assistant Professor of Surgery
Clinical Clerkship Faculty for Rural Surgery Rotation

True Leam, Content Author General Surgery
Content development for ABSITE general surgery board questions

Meddociive, EPIC Superuser
Physician Support for newly adopoed EPIC systems

Minois Education Foundation, [norganic & Organic Chamistry Tutor
Tutored students from City Colleges of Chicago & developad study plans.

ExamKrackers. MCAT Prep Instrnuctor
Developed curricula for & tught Physics & [norganic Chemistry subjects.

Center for Science & Mathematics Education, Program Coordinator

Coordinated maltiple projects & professional developments with che High School

Transformation Project for krw-performing Chicago Public Schools.

Cambridge Education Senvices. ACT Math & Science Ingtructor

Developed curnicula & taught test taking skills & content for math & science subjects

at Proviso East High School in Maywood, (L

PUBLICATIONS & SCHOLARLY ACTIVITY
RH. Dwyer. M| Scheidt. ]S Marshall et al. Safety and efficacy; of synchrorous rebotic surgery for colorectal cancer with liver metastases. | Rubotic

L
2.
3

Surg 12, 603-606 (2018).

December 2019-Present
August 2015-Present
July 2014-June 2019

July 2010-May 2014

August 2005-May 2009

August 2019-Present

August 202 1-Present

August 2019-Present

Augast 2015-Present

March 2014 july 2018

October 2009- [anuary 2012

October 2009 - August 2011

Decembec 2007- August 2010

[anvary 2010-May 2010

CHicks. RAsforr, APannuth, L Miele, An Integrative Approacts to Biwnorker Discovery in Broast Concer. Cancer Informatics 2011:10 185-204 July 25

2011,
WATS 906 STUDY Participant

Itvestgator in Wide-area trans-epithelial sampling (WATS) vs standard Seattle Protocol for Barrett's Esophagus Surveillance and Management

MEMBERSHIPS

-

American Coflege of Surgeons. Amserican Society of Breast Surgeons

LANGUAGES

Arabic- speak with basic competence

lo(e
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Graham Health System
CPT Procedure ASC Fee Schedule!
10005 FNA BX W/US GDN 1ST LES s 874.56
10061 DRAINAGE OF SKIN ABSCESS S 769.34
11042 DEB SUBQ TISSUE 20 5Q CM/< s 533.52
11043 DEB MUSC/FASCIA 20 SQ CM/< S 957.90
11402 EXC TR-EXT B9 MARG 1.1-2CM S 462.66
11406 EXC TR-EXT B9 MARG > 4.0CM 5 1,861.66
11423 EXC H-F-NK-SP B9+MARG 2.1-3 S 565.94
11450 REMOVAL SWEAT GLAND LESION S 2,838.08
11644 EXC F/E/E/N/L MAL+MRG 3.1-4 S 1,921.06
11750 EXCISION NAIL PERM S 407.48
11770 REMOVAL OF PILONIDAL LESION S 2,688.34
11771 REMOVAL OF PILONIDAL LESION S 3,220.36
14041 SKIN TISSUE REARRANGEMENT S 3,387.80
14060 SKIN TISSUE REARRANGEMENT S 3,192.70
19300 REMOVAL OF BREAST TISSUE S 3,801.98
19301 PARTIAL MASTECTOMY S 4,287.96
20240 BONE BIOPSY OPEN SUPERFICIAL S 2,592.48
20610 DRAIN/INJ JOINT/BURSA W/O US S 160.48
20680 REMOVAL OF IMPLANT DEEP S 3,153.74
21325 OPEN TX NOSE FX UNCOMPLICATD S 3,497.36
21552 EXC NECK LES SC 3 CM/> S 3,222.50
23412 REPAIR ROTATOR CUFF CHRONIC S 8,498.82
24075 EXC ARM/ELBOW LESSC <3 CM S 2,028.80
25000 INCISION OF TENDON SHEATH S 2,328.36
25111 REMOVE WRIST TENDON LESION S 2,289.38
25609 TREAT FX RADIAL 3+ FRAG $ 11,317.46
26055 INCISE FINGER TENDON SHEATH S 2,219.76
26160 REMOVE TENDON SHEATH LESION S 2,271.40
26608 TREAT METACARPAL FRACTURE S 4,005.08
27265 TREAT HIP DISLOCATION S 1,093.22
27340 REMOVAL OF KNEECAP BURSA S 3,791.56
27570 FIXATEON OF KNEE JOINT ) 1,945.28
27632 EXC LEG/ANKLE LES SC 3+ CM S 3,139.30
27680 RELEASE OF LOWER LEG TENDON S 3,876.60
28035 DECOMPRESSION OF TIBIA NERVE S 2,505.96
28039 EXC FOOT/TOETUMSC >1.5CM S 2,985.92

"z
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Graham Health System
|CPT Procedure ASC Fee Schedule
28090 REMCVAL OF FOOT LESION S 2,247.52
28122 PARTIAL REMOVAL OF FOOT BONE S 3,907.40
28285 REPAIR CF HAMMERTOE 5 3,801.56
28291 CORRJ HALUX RIGDUS W/IMPLT S 10,241.12
28252 COR HLX VLGS RSC PRX PHLX BS S 3,998.44
28297 COR HLX VLGS IT ARTHRD S 10,993.02
28485 TREAT METATARSAL FRACTURE $ 9,882.44
28820 AMPUTATION OF TOE $ 3,392.66
28825 PARTIAL AMPUTATION OF TOE $ 3,384.38
29877 KNEE ARTHROSCOPY/SURGERY ) 4,284.90
30140 REMOVAL OF TURBINATE BONES S 2,992.12
30220 INSERT NASAL SEPTAL BUTTON S 1,586.20
30520 REPAIR OF NASAL SEPTUM S 3,951.48
31238 NSL/SINS NDSC SRG NSL HEMRRG 5 1,846.84
31242 NSL/SINUS NDSC RF ABLTJ PNN S 7,268.40
31267 ENDOSCOPY MAXILLARY SINUS S 5,131.46
31536 LARYNGOSCOPY W/BX & OP SCOPE S 3,549.70
31540 LARYNGOSCOPY W/EXC OF TUMOR S 3,611.72
31541 LARYNSCOP W/TUMR EXC + SCOPE S 3,655.40
31571 LARYNGOSCOP W/VC INJ + SCOPE S 3,627.12
31576 LARYNGOSCOPY WITH BIOPSY 5 1,750.96
31579 DIAGNQSTIC LARYNGOSCOPY $ 490.50
32555 ASPIRATE PLEURA W/ IMAGING $ 866.14
36475 ENDOVENQUS RF 15T VEIN S 3,657.46
36561 INSERT TUNNELED CV CATH s 3,755.18
37766 PHLEB VEINS - EXTREM 20+ S 1,164.42
40806 INCISHON OF LIP FOLD S 233.16
42660 DILATION OF SALIVARY DUCT S 304.28
42821 REMOVE TONSILS AND ADENOIDS S 3,243.74
42826 REMOQVAL OF TONSILS S 3,146.20
42331 REMOVAL OF ADENOCIDS 5 3,095.00
43195 ESOPHAGOSCOPY RIGID BALLOON - S 3,966.18
45334 SIGMOIDOSCOPY FOR BLEEDING S 1,454.66
46250 HEMORRHOIDECTOMY S 3,333.02
46922 EXCISION OF ANAL LESION(S) S 2,973.44
47563 LAPARO CHOLECYSTECTOMY/GRAPH S 6,882.26
49083 ABD PARACENTESIS W/IMAGING S 1,147.74
49451 REPLACE DUOD/JE) TUBE PERC S 1,114.02
49592 |RPR AA HRN 1ST < 3 NCR/STRN s 6,391.00
49650 LAPARO HERNIA REPAIR INITIAL $ 6,294.44
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Graham Health System
CPT Procedure ASC Fee Schedule
51040 INCISE & DRAIN BLADDER 5 2,437.32
51705 CHANGE OF BLADDER TUBE S 230.04
51715 ENDOSCOPIC INJECTION/IMPLANT 5 4,893.42
52000 CYSTOSCOPY S 785.78
52005 CYSTOSCOPY & URETER CATHETER 5 2,122.30
52240 CYSTOSCOPY AND TREATMENT S 5,715.72
52287 CYSTOSCOPY CHEMODENERVATION S 2,194.06
52310 CYSTOSCOPY AND TREATMENT S 2,158.94
52332 CYSTOSCOPY AND TREATMENT 5 3,558.58
52356 CYSTO/URETERO W/LITHOTRIPSY s 5,762.42
53854 TRURL DSTRJ PRST8 TISS RF WV S 3,619.28
54001 SLITTING OF PREPUCE s 2,137.92
54057 LASER SURG PENIS LESION(S) s 2,084.02
54100 BIOPSY OF PENIS 5 1,603.74
54530 REMOVAL OF TESTIS S 4,255.50
54840 REMOVE EPIDIDYMIS LESION S 2,499.34
55040 REMOVAL OF HYDROCELE S 3,916.96
55250 REMOVAL OF SPERM DUCT(S) ) 2,312.54
55706 PROSTATE SATURATION SAMPLING S 3,995.72
55874 TPRNL PLMT BIODEGRDABL MATRL S 7,812.64
56605 BIOPSY OF VULVA/PERINEUM 5 228.06
57288 SLING S 6,991.06
57522 CONIZATION OF CERVIX S 3,682.64
58552 LAPARO-ASST VAG HYSTERECTOMY S 11,061.26
58558 HYSTEROSCOPY BIOQPSY S 3,638.90
58562 HYSTEROSCOPY REMOVE FB S 3,619.36
58563 HYSTEROSCOPY ABLATION S 4,766.54
58661 LAPAROSCOPY REMOVE ADNEXA ) 6,729.84
59151 TREAT ECTOPIC PREGNANCY 5 7,023.94
59812 TREATMENT OF MISCARRIAGE ) 3,808.00
59820 CARE OF MISCARRIAGE s 3,961.02
62323 NJX INTERLAMINAR LMBR/SAC S 913.26
62362 IMPLANT SPINE INFUSION PUMP S 28,851.72
62370 ANL SP INF PMP W/MDREPRG&FIL 5 208.80
63650 IMPLANT NEUROELECTRODES S 10,718.40
63685 IMPLANT NEURORECEIVER s 51,236.64
64490 INJ PARAVERT FIJNT C/__T 1LEV S 1,152.46
64590 INS/RPL PRPH SAC/GSTR NPG/R - $ 35,386.60
64617 CHEMODENER MUSCLE LARYNX EMG $ 396.04
64635 DESTROY LUMB/SAC FACET INT $ 2,173.29

fo1
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Graham Health System
Procedure ASC Fee Schedule

CARPAL TUNNEL SURGERY $ 2,667.78
CORRECTION EYELID W/ IMPLANT s 2,893.58
REPAIR OF EARDRUM _|> 1,002.60
|Inj for sacroiliac jt anesth s _717.38
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Attachment 33

Cash & Securities

Audits for Graham Hospital Association’s most recent audited fiscal year are included in the Appendix of
this Attachment.

In addition, a resolution from the Graham Hospital Association Board of Trustees authorizing the use of
up to $4.0 million in Internally Designated Funds has been included for review.

Attachment 33-Page 1 of 10
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RESOLUTION
EXPRESSING OFFICIAL INTENT
REGARDING CERTAIN CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
TO BE REIMBURSED WITH PROCEEDS FROM INTERNALLY DESIGNATED FuNDs

WHEREAS, the Graham Hospital Association, an lilinois not-for-profit corporation (the
“Association”), desires to acquire, construct, renovate, remodel or equip an Ambulatory Surgery
Center (the “Project”), and the expenditures relating to the Project (the “Expenditures™) or will be
paid on or after the adoption of this Resolution: and

WHEREAS, the Association reasonably expecls to reimburse a portion of the
Expenditures with the proceeds of an obligation;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Association
that:

Section 1. The Association reasonably expects to reimburse a portion of the
Expenditures with up to $4.0 million of the Association’s Intemally Designated Funds, which as
of the date of this resolution totals $125.0 million.

Section 2. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its
adoption.

Adopted this 28" day of October, 2024.

Al
Robert G. Sennctt Janly Blout
President & CEQ Secretary
Graham Hospital Association Graham Hospital Association
Board of Trustees

On the 28™ day of October 2024, the PRESDIENT & CEO OF GRAHAM HOSPITAL
ASSOCIATION and the SECRETARY OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF GRAHAM
HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, previously known to me, personally appeared before me and
affixed his/her signatures hercto, certifying thereby the above resolution was approved at the
October 28, 2024 Graham Hospital Board of Trustees meeting,

i ) Mebor

Notary Public  {
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Graham Hospital Association’s President & CEQ, Robert G. Senneff has also provided certification that
funds are available for use for this project.

@@ G RAHAM Phone (300)647-5240
&g HEALTH SYSTEM =it v

W gTETEmiTE

Debra Savage

Health Facilities and Services Review Board
525 West Jefferson Street, Floor 2
Springfield, IL 62761

Re: Graham Hospital Association’s Ambulatory Surgery Center
Administrative Code Section IX. 1120.140 — Economic Feasibility

Ms. Savage,

At its October 28, 2024 meeting, the Board of Trustees of Graham Hospital Association, approved the funding of up to
$4.0 million in cash and investments for construction and establishment of an Ambulatory Surgery Center,

The availability of these funds can be found on the Consolidated Balance Sheet of Graham Hospital Association for the
Year ending June 30, 2023. The funds are part of the $110.4 million of Internally Designated funds which appears on
page six of the 2023 Graham Hospital Association audit.

cerel

Robert G. Senneff
President & CEQ
Graham Hospital Association

rsenneff@grahamhospital.org
(309)647-5240

Graham Hospital - Graham Medical Group - Graham Wellnass Center
Grahgam Home Medical Equipment - Graham School of Nursing - Graham Foundation
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Debt Financing

The full Bond & Loan Agreement for the Graham Hospital Association Project is included in the Appendix
of this Attachment. In addition, the Bond Closing Memorandum, Certificate and Receipt of the Purchaser
and Bond Registrar’s Certificate have been included in this Attachment for review.

Bond Closing Memorandum
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Graham Hospital Association — Scrics 2024 Bond Issuance

Closing Memorandum V Vi U M

May 15, 2024 IES LIS

Graham Hospital Association’s Scrics 2024 Bond Tssuance will close and fund on May 15, 2024, The City
of Canton, Ilinois will serve as the issuing authority. The City adopled the Bond Ordinance at their
regularly scheduled meeting on May 7, 2024,

The par amount of the tax-exempt offering totals $11,322,000. Proceeds will be used to fund capital projects
at the hospital, support expunsion cftorts in Galesburg, 1. (Knox County Resolution adopted on April 24,
2024), and pay cosls ol issuance. Commerce Bank {d/bfa Clayton Holdings, LLC) will purchase the bonds.
The all-in tax-cxempt rate for the bonds is 4.46% (dctailed below).

TaxEyempt Fixed Rate Option Rates 1 of $/10/2024
Tan Exetmpt Allin Tax Exempt
Term Factor Teemwv Rate Spread Fixed Rate
SSmar ) x 439%, =1 0% | = 4.46%

Following are the closing Sources & Uses, closing day disbursement schedule, and associated payment

instructions:
Series 2024 Bonds Spurces & Uses Disk ment at Closing

Sources Bond Registrar Fee 3,000

Bond Proceeds for Project Uses 11,178,902  Municipal Advisor 84,915

Bond Praceeds for Closing Costs 143,058  Bond Counset 35,000

Total Uses 11,322,000  Bank Counscl 17,900

Borrower's Counsel 500G

Uses o BMOCounsel 1,500

PROJECT - MRI 687,556  Misc. Closing Costs 283

PROJECT -CT 218846  Total Closing Disbursement 143,098
PROJECT - Galesburg Bullding € - Phase 2 North 3,600,000
PROJECT - Galesburg Building C - Phase 2 South 4,312,500
PROJECT - GMG Seminary / 3rd Avenue Remodel 910,000
PROJECT - GMG Seminary / Grove Remodel 550,000
PROJECT - GMG Seminary / F R d 500,000
Bond Registrar Fee 3.00¢
Municipal Advisor Fee 824,915
sond Counsel 15,000
Bank Counsel 17,900
Borrower's Counsel 500
BMO Counse! {Intercreditor) 1,500
Misc. Closing Costs 283
Total Uses 11,322,000

www.viumcopital,.com

Certificate and Receipt of the Purchaser
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CERTIFICATE AND RECEIPT OF THE PURCHASER

City of Canton. Illinois
Canton, Illinois

Graham Hospital Association
Canton, Hlinois

This certificate is delivered to you concurrently with the issuance of $11,322,000 in
maximum principal amount of the Health Care Facilities Revenue Bond. Series 2024 (Graham
Hospital Association Project) (the “Series 2024 Bond™) of the City of Canton, Fulion County,
Illinois (the “Issuer™) under and pursuant to a Bond and Loan Agreement, dated as of May 1,
2024 (the “Agreement”™), among the Issuer. Graham Hospital Association, an Illinois not-for-
profit corporation (the “Borrower™). and Clayton Holdings. LLC, a Missouri limited liability
company (“Purchaser™). Reference is made to the Agreement for the definitions of certain tenms
used hercin. In connection with such issuance and the execution by certain of you of the
documentation required therefor. the Purchaser, hereby represents and warrants to each of you as
follows:

1. The Agreement. the Continuing Covenant Agreement. dated as of May 1, 2024
(the “Covenant Agreement™) between the Purchaser and the Borrower, and the [uvestor Letler of
the Purchaser dated the date hereof (the “Investor Letter™), have been duly and validly executed
and delivered on behalf of the Purchaser by the officer executing and delivering the same.

2. The officer referred to in paragraph 1 above was, on the dates of the acts
described above, and is. on the date hereof. a duly qualified and acting officer of the Purchaser
and duly authorized to execute and deliver the Agreement, 1he Covenant Agreement and the
Investor Lctter.

3. The Purchaser hiereby accepts the duties and obligations imposed upon it by the
Agreement.
4. The Purchaser hereby acknowledges receipt of ane (1) fully registered Series

2024 Bond in the aggregate authorized principal amount of $11,322,000 (by delivery of such
Bond 10 the Bond Registrar to be held in safekeeping for the benefit of Purchaser).

3. The Purchaser is purchasing the Series 2024 Bond of the Issuer at par.

6. The Purchaser is the first buyer of the Series 2024 Bond and is buving the Series
2024 Bond as an investment for its own account with no present intention to resell the Series
20024 Bond,

7. The purchase price of the Series 2024 Bond was determined in an arm’s-length
negotiation between the Purchaser. a willing buver, and the Borrower, a willing seller, based on
the terms of the Agreement and the Covenant Agreement.

Attachment 33-Page 6 of 10
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Attachment 33

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate and Receipl is eecuted and delivered this 15th
day of May, 2024.

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, LL.C

By:
Its:

Signature Page to
Certificate and Receipt of the Purchaser

Attachment 33-Page 7 of 10
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Attachment 33

Bond Registrar’'s Certificate

STATE OF [LLINOIS )
) 88
COUNTY oF COOK )

BOND REGISTRAR'S CERTIFICATE

Zions Bancorporation, National Association. Chicago. Illinois (the “Bond Registrar™),
hereby certifies that it is the bond registrar for the City of Canton, Fulton County, Hlinois (the
“City™), appointed for $11.322.000 in maximum pr\incipn] amount of the Health Care Facilities
Revenue Bond. Series 2024 (Graham Hospital Association Project) (the “Bond™), of the City.,
under and pursuant to the provisions of a Bond and Loan Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2024
(the “Agreement”). among the City. Graham Hospital Association, an Illinois not-for-profit
corporation {the “Borrower™). and Clayton Holdings, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company
(“Purchaser™).

The Bond Registrar hereby further certifies and agrees as follows;

L. The Bond Registrar has heretofore and does hereby accept the duties as bond
registrar so imposed by the Agreement.

2. Pursuant to a proper authorization and direction from the City dated this date, the
Bond Registrar has authenticated as of this date and delivered to the Purchaser, the Bond in the
principal amount as hercinabove set forth, dated May 15, 2024, and due on the dates and in the
amounts and bearing interest at the rates percent per annum as set forth in the Agreement.

3. Each of the persons named below is an authorized agent of the Bond Regisirar;
onc or more of such persons. in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement, are duly
authorized and empowered to authenticate and did authenticate on the date hereof the Bond
issucd under the Agreement: and the signature appearing after the name of each such person as

follows is a truc and correct specimen of each such person's genuine signature:

Attachment 33-Page 8 of 10
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NAME OFFICE SIGNATURE

LLd C%#.J’r U ae ﬂu.‘)uﬂ ,A—/—

4, The Bond Registrar has full power and authority under the applicable laws of the
United States of America and the State of Illinois to act as bond registrar for the Bond in the
manner contemplated by the Agreement; it has taken all necessary corporate action by its
properly authorized officers, employees or agents to accept said offices and duties; and the
undersigned are duly qualified and acting officers of the Bond Registrar as indicated by the titles
set under their names and are authorized by the Bond Registrar to execute and attest this
certificate.

5. The Bond Registrar acknowledges receipt of an executed copy of the Agreement.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to ohtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

* Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Hospital's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

* Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Hospital's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of
time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 21, 2022,
on our consideration of the Hospital's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters, The purpose of
that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital's
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Hospital's internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

(/Uc,'%;a‘ LLP

Eau Claire, Wisconsin
September 21, 2022
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Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Trustees
Graham Hospital Association
Canton, Hlinois

Report on the Audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Graham Hospital Association (the "Hospital"), which
comprise the balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, and the related statements of operations, changes in
net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of the Hospital as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America ("'GAAP").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America {"GAAS") and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the Hospital and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide & basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Hospital's ability to continue as a
going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.

P



Graham Hospital Association

Balance Sheets

June 30, 2022 2021
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 8,216,200 $& 11,718,191
Patient accounts receivable - Net 11,953,658 10,513,760
Other receivables 3,039,002 2,813,458
Inventories 1,937,817 2,124,075
Prepaid expenses and other 1,758,665 1,344,714
Total current assets 26,905,342 28,514,198
Assets limited as to use:
Internally designated 103,582,979 116,599,510
Self-insurance funds held by trustee 1,740,526 2,405,823
Deferred compensation plans assets 1,176,349 1,166,855
Total assets limited as to use 106,499,854 120,172,188
Beneficial interests in trusts and Foundation 8,813,444 10,250,315
Property and equipment - Net 87,069,377 85,895,287
Other assets 3,303,239 3,160,374

Total assets

$ 232,591,256

$ 247,992,362




Graham Hospital Association

Balance Sheets (Continued)

June 30, 2022 2021
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of leng-term debt and capital lease obligation S 2,285,451 § 2,164,671
Accounts payable 4,864,391 7,467,862
Accrued salaries and other expenses 6,074,854 5,039,160
Deferred revenue 128,490
Estimated amounts due to third-party payors 3,801,721 4,428,480
Total current liabilities 17,244,907 19,100,173
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt and capital lease obligation - Less current maturities 54,853,540 57,146,617
Estimated self-insurance costs - Net of current portion 3,054,666 2,814,387
Deferred compensation plans liabilities 1,176,349 1,166,855
Interest rate swap liabilities 1,487,101 3,493,232
Other 266,162 266,162
Total long-term liabilities ©0,837,818 64,887,253
Total liabilities 78,082,725 83,987,426
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 145,695,087 153,754,621
With donor restrictions 8,813,444 10,250,315
Total net assets 154,508,531 164,004,936

Total liabilities and net assets

$ 232,591,256

$ 247,992,362

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Graham Hospital Association
Statements of Operations

Years Ended June 30, 2022 2021
Revenue:
Net patient service revenue S 93,018,619 $ 82,056,144
Other operating revenue 11,971,147 16,788,088
Total revenue 104,989,766 98,844,232
Expenses:
Salaries and wages 42,952,447 37,100,214
Employee benefits 11,761,383 10,852,093
Purchased services and professional fees 18,288,823 20,575,869
Supplies and other 21,273,282 19,609,791
Depreciation and amortization 5,971,109 5,819,941
Interest 1,583,760 1,446,067
Total expenses 101,830,804 95,403,975
Income from aperations 3,158,962 3,440,257
Nonoperating gains and losses:
Interest and dividend income and net realized gains on sale of investments 6,089,380 839,746
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on trading securities (19,796,661} 22,668,384
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements 2,006,131 1,402,023
Denations and bequests 42,360 31,906
Loss on disposal of property and equipment (6,837) (137,684)
Total nonoperating gains and losses - Net (11,665,627} 24,804,375
Revenue in excess (deficiency) of expenses (8,506,665} 28,244,632
Net assets released from restrictions used for purchases of property and
equipment 447,131 419,719
Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions S  (8,059,534) § 28,664,351

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Graham Hospital Association
Statements of Changes in Net Assets

Years Ended June 30, 2022 2021
Net assets without donor restrictions:
Revenue in excess (deficiency) of expenses $ {8,506,665) $ 28,244,632
Net assets released from restrictions used for purchases of property and
equipment 447,131 419,719
Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions {8,059,534) 28,664,351
Net assets with donaor restrictions:
Net assets released from restrictions (447,131) (419,719)
Change in interest in net assets of Foundation 35,921 144,953
Change in beneficial interest in perpetual trusts (1,025,661} 1,964,960
Increase {decrease) in net assets with donor restrictions (1,436,871) 1,690,194
Increase {decrease) in net assets (9,496,405) 30,354,545
Net assets, beginning of year 164,004,936 133,650,391
Net assets, end of year S 154,508,531 $ 164,004,936
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
6
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Graham Hospital Association

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2022 2021
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents:
Cash flows from operating activities:
Increase {decrease) in net assets S (9,496,405) 5 30,354,545
Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Change in net unrealized (gains) losses on trading securities 15,796,661 (22,668,384)
Net realized gains on investments (3,492,650} 1,410,677
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements (2,006,131} (1,402,023)
Undistributed change in interest in net assets of Foundation (35,921} {144,953)
Undistributed change in beneficial interest in trusts 1,025,661 (1,964,960)
Depreciation 5,971,109 5,819,941
Amortization 23,265 23,265
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 6,837 137,684
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Patient and other accounts receivable - Net (1,665,442) (1,353,119)
Inventories, prepaid expenses, and other {(370,557) {167,276)
Estimated amounts due to third-party payors (536,759) 2,584,143
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 1,523,225 (9,523,186)
Total adjustments 20,239,298 {27,248,191)
Net cash provided by operating activities 10,742,893 3,106,354
Cash flows from investing activities:
Increase in assets limited as to use (2,631,677) 2,585,189
Purchase of property and equipment - Net (9,864,776} (13,319,135)
Distributions from Hospital's interest in Foundation and trusts 447,131 419,719
Net cash used in investing activities (12,049,322) (10,314,227)
Cash flows from financing activities - Principal payments on long-term
debt and capital lease obligations (2,195,562} (1,837,661)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,501,991} (9,045,534)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 11,718,191 20,763,725
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year S 8,216,200 5 11,718,191
7
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Graham Hospital Association
Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

Years Ended June 30, 2022 2021

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash payments for interest - Net of capitalized interest $ 1,560,495 § 1,422,802
Property and equipment additions included in accounts payable at year-end 973,918 3,686,657

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principal Business Activity

Graham Hospital Association (the "Hospital") is located in Canton, Illinois and primarily earns revenues by
providing inpatient, outpatient, extended care, and physician services to patients in Fulton, Mason, and Peoria
Counties in lllinois. The Hospital also operates Graham Medical Group, Graham Home Medical Equipment,
Graham Hospital School of Nursing, and Graham Wellness Center in the same geographic area, which are
departments of Graham Hospital Association.

Financial Statement Presentation

The Hospital follows accounting standards set by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification {ASC). The ASC is the single source of authoritative accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) to be applied to nongovernmental entities.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of the accompanying financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that directly affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Cash Equivalents

The Hospital considers all highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less to be
cash equivalents, excluding amounts whose use is limited or restricted.

Investments, Assets Limited as to Use, and Investment Income

Investments, including those investments categorized as assets limited as to use in the accompanying balance
sheets, are measured at fair value or an approximation of fair value in the accompanying balance sheets, other
than the investments in unconsolidated affiliates included in assets limited as to use. Investments in
unconsolidated affiliates are accounted for on the cost method of accounting.

Assets limited as to use consist of investments designated by the Board of Trustees for future capital
improvements and other purposes, self-insurance funds held for future claims payments, and funds set aside
under deferred compensation plans. The funds designated by the Board of Trustees remain under the control of
the Board of Trustees and may at the Board of Trustees' discretion subsequently be used for other purposes.

All investment income {including realized and unrealized gains and losses, interest, and dividends) is

reported as nonoperating income and is included in revenue in excess of expenses unless the income is
restricted by donor or law. Realized gains or losses are determined by specific identification.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Hospital measures fair value of its
financial instruments using a three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value.
These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets;
Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that are either directly or
indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists,
therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions. The asset's or liability's fair value
measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant
to the fair value measurement.

Patient Accounts Receivable and Credit Policy

Patient accounts receivable is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Hospital
expects to be entitled, in exchange for providing patient care services. Patient accounts receivable are recorded
in the accompanying balance sheets net of contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions which reflects
management's estimate of the transaction price. The Hospital estimates the transaction price based on
negotiated contractual agreements, historical experience, and current market conditions. The initial estimate of
the transaction price is determined by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts,
and implicit price concessions and is recorded through a reduction of gross revenue and a credit to patient
accounts receivable. Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to patient service revenue in the period of the change.

The Hospital does nat have a policy to charge interest on past due accounts.
Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of pharmaceuticals and medical supplies and are valued at the lower of average cost
or net realizable value.

10
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property, Equipment, and Depreciation

Property and equipment acquisitions are recorded at cost or, if donated, at fair value at the date of donation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable asset and is computed using
the straight-line method. Estimated useful lives range from 3 to 25 years for equipment and 2 to 40 years for
land improvements, buildings, and buildings service equipment.

Gifts of long-lived assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support without donor restrictions
and are excluded from revenue in excess of expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the donated
assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used
and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as support with
donor restrictions. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those long-lived assets must be maintained,
expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in
service.

The Haspital periodically evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that may affect the carrying
value of property and equipment. If such events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable, impairment is determined by comparing the carrying value with the estimated future net
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets, including cash flows from disposition.
Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the carrying value, the Hospital would
recognize an impairment loss. During 2022 and 2021, the Hospital determined that no evaluations of
recoverability were necessary.

Asset Retirement Obligation

Management annually assesses its existing properties to determine if there is a need to recognize a liability for a
conditional asset retirement, specifically as it relates to its legal obligation to perform asset retirement activities,
such as asbestos removal, on its existing properties. An asset retirement obligation represents the obligation to
dispose of assets that are legally required to be removed at a future date. This obligation is recorded at the net
present value using a risk-free interest rate and an inflationary rate. The asset retirement obligation is included in
other long-term liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets related to known required removals of hazardous
materials from facilities in the future.

Interest in Net Assets of Foundation

Accounting guidance establishes standards of financial accounting and reporting for transactions in which an
entity makes contributions to another entity or an entity that accepts contributions from a donor and agrees to
use those assets on behalf of or transfer those assets and the return on those assets to another entity. The
Hospital and Graham Hospital Foundation Incorporated (the "Foundation"”) are financially interrelated
organizations, and accordingly the Hospital recognizes its interest in the net assets of the Foundation and adjusts
that interest for its share of the change in the net assets of the Foundation.

11
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Deferred Compensation

The Hospital maintains nonqualified deferred compensation plans for key management staff, physicians, and
certain mid-level practitioners. The plans allow these employees to make an annual election to defer a portion of
their salary into investment options consisting of mutual funds. The Hospital retains title to and beneficial
ownership of all assets in the nonqualified plans. The value of these assets at retirement, termination, or on the
employees' respective vesting date, is paid to employees. These investments are classified in the accompanying
balance sheets as assets limited as to use, with a corresponding long-term liability.

Net Assets

Net assets without donor restrictions consist of investments and other amounts that are available for use in
carrying out the mission of the Hospital that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and include those
expendable resources which have been designated for special use by the Board of Trustees. Net assets with
donor restrictions are those whose use by the Hospital has been limited by donors to a specific time period,
purpose, or have been restricted by donors to be maintained by the Hospital in perpetuity. Earnings on net
assets with donor restricted endowment funds are recorded as net assets with donor restrictions until
appropriated by the Hospital's Board of Trustees.

Revenue in Excess of Expenses

The statements of operations and changes in net assets include the classification revenue in excess of expenses
which is considered the operating indicator. Changes in net assets, which are excluded from the operating
indicator, include permanent transfer of assets to and from affiliates for other than goods and services, and
contributions of long-lived assets including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to
be used for the purpose of acquiring such assets.

Net Patient Service Revenue

Patient service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Hospital expects to
be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from patients, third-party payors
(including health insurers and government programs), and others and includes variable consideration for
retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Hospital
bills the patients and third-party payors several days after the services are performed and/or the patient is
discharged from the facility. Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied.

12
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Net Patient Service Revenue (Continued)

Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided. Revenue from
performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual charges incurred in relation to total
expected (or actual) charges. Generally, the Hospital has few patients which have performance obligations which
are satisfied over time. The majority of the patient care services provided in or by the hospital, clinics, skilled
nursing facility, and durable medical equipment providers have a performance obligation which is satisfied as the
patient simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the services are performed. In the case
of these services described, the recognition of the performance obligation over time yields the same result as
recognition of the obligation at a point in time. The Hospital believes that this method provides a faithful
depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance obligation based on the inputs needed to
satisfy the obligation.

Because the Hospital's performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of less than one year, the
Hospita! has elected to apply the optional exemption and therefore is not required to disclose the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
at the end of the reporting peried, The unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations referred to
above are primarily related to inpatient acute care services at the end of the reporting period. The performance
obligations for these contracts are generally completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs
within days or weeks of the end of the reporting period.

The Hospital uses a portfolio approach to account for categories of patient contracts as a collective group rather
than recognizing revenue on an individual contract basis, The Hospital used the following factors to develop
portfolios: major payor classes, type of service {e.g., inpatient, outpatient, emergency, clinic), and geographic
location. Using historical collection trends and other analysis, the Hospital evaluated the accuracy of its estimate
and determined that recognizing revenue by utilizing the portfolio approach approximates the revenue that
would have been recognized if an individual contract approach was used.

The nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by several factors that the
Hospital considers in its recognition of revenue. Following are some of the factors considered:

* Payors {for example, Medicare, Medicaid, managed care, other insurances, patients, etc.) have different
reimbursement/payment methodologies

* Length of the patient's service/episode of care

» Geography of the service location

e Organization's line of business that provided the service (for example, hospital, clinic, long-term care,
etc.)

13
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Paolicies (Continued)

Net Patient Service Revenue (Continued)

The Hospital determines the transaction price, which involves significant estimates and judgment, based on
standard charges for goods and services provided, reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party
payors, discounts provided to uninsured patients in accordance with the Hospital's policy, and implicit price
concessions provided to patients. The Hospital determines its estimates of contractual adjustments and
discounts based on contractual agreements, its discount policy, and historical experience. The Hospital
determines its estimate of implicit price concessions based on its historical collection experience for each patient
portfolio based on payor class and service type.

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for reimbursement to the Hospital at amounts
that vary from its established rates. A summary of the basis of reimbursement with major third-party payors
follows:

Hospital Services:

* Medicare: Inpatient acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at
prospectively determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification
system that is based on clinical, diagnostic and other factors. The Medicare program has designated the
Hospital as a sole community hospital for Medicare reimbursement purposes. This designation provides
for the potential for increases in the payments the Hospital receives for inpatient services provided to
Medicare beneficiaries. Outpatient services are paid under a series of fee schedules. Outpatient
payments are also increased by a predetermined annual percentage for certain outpatient services under
sole community hospital designation. The Hospital is reimbursed for certain services at tentative rates
with final settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by the Hospital and audits
thereof by the Medicare fiscal intermediary.

* Medicaid: Inpatient and outpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are reimbursed
at prospectively determined rates. Under the State of lllinois Medicaid Hospital Assessment Program
(Program), the Hospital receives additional Medicaid reimbursement from the State and pays a related
assessment. The Hospital's additional reimbursement for the periods ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, has
been recorded in the accompanying financial statements as an increase to net patient service revenue.

¢ Other: The Hospital has also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance
carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The basis for payment
to the Hospital under these agreements includes prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts
from established charges, and prospectively determined daily rates.

14
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Net Patient Service Revenue {Continued)

Clinic Services:

Certain physician and professional services rendered to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries qualify for
reimbursement as Medicare-approved rural health clinic services. Qualifying services are reimbursed based on a
cost reimbursement methodology for Medicare and prospectively determined rates for Medicaid, which are
updated annually. All other physician and professional services rendered to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries

are paid based on prospectively determined fee schedules.

Long-Term Care Services:

* Medicare: Medicare pays for Part A services based on a predetermined rate per patient day, which varies
depending upon the patient's level of care and the types of services provided. Medicare pays for Part B
services based on predetermined fee schedules,

¢ Medicaid: A significant portion of the Hospital's long-term care (nursing home) services were provided to
aged and disabled patients who are beneficiaries of the lllinois Public Aid program. lllinois Public Aid
reimburses the Hospital on a prospectively determined rate per diem. The rate is determined on a cost-
related basis subject to certain limitations as prescribed by the State of lllinois and adjusted based on the
average acuity of the patients in the facility, The State of Hlinois updates and makes adjustments to the
Medicaid rates based on average patient acuity as reported by each facility in the previous 90-day period.

Laws and reguiations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, are complex and
subject to varying interpretation. Because of investigations by governmental agencies, various health care
organizations have received requests for information and notices regarding alleged noncompliance with those
laws and regulations, which, in some instances, have resulted in organizations entering into significant settlement
agreements. Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be subject to future government review and
interpretation as well as significant regulatory action, including fines, penalties, and potential exclusion from the
related programs. There can be no assurance that regulatory authorities will not challenge the Hospital's
compliance with these laws and regulations, and it is not possible to determine the impact (if any) such claims or
penalties would have on the Hospital.

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services {CMS) uses recovery audit contractors {RACs) to search for
potentially inaccurate Medicare payments that may have been made to health care providers and were not
detected through existing CMS program integrity efforts. Once the RAC identifies a claim it believes is inaccurate,
the RAC makes a deduction from or addition to the provider's Medicare reimbursement in an amount estimated
to equal the overpayment or underpayment. The Hospital has not been notified by the RAC of any potential
significant reimbursement adjustments. In addition, contracts the Hospital has with commercial payors also
provide for retroactive audit and review of claims.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Net Patient Service Revenue {Continued)

Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews, or investigations are
considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for
providing patient care. These settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the
payor, correspondence from the payor, and the Hospital's historical settlement activity, including an assessment
to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved. Estimated
settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known (that is, new information becomes
available), or as years are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations.

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related deductibles and
coinsurance, which vary in amount. The Hospital also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those
uninsured patients a discount, either by policy or law, from standard charges. The Hospital estimates the
transaction price for patients with deductibles and coinsurance and from those who are uninsured based on
historical experience and current market conditions. The initial estimate of the transaction price is determined
by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts, and implicit price concessions.
Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded as adjustments to net patient
service revenue in the period of the change.

Consistent with the Hospital's mission, care is provided to patients regardless of their ability to pay. Therefore,
the Hospital has determined it has provided implicit price concessions to uninsured patients and patients with
other uninsured balances (for example, copays and deductibles). The implicit price concessions included in
estimating the transaction price represent the difference between amounts billed to patients and the amounts
the Hospital expects to collect based on its collection history with those patients. The Hospital's policy provides
for approximately 72% discounts from established charges to uninsured patients. The discount percentage
remained consistent in 2022 or 2021.

For uninsured patients who do not qualify for charity care, the Hospital recognizes revenue on the basis of its
standard rates for services provided {or on the basis of discounted rates, if negotiated or provided by policy).

The promised amount of consideration from patients and third-party payors has not been adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component due to the Hospital's expectation that the period between the time the
service is provided to a patient and the time the patient or a third-party payor pays for that service will be one
year or less. However, the Hospital does, in certain instances, enter into payment agreements with patients that
allow payments in excess of one year. For those cases, the financing component is not deemed to be significant
to the contract.

All incremental customer contract acquisition costs are expensed as they are incurred as the amontization period
of the asset that the Hospital otherwise would have recognized is one year or less in duration.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Charity Care

The Hospital provides care to patients who meet criteria under its charity care policy without charge or at
amounts less than established rates. Such amounts determined to qualify as charity care are not reported as net
patient service revenue.

The estimated cost of providing care to patients under the Hospital's charity care policy is calculated by
multiplying the ratio of cost to gross charges for the Hospital times the gross uncompensated charges associated
with providing charity care.

Donor-Restricted Contributions
Contributions are considered to be available for general use unless specifically restricted by the donor.

Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets are reported at fair value at the date the promise is
received. Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give are reported at fair value at the date
the gift is received. The gifts are reported as net asset with donor restrictions if they are received with donor
stipulations that limit the use of donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time
restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net
assets without donor restrictions and reported in the accompanying statements of operations and changes in net
assets as net assets released from restrictions.

Donor-restricted contributions whose restrictions are met within the same year as received are reported as
contributions without donor restrictions.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

An interest rate swap is used to manage risk related to interest rate movements. The interest rate risk
management strategy is to stabilize cash flow requirements by maintaining the interest rate swap to convert a
portion of variable rate debt to a fixed rate. The Hospital has adopted the fair value option of accounting for its
interest rate swap agreement. The interest rate swap agreement is reported at fair value in the accompanying
balance sheets. Under the fair value option, changes in fair value are recorded as nonoperating income in the
accompanying statements of operations.

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are amortized over the life of the related debt using the straight-
line method.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Income Taxes

The Hospital is a nonprofit corporation as described in Section 501{c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code {the
"Code") and is exempt from federal income taxes on related income pursuant to Section 501(a) of the Code. The
Hospital is also exempt from state income taxes on related income. The Hospital is also engaged, to a limited
extent, in certain activities subject to taxation as unrelated business income {UBl). Income taxes on UBI are not
significant.

Real Estate Taxes

The State of |llinois previously enacted legislation that clarifies when hospitals are eligible to receive
exemption from property tax requirements. As part of the legislation, hospitals, including the Hospital, must
submit to the State of lllinois annual property tax exemption applications, which include information on the
amount of benefits provided to low-income, charity care, and lllinois Public Aid (Medicaid) beneficiaries. As
of June 30, 2022, the majority of the real estate of the Hospital has been granted property tax exemption by
the State of lllinois, other than a portion of its medical office buildings which are not included in the hospital
property tax legislation.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through September 21, 2022, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.

New Accounting Pronouncement

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The objective of this ASU is to assist
organizations in recognizing the right to use of an asset and its related liability or obligation when there is a
contract in place which includes the right to control or direct the use of an identifiable asset. This ASU also
includes provisions where the majority of leases that have lease terms greater than one year are to be recorded
as capital leases on the balance sheet, whereas in the past, these leases may have been recorded as either capital
leases or operating leases. This ASU is effective for the Hospital's year ending June 30, 2023,
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 2: COVID-19

Starting in March 2020, the nation in general, and healthcare-related entities specifically, have been faced with a
global pandemic. As healthcare entities prepared for the crisis, operational changes were made to delay routine
visits and elective procedures and reevaluate the entire care delivery model to care for patient needs, specifically
those affected by COVID-19. The complete financial impact on the economy in general and healthcare-related
entities specifically is undeterminable at this time; however, it was noted and is anticipated by the Hospital that
both operational performance and cash flows for healthcare-related entities have been and will be impacted in
fiscal years 2022 and 2021, as well as future periods until the pandemic ends.

The federal and state governments, as well as other agencies, have been assisting many healthcare organizations
to prevent significant financial constraints by providing supplemental payment programs in the forms of
distributions which are intended to help in offsetting lost revenues as well as the cost of staffing, supplies, and
equipment from treating patients impacted by or preparing for the pandemic’s healthcare needs. Through

June 30, 2022, the Hospital received approximately $18,008,000 in funding since 2020 from these programs.
During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Hospital has recognized approximately $4,955,000 and
$10,008,000, respectively, as other operating revenue in the accompanying statements of operations. The
Hospital also had previously recognized approximately $2,900,000 in funding as other operating revenue during
the prior year ended June 30, 2020. Any remaining funds at the end of each year which were received but not
expended and are available for use in subsequent periods are included in deferred revenue in the accompanying
balance sheets. A significant portion of these funds were received in the form of provider relief funds from the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services {"HHS") Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Econemic Security ("CARES")
and American Recovery Plan {"ARP") Acts, as well as from the State of lllinois.

These funds are subject to various financial and compliance guidelines for intended uses as published by the
federal and state governments. Management is continuing to monitor compliance with the terms and conditions
of these grants as new guidance and clarification is released from HHS, the State of lllinois, and other agencies. If
the Hospital is unable to attest to or comply with current or future terms and conditions as more information
becomes available, the Hospital’s ability to retain some or all of the distributions received may be impacted.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 3: Available Resources and Liquidity

The Hospital does not have a formal liquidity policy but generally strives to maintain financial assets in liquid form
such as cash and cash equivalents for at least approximately one to three months of operating expenses. Other
funds, included in assets limited as to use in the accompanying balance sheets, are considered available for
operational or capital needs, except for investments with restrictive redemption requirements. Occasionally, the
Board of Trustees designates a portion of operating surplus to be appropriated at its discretion for future
operational initiatives and capital expenditures. These funds, at the discretion of the Board of Trustees, could be
released immediately or sold and redeemed prior to their maturity and are not considered available under the
Hospital's general liquidity management. At June 30, 2022 and 2021, the balance of these funds was
$103,582,979 and $116,599,510, respectively.

Financial assets and liquidity resources available within one year for general expenditure, such as operating
expenses, scheduled debt service payments, and capital items, were as follows at June 30:

2022 2021
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 8,216,200 5 11,718,191
Patient accounts receivable - Net 11,953,658 10,513,760
Other receivables 3,039,002 2,813,458
Total financial assets and liquidity resources S 23,208,860 § 25,045,409
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 4: Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use consisted of the following at June 30:

2022 2021
Board designated for capital improvements and debt service requirements:
Money market funds S 379,059 $ 576,548
Certificates of deposit 1,152,208 1,150,678
Mutual funds 81,319,115 90,826,025
Municipal bonds 129,090 869,031
U.S. agency obligations 5,003,375 7,746,570
Corporate obligations 3,465,534 14,834,302
Hedge fund 10,967,498 -
Investment in unconsolidated affiliate 1,060,958 479,296
Accrued interest receivable 106,142 117,060
Total designated by Board of Trustees for future capital improvements 103,582,979 116,599,510
Held by trustee self-insurance fund:
Money market funds 261,887 110,602
Certificates of deposit 774,902 877,314
Municipal bonds 98,387 100,783
U.5. agency obligations 89,021 196,138
Corporate obligations 32,182 100,810
Marketable equity securities - Common stock 325,159 398,885
Mutual Funds 157,519 618,815
Accrued interest receivable 1,469 2,476
Total held by trustee self-insurance fund 1,740,526 2,405,823
Deferred compensation plans assets :
Mutual funds 1,176,349 1,166,855

Total assets limited as to use

$ 106,499,854 $ 120,172,188

Investments, in general, are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market volatility.
Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is reasonably possible that changes in the values of
certain investments will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts

reported in the accompanying financial statements.
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Note 4: Assets Limited as to Use (Continued)

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates include investments by the Hospital into two private equity companies.
The Hospital made initial direct investments in 2021 and in turn obtained shares of common stock of two specific
start-up companies. At June 30, 2021, the Hospital has remaining unfunded commitments of $1,630,727 which
represent additional investments in cash to be made into these companies. The additional investments are
anticipated to be made in 2022. There were no cash distributions or dividends received by the Hospital from the
initial investments in these entities in 2021,

Investment income (loss} consisted of the following for the years ended June 30:

2022 2021
Interest and dividend income - Net of investment fees S 2,596,730 S 2,250,423
Net realized gains (losses) on sales of investments 3,492,650 (1,410,677)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments (19,796,661) 22,668,384
Total investment income {loss) S (13,707,281) $ 23,508,130

Note 5: Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Money market funds are valued using a net asset value {(NAV) of $1.00. Quoted prices from active markets are
used to determine the fair value of investments in equity securities, which are primarily invested in common
stock. Mutual funds held by the Hospital are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission. The funds are required to publish their daily NAV and to transact at that price. The
mutual funds held by the Hospital are deemed to be actively traded. Fixed income securities including corporate
bonds, local government bonds, foreign bonds, and U.S. Government and agency securities are primarily valued
using quotes from pricing vendors for identical or similar assets based on recent trading activity and other
observable market data.

The interest rate swaps' fair values are based on estimates by third-party valuation services, which use a
discounted cash flow analysis using observable market-based inputs, including forward interest rate curves.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable
value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Hospital's valuation methods are appropriate and
consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the
fair value or NAV of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement or reported
NAV at the reporting date.
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Note 5: Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Hospital's assets and liabilities
measured at fair value and NAV on a recurring basis as of June 30:

2022
Fair Value Measurements Using
Total at Fair
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Fair Value
Assets:
Money market funds S 640,945 § -8 - S -5 640,945
Marketable equity
securities - Common stock 325,159 - - - 325,159
Mutual funds: S
Fixed income 20,419,774 - - - 20,419,774
Equities 62,223,715 - - - 62,223,715
Fixed income securities: -
Corporate obligations - 3,497,716 - - 3,497,716
Municipal bonds - 227,477 - - 227,477
U.S. agency obligations - 5,092,396 - - 5,092,396
Hedge fund - - - 10,967,498 10,967,498
Total assets measured at fair
value and NAV $ 83,609,593 5 8,817,589 § - § 10,967,498 $ 103,394,680

Liabilities - Interest rate swap
_agreements S - 5 (1,487,101) $

'
>

- $ (1,487,101)
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Note 5: Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

2021
Fair Value Measurements Using

Total at Fair

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value
Assets:
Money market funds $ 687,150 $ -5 - S 687,150
Marketable equity securities - Common
stock 398,885 - - 368,885
Mutual funds:
Fixed income 16,207,454 - - 16,207,454
Equities 76,404,241 - - 76,404,241
Fixed income securities:
Corporate obligations - 14,935,112 - 14,935,112
Municipal bonds - 969,814 e 969,814
U.S. agency obligations - 7,942,708 - 7,942,708
Total assets measured at fair value $ 93,697,730 § - S - 5117,545,364
Liabilities - Interest rate swap agreements S - § (3,493,232) $ - §  (3,493,232)

The assets included in the fair value measurements table above at both June 30, 2022 and 2021, include all assets
included in assets limited as to use as described in Note 4, with the exception of certificates of deposit, accrued
interest receivable, and investment in unconsolidated affiliate which are excluded from the fair value
measurement table.

Alternative investments recorded at NAV include investments in a hedge fund, which are actively managed
investment vehicles that derive the majority of their returns from factors other than directional flow of the
markets in which they invest. investment strategies include high-yield credit, distressed debt, merger, arbitrage,
relative value, and long-short equity strategies. The fair value of the investments in this category have been
estimated using the NAV per share of the investments. Investments in this category carry "lockup” restrictions
that do not allow investors to seek redemption in the first year after acquisition. Following the initial lockup
period, liquidity is generally avaitable monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, or annually following a redemption
request. The investments in this category have semi-annual liquidity. The derivative or hedge investment
contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting and are recorded at NAV which is an approximation of fair value.
Changes in fair value are reported as a component of unrealized gains or losses on investments as a part of
nonoperating gains and losses in the accompanying statements of operations. During the year ended June 30,
2022, the unrealized losses on the hedge fund were approximately $33,000.
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Note 5: Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

At June 30, 2022, alternative investments recorded at NAV consisted of the following:

Redemption
Unfunded Frequency (if Redemption
Fair Value Commitment Currently Eligible) Note Period
Hedge funds ) 10,967,498 S - Semi-annually 95 days

Note 6: Beneficial Interests in Trusts and Foundation

A summary of the Hospital's beneficial interest in trusts and Foundation as of June 30 is as follows:

2022 2021
Beneficial interest in trusts $ 8,163,403 § 9,636,195
Interest in net assets of Foundation 650,041 614,120
Totals $ 8,813,444 5 10,250,315

Beneficial Interest in Trusts

The Hospital is the beneficiary under two perpetual trusts administered by unrelated third parties. The beneficial
interest of these trusts is included in the Hospital's financial statements as net assets with donor restrictions,
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts includes investments in cash and debt and equity securities that are held in
perpetuity. Distributions are made in accordance with individual trust documents and are included in investment
return as described below. The carrying value of the beneficial interest in perpetual trusts is estimated at either
the Hospital's beneficial interest percentage of the fair value of the trusts’ assets as of the balance sheet date or
at the estimated net present value of estimated future cash receipts expected to be received from the trusts.
The estimated value is 58,163,403 and $9,636,195, which represents the fair value of the trust assets as of

June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The distributed income of the Hospital's beneficial interest in trusts for
2022 and 2021 was 5447,131 and 5419,719, respectively, and is included in net assets with donor restrictions in
the accompanying statements of changes in net assets.
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Note 6: Beneficial Interests in Trusts and Foundation (Continued)

Interest in Net Assets of Foundation

A summary of the internal financial information for the Foundation for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

Unaudited
2022 2021
Assets S 650,041 S 621,417
Liabilities ) - § 7,297
Net assets S 650,041 $ 614,120
Changes in net assets before contributions to the Hospital 5 35,921 & 144,954
Less - Contributions to the Hospital - -
Increase in net assets 35,921 144,954
Net assets at beginning 614,120 469,166
Net assets at end ) 650,041 S 614,120
Note 7: Property and Equipment
Property and equipment by majority categories consisted of the following at lune 30:
2022 2021

Land and land improvements $ 6,392,453 S 6,251,668
Buildings 101,009,218 87,883,482
Buildings service equipment 13,155,219 11,062,098
Equipment 39,022,898 38,579,386
Total property and equipment 159,579,788 143,776,634
Less - Accumulated depreciation 75,636,737 71,687,252
Net depreciated value 83,943,051 72,089,382
Construction in progress 3,126,326 13,805,905
Property and equipment - Net 5 87,069,377 $ 85,895,287
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Note 7: Property and Equipment (Continued)

At June 30, 2022, construction in progress primarily consists of costs related to a a building renovation to the
Intensive Care Unit ("ICU") and the purchase and renovation of two clinic buildings in neighboring communities.
At June 30, 2022 commitments related to the completion of these projects totaled approximately $5,905,000.
These projects are being funded from operating cash reserves of the Hospital.

The cost of equipment under a capital lease obligation, which is included in equipment, was 51,715,092 at both
June 30, 2022, and 2021, and the related accumulated amortization was 51,000,470 and $600,282 at June 30,
2022, and 2021, respectively.

Note 8: Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following at June 30:

2022 2021

Revenue honds, Series 2015 (A) S 40,200,000 S 41,690,000
Revenue bonds, Series 2020 {B) 16,670,000 17,000,000
Capital lease obligation {C} 842,192 1,217,754
Totals 57,712,192 59,207,754
Less:

Current maturities 2,285,451 2,164,671

Debt issuance costs 573,201 596,466
Subtotals $ 54,853,540 $ 57,146,617

{A) Long-term debt consists of adjustable rate healthcare facilities revenue bonds ("Series 2015 Bonds") issued
November 4, 2015. The Series 2015 Bonds allowed for borrowings of up to $47,680,000. The variable
interest rate is adjusted weekly and is payable monthly. The Hospital has also entered into interest rate swap
agreements for portions of the Series 2015 Bonds as described in Note 9. Principal is payable in annual
installments on the Series 2015 Bonds through 2045, and the Series 2015 Bonds are secured by facilities of
the Hospital.

The City of Canton, lllinois, issued the Series 2015 Bonds on behalf of the Hospital. The proceeds of the Series
2015 Bonds were loaned to the Hospital under a trust indenture and loan agreement dated November 1,
2015, to provide for the expansion and renovation of the Hospital's facilities and to refinance a previous bond
issue, On August 29, 2019, the Series 2015 Bonds were restructured to include a fixed 2% interest rate for the
next six years.

The 2015 Bonds require the Hospital to comply with certain restrictive covenants, including minimum

insurance coverage, restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and maintenance of certain
leverage, liquidity and debt service ratios.
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Note 8: Long-Term Debt (Continued)

{B) Long-term debt consists of adjustable rate healthcare facilities revenue bonds {"Series 2020 Bonds") issued
June 18, 2020. The Series 2020 Bonds allowed for borrowings of up to $17,000,000. The variable interest
rate is adjusted weekly and is payable monthly. Principal is payable in annual installments on the Series 2020
Bonds through 2045, and the Series 2020 Bonds are secured by facilities of the Hospital.

The 2020 Bands require the Hospital to comply with certain restrictive covenants, including minimum
insurance coverage, restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and maintenance of certain
leverage, liquidity and debt service ratios.

(C) Capital lease obligation which was utilized to finance and obtain surgery equipment with imputed interest rate
of 3.5%, payable in monthly installments of $34,980, including principal and interest.

Scheduled payments of principal on the long-term debt and capital lease obligation at June 30, 2022, including
current maturities, are summarized as follows:

Bonds Capital Lease
Payable Obligation
2023 $ 1,890,000 $ 419,759
2024 1,970,000 419,759
2025 2,045,000 40,175
2026 2,130,000 -
2027 2,215,000 -
Thereafter 46,620,000 -
Total $ 56,870,000 879,693
Less - Amount representing interest on capital lease obligation 37,501
S 892100
28

0



Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 9: Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Hospital maintains an interest-rate risk-management strategy that uses interest rate swap derivative
instruments to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings fluctuations caused by interest-rate volatility.
The Hospital's specific goal is to lower {where possible) the cost of its borrowed funds.

The Hospital previously entered into two interest rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of changes in
interest rates on its Series 2015 bonds, which are variable interest rate bonds. The interest rate swaps are
utilized to manage interest rate exposure over the period of the interest rate swaps. The changes in the fair
value of these swap agreements are included in nonoperating gains and losses in the accompanying
statements of operations for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, as the swaps were determined by
management to not be highly effective in managing the risk of interest rate fluctuations. The interest
settlements received by the Hospital or paid to the counterparty are included as a component of interest
expense.

As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements are recorded within other
long-term liabilities on the balance sheets.

The interest rate swap agreements are summarized below as of June 30, 2022 and 2021:

June 30, 2022 Fair Value of Swap
Notional Termination Fixed Variable (Liability)
Amount Date Rate Rate 2022 2021
$10,580,000  {(A) 12/1/2031 3.44% 1.01% S (600,541} $ (1,364,502)
513,460,000 {B) 6/1/2034 3.00% 1.01% (886,560) (2,128,730)
Total $  (1,487,101) $  (3,493,232)

(A) Effective January 15, 2007, the Hospital is a party to an interest rate swap agreement with an original
notional amount of $15,900,000. Under this arrangement, the Hospital pays a fixed rate of 3.44 percent and
the counterparty pays a floating rate equal to 67 percent of the one-month LIBOR (one-month LIBOR is 1,79
percent and 0.10 percent as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively), both of which are applied to the
current notional principal amount.

(B) Effective July 20, 2009, the Hospital is a party to an interest rate swap agreement with an original notional
amount of 516,000,000. Under this arrangement, the Hospital pays a fixed rate of 3.00 percent and the
counterparty pays a floating rate equal to 67 percent of the one-month LIBOR {one-month LIBOR is 1.79
percent and 0.10 percent as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively), both of which are applied to the
current notional principal amount.

The net settlements recorded for derivative instruments in the Hospital's statements of operations increased

interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, by approximately $637,000 and $678,000,
respectively,
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Note 10: Operating Leases

The Hospital has entered into lease agreements for office building space with unrelated parties to utilize space
within the Hospital's facilities.

Approximate minimum future lease payments under noncancelable lease agreements consisted of the following
at June 30, 2022:

2023 S 129,000
2024 127,000
2025 115,000
2026 110,000
2027 110,000
Thereafter 157,000
Total S 748,000

Operating lease revenue totaled approximately $383,000 and $374,000 for the years ended June 30, 2022 and
2021, respectively, and is included in other operating revenue in the accompanying statements of operations.

Note 11: Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions include assets set aside in accordance with donor restrictions as to time or use
which are solely held by the Foundation or held in the beneficial interest in trusts and totaled $8,813,444 and
$10,250,315 as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The breakdown of net assets with donor restrictions noted above is as follows at June 30:

2022 2021
Subject to expenditure for specific purpose:
Funds held by foundation for scholarships and hospital programs S 519,641 5 533,720
Maintained in perpetuity with income expendable for:
Funds held by foundation for scholarships 130,400 80,400
Beneficial interest in trusts for hospital programs and equipment purchases 8,163,403 9,636,195
Total S 8,813,444 $ 10,250,315

The Hospital's endowments consist of eight donor-restricted funds, which were established to provide
investment income for scholarships for students in the Hospital’s School of Nursing, as well as, the Hospital’s
interest in two beneficial trusts.
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Note 11: Net Assets with Donor Restrictions (Continued)

The Board of Trustees of the Hospital has interpreted the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds
Act (UPMIFA), as adopted by the Illinois state legislature, as requiring the Hospital and Foundation, who holds the
scholarship funds, to preserve the fair value of the donor’s original gift, as of the date of the gift, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Hospital classifies as net assets with
donor restrictions (a) the original value of the donor’s gifts to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value
of a donor’s subsequent gifts to the permanently restricted endowment, and (¢) accumulations to the permanent
endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the
accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is
required to be held in perpetuity is classified as net assets with donor restrictions until those amounts are
appropriated for expenditure by the Board of Trustees in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence
prescribed by UPMIFA.

The Hospital has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to provide a
dependable method of funding programs supported by its endowments while seeking to preserve the principal of
the endowment assets. Under the Hospital’s and Foundation's investment policies, as approved by the Boards of
Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a manner to protect principal and achieve a fixed annual rate of
return and ensure that any risk assumed is commensurate with the given investment vehicle and the Hospital's
objectives. There were no deficiencies from unfavorable market conditions of the endowment investments at
June 30, 2022 and 2021.

Endowments that are donor-restricted consisted of the following at June 30:

2022 2021
Original donor-restricted amounts required to be retained by donor $ 130,400 S 80,400
Portion of donor-restricted funds subject to appropriations 91,959 138,490
Hospital's interest in assets held in beneficial trusts 8,163,403 9,636,195
Total S 8,385762 5 9,855,085

Note 12: Net Patient Service Revenue

The composition of net patient service revenue by major lines of business, based on the geographic region the
Hospital operates in as outlined in Note 1, for the years ended lune 30 are as follows:

2022 2021
Service lines:
Hospital services S 71,482,946 5 65,563,007
Clinic services 18,861,019 13,489,309
Long-term care services (extended care) 1,365,395 1,554,694
Home medical equipment services 1,309,259 1,449,134
Totals S 93,018,619 S 82,056,144

3
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 12: Net Patient Service Revenue (Continued)

Net patient service revenue by payor consisted of the following for the year ended June 30:

2022 2021
Medicare and Medicare Advantage plans S 37,917,561 S 33,342,491
Medicaid and Medicaid HMO plans 17,709,407 15,592,411
Other third-party payors 35,579,353 31,488,394
Uninsured patients 1,812,298 1,632,848
Totals S 93,018,619 S 82,056,144

Note 13: Patient Financial Assistance

The Hospital provides health care services and other financial support through various programs that are
designed, among other matters, to enhance the health of the community, including the health of low-income
patients. Consistent with the mission of the Hospital, care is provided to patients regardless of their ability to
pay, including providing services to those persons who cannot afford health insurance because of inadequate
resources or to those who are underinsured.

The Hospital has a financial assistance policy which is generally based on federal poverty guidelines, and
applications are completed by patients and/or their families. Patients who meet the criteria for financial
assistance are provided care without charge or at a reduced rate. The Hospital is also required to provide
additional discounts to uninsured hospital patients under the Hospital Uninsured Patient Discount Act as required
by Winois state law.

The estimated cost of providing care to patients under the Hospital's financial assistance policy and program
aggregated approximately $1,333,000 and $1,231,000 in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Other benefits for the community also include unpaid costs of treating the elderly, health screenings, community
education through seminars and classes, and other health-related services.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 14: Malpractice Insurance

Through September 30, 2018, the Hospital is self-insured for the first $500,000 per occurrence and $1,500,000 in
aggregate of medical malpractice losses. The Hospital purchases insurance coverage above the self-insurance
limits. Losses from asserted and unasserted claims identified under the Hospital's incident reporting system are
accrued based on estimates that incorporate the Hospital's past experience, as well as other considerations,
including the nature of each claim or incident and relevant trend factors. The Hospital utilizes an actuary in order
to estimate its professional and general liability. The undiscounted liability amounts as of June 30, 2022 and
2021, were 52,406,275 and $2,110,625, respectively, for claims covered under the self-insurance program. The
Hospital has also recorded estimated insurance recoverable receivables of $1,741,628 and $1,055,313 as of

June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, for claims exceeding the policy's deductible. The liabilities related to this
plan are included in long-term liabilities and receivables are included in other receivables in the accompanying
balance sheets.

Effective October 1, 2018, the Hospital discontinued its self-insured program for professional liability
insurance and has purchased commercially insured professional liability insurance coverages through the
Hlinois Provider Trust (IPT). The Hospital's professional liability insurance for claim losses of less than
$20,000,000 per claim and $10,000,000 per year covers professional liability claims reported during a policy
year subsequent to October 1, 2018 (“claims-made” coverage). The professional liability insurance policy is
renewable annually and has been renewed by the insurance carrier for the annual period extending to
January 1, 2023.

Under a claims-made policy, the risk for claims and incidents not asserted within the policy period remains with
the Hospital. Although there exists the possibility of claims arising from services provided to patients through
June 30, 2022, which have not yet been asserted, the Hospital has not been given natice of any such passible
claims, and accordingly no provision has been made for them other than the provisions noted above under the
self-insured insurance program.

Note 15: Self-Funded Insurance

The Hospital has a self-funded health plan, which provide benefits to employees, retirees, and their dependents.
Healthcare costs are expensed as incurred. Health expenses are based upon claims paid, reinsurance premiums,
administration fees, and unpaid claims at year-end. The Hospital buys reinsurance to cover catastrophic
individual claims over $150,000.

Self-funded health plan expense for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, was approximately 6,154,000 and
$6,004,000, respectively, which includes stop-loss insurance expense and recoveries and insurance premiums
paid by employees to the Hospital. An estimated amount for claims outstanding is included in accrued salaries
and other expenses in the accompanying balance sheets of approximately $599,000 and $682,000 at June 30,
2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 16: Retirement Plan

The Hospital has a defined-contribution thrift and savings 401(k) pian available to substantially all employees.
The Hospital matches 50 percent of the amount employees elect to contribute to the plan up to 6 percent of
covered wages. Thrift and savings plan expense was approximately $920,000 and $849,000 for the years ended
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 17: Workers' Compensation Insurance

The Hospital participates with other providers of health care services in the lllinois Compensation Trust, a risk
pool which currently operates common risk management and insurance programs for its members. The Hospital
pays annual premiums to the risk pool for its employee injuries insurance coverage. The risk pool's governing
agreements specify that the risk pool will be seif-sustaining through member premiums and will re-insure through
commercial carriers for claims in excess of specified stop-loss amounts. If, however, the risk pool's loss
experience is worse than anticipated, the members may be required to make additional payments. The Hospital
has not been required to make additional material contributions in any of the three preceding years. At June 30,
2022 and 2021, the Hospital has recorded an estimated liability for outstanding claims and additional charges
from the risk pool based on actuary analysis and management's assumptions of $648,391 and $703,762,
respectively. These amounts are included in long-term liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets. As of
June 30, 2022, the Hospital also has a letter of credit for employee injuries insurance coverage of $350,000. No
draws have been made on the letter of credit in 2022.

Note 18: Functional Expenses

The Hospital provides general health care services to residents within its geographic location. The accompanying
statements of operations present certain expenses that are attributed to more than one program or supporting
function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis. Employee benefits are allocated based
on factors of either salary expense or actual employee expense. Overhead costs that include things such as
professional services, supplies, office expenses, information technology, insurance, and other similar expenses
are allocated on a variety of factors including revenues and departmental expense. Costs related to building and
equipment usage include depreciation and interest and are allocated on a square footage or direct assignment
basis. Expenses related to providing these services for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, are as follows:

2022 2021
Healthcare General Healthcare General
Services Administrative Total Services Administrative Total

Salaries and wages $ 34,016,413 § 8,936,034 § 42,952,447 S 29,358,189 § 7,742,025 S 37,100,214
Employee benefits 9,263,402 2,497,981 11,761,383 8,511,275 2,340,818 10,852,093
Purchased services and

professional fees 17,938,126 350,697 18,288,823 20,383,817 192,052 20,575,869
Supplies and other 13,979,096 7,294,186 21,273,282 13,149,165 6,460,626 19,609,791
Depreciation 5,306,746 664,363 5,971,109 5,172,397 647,544 5,819,941
Interest 1,407,546 176,214 1,583,760 1,285,173 160,894 1,446,067

$ 81,911,329 § 19,919,475 $101,830,804 § 77,860,016 $ 17,543,959 $ 95,403,975
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 19: Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Hospital to possible credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable,
cash deposits in excess of insured limits, and investments of surplus operating funds.

Patient accounts receivable consist of amounts due from patients, their insurers, or governmental agencies
{(primarily Medicare and Medicaid) for health care provided to the patients and residents. The majority of the

Hospital’s patients are from Canton, Illinois, and the surrounding area.

The mix of accounts receivable from patients and third-party payors is as follows at June 30:

2022 2021
Medicare and Medicare Advantage plans 42 % 34 %
Medicaid and Medicaid managed care plans 19 % 27 %
Other third-party payors 23 % 24 %
Uninsured patients 16 % 15 %
Totals 100 % 100 %

The Hospital maintains depository relationships with area financial institutions that are Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC}) insured institutions. Depository accounts at these institutions are insured by the FDIC up to
$250,000. Operating cash needs often require that amounts on deposit exceed FDIC limits. At June 30, 2022, the
amount of the Hospital's bank balances in excess of FDIC limits was approximately $8,118,000. In addition, other
investments held by financial institutions are uninsured,

Note 20: Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2021 financial statements to conform with the classification
used in 2022.
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Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Board of Trustees
Graham Hospital Association
Canton, lllinois

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Graham Hospital Association, as of and for
the year ended June 30, 2022 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Graham Hospital Assaciation's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated

September 21, 2022.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Graham Hospital
Association's internal control over financial reporting {internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Graham Hospital Association's
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Graham Hospital
Association's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal
control, such that there is reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Graham Hospital
Association’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been
identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Graham Hospital Association's financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect
on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.
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Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Graham Hospital
Association's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Graham Hospital Association's internal
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Wipgts LLP
Wipfli LLP

Eau Claire, Wisconsin
September 21, 2022
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Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Trustees
Graham Hospital Association
Canton, lllinois

Report on the Audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Graham Hospital Association (the "Hospital"), which
comprise the balance sheets as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related statements of operations, changes in
net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of the Hospital as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash

flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America ("GAAP").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America ("GAAS") and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America. Qur responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements section of our
report. We are required to be independent of the Hospital and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Hospital's ability to continue as a
going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements,

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

¢ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Hospital’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

* Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Hospital's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of
time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of farming opinions on the financial statements as a whale. The
accompanying financial responsibility supplemental schedule required by the U.S. Department of

Eduction and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our

opinion, the information is fairly stated in all materiality respects in relation to the financial statements as a
whole.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 20, 2023,
on our consideration of the Hospital's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of
that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital's
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Hospital's internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

Wiggts L1LP

Wipfli LLP

Eau Claire, Wisconsin
September 20, 2023
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Graham Hospital Association
Balance Sheets

June 30, 2023 2022

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents S 3,858,700 S 8,216,200
Patient accounts receivable - Net 12,488,554 11,953,658
Other receivables 3,880,996 3,039,002
Inventories 2,132,951 1,937,817
Prepaid expenses and other 1,720,833 1,758,665

Total current assets 24,082,034 26,905,342

Assets limited as to use:

internally designated 110,423,877 103,582,979
Held under bond indenture agreement 11,353,382 -
Self-insurance funds held by trustee 1,777,056 1,740,526
Deferred compensation plans assets 1,611,428 1,176,349
Total assets limited as to use 125,165,743 106,499,854
Beneficial interests in trusts and Foundation 9,061,490 8,813,444
Property and equipment - Net 99,190,912 87,009,377
Other assets 3,702,980 3,303,239
Total assets S 261,203,159 $ 232,591,256
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Graham Hospital Association

Balance Sheets (Continued)

June 30, 2023 2022
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt 5 2,379,516 S 2,285,451
Accounts payable 4,477,516 4,864,391
Accrued salaries and other expenses 7,857,114 6,074,854
Deferred revenue . 128,490
Estimated amounts due to third-party payors 5,599,330 3,891,721
Total current liabilities 20,313,476 17,244,907
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt - Less current portion 64,421,523 54,853,540
Estimated self-insurance costs - Net of current portion 4,177,145 3,054,666
Deferred compensation plans liabilities 1,611,428 1,176,349
Interest rate swap liabilities 519,305 1,487,101
Other 266,162 266,162
Total long-term liabilities 70,995,563 60,837,818
Total liabilities 91,309,039 78,082,725
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 160,832,630 145,695,087
With donor restrictions 9,061,490 8,813,444

Total net assets

169,894,120

154,508,531

Total liabilities and net assets

$ 261,203,159

$ 232,591,256

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



Graham Hospital Association

Statements of Operations

Years Ended June 30, 2023 2022
Revenue:
Net patient service revenue S 103,846,242 $§ 93,018,619
Other operating revenue 9,658,433 11,971,147
Total revenue 113,504,675 104,989,766
Expenses:
Salaries and wages 45,894,707 42,952,447
Employee benefits 13,162,716 11,761,383
Purchased services and professional fees 19,517,045 18,288,823
Supplies and other 22,556,960 21,273,282
Depreciation and amortization 4,979,373 5,971,109
Interest 2,157,040 1,583,760
Total expenses 112,267,841 101,830,804
Income from operations 1,236,834 3,158,962
Nonoperating gains and losses:
Interest and dividend income and net realized gains on sale of investments 3,720,905 6,089,380
Change in net unrealized gains {losses) on trading securities 5,965,301 (19,796,661)
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements 967,796 2,006,131
Donations and bequests 89,434 42,360
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment 31,975 (6,837)
Total nonoperating gains and losses - Net 10,775,411 {11,665,627)
Revenue in excess (deficiency) of expenses 12,012,245 {8,506,665)
Contribution of property 2,675,000
Net assets released from restrictions used for purchases of property and
equipment 450,298 447,131
Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions $ 15,137,543 $  {(8,059,534)
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Graham Hospital Association
Statements of Changes in Net Assets

Years Ended June 30, 2023 2022

Net assets without donor restrictions:

Revenue in excess (deficiency) of expenses S 12,012,245 S (8,506,665)

Contribution of property 2,675,000 -

Net assets released from restrictions used for purchases of property and

equipment 450,298 447,131
Increase {decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions 15,137,543 (8,059,534)

Net assets with donor restrictions:

Net assets released from restrictions (450,298) (447,131)
Change in interest in net assets of Foundation 120,574 35,921
Change in beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 577,770 (1,025,661}
Increase (decrease) in net assets with donor restrictions 248,046 (1,436,871}
Increase {decrease) in net assets 15,385,589 (9,496,405)
Net assets, beginning of year 154,508,531 164,004,936
Net assets, end of year $ 169,894,120 $ 154,508,531

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Graham Hospital Association
Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2023 2022
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents:
Cash flows from operating activities:
Increase {decrease) in net assets $ 15,385,589 $§  (9,496,405)
Adjustments to reconcile increase {decrease) in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Change in net unrealized {gains} losses on trading securities {5,965,301) 19,796,661
Net realized gains on investments (1,371,949} (3,492,650)
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements (967,796) (2,006,131)
Undistributed change in interest in net assets of Foundation (120,574) (35,921)
Undistributed change in beneficial interest in trusts (577,770) 1,025,661
Depreciation 4,979,373 5,971,109
Amoartization 23,265 23,265
Loss on disposal of property and equipment (31,975) 6,837
Contribution of property (2,675,000) -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Patient and other accounts receivable - Net {(1,376,890) {1,665,442)
Inventories, prepaid expenses, and other (557,044) (370,557)
Estimated amounts due to third-party payors 1,707,609 (536,759)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 3,632,232 1,523,225
Total adjustments (3,301,820) 20,239,298
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,083,769 10,742,893
Cash flows from investing activities:
Increase in assets limited as to use (11,328,640) (2,631,677)
Purchase of property and equipment - Net {15,201,710) (9,864,776)
Distributions from Hospital's interest in trusts and Foundation 450,298 447,131
Net cash used in investing activities {26,080,052) (12,049,322)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on long-term debt (2,286,604) (2,195,562)
Proceeds received on issuance of long-term debt 12,107,347
Payment of bond issuance costs (181,960) -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 9,638,783 (2,195,562}
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,357,500) {3,501,991)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,216,200 11,718,191
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 3,858,700 $ 8,216,200
8



Graham Hospital Association
Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

Years Ended June 30, 2023 2022

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash payments for interest - Net of capitalized interest S 2,133,775 S 1,560,495
Property and equipment additions included in accounts payable at year-end 166,142 973,918

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principal Business Activity

Graham Hospital Association (the "Hospital") is located in Canton, lllinois and primarily earns revenues by
providing inpatient, outpatient, extended care, and physician services to patients in Fulton, Knox, Mason,
McDonough, and Peoria Counties in lllinois. The Hospital also operates Graham Medical Group, Graham Home
Medical Equipment, Graham Hospital School of Nursing, and Graham Wellness Center in the same geographic
area, which are departments of Graham Hospital Association.

Financial Statement Presentation

The Hospital follows accounting standards set by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification {ASC). The ASC is the single source of autharitative accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) to be applied to nongovernmental entities.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of the accompanying financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that directly affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Cash Equivalents

The Hospital considers all highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less to be
cash equivalents, excluding amounts whose use is limited or restricted.

Investments, Assets Limited as to Use, and Investment Income

Investments, including those investments categorized as assets limited as to use in the accompanying balance
sheets, are measured at fair value or an approximation of fair value in the accompanying balance sheets, other
than the investments in unconsolidated affiliates included in assets limited as to use. Investments in
unconsolidated affiliates are accounted for on the cost method of accounting.

Assets limited as to use consist of investments designated by the Board of Trustees for future capital
improvements and other purposes, funds to be used for future construction projects which are held by bond
trustees under the terms of indenture agreements, self-insurance funds held for future claims payments, and
funds set aside under deferred compensation plans. The funds designated by the Board of Trustees remain under
the control of the Board of Trustees and may at the Board of Trustees' discretion subsequently be used for other
purposes.

All investment income (including realized and unrealized gains and losses, interest, and dividends) is

reported as nonoperating income and is included in revenue in excess of expenses unless the income is
restricted by donor or law. Realized gains or losses are determined by specific identification.

|1
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Hospital measures fair value of its
financial instruments using a three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value.
These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets;
Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets that are either directly or
indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists,
therefare requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions. The asset's or liability's fair value
measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant
to the fair value measurement.

Patient Accounts Receivable and Credit Policy

Patient accounts receivable is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Hospital
expects to be entitled, in exchange for providing patient care services. Patient accounts receivable are recorded
in the accompanying balance sheets net of contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions which reflects
management's estimate of the transaction price. The Hospital estimates the transaction price based on
negotiated contractual agreements, historical experience, and current market conditions. The initial estimate of -
the transaction price is determined by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts,
and implicit price concessions and is recorded through a reduction of gross revenue and a credit to patient
accounts receivable. Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustments to patient service revenue in the period of the change.

The Hospital does not have a policy to charge interest on past due accounts.
Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of pharmaceuticals and medical supplies and are valued at the lower of average cost
or net realizable value.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)
Property, Equipment, and Depreciation

Property and equipment acquisitions are recorded at cost or, if donated, at fair value at the date of donation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable asset and is computed using
the straight-line method. Estimated useful lives range from 3 to 16 years for equipment and 2 to 80 years for
land improvements, buildings, and buildings service equipment. Property and equipment under finance lease
obligations are amortized on the straight-line method over the shorter period of the iease term or the estimated
useful life of the property and equipment. Such amortization is included with depreciation expense in the
accompanying statements of operations.

Gifts of long-lived assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support without donor restrictions
and are excluded from revenue in excess of expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the donated
assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used
and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as support with
donor restrictions. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those long-lived assets must be maintained,
expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in
service.

The Hospital periodically evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that may affect the carrying
value of property and equipment. If such events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable, impairment is determined by comparing the carrying value with the estimated future net
undiscounted cash flows expected to resuit from the use of the assets, including cash flows from disposition.
Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the carrying value, the Hospital would
recognize an impairment loss. During 2023 and 2022, the Hospital determined that no evaluations of
recoverability were necessary.

Asset Retirement Obligation

Management annually assesses its existing properties to determine if there is a need to recognize a liability for a
conditional asset retirement, specifically as it relates to its legal obligation to perform asset retirement activities,
such as asbestos removal, on its existing properties. An asset retirement obligation represents the obligation to
dispose of assets that are legally required to be removed at a future date. This obligation is recorded at the net
present value using a risk-free interest rate and an inflationary rate. The asset retirement obligation is included in
other long-term liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets related to known required removals of hazardous
materials from facilities in the future.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Interest in Net Assets of Foundation

Accounting guidance establishes standards of financial accounting and reporting for transactions in which an
entity makes contributions to another entity or an entity that accepts contributions from a donor and agrees to
use those assets on behalf of or transfer those assets and the return on those assets to another entity. The
Hospital and Graham Hospital Foundation Incorporated (the "Foundation") are financially interrelated
organizations, and accordingly the Hospital recognizes its interest in the net assets of the Foundation and adjusts
that interest for its share of the change in the net assets of the Foundation.

Deferred Compensation

The Hospital maintains nonqualified deferred compensation plans for key management staff, physicians, and
certain mid-level practitioners. The plans allow these employees to make an annual election to defer a portion of
their salary into investment options consisting of mutual funds. The Hospital retains title to and beneficial
ownership of all assets in the nonqualified plans. The value of these assets at retirement, termination, or on the
employees' respective vesting date, is paid to employees. These investments are classified in the accompanying
balance sheets as assets limited as to use, with a corresponding long-term liability.

Net Assets

Net assets without donor restrictions consist of investments and other amounts that are available for use in
carrying out the mission of the Hospital that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and include those
expendable resources which have been designated for special use by the Board of Trustees. Net assets with
donor restrictions are those whose use by the Hospital has been limited by donors to a specific time period,
purpose, or have been restricted by donors to be maintained by the Hospital in perpetuity. Earnings on net
assets with donor restricted endowment funds are recorded as net assets with donor restrictions until
appropriated by the Hospital's Board of Trustees.

Revenue in Excess of Expenses

The statements of operations and changes in net assets include the classification revenue in excess of expenses
which is considered the operating indicator. Changes in net assets, which are excluded from the operating
indicator, include permanent transfer of assets to and from affiliates for other than goods and services, and
contributions of long-lived assets including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to
be used for the purpose of acquiring such assets.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Net Patient Service Revenue

Patient service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Hospital expects to
be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from patients, third-party payors
(including health insurers and government programs), and others and includes variable consideration for
retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Hospital
bills the patients and third-party payors several days after the services are performed and/or the patient is
discharged from the facility. Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied.

Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided. Revenue from
performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual charges incurred in relation to total
expected (or actual) charges. Generally, the Hospital has few patients which have performance obligations which
are satisfied over time. The majority of the patient care services provided in or by the hospital, clinics, skilled
nursing facility, and durable medical equipment providers have a performance obligation which is satisfied as the
patient simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the services are performed. In the case
of these services described, the recognition of the performance obligation over time yields the same result as
recognition of the obligation at a point in time. The Hospital believes that this method provides a faithful
depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance obligation based on the inputs needed to
satisfy the obligation.

Because the Hospital's performance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of less than one year, the
Hospital has elected to apply the optional exemption and therefore is not required to disclose the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
at the end of the reporting period. The unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations referred to
above are primarily related to inpatient acute care services at the end of the reporting period. The performance
obligations for these contracts are generally completed when the patients are discharged, which gererally occurs
within days or weeks of the end of the reporting period.

The Hospital uses a portfolio approach to account for categories of patient contracts as a collective group rather
than recognizing revenue on an individual contract basis. The Hospital used the following factors to develop
portfolios: major payor classes, type of service {e.g., inpatient, outpatient, emergency, clinic), and geographic
location. Using historical collection trends and other analysis, the Hospital evaluated the accuracy of its estimate
and determined that recognizing revenue by utilizing the portfolio approach approximates the revenue that
would have been recognized if an individual contract approach was used.

14

|



Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)
Net Patient Service Revenue (Continued)

The nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by several factors that the
Hospital considers in its recognition of revenue. Following are some of the factors considered:

* Payors {for example, Medicare, Medicaid, managed care, other insurances, patients, etc.) have different
reimbursement/payment methodologies

o Length of the patient's service/episode of care
e Geography of the service location

e Organization's line of business that provided the service (for example, haspital, clinic, long-term care,
etc.)

The Hospital determines the transaction price, which involves significant estimates and judgment, based on
standard charges for goods and services provided, reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party
payors, discounts provided to uninsured patients in accordance with the Hospital's policy, and implicit price
concessions provided to patients. The Hospital determines its estimates of contractual adjustments and
discounts based on contractual agreements, its discount policy, and historical experience. The Hospital
determines its estimate of implicit price concessions based on its historical collection experience for each patient
portfolio based on payor class and service type.

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for reimbursement to the Hospital at amounts
that vary from its established rates. A summary of the basis of reimbursement with major third-party payors

follows:

Hospital Services:

* Medicare: Inpatient acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at
prospectively determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification
system that is based on clinical, diagnostic and other factors. The Medicare program has designated the
Hospital as a sofe community hospital for Medicare reimbursement purposes. This designation provides
for the potential for increases in the payments the Hospital receives for inpatient services provided to
Medicare beneficiaries. Qutpatient services are paid under a series of fee schedules. Qutpatient
payments are also increased by a predetermined annual percentage for certain outpatient services under
sole community hospital designation. The Hospital is reimbursed for certain services at tentative rates
with final settlement determined after submission of annual cost reports by the Hospital and audits
thereof by the Medicare fiscal intermediary.

e Medicaid: Inpatient and outpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are reimbursed
at prospectively determined rates. Under the State of lllinois Medicaid Hospital Assessment Program

{Program), the Hospital receives additional Medicaid reimbursement from the State and pays a related
assessment. The Hospital's additional reimbursement for the periods ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, has
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)
Net Patient Service Revenue (Continued)
been recorded in the accompanying financial statements as an increase to net patient service revenue.

* Other: The Hospital has also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance
carriers, health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The basis for payment
to the Hospital under these agreements includes prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts
from established charges, and prospectively determined daily rates.

Clinic Services:

Certain physician and professional services rendered to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries qualify for
reimbursement as Medicare-approved rural health clinic services. Qualifying services are reimbursed based on a
cost reimbursement methodology for Medicare and prospectively determined rates for Medicaid, which are
updated annually. All other physician and professional services rendered to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries
are paid based on prospectively determined fee schedules.

Long-Term Care Services:

» Medicare: Medicare pays for Part A services based on a predetermined rate per patient day, which varies
depending upon the patient's level of care and the types of services provided. Medicare pays for Part B
services based on predetermined fee schedules.

e Medicaid: A significant portion of the Hospital's long-term care {nursing home) services were provided to
aged and disabled patients who are beneficiaries of the lllinois Public Aid program. Illinois Public Aid
reimburses the Hospital on a prospectively determined rate per diem. The rate is determined on a cost-
related basis subject to certain limitations as prescribed by the State of llinois and adjusted based on the
average acuity of the patients in the facility. The State of lllinois updates and makes adjustments to the
Medicaid rates based on average patient acuity as reported by each facility in the previous 90-day period.

Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, are complex and
subject to varying interpretation. Because of investigations by governmental agencies, various health care
organizations have received requests for information and notices regarding alleged noncompliance with those
laws and regulations, which, in some instances, have resulted in organizations entering into significant settlement
agreements. Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be subject to future government review and
interpretation as well as significant regulatory action, including fines, penalties, and potential exclusion from the
related programs. There can be no assurance that regulatory authorities will not challenge the Hospital's
compliance with these laws and regulations, and it is not possible to determine the impact (if any) such claims or
penalties would have on the Hospital.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Net Patient Service Revenue {Continued)

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services {CMS) uses recovery audit contractors {RACs) to search for
potentially inaccurate Medicare payments that may have been made to health care providers and were not
detected through existing CMS program integrity efforts. Once the RAC identifies a claim it believes is inaccurate,
the RAC makes a deduction from or addition to the provider's Medicare reimbursement in an amount estimated
to equal the overpayment or underpayment. The Hospital has not been notified by the RAC of any potential
significant reimbursement adjustments. In addition, contracts the Hospital has with commercial payors also
provide for retroactive audit and review of claims.

Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews, or investigations are
considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for
providing patient care. These settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the
payor, correspondence from the payor, and the Hospital's historical settlement activity, including an assessment
to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved. Estimated
settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known (that is, new information becomes
available), or as years are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations.

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related deductibles and
coinsurance, which vary in amount. The Hospital also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those
uninsured patients a discount, either by policy or law, from standard charges. The Hospital estimates the
transaction price for patients with deductibles and coinsurance and from those who are uninsured based on
historical experience and current market conditions. The initial estimate of the transaction price is determined
by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, discounts, and implicit price concessions,
Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded as adjustments to net patient
service revenue in the period of the change,

Consistent with the Hospital's mission, care is provided to patients regardless of their ability to pay. Therefore,
the Hospital has determined it has provided implicit price concessions to uninsured patients and patients with
other uninsured balances (for example, copays and deductibles). The implicit price concessions included in
estimating the transaction price represent the difference between amounts billed to patients and the amounts
the Hospital expects to collect based on its collection history with those patients. The Hospital's policy provides
for discounts of approximately 70% and 72% from established charges to uninsured patients in 2023 and 2022,
respectively. There were no changes to the Hospital's discount or uninsured patient policies in 2023 or 2022.

For uninsured patients who do not qualify for charity care, the Hospital recognizes revenue on the basis of its
standard rates for services provided {or on the basis of discounted rates, if negotiated or provided by policy).
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Net Patient Service Revenue (Continued)

The promised amount of consideration from patients and third-party payors has not been adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component due to the Hospital's expectation that the period between the time the
service is provided to a patient and the time the patient or a third-party payor pays for that service will be one
year or less. However, the Hospital does, in certain instances, enter into payment agreements with patients that
allow payments in excess of one year. For those cases, the financing component is not deemed to be significant
to the contract.

All incremental customer contract acquisition costs are expensed as they are incurred as the amortization period
of the asset that the Hospital otherwise would have recognized is one year or less in duration.

Charity Care

The Hospital provides care to patients who meet criteria under its charity care policy without charge or at
amounts less than established rates. Such amounts determined to qualify as charity care are not reported as net
patient service revenue.

The estimated cost of providing care to patients under the Hospital’s charity care policy is calculated by
multiplying the ratio of cost to gross charges for the Hospital times the gross uncompensated charges associated
with providing charity care.

Donor-Restricted Contributions
Contributions are considered to be available for general use unless specifically restricted by the donar.

Unconditional promises to give cash and other assets are reported at fair value at the date the promise is
received. Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give are reported at fair value at the date
the gift is received. The gifts are reported as net asset with donor restrictions if they are received with donor
stipulations that limit the use of donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time
restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net
assets without donor restrictions and reported in the accompanying statements of operations and changes in net
assets as net assets released from restrictions.

Donor-restricted contributions whose restrictions are met within the same year as received are reported as
contributions without donor restrictions.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

An interest rate swap is used to manage risk related to interest rate movements. The interest rate risk
management strategy is to stabilize cash flow requirements by maintaining the interest rate swap to convert a
portion of variable rate debt to a fixed rate. The Hospital has adopted the fair value option of accounting for its
interest rate swap agreement. The interest rate swap agreement is reported at fair value in the accompanying
balance sheets. Under the fair value option, changes in fair value are recorded as nonoperating income in the
accompanying statements of operations.

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are amortized over the life of the related debt using the straight-
line method.

Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
Income Taxes

The Hospital is a nonprofit corporation as described in Section 501{c){3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the
"Code"} and is exempt from federal income taxes on related income pursuant to Section 501(a) of the Code. The
Hospital is also exempt from state income taxes on related income. The Hospital is also engaged, to a limited
extent, in certain activities subject to taxation as unrelated business income (UBI}. Income taxes on UBI are not
significant.

Real Estate Taxes

The State of lllinois previously enacted legislation that clarifies when hospitals are eligible to receive
exemption from property tax requirements. As part of the legislation, hospitals, including the Hospital, must
submit to the State of Illinois annual property tax exemption applications, which include information on the
amount of benefits provided to low-income, charity care, and lllinois Public Aid {Medicaid) beneficiaries. As
of June 30, 2023, the majority of the real estate of the Hospital has been granted property tax exemption by
the State of lllinois, other than a portion of its medical office buildings which are not included in the hospital
property tax legislation.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through September 20, 2023, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.

New Accounting Pronouncement

In February 2016, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU
modifies lease accounting to increase transparency and comparability by recognizing lease assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing information. The most significant
change for lessees will be the recognition of both a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a
right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term for those leases classified as
operating leases under current GAAP. Certain accounting policy elections are permitted for leases with terms of
12 months or less. FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases, supersedes current lease requirements in FASB ASC Topic 840,
Leases. The Hospital has elected to adopt and apply this accounting pronouncement effective July 1, 2022,
utilizing the modified retrospective approach. The Hospital elected to utilize practical expedients made available,
including the package of practical expedients not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease, the lease

classification, and initial direct costs for any existing leases. Adoption of this standard did not have a material
impact on the results of operations reported in the accompanying statements of operations, and had no impact
on accompanying statements of cash flows,
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 2: COVID-19

Starting in March 2020, the nation in general, and healthcare-related entities specifically, have been faced with a
global pandemic. As healthcare entities prepared for the crisis, operational changes were made to delay routine
visits and elective procedures and reevaluate the entire care delivery model to care for patient needs, specifically
those affected by COVID-19. These operational changes continued and adjustments were made in operations
and business plans throughout the pandemic. The declared public health emergency ended in May 2023 related
to the COVID-19 pandemic, and even with this ending the complete financial impact on the economy in general
and healthcare-related entities specifically still remains undeterminable at this time. Management of the
Hospital continues to note that both operational performance and cash flows for healthcare-related entities have
been and will continue to be impacted into the future even though the declared public health emergency period
and pandemic have ended.

The federal and state governments, as well as other agencies, assisted many healthcare organizations to prevent
significant financial constraints by providing supplemental payment programs in the forms of distributions which
are intended to help in offsetting lost revenues as well as the cost of staffing, supplies, and equipment from
treating patients impacted by or preparing for the pandemic's healthcare needs. Through

June 30, 2023, the Hospital received approximately 518,008,000 in funding since 2020 from these programs.
During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Hospital has recognized approximately $145,000 and
$4,955,000, respectively, as other operating revenue in the accompanying statements of operations. The
Hospital also had previously recognized approximately $12,908,000 in funding as other operating revenue
collectively during the prior years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. Any remaining funds in any year which were
received but not expended and were available for use in a subsequent period were included in deferred revenue
in the accompanying balance sheets. A significant portion of these funds were received in the form of provider
relief funds from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services {"HHS") Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and
Economic Security {"CARES") and American Recovery Plan ("ARP") Acts, as well as from the State of lilinois.

These funds are subject to various financial and compliance guidelines for intended uses as published by the
federal and state governments. Management is continuing to monitor compliance with the terms and conditions
of these grants as new guidance and clarification is released from HHS, the State of Illinois, and other agencies. If
the Hospital is unable to attest to or comply with current or future terms and conditions as more information
becomes available, the Hospital’s ability to retain some or all of the distributions received may be impacted.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 3: Available Resources and Liquidity

The Hospital does not have a formal liquidity policy but generally strives to maintain financial assets in liquid form
such as cash and cash equivalents for at least approximately one to three months of operating expenses. Other
funds, included in assets limited as to use in the accompanying balance sheets, are considered available for
operational or capital needs, except for investments with restrictive redemption requirements. Occasionally, the
Board of Trustees designates a portion of operating surplus to be appropriated at its discretion for future
operational initiatives and capital expenditures. These funds, at the discretion of the Board of Trustees, could be
released immediately or sold and redeemed prior to their maturity and are not considered available under the
Hospital's general liquidity management. At june 30, 2023 and 2022, the balance of these funds was
$110,423,877 and $103,582,979, respectively.

Financial assets and liquidity resources available within ane year for general expenditure, such as operating
expenses, scheduled debt service payments, and capital items, were as follows at June 30:

2023 2022
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,858,700 S 8,216,200
Patient accounts receivable - Net 12,488,554 11,953,658
Other receivables 3,880,996 3,039,002
Total financial assets and liquidity resources $ 20,228,250 & 23,208,860

Patient accounts receivable - net becomes available as an available resource to the Hospital generally as
operating cash as it is billed and collected based on the policies and procedures described in Note 1, and its
opening balance at July 1, 2021 was 510,513,760.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 4: Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use consisted of the following at June 30:

2023 2022
Board designated for capital improvements and debt service requirements:
Money market funds S 1,884,398 S 379,059
Certificates of deposit 1,164,966 1,152,208
Mutual funds 67,031,290 81,319,115
Municipal bonds 719,383 129,090
U.S. agency obligations 8,547,377 5,003,375
Corporate obligations 17,786,741 3,465,534
Hedge fund 11,492,744 10,967,498
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates 1,539,638 1,060,958
Accrued interest receivable 257,340 106,142
Total designated by Board of Trustees for future capital improvements 110,423,877 103,582,979

Held under bond indenture agreements:

Money market funds 11,353,382 -
Held by trustee self-insurance fund:
Money market funds 246,427 261,887
Certificates of deposit 870,242 774,902
Municipal bonds 171,217 98,387
U.5. agency obligations - 89,021
Corporate obligations 31,929 32,182
Marketable equity securities - Common stock 347,920 325,159
Mutual Funds 102,918 157,519
Accrued interest receivable 6,403 1,469
Total held by trustee self-insurance fund 1,777,056 1,740,526
Deferred compensation plans assets :
Mutual funds 1,611,428 1,176,349

Total assets limited as to use $ 125,165,743 § 106,499,854

Investments, in general, are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market volatility.
Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is reasonably possible that changes in the values of
certain investments will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts
reported in the accompanying financial statements.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 4: Assets Limited as to Use (Continued)

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates include investments by the Hospital into three private equity companies.
The Hospital made initial direct investments in 2022 and 2023 and in turn obtained shares of common stock of
three specific start-up companies. At June 30, 2023, the Hospital has remaining unfunded commitments of
$1,382,984 which represent additional investments in cash to be made into these companies. The additional
investments are anticipated to be made in 2024. There were no cash distributions or dividends received by the
Hospital from the initial investments in these entities in 2023.

Investment income {loss} consisted of the following for the years ended June 30:

2023 2022
Interest and dividend income - Net of investment fees S 2,348,956 & 2,596,730
Net realized gains on sales of investments 1,371,949 3,492,650
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments 5,965,301 {19,796,661)
Total investment income {loss) S 9,686,206 S (13,707,281}

Note 5: Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Money market funds are valued using a net asset value {"NAV") of $1.00. Quoted prices from active markets are
used to determine the fair value of investments in equity securities, which are primarily invested in common
stock. Mutual funds held by the Hospital are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission. The funds are required to publish their daily NAV and to transact at that price. The
mutual funds held by the Hospital are deemed to be actively traded. Fixed income securities including corporate
bonds, local government bonds, foreign bonds, and U.S. Government and agency securities are primarily valued
using quotes from pricing vendors for identical or similar assets based on recent trading activity and other
observable market data.

The interest rate swaps' fair values are based on estimates by third-party valuation services, which use a
discounted cash flow analysis using observable market-based inputs, including forward interest rate curves.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable
value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Hospital's valuation methods are appropriate and
consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the
fair value or NAV of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement or reported
NAV at the reporting date.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 5: Fair Value Measurements {Continued)

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Hospital's assets and liabilities
measured at fair value and NAV on a recurring basis as of June 30:

2023

Fair Value Measurements Using

Total at Fair

Level 1 Level 2 NAV Fair Value
Assets:
Money market funds - S 13,484,207 § - -8 -
Marketable equity
securities - Common stock 347,920 - - - 347,920
Mutual funds: -
Fixed income 1,459,506 - - - 1,459,506
Equities 67,286,130 - - - 67,286,130
Fixed income securities; C
Corporate obligations - 17,786,741 - - 17,786,741
Municipal bonds - 890,600 - - 890,600
U.S. agency obligations - 8,547,377 - - 8,547,377
Hedge fund - - - 11,492,744 11,492,744
Total assets measured at fair
value and NAV 69,093,556 $ 40,708,925 § - 11,492,744 $ 107,811,018
Liabilities - Interest rate swap
agreements - $  (519,305) $ - - $  (519,305)
25
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Note 5: Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

2022
Fair Value Measurements Using Total at Fair
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Fair Value
Assets:
Money market funds ] -5 640,945 S -5 -§ 640,945
Marketable equity
securities - Comimon stock 325,159 - - - 325,159
Mutual funds: -
Fixed income 20,419,774 - - - 20,419,774
Equities 62,223,715 > - - 62,223,715
Fixed income securities: e
Corporate obligations - 3,497,716 - - 3,497,716
Municipal bonds - 227,477 - - 227,477
U.S. agency obligations - 5,092,396 - - 5,092,396
Hedge fund - - - 10,967,498 10,967,498
Total assets measured at fair
value S 82,968,648 $ -5 -5 - S 92,427,182
Liabilities - Interest rate swap
agreements S - $ (1,487,101) § - S {1,487,101) § -

The assets included in the fair value measurements table above at both June 30, 2023 and 2022, include ali assets
included in assets limited as to use as described in Note 4, with the exception of certificates of deposit, accrued
interest receivable, and investments in unconsolidated affiliates which are excluded from the fair value
measurement table.

Alternative investments recorded at NAV include investments in a hedge fund, which are actively managed
investment vehicles that derive the majority of their returns from factors other than directional flow of the
markets in which they invest. Investment strategies include high-yield credit, distressed debt, merger, arbitrage,
relative value, and long-short equity strategies. The fair value of the investments in this category have been
estimated using the NAV per share of the investments. Investments in this category carry "lockup" restrictions
that do not allow investors to seek redemption in the first year after acquisition. Following the initial lockup
period, liquidity is generally available monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, or annually following a redemption
request. The investments in this category have semi-annual liquidity. The derivative or hedge investment
contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting and are recorded at NAV which is an approximation of fair value.
Changes in fair value are reported as a component of unrealized gains or losses on investments as a part of
nonoperating gains and losses in the accompanying statements of operations. During the years ended June 30,
2023 and 2022, the unrealized gains {losses) on the hedge fund were approximately $493,000 and ($33,000),
respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 5: Fair Value Measurements {Continued)

At June 30, 2023, alternative investments recorded at NAV consisted of the following:

Redemption
Unfunded Frequency (if Redemption
Fair Value Commitment Currently Eligibfe) Note Period
Hedge funds 5 11,492,744 § - Semi-annually 95 days

Note 6: Beneficial Interests in Trusts and Foundation

A summary of the Hospital's beneficial interest in trusts and Foundation as of June 30is as follows:

2023 2022
Beneficial interest in trusts $ 8,290,875 $ 8,163,403
Interest in net assets of Foundation 770,615 650,041
Totals S 9,061,490 5 8,813,444

Beneficial Interest in Trusts

The Hospital is the beneficiary under two perpetual trusts administered by unrelated third parties. The beneficial
interest of these trusts is included in the Hospital's financial statements as net assets with donor restrictions.
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts includes investments in cash and debt and equity securities that are held in
perpetuity. Distributions are made in accordance with individual trust documents and are included in investment
return as described below. The carrying value of the beneficial interest in perpetual trusts is estimated at either
the Hospital's beneficial interest percentage of the fair value of the trusts' assets as of the balance sheet date or
at the estimated net present value of estimated future cash receipts expected to be received from the trusts.
The estimated value is $8,290,875 and $8,163,403, which represents the fair value of the trust assets as of

June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The distributed income of the Hospital's beneficial interest in trusts for
2023 and 2022 was 5450,298 and $447,131, respectively, and is included in net assets with donor restrictions in
the accompanying statements of changes in net assets.
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Graham Hospital Association

Notes to Financial Statements

Note 6: Beneficial Interests in Trusts and Foundation (Continued)

Interest in Net Assets of Foundation

A summary of the internal financial information for the Foundation for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

Unaudited
2023 2022
Assets S 772,554 S 650,041
Liabilities $ 1,939 § -
Net assets S 770,615 S 650,041
Changes in net assets before contributions to the Hospital S 120,574 S 35,921
Less - Contributions to the Hospital - -
Increase in net assets 120,574 35,921
Net assets at beginning 650,041 614,120
Net assets at end S 770,615 5 650,041
Note 7: Property and Equipment
Property and equipment by majority categories consisted of the following at June 30:
2023 2022
Land and land improvements $ 12,277,953 $ 6,392,453
Buildings 105,193,320 101,009,218
Buildings service equipment 13,021,187 13,155,219
Equipment 41,139,388 39,022,898
Total property and eguipment 171,631,848 159,579,788
Less - Accumulated depreciation 79,070,834 75,636,737
Net depreciated value 92,561,014 83,943,051
Construction in progress 6,629,898 3,126,326
Property and equipment - Net $ 99,190,912 $ 87,069,377
28
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 7: Property and Equipment (Continued)

At June 30, 2023, construction in progress primarily consists of costs related to a building renovation to purchase
and renovate three clinic buildings in neighboring communities. At June 30, 2023 commitments related to the
completion of these projects totaled approximately $8,600,000. These projects are being funded from operating
cash reserves of the Hospital and long-term debt which was issued in 2023. See Note 8 for additional information
on long-term debt.

The cost of equipment under a finance lease obligation, which is included in equipment, was $1,715,092 at both
June 30, 2023, and 2022, and the related accumulated amortization was 51,343,489 and $1,000,470 at

June 30, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Annual amortization expense, which is included in depreciation and
amortization in the accompanying statements of operations was $343,019 and $400,188 during the years ended
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 8: Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following at June 30:

2023 2022

Revenue bonds, Series 2015 {A) $ 38,650,000 $ 40,200,000
Revenue bonds, Series 2020 (B} 16,330,000 16,670,000
Revenue bonds, Series 2023 (C) 12,107,347 -
Finance lease obligation {D) 445,588 842,192
Totals 67,532,935 57,712,192
Less:

Current maturities 2,379,516 2,285,451

Debt issuance costs 731,896 573,201
Subtotals $ 64,421,523 $ 54,853,540

(A) Long-term debt consists of adjustable rate healthcare facilities revenue bonds ("Series 2015 Bonds"} issued
November 4, 2015, The Series 2015 Bonds allowed for berrowings of up to $47,680,000. The variable
interest rate is adjusted weekly and is payable monthly. The Hospital has also entered into interest rate swap
agreements for portions of the Series 2015 Bonds as described in Note 9. Principal is payable in annual
installments on the Series 2015 Bonds through 2045, and the Series 2015 Bonds are secured by facilities of
the Hospital.

The City of Canton, lllinois, issued the Series 2015 Bonds on behalf of the Hospital. The proceeds of the Series
2015 Bonds were loaned to the Hospital under a trust indenture and loan agreement dated November 1,
2015, to provide for the expansion and renovation of the Hospital's facilities and to refinance a previous bond
issue, On August 29, 2019, the Series 2015 Bonds were restructured to include a fixed 2% interest rate for the
next six years.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 8: Long-Term Debt (Continued)

The 2015 Bonds require the Hospital to comply with certain restrictive covenants, including minimum
insurance coverage, restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and maintenance of certain
leverage, liquidity and debt service ratios.

(B) Long-term debt consists of adjustable rate healthcare facilities revenue bonds ("Series 2020 Bonds") issued
June 18, 2020. The Series 2020 Bonds allowed for borrowings of up to $17,000,000. The variable interest
rate is adjusted weekly and is payable monthly. Principal is payable in annual installments on the Series 2020
Bonds through 2045, and the Series 2020 Bonds are secured by facilities of the Hospital.

The 2020 Bonds require the Hospital to comply with certain restrictive covenants, including minimum
insurance coverage, restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and maintenance of certain
{everage, liquidity and debt service ratios.

(C) Long-term debt consists of adjustable rate healthcare facilities revenue bonds ("Series 2023 Bonds") issued
June 21, 2023. The Series 2023 Bonds allowed for borrowings of up to $12,000,000, and remaining
unexpended amounts are included in assets limited as to use in the accompanying balance sheets at June 30,
2023. The fixed interest rate is 3.78% and interest is payable monthly. Principal is also payable in monthly

installments on the Series 2023 Bonds through 2054, and the Series 2023 Bonds are secured by facilities of
the hospital.

The 2023 Bonds require the Hospital to comply with certain restrictive covenants, including minimum
insurance coverage, restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and maintenance of certain
leverage, liquidity, and debt service ratios.

(D) Finance lease obligation which was utilized to finance and obtain surgery equipment with imputed interest
rate of 3.50%, payable in monthly installments of $34,980, including principal and interest, through July 2024,

The weighted average remaining lease term of the finance lease obligation at June 30, 2023, was
approximately 1.08.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 8: Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Scheduled payments of principal on the long-term debt and finance iease obligation at june 30, 2023, including
current maturities, are summarized as follows:

Bonds Finance Lease
Payable Obligation

2024 $ 1,970,000 S 419,759

2025 2,185,000 37,873

2026 2,370,000 -

2027 2,455,000 -

2028 2,545,000 -

Thereafter 55,562,347 -
Total S 67,087,347 457,632
Less - Amount representing interest on finance lease cbligation 12,044

Principal remaining on finance lease obligation S 445,588
31
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 9: Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Hospital maintains an interest-rate risk-management strategy that uses interest rate swap derivative
instruments to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings fluctuations caused by interest-rate volatility.
The Hospital's specific goal is to lower {(where possible) the cost of its borrowed funds.

The Hospital previously entered into two interest rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of changes in
interest rates on its Series 2015 and 2020 bonds, which are variable interest rate bonds. The interest rate
swaps are utilized to manage interest rate exposure over the period of the interest rate swaps. The changes
in the fair value of these swap agreements are included in nonoperating gains and losses in the
accompanying statements of operations for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, as the swaps were
determined by management to not be highly effective in managing the risk of interest rate fluctuations. The
interest settlements received by the Hospital or paid to the counterparty are included as a component of
interest expense.

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements are recorded within other
long-term liabilities on the balance sheets.

The interest rate swap agreements are summarized below as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

June 30, 2023 Fair Value of Swap
Notional Termination Fixed Variable (Liability)
Amount Date Rate Rate 2023 2022
$10,580,000 {A) 12/1/2031 3.44% 4,54% S (240,299) § {600,541)
$13,460,000 {B) 6/1/2034 3.00% 6.32% (279,006) {886,560)
Total S (519,305) 5 (1,487,101}

{A) Effective January 15, 2007, the Hospital is a party to an interest rate swap agreement with an original
notional amount of $15,900,000. Under this arrangement, the Hospital pays a fixed rate of 3.44% and the
counterparty pays a floating rate which is agreed upon based on the terms of the swap agreement. The
floating variable interest rate was 4.54% and 1.79% as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively), both of
which are applied to the current notional principal amount.

(B) Effective July 20, 2009, the Hospital is a party to an interest rate swap agreement with an original notional
amount of 516,000,000. Under this arrangement, the Hospital pays a fixed rate of 3.00% and the
counterparty pays a floating rate which is agreed upon based on the terms of the swap agreement. The
floating variable interest rate was 6.32% and 1.79% as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively), both of
which are applied to the current notional principal amount.

The net settlements recorded for derivative instruments in the Hospital's statements of operations decreased
interest expense for the year ended June 30, 2023, by approximately $1,038,000 and increased interest expense
for the year ended June 30, 2022 by approximately $637,000.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 10: Operating Leases

The Hospital has entered into lease agreements for medical office and clinical building space with unrelated
parties to utilize space within the Hospital's facilities.

Approximate minimum future lease payments under noncancelable lease agreements consisted of the following
at June 30, 2023:

2024 5 127,000
2025 115,000
2026 110,000
2027 110,000
2028 110,000
Thereafter 46,000
Total S 618,000

Operating lease revenue totaled approximately $424,000 and $383,000 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively, and is included in other operating revenue in the accompanying statements of operations.
Property and equipment which is utilized by the lessors under the various operating lease agreements is included
within property and equipment - net in the accompanying balance sheets.

Note 11: Net Assets with Donor Restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions include assets set aside in accordance with donor restrictions as to time or use
which are solely held by the Foundation or held in the beneficial interest in trusts and totaled $9,061,490 and

$8,813,444 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The breakdown of net assets with donor restrictions noted abave is as follows at June 30:

2023 2022
Subject to expenditure for specific purpose:
Funds held by foundation for scholarships and hospital programs S 640,215 S 519,641
Maintained in perpetuity with income expendable for:
Funds held by Foundation for scholarships 130,400 130,400
Beneficial interest in trusts for hospital programs and equipment purchases 8,290,875 8,163,403
Total $ 9,061,490 $ 8,813,444

The Hospital’s endowments consist of eight donor-restricted funds, which were established to provide
investment income for scholarships for students in the Hospital’s School of Nursing, as well as, the Hospital's
interest in two beneficial trusts.
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Graham Hospital Association
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 11: Net Assets with Donor Restrictions (Continued)

The Board of Trustees of the Hospital has interpreted the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds
Act (UPMIFA), as adopted by the lllinois state legislature, as requiring the Hospital and Foundation, who holds the
scholarship funds, to preserve the fair value of the donor’s original gift, as of the date of the gift, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Hospital classifies as net assets with
donor restrictions (a) the original value of the donor’s gifts to the permanent endowment, {b) the original value
of a donor’s subsequent gifts to the permanently restricted endowment, and {c) accumulations to the permanent
endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the
accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is
required to be held in perpetuity is classified as net assets with donor restrictions until those amounts are
appropriated for expenditure by the Board of Trustees in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence
prescribed by UPMIFA.,

The Hospital has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to provide a
dependable method of funding programs supported by its endowments while seeking to preserve the principal of
the endowment assets. Under the Hospital’s and Foundation's investment policies, as approved by the Boards of
Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a manner to protect principal and achieve a fixed annual rate of
return and ensure that any risk assumed is commensurate with the given investment vehicle and the Hospital's
objectives. There were no deficiencies from unfavorable market conditions of the endowment investments at
June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Endowments that are donor-restricted consisted of the following at June 30:

2023 2022
Original donor-restricted amounts required to be retained by donor s 130,400 $ 130,400
Portion of donor-restricted funds subject to appropriations 111,119 91,959
Hospital's interest in assets held in beneficial trusts 8,290,875 8,163,403
Total S 8,532,394 S 8,385,762

Note 12: Net Patient Service Revenue

The composition of net patient service revenue by major lines of business, based on the geographic region the
Hospital operates in as outlined in Note 1, for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

2023 2022
Service lines:
Hospital services S 77,305,683 $§ 71,482,946
Clinic services 22,819,593 18,861,019
Long-term care services (extended care) 2,290,259 1,365,395
Home medical equipment services 1,430,707 1,309,259
Totals $ 103,846,242 $ 93,018,619
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Note 12: Net Patient Service Revenue (Continued)

Net patient service revenue by payor consisted of the following for the year ended June 30:

2023 2022
Medicare and Medicare Advantage plans $ 38,105,855 5 37,917,561
Medicaid and Medicaid HMO plans 19,574,565 17,709,407
Other third-party payors 44,548,498 35,579,353
Uninsured patients 1,617,324 1,812,298
Totals $ 103,846,242 $ 93,018,619

Note 13: Patient Financial Assistance

The Hospital provides health care services and cther financial support through various programs that are
designed, among other matters, to enhance the health of the community, including the health of low-income
patients. Consistent with the mission of the Hospital, care is provided to patients regardless of their ability to
pay, including providing services to those persons who cannot afford health insurance because of inadequate
resources or to those who are underinsured.

The Hospital has a financial assistance policy which is generally based on federal poverty guidelines, and
applications are completed by patients and/or their families. Patients who meet the criteria for financial
assistance are provided care without charge or at a reduced rate. The Hospital is also required to provide
additional discounts to uninsured hospital patients under the Hospital Uninsured Patient Discount Act as required
by Minois state law.

The estimated cost of providing care to patients under the Hospital's financial assistance policy and program
aggregated approximately 51,160,000 and $1,333,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Other benefits for the community also include unpaid costs of treating the elderly, health screenings, community
education through seminars and classes, and other health-related services.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 14: Malpractice Insurance

Through September 30, 2018, the Hospital is self-insured for the first $500,000 per occurrence and $1,500,000 in
aggregate of medical malpractice losses. The Hospital purchases insurance coverage above the self-insurance
timits. Losses from asserted and unasserted claims identified under the Hospital's incident reporting system are
accrued based on estimates that incorporate the Hospital's past experience, as well as other considerations,
including the nature of each claim or incident and relevant trend factors. The Hospital utilizes an actuary in order
to estimate its professional and general liability. The undiscounted liability amounts as of June 30, 2023 and
2022, were 53,163,483 and 52,406,275, respectively, for claims covered under the self-insurance program. The
Hospital has also recorded estimated insurance recoverable receivables of $2,246,746 and $1,741,628 as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for claims exceeding the policy's deductible. The liabilities related to this
plan are included in long-term liabilities and receivables are included in other receivables in the accompanying
balance sheets.

Effective October 1, 2018, the Hospital discontinued its self-insured program for professional liability
insurance and has purchased commercially insured professional liability insurance coverages through the
(llinois Provider Trust (IPT). The Hospital's professional liability insurance for claim losses of less than
$20,000,000 per claim and $10,000,000 per year covers professional liability claims reported during a policy
year subsequent to October 1, 2018 (“claims-made” coverage). The professional liability insurance policy is
renewable annually and has been renewed by the insurance carrier for the annual period extending to
January 1, 2024.

Under a claims-made policy, the risk for claims and incidents not asserted within the policy period remains with
the Hospital. Although there exists the possibility of claims arising from services provided to patients through
June 30, 2023, which have not yet been asserted, the Hospital has not been given notice of any such possible
claims, and accordingly no provision has been made for them other than the provisions noted above under the
self-insured insurance program.

Note 15: Self-Funded Insurance

The Hospital has a self-funded health plan, which provide benefits to employees, retirees, and their dependents.
Healthcare costs are expensed as incurred. Health expenses are based upon claims paid, reinsurance premiums,
administration fees, and unpaid claims at year-end. The Hospital buys reinsurance to cover catastrophic
individual claims over $190,000.

Self-funded health plan expense for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, was approximately $6,640,000 and
$6,154,000, respectively, which includes stop-loss insurance expense and recoveries and insurance premiums
paid by employees to the Hospital. An estimated amount for claims outstanding is included in accrued salaries
and other expenses in the accompanying balance sheets of approximately $656,000 and $599,000 at

June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 16: Retirement Plan

The Hospital has a defined-contribution thrift and savings 401{k) plan available to substantially all employees.

The Hospital matches 50 percent of the amount employees elect to contribute to the plan up to 6 percent of
covered wages. Thrift and savings plan expense was approximately $1,035,000 and $920,000 for the years ended
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 17: Workers' Compensation Insurance

The Hospital participates with other providers of health care services in the Illinois Compensation Trust, a risk
pool which currently operates common risk management and insurance programs for its members. The Hospital
pays annual premiums to the risk pool for its employee injuries insurance coverage. The risk pool's governing
agreements specify that the risk pool will be self-sustaining through member premiums and will re-insure through
commercial carriers for claims in excess of specified stop-loss amounts. If, however, the risk pool's loss
experience is worse than anticipated, the members may be required to make additional payments. The Hospital
has not been required to make additional material contributions in any of the three preceding years. At

June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Hospital has recorded an estimated liability for outstanding claims and additional
charges from the risk pool based on actuary analysis and management's assumptions of $1,013,662 and
$648,391, respectively. These amounts are included in long-term liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets.
As of June 30, 2023, the Hospital also has a letter of credit for employee injuries insurance coverage of $350,000.
No draws have been made on the letter of credit in 2023.

Note 18: Functional Expenses

The Hospital provides general health care services to residents within its geographic location. The accompanying
statements of operations present certain expenses that are attributed to more than one program or supporting
function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis. Employee benefits are allocated based
on factors of either salary expense or actual employee expense. Overhead costs that include things such as
professional services, supplies, office expenses, information technology, insurance, and other similar expenses
are allocated on a variety of factors including revenues and departmental expense. Costs related to building and
equipment usage include depreciation and interest and are allocated on a square footage or direct assignment
basis. Expenses related to providing these services for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, are as follows:

2023 2022
Healthcare General Healthcare General
Services  Administrative Total Services  Administrative Total

Salaries and wages $ 39,378,439 § 10,516,268 S 45,894,707 $ 34,016,413 § 8,936,034 $ 42,952,447
Employee benefits 10,175,267 2,987,449 13,162,716 9,263,402 2,497,981 11,761,383
Purchased services and

professional fees 19,269,149 247,896 19,517,045 17,938,126 350,697 18,288,823
Supplies and other 15,170,874 7,386,086 22,556,960 13,979,096 7,294,186 21,273,282
Depreciation 4,424,031 555,342 4,979,373 5,306,746 664,363 5,971,109
Interest 1,916,469 240,571 2,157,040 1,407,546 176,214 1,583,760

$ 90,334,229 S 21,933,612 5112,267,841

$ 81,911,329 $ 159,919,475 $101,830,804
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Note 19: Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Hospital to possible credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable,
cash deposits in excess of insured limits, and investments of surplus operating funds.

Patient accounts receivable consist of amounts due from patients, their insurers, or governmental agencies
(primarily Medicare and Medicaid) for health care provided to the patients and residents. The majority of the

Hospital's patients are from Canton, Hlinois, and the surrounding area.

The mix of accounts receivable from patients and third-party payors is as follows at June 30:

2023 2022
Medicare and Medicare Advantage plans 37 % 42 %
Medicaid and Medicaid managed care plans 21 % 19%
Other third-party payors 26% 23 %
Uninsured patients 16 % 16 %
Totals 100 % 100 %

The Hospital maintains depository relationships with area financial institutions that are Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation {FDIC) insured institutions. Depository accounts at these institutions are insured by the FDIC up to
$250,000. Operating cash needs often require that amounts on deposit exceed FDIC limits. At June 30, 2023, the
amount of the Hospital's bank balances in excess of FDIC limits was approximately $3,700,000. In addition, other
investments held by financial institutions are uninsured.

Note 20: Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2022 financial statements to conform with the classification
used in 2023.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 21: U.S. Department of Education Financial Responsibility Ratio Information

The following information is required by the U.S. Department of Education for the years ended June 30:

2023 2022
Net assets with temporary donor restrictions S 640,215 S 519,641
Property and equipment - Net S 99,190,912 $ 87,069,377

Long-term debt obtained for long-term purposes:
Long-term debt
Finance lease liabilities

S 67,087,347
445,588

$ 56,870,000
842,192

Total long-term debt obtained for long-term purposes

$ 67,532,935

S 57,712,192

Expenses and losses without donor restrictions:
Operating expenses
Unallocated investment loss - Net
Other

$112,267,841

$ 101,830,804
13,707,281
6,837

Total expenses and losses without donor restrictions

5 112,267,841

$ 115,544,922

Revenue without donor restrictions:
Total operating revenue
Contributions available for current activities
Unallocated investment return - Net
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements
Contribution of property
Net assets released from restrictions
Other

$ 113,504,675
89,434
9,686,206
967,796
2,675,000
450,298
31,975

$ 104,989,766
42,360

2,006,131

447,131

Total revenue without donor restrictions

$ 127,405,384

$ 107,485,388

There were no right of use assets to disclose separately from property and equipment - net in the above

information as of June 30, 2023 and 2022.

The Hospital does not have any material related party transactions to report for 2023 and 2022. As described in
Note 6, there were no contributions from the Foundation to the Hospital in 2023 or 2022,
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Graham Hospital Association

Financial Responsibility Supplemental Schedule

required by the U.S. Department of Education
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Reference to Financial Statements

Ratio Element and/or Notes 2023
Primary Reserve Ratio
Expendable Net Assets
Net assets without donor restrictions Balance Sheets § 160,832,630
Note 21: U.S. Department of Education Financial
Net assets with donor restrictions Responsibility Ratio Information 640,215
Note 11: Net Assets with Donor
Endowments with donor restrictions Restrictions 8,421,275
Note 21: U.S. Department of Education Financial
Property and equipment - Net Responsibility Ratio Information 99,190,912
Total Expenses and Losses
Note 21: U.S. Department of Education Financial
Total expenses and losses without donor restrictions Responsibility Ratio Information Rzl
Equity Ratio
Modified Net Assets
Net assets with and without donor restrictions Balance Sheets 169,894,120

Modified Assets
Total assets

Net Income Ratio
Change in net assets without donor restrictions

Total revenue and gains without donor restrictions

See Independent Auditor's Report.

Balance Sheets

Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Note 21: U.S. Department of Education Financial
Responsibility Ratio Information

261,203,159

157,137,543

127,405,384
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Graham Hospital Association

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Note 1: Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (“Schedule”) includes the federal award activity of
Graham Hospital Association. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements
of Title 2 U.5. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awaords (the “Uniform Guidance”}. Because the schedule presents only a selected
portion of the operations of Graham Hospital Association, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of Graham Hospital Assaciation.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are
recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of
expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Provider Relief Funding {PRF) is not subject to

cost principles requirements contained in the Uniferm Guidance. Expenditures reported on the Schedule for PRF
are based on the PRF period of availability, terms and conditions of the PRF program.

Note 3: Indirect Cost

Graham Hospital Association has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under
the Uniform Guidance.

Note 4: Subrecipients

Graham Hospital Association passed no federal awards through to sub-recipients.
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WIPFLI

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Board of Trustees
Graham Hospital Association
Canton, lllinois

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Graham Hospital Association {the
"Hospital"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023 and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Graham Hospital Association's basic financial statements, and have issued our report
thereon dated September 20, 2023.

Report on Internal Contral Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Hospital's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal
control, such that there is reasonable possibility that a material misstaternent of the Hospital's financial
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been
identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Hospital's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of
our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital's internal control or
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the Hospital's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

W%jx LLP

Wipfli LLP
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
September 20, 2023
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Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and on
Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

Board of Trustees
Graham Hospital Association
Canton, lllinois

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program
Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We have audited the Hospital's compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to
audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal
program for the year ended June 30, 2023. The Hospital's major federal program is identified in the summary of
auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Hospital complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended
June 30, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America {(GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards); and the
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements,
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those
standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Hospital and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program. Qur
audit does not provide a legal determination of the Hospital's compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Hospital’s federal
program,
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Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the
Hospital’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk
of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable
user of the report on compliance about the Hospital's compliance with the requirements of the major federal
program as a whole,

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:

* Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ |dentify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the Hospital’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

* Obtain an understanding of the Hospital’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control
over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combinaticn of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of

a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control
over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.
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Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over-compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report an internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the resuits of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Wiggts LLP

Wipfli LLP
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
September 20, 2023
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Graham Hospital Association

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Section | - Summary of Auditor's Results

Financiaf Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness identified? yes X no
Significant deficiency{ies) identified ? yes X  none reported
Noncompliance material to the financial statements? yes X no

Federal Awards

Internal control over compliance:

Materiai weakness identified? yes X no
Significant deficiencylies) identified ? yes X  none reported
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmaodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with Uniform Guidance (2 CFR 200.516{a)]? yes X no

Identification of major federal programs:

Federal Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster

COIVD-139 - Provider Relief Fund and
93.498 American Rescue Plan Act Rural
Distribution

Dollar thresheld used to distinguish between Type A and Type B
programs $750,000

Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee? yes X no
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Graham Hospital Association

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings
None.

Section Wl — Federal Award Findings

Nane.
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BOND AND LOAN AGREEMENT

Dated as of May 1, 2024
among
CITY OF CANTON, FULTON COUNTY, ILLINOIS
GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION
and

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, LLC

$11,322,000
MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
CITY OF CANTON, FULTON COUNTY, ILLINOIS
HEALTH CARE FACILITIES REVENUE BOND, SERIES 2024
(GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION PROJECT)

The rights of the City of Canton, Fulton County, Illinois, hereunder, other than Unassigned
Rights (as defined herein), have been assigned to the Purchaser (as defined herein).
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This Bond and Loan Agreement dated as of May 1, 2024 (this
“Agreement”), among the CITY OF CANTON, FULTON
COUNTY, ILLINOIS, a municipality incorporated and existing
under the provisions of the laws of the State of Illinois, operating
under the provisions of the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended
(the “Issuer”), CLAYTON HOLDINGS, LLC, a Missouri limited
liability company, as the initial Purchaser, as hereinafter defined
(the “Purchaser”), and GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION,
an Illinois not for profit corporation (the “Borrower™).

WHEREAS, the Issuer, by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois,
including the Industrial Building Revenue Bond Act, 50 ILCS 445/1 ef seq., as supplemented
and amended, including the Illinois Bond Replacement Act, the Registered Bond Act, the Bond
Authorization Act and the Local Government Debt Reform Act (collectively, the “Act™), is
authorized to issue its revenue bonds to finance the cost of the Project, as hereinafter defined;
and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Issuer may issue revenue bonds to
provide funds for the making of loans to assist in providing financing for industrial projects, and
for the purpose of refunding any such obligations previously issued; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer proposes to issue its Health Care Facilities Revenue Bond, Series
2024 (Graham Hospital Association Project) in the maximum principal amount of $11,322,000
(the “Bond”) for the benefit of the Borrower. The Bond will be sold to the initial Purchaser,
pursuant to Section 3.1 of this Agreement, and the total amount of money to be paid by the initial
Purchaser, in exchange for the Bond (the “Bond Proceeds™) will be loaned by the Issuer to the
Borrower as described in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Borrower desires to use the Bond Proceeds, together with certain other
moneys, to (a) finance, refinance or reimburse the Borrower for the costs of the acquisition,
construction, remodeling and equipping of certain health facilities constituting industrial projects
under the Act described in Exhibit C hereto (the “Project™) and (b) finance or reimburse the
Borrower for certain of the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bond, all as
permitted under the Act; and

WHEREAS, payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bond will be
the special, limited obligation of the Issuer payable solely from payments to be made by the
Borrower and available for such purpose as described in this Agreement;

The Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1.

DEFINITIONS

For all purposes of this Agreement, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the
following terms shall have the following meanings.
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“Advance” means the Initial Advance and any Supplemental Advance.

“Act” means, collectively, the Industrial Building Revenue Bond Act, 50 ILCS 445/1 et
seq., as supplemented and amended, including the Illinois Bond Replacement Act, the Registered
Bond Act, the Bond Authorization Act and the Local Government Debt Reform Act.

“Agreement” means this Bond and Loan Agreement, as amended or supplemented from
time to time in accordance with its terms.

“Applicable Factor” means a percentage equal to 1 minus the then current Maximum
Federal Corporate Tax Rate (defined below). As of the Closing Date, the Applicable Factor is
79%.

“Applicable Margin™ means:
(a) During the Initial Period, 115 basis points (1.15%); and

(b) during any subsequent Interest Period, 115 basis points (1.15%) or, if applicable,
the Applicable Margin determined by the Purchaser in accordance with Section 3.3(c) hereof.

“Authorized Denomination” means, with respect to the Bond, $150,000 and any integral
multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof.

“Authorized Officer” means, with respect to the Borrower, the Chief Executive Officer or
Chief Financial Officer of the Borrower or any other officer of the Borrower designated by the
Borrower to act on behalf of the Borrower.,

“Bank Purchase Mode” shall mean the Mode in which the Bonds bear interest at the
Bank Purchase Rate.

“Bank Purchase Rate” means either a Fixed Bank Purchase Rate or a Variable Bank
Purchase Rate.

“Bond” means the $11,322,000 City of Canton, Fulton County, Illinois Health Care
Facilities Revenue Bond, Series 2024 (Graham Hospital Association Project), issued pursuant to
this Agreement.

“Bond Counsel” means the firm of Ice Miller LLP, or any other law firm having a
national reputation in the field of municipal law whose opinions are generally accepted by
purchasers of municipal bonds, acceptable to the Issuer and the Purchaser.

“Bond Proceeds™ means the total amount of money to be paid by the initial Purchaser in
exchange for the Bond, which money will be applied in accordance with this Agreement,

“Bond Registrar” means Zions Bancorporation, National Association.

“Bondholder” has the meaning set forth in the Covenant Agreement.
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“Borrower” means Graham Hospital Association, an Illinois not for profit corporation,
and its successors and assigns, and any surviving, resulting or transferee entity as provided in
Section 5.3 of this Agreement.

“Borrower Agreements™ is defined in Section 2.2(a) hereof.

“Business Day” means a day which is not (a) a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday on
which banking institutions in New York, New York, Chicago, Illinois or the State are authorized
by law to close, (b) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange or the Federal Reserve Bank
is closed or (c) a day on which the principal office of the Purchaser is closed.

“Closing Date” means May 15, 2024, the date of the issuance and delivery of the Bond to
the initial Purchaser.

“CME Term SOFR Reference Rate” means the SOFR based forward-looking one-month
CME Term SOFR Reference Rate administered by CME Group Benchmark Administration
Limited (“CBA4”).

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Each citation to a
Section of the Code shall include the Treasury regulations applicable to such Section.

“Completion Certificate” means the certificate delivered by the Borrower to the Issuer
and the Purchaser pursuant to Section 5.13 hereof.

“Costs of Issuance” means (a)any reasonable costs incurred by the Borrower in
connection with the issuance of the Bond, including, but not limited to, any legal and accounting
fees and expenses, title, survey, recording and financing statement fees and expenses, financial
consultants’ fees, financing charges, printing and engraving costs and any other fees relating to
the preparation of any documents necessary for the issuance of the Bond; (b) any fees and
reasonable expenses of the Issuer, the Purchaser and any Bond Registrar and the reasonable fees
and expenses of their counsel incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bond; and (c) any
other fees and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bond.

“Costs of the Project” means any costs incurred with respect to the Project that are
consistent with the Tax Agreement and that will not cause any of the representations or
certifications contained in the Tax Agreement to be untrue or result in a violation of any
covenant in this Agreement or the Tax Agreement.

“Covenant Agreement” means the Continuing Covenant Agreement dated as of May 1,
2024, between the Borrower and the Purchaser, as supplemented or amended from time to time,
or any similar agreement between the Borrower and the then current Purchaser.

“Cumulative Quistanding Principal Amount” means the sum of the Initial Advance and
all Supplemental Advances, less the principal amount of the Bond redeemed pursuant to
Section 3.5 hereof, as reflected in the records maintained by the Bond Registrar and on
Schedule II to the Bond, as provided in Section 3.1(D) hereof;, provided, however, that the
Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount of the Bond shall not exceed the Maximum Principal
Amount of the Bond,
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“Date of Advance” means has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(C)(ii) hereof.

“Defaulf” means any event or condition, which, with notice, the passage of time or any
combination of the foregoing, would constitute an Event of Default.

“Default Rate” means the rate of interest equal to the rate of interest then in effect for the
Bonds plus four percent (4.00%); provided however, that in no event shall the Default Rate
exceed the Maximum Rate.

“Determination of Taxability” means and shall be deemed to have occuired on the first to
occur of the following:

(i) the date when the Borrower files any statement, supplemental statement or
other tax schedule, return or document which discloses that an Event of Taxability shall
have in fact occurred;

(i)  the date when the Bondholder or any former Bondholder notifies the
Issuer and the Borrower that it has received a written opinion by a nationally recognized
firm of attorneys of substantial expertise on the subject of tax-exempt municipal finance
to the effect that an Event of Taxability shall have occurred unless, within one hundred
eighty (180) days after receipt by the Borrower of such notification from the Bondholder
or any former Bondholder, the Borrower shall deliver to the Bondholder and any former
Bondholder a ruling or determination letter issued to or on behalf of the Issuer or the
Borrower by the Commissioner or any District Director of the Internal Revenue Service
(or any other governmental official exercising the same or a substantially similar function
from time to time) to the effect that, after taking into consideration such facts as form the
basis for the opinion that an Event of Taxability has occurred, an Event of Taxability
shall not have occurred;

(iii)  the date when the Issuer or the Borrower shall be advised in writing by the
Commissioner or any District Director of the Internal Revenue Service (or any other
government official or agent exercising the same or a substantially similar function from
time to time) that, based upon filings of the Borrower, or upon any review or audit of the
Borrower or upon any other ground whatsoever, an Event of Taxability shall have
occurred; or

(iv)  the date when the Borrower shall receive notice from the Bondholder or
any former Bondholder that the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government
official or agency exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to
time) has assessed as includable in the gross income of such Bondholder or such former
Bondholder the interest on the Bond due to the occurrence of an Event of Taxability;

provided, however, no Determination of Taxability shall occur under subparagraph (iii) or (iv)
hereunder unless the Borrower has been afforded the opportunity, at its expense, to contest any
such assessment, and, further, no Determination of Taxability shall occur until such contest, if
made, has been finally determined; and provided firther, however, that upon demand from the
Bondholder or former Bondholder, the Issuer shall promptly reimburse, but solely from
payments made by the Borrower, such Bondholder or former Bondholder for any payments,
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including any taxes, interest, penalties or other charges, such Bondholder (or former Bondholder)
shall be obligated to make as a result of the Determination of Taxability.

“Electronic Notice” means notice transmitted through electronic mail (“e-mail™).
“Event of Default” is defined in Section 8.1 of this Agreement.

“Event of Taxability” means a (i) change in Laws or fact or the interpretation thereof, or
the occurrence or existence of any fact, event or circumstance (including, without limitation, the
taking of any action by the Borrower, or the failure to take any action by the Borrower, or the
making by the Borrower of any misrepresentation herein or in any certificate required to be
given in connection with the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bond) which has the effect of
causing interest paid or payable on the Bond to become includable, in whole or in part, in the
gross income of the Bondholder or any former Bondholder for federal income tax purposes or
(ii) the entry of any decree or judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction, or the taking of any
official action by the Internal Revenue Service or the Department of the Treasury, which decree,
judgment or action shall be final under applicable procedural law, in either case, which has the
effect of causing interest paid or payable on the Bond to become includable, in whole or in part,
in the gross income of the Bondholder or any former Bondholder for federal income tax purposes
with respect to the Bond.

“Final Draw Date™ means the earliest of (i) November 15, 2025, or (ii) the date on which
the Purchaser has honored Advances in an amount equal to the Maximum Principal Amount of
the Bond.

“Fixed Bank Purchase Rate” means an interest rate per annum, to be established on the
commencement date of each Interest Period (and remain in effect during such Interest Period),
by calculation of the Purchaser, which interest rate shall be equal to the product of (A) the
Applicable Factor, multiplied by (B) the sum of (x) the Treasury Rate, plus (y) the Applicable
Margin.

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state or local government (whether
domestic or foreign), any political subdivision thereof or any other governmental,
quasi-governmental, judicial, public or statutory instrumentality, authority, body, agency, bureau
or entity (including any zoning authority, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the
Federal Reserve Board, any central bank or any comparable authority), or any arbitrator with
authority to bind a party at law.

“Government Securities Business Day” means each business day on which the SOFR is
published.

“Initial Advance” means the advance made by the initial Purchaser, to the Borrower of
$143,098 under the Bond on the Closing Date pursuant to this Agreement.

“Initial Period” means the period from the Closing Date to (but not including) the first
Purchase Date, which is November 1, 2032,



“Interest Payment Date” means (i) the first Business Day of each calendar month,
commencing July 1, 2024, and (ii) any date on which all or a portion of the Bond is redeemed.

“Interest Period” means, initially, the Initial Period, and thereafter, the period from each
Purchase Date to but not including the subsequent Purchase Date or the Maturity Date, as
applicable, during which period the Bond bears interest at the rate established in accordance with
Section 3.3(b) hereof (subject to redemption or prepayment (by acceleration or otherwise)). No
Interest Period may be less than one year in duration unless the Bond matures in less than one
year and the Interest Period ends on the Maturity Date.

“Interest Rate Reset Date” means, during any period in which the Bond is in the Bank
Purchase Mode and accrues interest at a Variable Bank Purchase Rate, the first Business Day of
each calendar month.

“Investor Letter” means a letter from the Purchaser substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit B, and, in the case of Clayton Holdings, LLC, as the initial Purchaser, “Investor
Letter” means the Letter of the Purchaser in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B that was
delivered to Issuer concurrently with the issuance of the Bond.

“Laws” means, collectively, all international, foreign, federal, state and local statutes,
treatics, rules, guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial
precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any
Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof,
and all applicable administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses, authorizations and
permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authority, in each case whether or not
having the force of law.

“Maturity Date” means April 1, 2054.

“Maximum Federal Corporate Tax Rate” means, for any day, the maximum rate of
income taxation imposed on corporations pursuant to Section 11(b) of the Code, as in effect as of
such day (or, if as a result of a change in the Code, the rate of income taxation imposed on
corporations generally shall not be applicable to the Purchaser, the maximum statutory rate of
federal income taxation which could apply to the Purchaser as of such day).

“Maximum Principal Amount of the Bond* means $11,322,000.
“Maximum Rate” means the highest rate of interest permitted by applicable law.

“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means an opinion of Ice Miller LLP, Chicago, Illinois, or of
any other firm of nationally recognized municipal bond attorneys acceptable to the Issuer and the
Purchaser.

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of counsel who is (i) of high reputation
and expertise as determined by the Issuer, and (ii) acceptable to the Purchaser or the Issuer, as
the case may be, and who may be counsel to the Issuer or the Borrower.
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The term “outstanding” when used with reference to the Bond, or “Bond outstanding”
means the Bond, which has been authenticated and delivered to the Purchaser under this
Agreement, except the following:

{a) any portion of the Bond canceled or delivered to the Bond Registrar for
cancellation;

b any portion of the Bond in lieu of which others have been authenticated under
Section 3.7 (relating to registration and exchange of a Bond) or Section 3.8 (relating to a
mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Bond);

{c) any portion of the Bond provision for payment of which has been made via
creation of an irrevocable escrow pursuant to Section 9.8 hereof; and

(d) The Bond, to the extent that principal payments have been made thereon.

“Ordinance” means the bond ordinance adopted by the Issuer approving the issuance and
sale of the Bond(s).

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a trust or any
other entity or organization, including a government or political subdivision or any agency or
instrumentality thereof.

“Project” means the hospital facilities of the Borrower, the costs of the acquisition,
construction, renovation and equipping of which are to be financed, refinanced or reimbursed
with proceeds of the Bond, as more fully described in Exhibit C hereto (which Exhibit C may be
amended, supplemented or restated from time to time).

“Property” means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or
mixed, or tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired.

“Purchase Date” means (i) November 1, 2032, and (ii) any subsequent purchase date
selected by the Borrower and the Purchaser, on which date the Bond will be subject to
mandatory tender at the end of the related Interest Period, as contemplated by Section 3.4 hereof.

“Purchaser” means the registered owner or owners of the Bond and initially means
Clayton Holdings, LLC, and its successors and assigns; provided, however, that, for purposes of
Section 8.2 through Section 8.5 hereof, the term “Purchaser” shall mean the owners of a majority
in the aggregate principal amount of the Bond then outstanding.

“Rebate Fund” means the fund by that name created under the Tax Agreement.

“Redemption Price Payment Date” means a date on which the redemption price of all or
a portion of the Bond is paid upon the redemption thereof in accordance herewith.

“Request for Advance” means an executed Borrower Request for a Supplemental
Advance substantially in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto.
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“Unassigned Rights” means the rights of the I[ssuer under this Agreement (i) to the
payment of certain fees, costs and expenses, and interest thereon; (ii) to exemption from certain
fees, costs and expense; (iii) to be released, indemnified, held harmless and defended; (iv) to
withhold consent of sales, transfers and other dispositions (other than sales, transfers and other
dispositions of the Bond made in compliance with the terms hereof and the terms of the
Covenant Agreement); (v) to exemption from individual and corporate liability; (vi) to receive
notice, reports, opinions, financial information and statements and the like; (viii) to approve and
to withhold approval or consent of matters requiring the approval or consent of the Issuer;
(viii) to exercise certain remedies; (ix) to execute and deliver supplements and amendments to
this Agreement; and (x) to enter into other agreements.

“Unremarketed Bond” means a Bond which, on the applicable Purchase Date, has not
been redeemed, repaid or successfully remarketed to another Person other than the Purchaser.

“Variable Bank Purchase Rate” means the per annum interest rate borne by the Bond
equal to the product of (A) the Applicable Factor multiplied by (B) the sum of (x) the SOFR
Index for each SOFR Interest Period, plus (y) the Applicable Margin. The Variable Bank
Purchase Rate shall be rounded up to the fifth decimal place.

ARTICLE IL.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of Issuer. The Issuer makes the
following representations and covenants as the basis for its undertakings herein contained:

{a) The Issuer, a municipality duly organized and validly existing under the
Constitution and laws of the State, and by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State and the
Act, is authorized to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out
its obligations hereunder, and has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement
and the Tax Agreement.

(b) It is the Issuer’s understanding, based upon certain representations of the
Borrower, that the issuance and sale of the Bond and the lending of the proceeds of the Bond to
the Borrower (which proceeds, together with certain other moneys, will be applied for the benefit
of the Borrower) is to provide a portion of the moneys required to finance, refinance or
retmburse the Borrower for the Costs of the Project and the Costs of Issuance.

() The Issuer covenants that it has not and will not pledge or assign its interest in this
Agreement, or the revenues and income derived pursuant to this Agreement, excepting
Unassigned Rights, other than to the Purchaser.

(d) To the best knowledge of the Issuer, neither the Issuer’s execution and delivery of
this Agreement, its consummation of the transactions contemplated on its part hereby, nor the
Issuer’s fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement conflicts
with or results in a breach of the terms, conditions or provisions of any material restriction,
agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a party, or by which it or any of its property is
bound, or constitutes a default under any of the foregoing.
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“SOFR” means the secured overnight financing rate as published by the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York, or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate.

“SOFR Index” means for any applicable period, the rate per annum equal to the CME
Term SOFR Reference Rate two Government Securities Business Days prior to the
commencement of such SOFR Interest Period; provided that if such rate is not published on such
determination date then the rate will be the SOFR Index on the first Government Securities
Business Day immediately prior thereto on which the SOFR Index is published. For the purpose
of this Agreement, the SOFR Index shall not be less than zero percent (0.00%).

“SOFR Interest Period” means each period commencing on an Interest Rate Reset Date
and ending on the day occurring immediately prior to the next Interest Rate Reset Date;
provided, however, that no SOFR Interest Period may end later than the Maturity Date.

“State” means the State of Illinois.

“Supplemental Advance” means any additional advance of Bond Proceeds subsequent to
the Initial Advance made pursuant to Section 3.1(C) of this Agreement; provided that (i) the
aggregate amount of the Initial Advance and all Suppiemental Advances shall not exceed the
Maximum Principal Amount of the Bond and (ii) a request by the Borrower may not occur more
frequently than once every calendar month.

“Tax Agreement” means the Tax Representation Certificate between the Issuer and the
Borrower, dated the Closing Date, as amended from time to time.

“Taxable Rate Factor”™ means the quotient of (i) one divided by (ii) one minus the
Maximum Federal Corporate Tax Rate currently in effect, rounded upward to the second decimal
place.

“Tax-Exempt Organization” means an entity organized under the laws of the United
States of America or any state thereof which is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of
the Code, which is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(a} of the Code, and
which is not a “private foundation™ within the meaning of Section 509(a) of the Code, or
corresponding provisions of federal income tax laws from time to time in effect.

“Taxable Rate™ means a rate of interest per annum equal to the product of (i) the interest
rate on the Bond and (ii) the applicable Taxable Rate Factor.

“Treasury Rate” means: (i) for the Initial Period, 4.49%, and (ii) for any subsequent
Interest Period, the weekly average yield of U.S. government securities adjusted to a Treasury
constant maturity reported by the Federal Reserve Board (“FRB™) in statistical release H.15 (the
“H.15 Release™), or other publication, for the number of years most closely approximate
(rounded up) to the number of years in such Interest Period, as reported as of the Thursday most
recently preceding the commencement date of such Interest Period. If the Treasury Rate is no
longer available or is clearly erroneous, the Treasury Rate for any Purchase Period shall be based
upon a replacement index selected by the Purchaser, that in the Purchaser’s good faith opinion
most closely approximates the Treasury Rate that is no longer available or is erroneous. The
H.15 Release is currently available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/h15/.
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(e) To the best knowledge of the Issuer, no member of the Issuer or officer, agent or
employee thereof is, in his or her own name or in the name of a nominee, an officer, director or
holder of an ownership interest of more than 7-1/2% in any person, association, trust,
corporation, partnership or other entity which is, in its own name or in the name of a nominee, a
party to any contract or agreement upon which the member or officer, agent or employee may be
called upon to act or vote in connection with the financing of the Project.

() To provide funds to loan to the Borrower for the purposes described in (b} above,
the Issuer has authorized its Bond in the principal amount of $11,322,000 to be issued under and
secured by this Agreement, pursuant to which the Issuer’s rights and interests in this Agreement,
and revenue and income will be pledged and assigned as security for payment of the principal,
purchase price, premium, if any, and interest on the Bond.

(g) There is no litigation or proceeding pending as to which the Issuer has received
actual notice, or to the knowledge of the Issuer threatened, against the Issuer, or to the
knowledge of the Issuer affecting it, which would adversely affect the validity of this Agreement
or the Bond or the ability of the [ssuer to comply with its obligations under this Agreement or the
Bond.

(h) The Issuer will not purchase the Bond.

(i) The Issuer shall have no responsibility for the preparation, filing or recording of
any instrument, document or financing statement or for the maintenance of any security interest
intended to be perfected thereby. The Issuer will execute such instruments as may be necessary
in connection with such filing or recording.

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Borrower. The Borrower
represents and warrants as follows:

(a) The Borrower is a not for profit corporation duly incorporated under the laws of
the State, is in good standing and duly authorized to conduct its business in the State. The
Borrower is duly authorized and has full power under all applicable laws and its articles of
incorporation and Bylaws to create, issue, enter into, execute and deliver, as the case may be, this
Agreement, the Covenant Agreement and the Tax Agreement (collectively, the “Borrower
Agreements’™).

(b) The execution and delivery of the Borrower Agreements on the Borrower’s part
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and neither the Borrower’s
execution and delivery of the Borrower Agreements, the Borrower’s consummation of the
transactions contemplated on its part thereby, nor the Borrower’s fulfillment of or compliance
with the terms and conditions thereof, conflicts with or results in a material breach of the Articles
of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Borrower or any material agreement or instrument to which
the Borrower is now a party or by which it is bound (except for any such breaches for which the
Borrower has obtained a waiver or a required consent), or constitutes a material default (or
would constitute a material default with due notice or the passage of time or both) under any of
the foregoing.
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{c) The Borrower intends to use, and will use, the Project in such a manner as to
maintain the status of the Project as health care facilities, for at least the duration of this
Agreement. The Borrower is duly authorized and has, or will receive prior to operation of its
facilities, all necessary licenses and permits to occupy and operate its facilities under the laws,
rulings, regulations and ordinances of the State and the departments, agencies and political
subdivisions thereof, and the Borrower has obtained all requisite approvals of federal, state,
regional and local governmental bodies relating to the acquisition, construction, equipping and
operation of its facilities. The Borrower’s facilities are in all material respects in compliance with
all applicable federal, state and local zoning, subdivision, environmental, pollution control and
other laws, rules, regulations, codes and ordinances.

(d)  No litigation, proceedings or investigations are pending or, to the knowledge of
the Borrower, threatened against the Borrower seeking to restrain, enjoin or in any way limit the
approval or issuance and delivery of the Borrower Agreements or which would in any manner
challenge or adversely affect the corporate existence or powers of the Borrower to enter into and
carry out the transactions described in or contemplated by or the execution, delivery, validity or
performance by the Borrower of the Borrower Agreements. In addition, except as disclosed in
writing to the Issuer and the Purchaser, no litigation, proceedings or investigations are pending
or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened in writing against the Borrower, except
litigation, proceedings or investigations involving claims for which the probable ultimate
recoveries and the estimated costs and expenses of defense, in the commercially reasonable
opinion of management of the Borrower (i) will be entirely within the applicable insurance
policy limits (subject to applicable deductibles) or are not in excess of the total of the available
assets held under applicable self-insurance programs or (ii) will not have a material adverse
effect on the operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of the Borrower.

(e) The Borrower is a Tax-Exempt Organization, The Borrower has received a
determination letter of the Internal Revenue Service to the foregoing effect, which letter is in full
force and effect, and will maintain its status as such an organization as long as the Bond is
Outstanding. The Borrower is not a “private foundation™ as defined in Section 509(a) of the
Code. The Borrower has not declared and has not been determined to have any “unrelated
business taxable income” (as defined in Section 512 of the Code) in an amount which could have
a matenial adverse effect on the Borrower’s status as a Tax-Exempt Organization or which, if
such income were subject to federal income taxation, would have a material adverse effect on the
condition, financial or otherwise, of the Borrower.

H The audited financial statements of the Borrower as of June 30, 2022 and 2023
and for the years then ended, prepared and certified by independent certified public accountants,
correctly and fairly present the financial condition of the Borrower as of said dates and the
results of the operations of the Borrower for each of such periods, all in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied except as stated in the notes
thereto, and there has been no material adverse change in the condition, financial or otherwise, of
the Borrower since June 30, 2023.

(g}  The information used in the preparation of the financial statements referred to in

paragraph (f) above, the Borrower Agreements and any other written statement fumnished by the
Borrower to the Issuer or the Purchaser do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
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omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein or herein not
misleading. There is no fact which the Borrower has not disclosed to the Issuer and the
Purchaser in writing which materially adversely affects or, so far as the Borrower can now
foresee, will materially adversely affect the financial condition or results of operations of the
Borrower, the Borrower’s status as a Tax-Exempt Organization, the ability of the Borrower to
own and operate the Project or the Borrower’s ability to make payments under this Agreement
when and as the same become due and payable.

(h)  Compliance by the Borrower with the provisions of the Borrower Agreements
will not involve, to the extent applicable, any prohibited transaction within the meaning of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (herein sometimes referred to as
“ERISA™), or Section 4975 of the Code. No “employee pension benefit plans”, that are subject
to Title IV of ERISA (herein sometimes referred to as “Plans™), maintained by the Borrower, nor
any trust created thereunder, have incurred any “accumulated funding deficiency” as defined in
Section 302 of ERISA, to the extent applicable and the present value of all benefits vested under
all Plans, if any, did not exceed, as of the last annual valuation date, the value of the assets of the
Plans allocable to such vested benefits.

(i) With respect to the construction of the Project with proceeds of the Bond, the
Borrower has complied with and will comply with the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, 820 ILCS
130/1 to 130/12, to the extent required by the Act and other applicable laws.

) The Borrower has filed or caused to be filed all tax returns required by law to be
filed and has paid or caused to be paid all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges
levied upon or in respect of any of its properties, assets or franchises, other than taxes the
validity or amount of which are being contested in good faith by the Borrower by appropriate
proceedings and for which the Borrower shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The charges, accruals and reserves on
the books of the Borrower in respect of taxes for all fiscal periods are adequate, and there is no
unpaid assessment for additional taxes for any fiscal period or any basis therefor.

(k) No authorization, consent, license, exemption or filing or registration with any
court or Governmental Authority is or will be necessary to the valid execution, delivery or
performance by the Borrower of any of the Borrower Agreements to which it is a party.

1) The Borrower has not received notice to the effect that its operations are not in
compliance with any of the requirements of applicable federal, state or local environmental,
health and safety statutes and regulations or are the subject of any governmental investigation
evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a release of any toxic or
hazardous waste or substance into the environment, which non-compliance or remedial action
could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, facilities, business or operations
of the Borrower.

{m) The Borrower is not in default under the terms of any covenant, indenture or
agreement of or affecting the Borrower or any of its facilities, which default would have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, facilities, business or operations of the
Borrower.
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{n)  Neither the business nor the facilities of the Borrower are currently affected by
any fire, explosion, accident, strike, lockout or other labor dispute, drought, storm, hail,
earthquake, embargo, act of God or of the public enemy or other casualty (whether or not
covered by insurance), materially and adversely affecting the business, facilities or operations of
the Borrower.

(o)  No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

{r) The Borrower hereby makes to the Purchaser and to the Issuer the same
representations and warranties as are set forth by it in each of the Borrower Agreements, as
executed by the Borrower on the Closing Date, to which it is a party, which representations and
warranties, as well as the related defined terms contained therein, are hereby incorporated herein
by reference for the benefit of the Purchaser and the Issuer with the same effect as if each and
every such representation and warranty and defined term were set forth herein in its entirety and
were made as of the date hereof. No amendment to such representations and warranties or
defined terms made pursuant to any Borrower Agreement shall be effective to amend such
representations and warranties and defined terms as incorporated by reference herein without the
prior written consent of the Purchaser and the Issuer.

(q) The Borrower will use the proceeds of the Bond, together with certain other
moneys, solely to finance, refinance or reimburse the Borrower for the Costs of the Project and
the Costs of Issuance.

(r) The Borrower is not in violation of any laws, regulations, rules statutes or orders
relating to terrorism or money laundering (“Anti-Terrorism Laws™), including Executive Order
No. 13224 on Terrorist Financing, effective September 24, 2001 (the “Executive Order”), and
the Patriot Act. In addition, the Borrower is none of the following:

(i) a Person that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject to the
provisions of, the Executive Order;

(i)  a Person owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf of, any Person
that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, the Executive
Order;

(iii)  a Person with which the Purchaser is prohibited from dealing or otherwise
engaging in any transaction by any Anti-Terrorism Law; or

(iv)  a Person that commits, threatens or conspires to commit or supports
“terrorism” as defined in the Executive Order.

{s) The Borrower does not (i) conduct any business or engage in making or receiving
any contribution of funds, or to the best of its knowledge, goods or services to or for the benefit
of any Person described in subsection (r)(ii) above, (ii) deal in, or otherwise engage in any
transaction relating to, any property or interests in property blocked pursuant to the Executive
Order or (iii) engage in or conspire to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the
purpose of evading or avoiding, or attempts to violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in any
Anti-Terrorism Law.
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(t) This Agreement and the other Borrower Agreements are the legal, valid and
binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms
(subject to any applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other laws
affecting the enforcement of credits’ rights generally from time to time in effect and to
applicable legal principles and procedural requirements if equitable and other specific remedies
are sought).

{u) No amounts shall be disbursed to the Borrower or disbursed at the direction of the
Borrower except to pay or to reimburse the Borrower for the Costs of the Project or except as
otherwise permitted herein.

v) The acquisition, construction, renovation and equipping of the Project will
provide additional industrial facilities within the boundaries of the State and the Issuer which
will assist in the creation and preservation of jobs. The undertaking of the financing of the
Project and the loan of the proceeds of the Bond has constituted an inducement to the Borrower
to construct and equip and operate the Project in the Canton, Illinois, and Galesburg, Illinois.

Section 2.3.  Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser. The Purchaser
represents, warrants and acknowledges that the representations of the Purchaser set forth in the
Investor Letter are true and correct and are incorporated by reference herein.

ARTICLE III.

ISSUANCE AND SALE OF BOND; ISSUER COYENANTS

Section 3.1.  Agreement to Issue and Sell Bond; Designation; Application of Bond
Proceeds. (A) Issuance and Sale of Bond. 1n order to finance, refinance or reimburse the
Borrower for certain of the Costs of the Project and the Costs of Issuance, there is hereby
authorized and created one series of Bonds designated “City of Canton, Fulton County, Ilinois
Health Care Facilities Revenue Bond, Series 2024 (Graham Hospital Association Project).” The
Bond, as issued on the Closing Date, shall be issued in a Cumulative Outstanding Principal
Amount equal to the amount of the Initial Advance. The total principal amount of the Bond that
may be issued pursuant to this Agreement and the total principal amount of the Advances that
may be made under the Bond are hereby expressly limited to the Maximum Principal Amount of
the Bond.

The Purchaser agrees that it will purchase the Bond on the Closing Date from the [ssuer,
upon the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Covenant Agreement, at a purchase
price of 100% of the Initial Advance.

(B)  Initial Advance. The Issuer and the Borrower hereby direct the Purchaser to apply
the proceeds of the Initial Advance received from the sale of the Bond as follows:

() the amount of $143,098 shall be used to pay Costs of Issuance.
(C)  Supplemental Advances.
(1) On any Interest Payment Date on or prior to the Final Draw Date, so long
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as there is no Event of Default which has occurred and is continuing hereunder and the
other conditions precedent set forth in this subsection (C) are satisfied, the Borrower may
request a Supplemental Advance from the Purchaser by delivering a Request for Advance
to the Purchaser and the Bond Registrar in accordance with clause (ii) of this subsection
(C) and the Issuer will loan the related Bond Proceeds to the Borrower pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement to finance the Costs of the Project; provided, however, that
(a) such Supplemental Advance shall be in an amount equal to an Authorized
Denomination (other than the final Supplemental Advance which may be in an amount
less than an Authorized Denomination), (b) the principal amount of such Supplemental
Advance, together with the Initial Advance and all previous Supplemental Advances,
shall not exceed the Maximum Principal Amount of the Bond, (c)the conditions
precedent to such Supplemental Advance set forth in this subsection (C) have been
satisfied and (d) the conditions precedent to such Supplemental Advance set forth in the
Covenant Agreement have been satisfied. Upon the satisfaction of all such conditions
precedent, the Purchaser shall transfer the Bond Proceeds related to such Supplemental
Advance to or at the direction of the Borrower and shall promptly provide Electronic
Notice thereof to the Borrower and the Bond Registrar.

(ii)  The Borrower shall give written notice to the Purchaser and the Bond
Registrar in the form of a Request for Advance no later 1:00 p.m. (Chicago time) on a
Business Day which is not less than five (5) Business Days prior to the date on which the
related Supplemental Advance is to be made, which date of funding of a Supplemental
Advance, in each case, shail be an Interest Payment Date (a “Date of Advance™). If the
Purchaser and the Bond Registrar receive a Request for Advance after 1:00 p.m.
(Chicago time) on a Business Day, such Request for Advance shall be deemed to have
been received on the following Business Day. Requests for Advances shall be delivered
to the Purchaser and the Bond Registrar in the form of Exhibit D hereto by Electronic
Notice for receipt of Requests for Advances.

(1)  Each Supplemental Advance shall increase the Cumulative Qutstanding
Principal Amount of the Bond by the amount of such Supplemental Advance.

(iv)  Interest on each Supplemental Advance shall begin to accrue upon
payment by the Purchaser of the Supplemental Advance to the Borrower.

(D) Record of Cumulative Qutstanding Principal Amount of the Bond. Schedule II to
the Bond shall be the official record of the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount of the
Bond. Upon the making of the Initial Advance and upon the Bond Registrar's receipt of
Electronic Notice from the Purchaser of the making of a Supplemental Advance, the Bond
Registrar shall record the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount of the Bond on Schedule il
to the Bond and shall authenticate Schedule If, and the Cumulative Outstanding Principal
Amount of the Bond shall be increased as shown on Schedule II. On each date upon which a
portion of the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount of the Bond is redeemed pursuant to
Section 3.5 hereof, the Bond Registrar shall record the principal amount so redeemed on
Schedule II to the Bond and shall authenticate Schedule II, and the Cumulative Outstanding
Principal Amount of the Bond shall be reduced as shown on Schedile II. Upon each increase or
reduction in the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount of the Bond, the Bond Registrar will
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provide, upon request, a copy of the revised and authenticated Schedule /I to the Borrower and
the Purchaser.

Section 3.2, Issuance of Bond; Form; Dating; Conditions Precedent. The total
principal amount of the Bond that may be outstanding shall not exceed $11,322,000. The Bond
shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A-1 to this Agreement if the Bond bears interest at
the Variable Bank Purchase Rate or substantially in the form of Exhibit A-2 to this Agreement if
the Bond bears interest at the Fixed Bank Purchase Rate. The Bond shall be dated the Closing
Date, shall mature, shall be subject to redemption as provided herein, and subject to prior
payments of principal installments, on the Maturity Date and shall be subject to mandatory
tender as provided herein. The Bond shall be issued as a single fully registered Bond in a
principal amount not in excess of the Maximum Principal Amount of the Bond. The Bond may
have notations, legends or endorsements required by law or usage. The Bond will be numbered
as determined by the Bond Registrar.

Upon the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the following documents, the
Issuer will execute the Bond and deliver the Bond to the Purchaser:

(a) A copy, duly certified by the Issuer, of the Ordinance adopted and
approved by the Issuer authorizing (i) the execution and delivery of this Agreement and
the Tax Agreement and (ii) the issuance, execution and sale of the Bond,

(b) A copy, duly certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the
Borrower, of the resolutions adopted by the Board of Trustees of the Borrower or the
Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees authorizing the execution and delivery of
the Borrower Agreements and approving the issuance and sale of the Bond,

(c) Executed counterparts of the Borrower Agreements and the executed
Investor Letter;

(d) An opinion of counsel for the Borrower in form and substance satisfactory
to the Issuer, the Purchaser and Bond Counsel;

(e) An opinion of counsel for the Issuer in form and substance satisfactory to
the Purchaser, the Borrower and Bond Counsel,

H An opinion of Bond Counsel in form and substance satisfactory to the
Purchaser, the Issuer and the Borrower; and

(g) Such further documents, certificates and opinions as may be required by
the provisions of the Ordinance, this Agreement, the Covenant Agreement, the other
Borrower Agreements or the closing agenda prepared by Bond Counsel in connection
with the issuance and delivery of the Bond, the satisfaction of such requirements to be
conclusively evidenced by the delivery of the Bond by the Issuer to the Purchaser and by
the delivery of the opinion of Bond Counsel referred to in paragraph (f) of this
Section 3.2.

Section 3.3.  Principal of and Interest on the Bond.
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(a) Principal. Principal of the Bond shall be payable on the first Business Day of
each calendar month and in the amounts set forth as mandatory sinking fund redemption
payments in Schedule { hereto and on the Maturity Date, subject to any optional redemption,
mandatory tender (including on the Purchase Date) or other prepayment of the Bond (including,
without limitation, any acceleration of the Bond) as provided herein. Principal shall be paid by
wire transfer on each date on which principal is due and payable to each owner to the wire
transfer account number or at the address, as the case may be, shown on the registration books
maintained by the Bond Registrar.

(b)  Interest. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.3(c), (d), (e), (f), (g) and (h)
hereof, the Bond shall bear interest at either the Variable Bank Purchase Rate or a Fixed Bank
Purchase Rate established pursuant to Section 3.3(c) hereof from the Closing Date to and
including the earliest of the day preceding (i) its redemption date, (ii) its prepayment date (by
acceleration, mandatory tender or otherwise) and (iii) the Purchase Date. Interest on the Bond
shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date. Interest shall be paid by wire transfer on each
Interest Payment Date to each owner to the wire transfer account number or at the address, as the
case may be, shown on the registration books maintained by the Bond Registrar. Initially, the
Bond will bear interest at the Fixed Bank Purchase Rate from the Closing Date to and including
the initial Purchase Date.

In the event the Borrower requests the Purchaser to hold the Bond for any additional
Interest Period beyond the Interest Period, the Borrower's written notice given pursuant to
Section 3.4(a) below, may request that the Bank Purchase Mode for such additional Interest
Period be either the Variable Bank Purchase Rate or the Fixed Bank Purchase Rate.

The initial Fixed Bank Purchase Rate shall be established by the Purchaser on the Closing
Date and shall be effective for the period commencing on the Closing Date through and
including the initial Purchase Date.

Interest on the Bond shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual
number of days clapsed. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, at no time
shall the interest rate on the Bond exceed the Maximum Rate.

The amount of interest due on the Bond on an Interest Payment Date shall be determined
by the Purchaser and communicated to the Borrower by Electronic Notice or other written notice
no later than noon, Chicago time, on the third Business Day prior to each Interest Payment Date
{such communication to set forth the amount of interest due at the then applicable Bank Purchase
Rate).

(c) Rate Reset on Purchase Date. In connection with a Purchase Date, the Bond may
be retained by the then existing Purchaser, remarketed to a new Purchaser or purchased by the
Borrower, as described in Section 3.4 hereof.

If the Bond will be retained by the then existing Purchaser or remarketed to a new
Purchaser on a Purchase Date, then on or before noon, Chicago time, on each Purchase Date, the

interest rate on the Bond will be established for the next succeeding Interest Period and shall be
the lowest rate of interest which will, in the reasonable judgment of the then existing Purchaser
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(if the Bond is to be retained by the then existing Purchaser) or the new Purchaser (if the Bond is
to be remarketed to a new Purchaser), permit such Purchaser to buy the Bond at par, plus accrued
interest (if any), on such Purchase Date taking into account such factors as the existing Purchaser
or the new Purchaser deems relevant. To effect such new interest rate, (A) the Purchaser shall
select a new Purchase Date, and (B) the definitions of Applicable Factor, Applicable Margin,
Bank Purchase Rate, Fixed Bank Purchase Rate, Variable Bank Purchase Rate, Taxable Rate,
SOFR Index, SOFR Interest Period, Default Rate, Interest Period and Purchase Date, as
applicable (together with any other necessary definitions or provisions) contained herein may be
adjusted as needed so that the new interest rate borne by the Bond commencing on such Purchase
Date is the lowest rate of interest which will, in the reasonable judgment of the then existing
Purchaser or the new Purchaser, as applicable, permit such Purchaser to buy the Bond at par,
plus accrued interest (if any), on such Purchase Date. Prior to the effectiveness of any such new
interest rate and such adjustments, there shall be delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower and the
then existing Purchaser (if the Bond is to be retained by the then existing Purchaser) or the new
Purchaser (if the Bond is to be remarketed to a new Purchaser) an Opinion of Bond Counsel to
the effect that such new interest rate and such adjustments will not adversely affect the exclusion
of interest on the Bond from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

If on a Purchase Date the Bond is neither retained by the then existing Purchaser pursuant
to Section 3.4(a) hereof nor remarketed to one or more new Purchasers pursuant to Section 3.4(c)
hereof, but is purchased by the Borrower pursuant to Section 3.4(b) hereof and not canceled, the
Bond shall continue to bear interest at the interest rate borne by the Bond for the immediately
preceding Interest Period. If the Bond is later remarketed on a date subsequent to such Purchase
Date, on or before noon, Chicago time, on the date such Bond is to be remarketed, a new interest
rate on the Bond shall be established, which will be effective until the next succeeding Purchase
Date or the Maturity Date, as applicable (subject to redemption or prepayment (by acceleration
or otherwise)), and such new interest rate shall be the lowest rate of interest which will, in the
reasonable judgment of the new Purchaser or Purchasers, as applicable, permit such Purchaser or
Purchasers to buy the Bond at par, plus accrued interest (if any), on such date of remarketing. To
effect such new interest rate, the definitions of Applicable Factor, Applicable Margin, Bank
Purchase Rate, Fixed Bank Purchase Rate, Vanable Bank Purchase Rate, Taxable Rate, SOFR
Index, SOFR Interest Period, Default Rate, Interest Period and Purchase Date, as applicable
(together with any other necessary definitions or provisions) contained herein may be adjusted as
needed to reflect the new interest rate bormme by the Bond commencing on such date of
remarketing. Prior to the effectiveness of any such new interest rate, adjustments and
remarketing, there shall be delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower and the new Purchaser or
Purchasers an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such new interest rate, such
adjustments and such remarketing will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bond
from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

(d) Default Rate. In case any Event of Default occurs hereunder and is continuing,
the Bond shall bear interest at a rate equal to Default Rate (as defined in Article I hereof).

(e) Determination of Taxability. If a Determination of Taxability has occurred, the
Bond shall bear interest at the Taxable Rate from and after the Event of Taxability that gave
occasion to such Determination of Taxability or such earlier period of time from which interest
thereon has been so determined to be taxable.
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(H Adjustment for Change in Corporate Tax Rate. So long as no Determination of
Taxability has occurred, the applicable interest rate on the Bond shall automatically adjust in
accordance with any change in the Maximum Federal Corporate Tax Rate occurring pursuant to
an amendment of the Code, as in effect on the Closing Date, so that the new interest rate on the
Bond will be equal to:

A x (1-NMFCTR)
0.79

where A" refers to the interest rate applicable to the Bonds immediately prior to such change in
the Maximum Federal Corporate Tax Rate, and “NMFCTR” refers to the new Maximum Federal
Corporate Tax Rate expressed as a two-digit decimal. Such interest rate change shall be
retroactive to the date of occurrence giving rise thereto.

(g) Change in Tax Laws. In the event of a change in the federal tax laws, regulations
or interpretation of federal tax laws that shall have the effect of reducing the after-tax economic
yield (i.e., the tax equivalent yield) on the Bond, the Purchaser shall have the right to change the
applicable interest rate of the Bond to an interest rate by which the Purchaser will realize an
after-tax economic yield equal to the after-tax economic yield prior to any such change. Such
interest rate change shall be retroactive to the date of the occurrence giving rise thereto. In the
event the Purchaser asserts its right to make any adjustment pursuant to this provision, the
Purchaser shall furnish to the Issuer and the Borrower a statement setting forth the additional
amount or amounts to be paid to the Purchaser hereunder which statement shall set forth the
assumptions and methodology to support such assertion. The Purchaser’s statement shall be
conclusive in the absence of manifest error. In determining such amount, the Purchaser may use
any reasonable averaging and attribution methods and it shall be conclusively assumed that the
Purchaser is subject to taxation at the marginal corporate tax rate imposed on the highest level of
income. Within 90 days after the Borrower’s receipt of a written statement under this paragraph,
and upon payment by the Borrower of any additional amounts set forth in such statement, the
[ssuer (upon written direction from the Borrower) may optionally redeem the Bond in whole, but
not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption, without the assessment of any yield maintenance or
prepayment premium otherwise required under this Agreement. No change to the interest rate
for the Bond shall be made pursuant to this paragraph unless on or prior to the effective date of
such change the Purchaser and the Borrower (at the Borrower’s expense) provide to the Issuer an
Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such change will not adversely affect the
excludability of the interest on the Bond from gross income for federal income tax purposes

(h) Unremarketed Bond. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any
Unremarketed Bond shall bear interest at the Default Rate. A Bond shall cease to be an
Unremarketed Bond only if such Unremarketed Bond is remarketed and transferred or such
Unremarketed Bond is redeemed in full.

Section 3.4. Tender.

(a) Tender on Purchase Date. Subject to the provisions of the following paragraph,
the Bond is subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Purchase Date. The purchase price
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shall be 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the Purchase
Date. The Bond shall bear interest on and after each Purchase Date at the rate established in
accordance with the requirements of Section 3.3(c) or (d) hereof, including the requirement for
the delivery of an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the establishment of such rate will
not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bond from gross income for federal income
tax purposes.

The Borrower may, by written notice to the Purchaser, not sooner than 180 days but no
later than ninety (90) days prior to the Purchase Date, request that the Purchaser continue holding
the Bond following such Purchase Date. If the Borrower so requests, the Purchaser will make
reasonable efforts to respond to such request within thirty (30) days after receipt of all
information necessary, in the Purchaser’s reasonable judgment, to permit the Purchaser to make
an informed credit decision. The Purchaser may, in its sole and absolute discretion, decide to
accept or reject any such request, and no consent shall become effective unless the Purchaser
shall have consented thereto in writing; provided, however, that the failure of the Purchaser to
respond to such a request to extend the Purchase Date within such thirty (30) day period shall be
deemed an election by the Purchaser not to continue holding the Bond following such Purchase
Date. In its sole and absolute discretion, the Purchaser may propose the length of the new
Interest Period (including the new Purchase Date) and the interest rate to be effective during such
new Interest Period, including the Applicable Factor, the Applicable Margin and any other
conditions precedent to its decision to continue to hold the Bond. In the event the Purchaser
determines that it will not make such proposal, the Bond shall be subject to mandatory tender
pursuant to this Section. If the Purchaser does make such proposal, the Borrower may, in its sole
and absolute discretion, decide to approve, reject or renegotiate any such proposal, and no
approval of the Borrower with respect thereto shall become effective unless in writing. In the
event the Borrower rejects such proposal or fails to definitively respond to such proposal on or
before thirty (30) days prior to the related Purchase Date, the Borrower shall be deemed to have
rejected or failed to approve such proposal and the Bond shall be subject to mandatory tender
pursuant to this Section.

The agreement by the Purchaser to continue to hold the Bond shall be conditioned upon
the preparation, execution and delivery of documentation in form and substance satisfactory in
all respects to the Purchaser.

If the Purchaser agrees to hold the Bond during the new Interest Period, the interest rate
to be borne by the Bond shall be established by the Purchaser in accordance with Section 3.3(c)
and there shall be delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser an Opinion of Bond
Counsel to the effect that the establishment of such rate will not adversely affect the exclusion of
interest on the Bond from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

(b) Obligation to Purchase. In the event of any tender, the Borrower shall purchase
the Bond in whole at a purchase price of 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued
interest to the Purchase Date. Upon the purchase of the Bond, the Bond shall thereafter be
registered in the name of the Borrower or such other person or entity as the Borrower shall
designate, subject to the requirements set forth in paragraph (c) below, or, at the direction of the
Borrower, shall be canceled by the Bond Registrar. No such purchase of the Bond shall be
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deemed to be an extinguishment of the debt represented by the Bond unless the Bond is canceled
following such purchase.

(c) Remarketing. It is expressly acknowledged by the parties hereto that, in the event
the Bond is tendered for purchase on a Purchase Date, the Borrower may seek to remarket such
tendered Bond to one or more new Purchasers and may apply any proceeds thereof to the
payment of the purchase price of such tendered Bond; provided, however, that the Bond may
only be remarketed if (i) the interest rate to be borne by the Bond is established in accordance
with Section 3.3(c) hereof, (ii) there is delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower and each new
Purchaser an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the remarketing of the Bond to each
new Purchaser will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bond from gross income
for federal income tax purposes, (iii) each new Purchaser makes the representations set forth in
Section 2.3 hereof and executes and delivers an Investor Letter, (iv) the Borrower complies with
(A) all applicable rules and procedures of the Issuer and (B) all applicable state and federal
securities and other laws in connection with such remarketing and (v) the Purchaser shall have
received (A) 100% of the principal amount of such tendered Bond to be remarketed, plus accrued
interest thereon, and (B) payment and satisfaction in full has been made of all Obligations (as
defined in the Covenant Agreement) under the Covenant Agreement.

Section 3.5.  Redemption.

(a) Optional Redemption. The Bond shall be subject to optional redemption prior to
maturity, at the direction of the Borrower, in whole or in part (provided that the Bond may not be
redeemed in part if the principal amount remaining outstanding after such partial redemption
would not be an Authorized Denomination), on any date on or after November 1, 2025, selected
by the Borrower, upon not less than 10 days’ prior written notice to the Issuer, the Bond
Registrar, and the Purchaser (or such shorter time as agreed to by the Issuer and the Purchaser),
at a redemption price described in the schedule below:

Optional Redemption Date Redemption Price
November 1, 2025 thru October 31, 2026 103% of the par value
thereof
plus accrued interest
November 1, 2026 thru October 31, 2029 102% of the par value
thereof
plus accrued interest
November 1, 2029 thru October 31, 2032 101% of the par value
thereof
plus accrued interest
November 1, 2032 and thereafter 100% of the par value
thereof
plus accrued interest

Upon surrender of the Bond optionally redeemed in part, the Bond Registrar shall record
the principal amount so redeemed on Schedule 11 to the Bond and shall authenticate Schedule I,
and the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount of the Bond shall be reduced as shown on
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Schedule II. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, at no time shall the
unredeemed portion of the Bond be in a principal amount less than $100,000. Partial redemption
payments shall be allocated as credits to the mandatory sinking fund redemption payments
referenced in Schedule I hereto in inverse order of maturity.

(b) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Bond is subject to mandatory sinking
fund redemption in accordance with the schedule set forth in Schedule I attached hereto. Upon
the mandatory sinking fund redemption of the Bond, the Bond Registrar, upon confirmation that
the sinking fund redemption payment has been received by the Purchaser, shall record the
principal amount so redeemed on Schedule II to the Bond and shall authenticate Schedule I, and
the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount of the Bond shall be reduced as shown on
Schedule 1.

(c) Unremarketed Bonds. Unremarketed Bonds are subject to special mandatory
redemption on the Purchase Date at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest thereon at the Default Rate to but not including
the date of such redemption.

Section 3.6.  Execution; Limited Obligation. The Bond shall be executed on behalf of
the Issuer with the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor (or other authorized officer of the
Issuer) and shall have impressed or imprinted thereon the official seal of the Issuer or a facsimile
thereof and shall be attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the City Clerk. All
authorized facsimile signatures shall have the same force and effect as if manually signed. In
case any official whose signature or facsimile of whose signature shall appear on the Bond shall
cease 1o be such official before the delivery of the Bond, such signature or such facsimile shail
nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such official had remained in
office until delivery. The Bond may be signed on behalf of the Issuer by such persons who, at
the time of the execution of such Bond, are duly authorized or hold the appropriate office of the
Issuer, although on the date of the Bond such persons were not so authorized or did not hold such
offices.

The Bond, together with all principal and interest thereon and premium, if any, with
respect thereto, are special, limited obligations of the Issuer secured by this Agreement and shall
always be payable solely from amounts payable by the Borrower under this Agreement are and
shall always be a valid claim of the owner thereof only against the revenues and income derived
from this Agreement, which revenues and income shall be used for no other purpose than to pay
the principal installments of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bond, except as may be
otherwise expressly authorized in this Agreement.

The Bond and the obligation to pay principal and interest thereon and any premium with
respect thereto do not now and shall never constitute an indebtedness or an obligation of the
Issuer, within the purview of any constitutional or statutory limitation or provision or a charge
against the general credit or the taxing powers of the Issuer, but shall be payable solely from the
revenues and income derived from this Agreement. No owner of the Bond shall have the right to
compel the exercise of the taxing power of the Issuer to pay any principal installment of,
redemption premium, if any, or interest on the Bond.
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Notwithstanding any provision or obligation to the contrary set forth herein, no provision
of this Agreement shall be construed so as to give rise to a pecuniary liability of the Issuer or to
give rise to a charge upon the general credit of the Issuer, the liability of the Issuer hereunder
shall be limited to its interest in the Project, this Agreement, the Bond and all other related
documents and collateral and the lien of any judgment shall be restricted thereto. In the
performance of the agreements of the Issuer herein contained, any obligation it may incur for the
payment of money shall not be a debt of the Issuer, nor shall the Issuer be liable on any
obligation so incurred. The Issuer does not assume general liability for the repayment of the
bonds or for the costs, fees, penalties, taxes, interest, commissions, charges, insurance or any
other payments recited herein, and shall be obligated to pay the same only out of the amounts
payable by the Borrower hereunder. The Issuer shall not be required to do any act whatsoever or
exercise any diligence whatsoever to mitigate the damages to the Borrower if a default shall
occur hereunder.

No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest
on the Bond or for any claim based thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement
contained in this Agreement against any past, present or future member, officer, agent or
employee of the Issuer, or any incorporator, member, officer, employee, director or trustee of
any successor corporation, as such, either directly or through the Issuer or any successor
corporation, under any rule of law or equity, statute or constitution or by the enforcement of any
assessment or penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any such incorporator, member,
officer, employee, director, agent or trustee as such is hereby expressly waived and released as a
condition of and consideration for the execution of this Agreement and the issuance of the Bond.

Section 3.7.  Bond Register. The Bond may be presented at the office of the Bond
Registrar for registration, transfer and exchange. The Bond Registrar shall keep a register of the
Bond and of its transfer and exchange.

The Bond may be transferred only on the register maintained by the Bond Registrar.
Upon surrender for transfer of the Bond to the Bond Registrar, duly endorsed for transfer or
accompanied by an assignment duly executed by the holder or the holder’s attormey duly
authorized in writing, the Bond Registrar will authenticate a new Bond in an equal total principal
amount and registered in the name of the transferee.

The Issuer may treat the registered owner of the Bond as the absolute owner thereof for
all purposes, whether or not the Bond shall be overdue, and shall not be bound by any notice to
the contrary. All payments of or on account of the principal of and premium, if any, and the
interest on the Bond as herein provided shall be made only to or upon the written order of the
registered owner thereof or his legal representative, but such registration may be changed as
herein provided. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the
liability upon the Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

The Bond Registrar shall require the payment by the Purchaser requesting exchange or
transfer of any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid in respect of the exchange or
transfer, but shall not impose any other charge.
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Section 3.8.  Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bond. If the Bond is mutilated, lost,
stolen or destroyed, the Bond Registrar will authenticate a new Bond of the same denomination
if any mutilated Bond shall first be surrendered to the Bond Registrar, and if| in the case of any
lost, stolen or destroyed Bond, there shall first be furnished to the Bond Registrar evidence of
such loss, theft or destruction, together with a satisfactory indemnity to the Bond Registrar, the
Issuer and the Borrower. If the Bond has matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Bond, the Bond
Registrar may with the consent of the Borrower pay the Bond without requiring surrender of the
Bond (except in the case of a mutilated Bond) and make such requirements as the Bond Registrar
deems fit for its protection, including a lost instrument bond. The Issuer and the Bond Registrar
may charge the Borrower their customary fees and reasonable expenses in this connection.

Section 3.9.  Cancellation of Bond. Whenever the Bond is delivered to the Bond
Registrar for cancellation (upon payment, redemption or otherwise), or for transfer or
replacement pursuant to Section 3.7, 3.8 or 3.10, the Bond Registrar shall promptly cancel and
destroy the Bond in accordance with its customary procedures and issue a certificate of
destruction to the Borrower and the Issuer.

Section 3.10. Temporary Bond. Until a definitive Bond is ready for delivery, the Issuer
may execute and the Bond Registrar shall authenticate a temporary Bond substantially in the
form of the definitive Bond, with appropriate variations. The I[ssuer shall, without unreasonable
delay, prepare and the Bond Registrar shall authenticate a definitive Bond in exchange for the
temporary Bond. Such exchange shall be made by the Bond Registrar without charge to the
Purchaser.

Section 3.11.  Payment of Bond. Subject to the provisions of Section 7.2 hereof, the
Issuer shall promptly pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bond on the dates
and in the manner provided in the Bond, but solely and only from payments to be made by the
Borrower and available for such purpose hereunder, it being agreed and understood that the
Bond and interest thereon shall be a limited obligation of the Issuer which are not in any way a
general obligation of the Issuer nor payable in any manner from any other funds of the Issuer.

Section 3.12.  Further Assurances. To the extent permitted by law and at the expense of
the Borrower, the Issuer shall execute and deliver such further instruments, and do such further
acts, as the Purchaser may reasonably require for the better assuring, assigning and confirming to
the Purchaser the amounts assigned hereunder for the payment of the Bond.

Section 3.13. Tax Exemption. The Issuer covenants, to the extent within its control, to
comply with all requirements that must be satisfied in order for the interest to be paid on the
Bond to be excludible from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation. Toward that
end, the Issuer shall comply with and take all actions expressly required of it by the Tax
Agreement; provided, firther, subject to the limitations on its liability as stated herein, and to the
extent permitted by law, the Issuer covenants and agrees that it has not knowingly engaged and
will not knowingly engage in any activities, and that it has not knowingly taken and will not
knowingly take any action, which would result in the interest to be paid on the Bond to be
includible in the gross income of the holder thereof for purposes of federal income taxation;
provided, however, that the Issuer intends to comply with the foregoing undertakings solely
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Issuer to perform any of its agreements, whether express or implied, or any duty, liability or
obligation arising from or connected with this Agreement.

ARTICLE V,

BORROWER COVENANTS

Section 5.1.  Financing Statements. The Borrower, at its own expense, shall take all
necessary action to maintain and preserve all of the liens and security interests created by, and
granted pursuant to, this Agreement so long as any principal of, premium, if any, or interest on
the Bond remains unpaid. The Borrower shall, forthwith after the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and thereafter from time to time, cause this Agreement, including any amendments
thereof and supplements thereto, and any financing statements in respect thereof to be filed,
registered and recorded in such manner and in such places as may be required by law in order to
publish notice of and fully to perfect and protect such liens and security interests, and from time
to time shall perform or cause to be performed any other act as provided by law and shall execute
or cause to be executed any and all continuation statements and further instruments necessary for
such publication, perfection and protection. Except to the extent it is exempt therefrom, the
Borrower shall pay or cause to be paid all filing, registration and recording fees incident to such
filing, registration and recording, and all expenses incident to the preparation, execution and
acknowledgment of such instruments of further assurance, and all federal or State fees and other
similar fees, duties, imposts, assessments and charges arising out of or in connection with the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and such instruments of further assurance.

The Issuer shall have no responsibility for the preparation, filing or recording of any
instrument, document or financing statement or for the maintenance of any security interest
intended to be perfected thereby. The Issuer, to the extent permitted by law, at the expense of
the Borrower, shall execute such instruments provided to it by the Borrower as may be
reasonably necessary in connection with such filing or recording.

Section 5.2.  Borrower's Obligation with Respect to Exclusion of Interest Paid on the
Bond. (a) The Borrower will not take any action, omit to take any action or permit the taking or
omission of any action within its control (including, without limitation, making or permitting any
use of the proceeds of the Bond) if taking or omitting to take such action would result in the
revocation or modification of its status as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the
Code or would cause the interest on the Bond to be included in the gross income of the recipients
thereof for federal income tax purposes. Toward that end, the Borrower covenants that it will
comply with all provisions of the Tax Agreement. This provision shall control in case of conflict
or ambiguity with any other provision of this Agreement.

(b) Neither the Borrower nor any person related to it within the meaning of
1.150-1(e) of the United States Treasury Regulations and Section 145(b)(3) of the Code,
pursuant to an arrangement, formal or informal, shall purchase bonds of the Issuer (other than the
Bond) in an amount related to the total amount payable by the Borrower under and secured by
this Agreement.
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Section 5.3.  Maintenance of Corporate Existence and Tax Status. (a) Any dissolution,
liquidation, disposition, consolidation or merger of the Borrower shall be subject to the following
conditions:

(i) no Default or Event of Default exists hereunder and that no Default or
Event of Default will be caused by the dissolution, liquidation, disposition, consolidation
or merger,

(ii) the entity surviving the dissolution, liquidation, disposition, consolidation
or merger assumes (or, if the surviving entity is the Borrower, affinms) in writing and
without condition or qualification all of the obligations of the Borrower under each of the
Borrower Agreements;

(iii)  neither (A) the validity nor the enforceability of the Bond nor (B) any
agreements to which the Borrower is a party is adversely affected by the dissolution,
liquidation, disposition, consolidation or merger;

(iv)  (A) the exclusion of the interest on the Bond from gross income for
federal income tax purposes is not adversely affected by the dissolution, liquidation,
disposition, consolidation or merger, (B) the provisions of the Act and this Agreement are
complied with concerning the dissolution, liquidation, disposition, consolidation or
merger, and (C) the provisions of the Borrower Agreements are complied with
concerning the dissolution, liquidation, disposition, consolidation or merger;

(v)  the Project continues to be as described herein,

(vi)  any successor to the Borrower shall be qualified to do business in the State
and shall continue to be qualified to do business in the State throughout the term hereof;
and

{vii) the Issuer has executed a certificate acknowledging receipt and approval
of all documents, information and materials required by this Section 5.3.

As of the effective date of the dissolution, liquidation, disposition, consolidation or
merger, the Borrower (at its cost) shall fumish to the Issuer and the Purchaser (1) an Opinion of
Bond Counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to such parties, as to item (iv) above; (2) an
opinion of counsel (not objected to by the Issuer), in form and substance satisfactory to the
Issuer, as to the legal, valid and binding nature of items (ii) and (ii1) above; (3) a certificate of the
Borrower, in form and substance satisfactory to the Issuer, as to items (i), {v) and (vi); and (4) a
true and complete copy of the instrument of dissolution, liquidation, disposition, consolidation or
merger.

(b) The Borrower agrees, subject to the provisions in subsection (a) above, that (i) it
will at all times maintain its existence as a not for profit corporation organized under the laws of
the State; (ii) it will not take any action or permit any action to be taken by others within its
control which will alter, change or destroy its status as a not for profit corporation or its status as
a Tax-Exempt Organization; and (iii) it will not fail to take any action within its control to
preserve its status as a not for profit corporation or its status as a Tax-Exempt Organization.
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The Borrower further covenants that none of its revenues, income or profits, whether
realized or unrealized, will be distributed to any of its officers or trustees or inure to the benefit
of any private person, association or corporation, other than for the lawful corporate purposes of
the Borrower, including but not limited to the Borrower’s ability to pay to any person employed
by the Borrower a salary and otherwise to pay to any person, association or corporation the
reasonable value of any service or product performed for or supplied to the Borrower by such
person, association or corporation.

Section 5.4.  Required Reporting. This Agreement shall require the Borrower to keep,
or cause to be kept, proper books of records and accounts in which complete and accurate entries
shall be made of all funds and accounts established by or pursuant to this Agreement, which shatl
at all reasonable times be subject to inspection by the Issuer.

Section 5.5.  Taxes, Charges and Assessments. Subject to the provisions of Section 5.7
hereof, to the extent that the Borrower or its properties are or become liable to taxation, the
Borrower covenants and agrees to pay or cause to be paid (when the same shall become due and
payable) all lawful taxes, charges, assessments and other governmental levies against the
Borrower or its properties. If under applicable law any such tax, charge, fee, rate, imposition or
assessment may at the option of the taxpayer be paid in installments, the Borrower may exercise
such option.

Nothing contained in this Section 5.5 shall be deemed to constitute an admission by
either the Issuer or the Borrower that either the Issuer or the Borrower is liable for any tax,
charge, fee, rate, imposition or assessment.

Section 5.6.  Compliance with Laws; Tuxes and Assessments. Subject to the provisions
of Section 5.7 hereof, the Borrower will, through the term of this Agreement and at no expense
to the Issuer or the Purchaser, promptly comply or cause compliance with all applicable laws,
ordinances, orders, rules, regulations and requirements of duly constituted public authorities
which may be applicable to the Project or to the repair and alteration thereof, or to the use or
manner of use of the Project, including, but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act,
Illinois Accessibility Code, all federal, State and local environmental, health and safety laws,
rules, regulations and orders applicable to or pertaining to the Project, the Federal Worker
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act and, if applicable, the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act.

Section 5.7, Permitted Contests. The Borrower shall not be required to pay any tax,
charge, fee, rate, assessment or imposition required to be paid under Section 5.5 hereof, or to
comply with any law, ordinance, rule, order, decree, regulation or requirement referred to in
Section 5.6 hereof, so long as the Borrower shall in good faith and at its cost and expense contest
the amount or validity thereof, or take other appropriate action with respect thereto, in an
appropriate manner or by appropriate proceedings which shall operate during the pendency
thereof to prevent (i) the collection of or other realization upon the tax, fee, rate, assessment,
imposition or charge, so contested, (ii) the sale, forfeiture or loss of its Property or any part
thereof to satisfy the same or (iii) any materially adverse effect on the use, occupancy or
condition of the Borrower’s Property taken as a whole; provided that no such contest or action
shall subject the Issuer to any liability unless the Borrower properly indemnifies the Issuer; and
provided, further, that no such contest or action shall subject the Purchaser to any liability in any
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case. While any such matters are pending, the Borrower shall have the right to pay, remove or
cause to be discharged or marked exempt the tax, and assessment, imposition or charge being
contested. Each such contest shall be promptly prosecuted to final conclusion or settlement, and
the Borrower will pay, and save the Issuer and the Purchaser harmless against, all losses,
judgments, decrees and costs (including attomeys’ fees and expenses in connection therewith)
and will, promptly after the final determination or settlement of such contest or action, pay and
discharge the amounts which shall be levied, assessed or imposed or determined to be payable
therein, together with all penalties, fines, interests, costs and expenses thereon or in connection
therewith.

Section 5.8.  Maintenance of Project. The Borrower covenants to preserve and keep
the Project in good repair and order and will maintain the Project in a safe and sound condition,
and from time to time will make all repairs, replacements, renewals and additions deemed
necessary by the Borrower for the efficient functioning thereof; provided, however, that the
foregoing shall not prevent the Borrower from selling, removing or demolishing the Project, or
any portion thereof, not considered by the Borrower to be necessary or useful for the efficient
conduct of its activities, so long as such act or acts are consistent with and not in violation of any
terms, covenants or provisions of the Tax Agreement. The Borrower shall maintain reasonable
amounts of insurance coverage with respect to the Project and shall pay all costs of such
maintenance, repair and insurance.

Section 5.9.  Covenants to Purchaser. The Borrower is making certain covenants for
the benefit of the Purchaser (but not for the benefit of the Issuer or any other party), which
covenants are, set forth in Covenant Agreement. Subject to the provisions of Section 2.2(p) and
Section 9.12 hereof, the Borrower and the Purchaser may amend the Covenant Agreement
without the consent of any other party; provided, however, the Borrower shall provide the Issuer
with notice of any such amendment.

Section 5.10. Use of the Project. (a) The Borrower agrees that it will use the Project
only in furtherance of the lawful corporate purposes of the Borrower.

(b)  The Borrower further agrees that it will not use the Project or any part thereof
(i) for sectarian instruction or study or as a place of devotional activities or religious worship or
as a facility used primarily in connection with any part of the program of a school or department
of divinity for any religious denomination or the training of ministers, priests, rabbis or other
similar persons in the field of religion or (ii} in a manner which would violate the Establishment
of Religion Clause of the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America,
including the decisions of the United States Supreme Court interpreting the same or any
comparable provisions of the Constitution of the State, including the decisions of the Supreme
Court of the State interpreting the same. Notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, the
Borrower agrees that it will continue to comply with the restriction stated in the preceding
sentence on the sectarian use of the Project. To the extent required by law, the Borrower will
permit the Issuer and the Purchaser to inspect the Project upon reasonable notice and during
regular business hours solely in order to determine whether the Borrower has complied with the
provisions of this paragraph and such right of inspection shall survive the termination of this
Agreement.
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(c) The Borrower further agrees that it will not use the Project, or permit the Project
to be used, in such manner as would result in the loss of the exclusion from federal gross income
of the Purchaser or any Bondholder or former Bondholder of the interest paid on the Bond
otherwise afforded under Section 103(a) of the Code.

Section 5.11.  Application of Certain Gifis. The Borrower hereby recognizes that it may
receive from time to time gifts, grants, donations, bequests or other charitable contributions,
regardless of the form or the source thereof, the proceeds of which when received by the
Borrower are or will be restricted to, or are intended and segregated by the Borrower to be used
for, payment of Costs of the Project (hereinafter referred to as “Restricted Gifis™). Subject to the
provisions of the last two sentences of this Section, the Borrower hereby covenants and agrees
that, if and when the Borrower receives any Restricted Gifts prior to the delivery of the
Completion Certificate to the Issuer pursuant to this Agreement, the Borrower will transfer the
Excess (as hereinafter defined), if any, as soon as practicable after such Excess becomes
available to the Borrower for such purposes, to be used to pay Costs of the Project. The
Borrower acknowledges that, the Excess is subject to the restrictions contained in the Tax
Agreement with respect to amounts on deposit in any project fund, and such amount will
constitute “Gross Proceeds” (as defined in the Tax Agreement). The Borrower further covenants
and agrees that, if and when the Borrower receives any Restricted Gifts after delivery of the
Completion Certificate, the Borrower will apply the Excess to the optional or mandatory
redemption of the Bond in accordance with Section 3.5 hereof (the “Redemption”); provided,
however, that, in connection with such Redemption, the Borrower may deposit the Excess into a
separate, segregated account at a bank or trust company and invest such Excess at a rate not in
excess of the Yield (as defined in the Tax Agreement) on the Bond until such time as the Bond
may be redeemed in accordance with Section 3.5 hereof at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date. The amount of any
Restricted Gifts to be so transferred on any date to be used to pay the Costs of the Project prior to
delivery of the Completion Certificate or to be so deposited into such separate, segregated
account at a bank or trust company for the Redemption of Bonds after delivery of the
Completion Certificate shall be equal to the excess, if any, of (a) the aggregate amount of
Restricted Gifts received by the Borrower as of such date over (b) the aggregate amount of
moneys not obtained through the issuance of the Bond which the Borrower has theretofore
applied, or intends to apply based on then current estimates, to payment of Costs of the Project
(the “Excess”). The proceeds of any such Restricted Gifts need not be so applied until the
aggregate amount thereof held by the Borrower at any time and not previously so applied is at
least $100,000.

Section 5.12. Reserved.

Section 5.13. Completion Certificate. The Borrower will deliver to the Issuer and the
Purchaser within 90 days after the completion of the Project (or the portion thereof which is
being financed with the proceeds of the Bonds) a certificate of the Borrower certifying:

(a) that the Project (or portion thereof) has been completed,;

(b) that the Project (or portion thereof) has been completed in accordance with the
plans and specifications, the schedule, and the date of completion;
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(c) if any item was added, deleted or substituted from the Project, the average
reasonably expected economic life of the Project recalculated as follows:

(1) any item which was not originally listed in Exhibit C but for which was
constituted proper Cost of the Project shall be included in Exhibit C and the Borrower
shall specify the reasonably expected economic life to the Borrower of the additional
item, the date on which such additional item was placed in service, and the original cost
thereof;

(1)  any item which was originally listed on Exhibit C but which the Borrower
subsequently deleted from the Project pursuant to an amendment to the Project
Documents shall be deleted from the Project; and

(iif)  all other items shall be assumed to have the economic life and the cost
originally assigned to them on the Closing Date as reflected in the Tax Agreement;

(d) that the Project or portion thereof has been fully paid for and no claim or claims
exist against the Issuer or the Borrower or against such Project out of which a lien based on
furnishing labor or material exists or might, with the passage of time or the giving of notice,
ripen; provided, however, there may be excepted from the foregoing statement any claim or
claims out of which a lien exists or might, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, ripen
in the event that the Borrower intends to contest such claim or claims, in which event such claim
or claims shall be described; provided that sufficient funds are available to the Borrower through
enumerated bank loans, including letters of credit, or state or federal grants (as certified by the
Borrower) or other funds of the Borrower sufficient to make payment of the full amount which
might in any event be payable in order to satisfy such claim or claims in which event such claim
or claims shall be described.

ARTICLE VL

LIMITED OBLIGATION; NO RECOURSE TO ISSUER; INDEMNIFICATION

Section 6.1.  Limited Obligation; No Recourse. The obligations of the Issuer under this
Agreement are special, limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely out of the revenues and
income derived under this Agreement and as otherwise provided under this Agreement or the
Ordinance. The obligations of the Issuer hereunder shall not be deemed to constitute an
indebtedness or an obligation of the Issuer, the State or any political subdivision thereof within
the purview of any constitutional limitation or statutory provision, or a charge against the credit
or general taxing powers, if any, of any of them. Neither the Issuer, the Mayor, City Clerk, City
Treasurer, nor any alderman of the City Council, nor any member, director, officer, employee or
agent of the Issuer nor any person executing the Bond shall be liable personally for the Bond or
be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of the Bond. No
recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any of
the Bond or for any claim based thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement
contained in this Agreement against any past, present or future member, officer, agent or
employee of the Issuer, or any incorporator, member, officer, employee, director or trustee of
any successor corporation, as such, either directly or through the Issuer or any successor
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corporation, under any rule of law or equity, statute or constitution or by the enforcement of any
assessment or penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any such incorporator, member,
officer, employee, director, agent or trustee as such is hereby expressly waived and released as a
condition of and consideration for the execution of this Agreement and the issuance of the Bond.

Section 6.2.  Indemnification. (a) The Borrower will pay, and will protect, indemnify
and save the Issuer, the Mayor, City Clerk, City Treasurer, any alderman of the City Council,
and its past, present and future members, officers, directors, employees, agents, successor,
assigns and any other person, if any, who “controls” the Issuer, as that term is defined in
Section 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Issuer and the other listed persons,
collectively referred to as, the “Indemnified Persons™), harmless from and against any and all
liabilities, losses, damages, taxes, penalties, costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and
expenses of the Issuer), causes of action, suits, proceedings, claims, demands, tax reviews,
investigations and judgments of whatsoever kind and nature (including, but not limited to, those
arising or resulting from any injury to or death of any person or damage to property) arising from
or in any manner directly or indirectly growing out of or connected with (i} the use, financing,
non-use, condition or occupancy of the Project, any repairs, construction, alterations, renovation,
relocation, remodeling and equipping thereof or thereto or the condition thereof, including
adjoining sidewalks, streets or alleys and any equipment or facilities at any time located on or
connected with the Project or used in connection therewith but which are not the result of the
gross negligence of the Issuer; (ii) a violation of any agreement, warranty, covenant or condition
of the Borrower set forth in this Agreement or any related document; (iii) a violation of any
contract, agreement or restriction by the Borrower relating to the Project; (iv) violation of any
law, ordinance, rules, regulation or court order affecting the Project or the ownership, occupancy
or use thereof or the Bond or use of the proceeds thereof; (v} a violation of any law, ordinance,
rule, regulation or court order relating to the sale of the Bond; (vi) any statement or information
concerning the Borrower, any of its officers and members, its operations or financial condition
generally or the Project, contained in any document or supplement or amendment thereto
furnished to the Issuer or the Purchaser, that is untrue or incorrect in any material respect, and
any omission from such document of any statement or information which should be contained
therein for the purpose for which the same is to be used or which is necessary to make the
statements therein concerning the Borrower, any of its officers and members and the Project not
misleading in any material respect, provided that such document or supplement or amendment
has been approved by the Borrower; and (vii) the acceptance or administration of this
Agreement, including without limitation the enforcement of any remedies under this Agreement
or any related document.

In case any claim shall be made or any action shall be brought against one or more of the
Indemnified Persons in respect of which indemnity can be sought against the Borrower pursuant
to the preceding paragraph, the Indemnified Person seeking indemnity shall promptly notify the
Borrower, in writing, and the Borrower shall promptly assume the defense thereof, including the
employment of counsel chosen by the Borrower and approved by the Issuer (provided that such
approval by the Issuer shall not be unreasonably withheld), the payment of all expenses and the
right to negotiate and consent to settlement. If any Indemnified Person is advised in a written
opinion of counsel that there may be legal defenses available to such Indemnified Person which
are adverse to or in conflict with those available to the Borrower or that the legal defense of such
Indemnified Person should be handled by separate counsel, the Borrower shall not have the right
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to assume the defense of such Indemnified Person, but the Borrower shall be responsible for the
reasonable fees and expenses of counsel retained by such Indemnified Person in assuming its
own defense, and provided also that, if the Borrower shall have failed to assume the defense of
such action or to retain counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer within a reasonable time
after notice of the commencement of such action, the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel
retained by the Indemnified Person shall be paid by the Borrower. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any one or more of the Indemnified Persons shall have the right to employ separate
counsel with respect to any such claim or in any such action and to participate in the defense
thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be paid by such Indemnified Person
unless the employment of such counsel has been specifically authorized by the Borrower or
unless the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence are applicable. The Borrower shall
not be liable for any settlement of any such action affected without the consent of the Borrower,
but if settled with the consent of the Borrower or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff in
any such action with or without consent, the Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the
Indemnified Person from and against any loss, liability or expense by reason of such settlement
or judgment.

The Borrower shall also indemnify the Issuer and such Indemnified Persons for all
reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable counsel fees, incurred in (i) enforcing any
obligation of the Borrower under this Agreement or any related document, (ii) taking any action
requested by the Borrower, (iii) taking any action required by this Agreement or any related
document, or (iv) taking any action considered necessary by the Issuer and which is authorized
by this Agreement or any related document. If the Issuer is to take any action under this
Agreement or any other instrument executed in connection herewith for the benefit of the
Borrower, it will do so if and only if (i) the Issuer is a necessary party to any such action or
proceeding, and (ii) the Issuer has received specific written direction from the Borrower, as
required hereunder or under any other instrument executed in connection herewith, as to the
action to be taken by the Issuer.

(b)  All amounts payable to the Issuer under this Section 6.2 shall be deemed to be
fees and expenses payable to the Issuer for the purposes of the provisions hereof. The Issuer and
its members, officers, agents, employees and their successors and assigns shall not be liable to
the Borrower or the Purchaser for any reason.

(c) Any provision of this Agreement or any other instrument or document executed
and delivered in connection therewith to the contrary notwithstanding, the Issuer retains the right
to (i) enforce any applicable federal or State law or regulation or Ordinance of the Issuer and
(i1) enforce any rights accorded to the Issuer by federal or State law or policy or procedure of the
[ssuer, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as an express or implied waiver thereof.

The obligation of the Borrower under this Section 6.2 shall survive any assignment or
termination of this Agreement.

Section 6.3.  Default by the Issuer; Limited Liability. Notwithstanding any provision or
obligation to the contrary set forth herein, no provision of this Agreement shall be construed so
as to give rise to a pecuniary liability of the Issuer or to give rise to a charge upon the general
credit of the Issuer, the liability of the Issuer hereunder shall be limited to its interest in the
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Project, this Agreement and all other related documents and collateral and the lien of any
judgment shall be restricted thereto. In the performance of the agreements of the Issuer herein
contained, any obligation it may incur for the payment of money shall not be a debt of the Issuer,
nor shall the Issuer be liable on any obligation so incurred. The Issuer does not assume general
liability for the repayment of the Bond or for the costs, fees, penalties, taxes, interest,
commissions, charges, insurance or any other payments recited herein, and shall be obligated to
pay the same only out of the amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder. The Issuer shall not
be required to do any act whatsoever or exercise any diligence whatsoever to mitigate the
damages to the Borrower if a default shall occur hereunder.

ARTICLE VIIL.

ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER

Section 7.1.  Assignment by Borrower. The rights of the Borrower under this
Agreement may be assigned to, and the obligations of the Borrower assumed by, another party in
whole or in part, but only with the prior written consent of the Purchaser and the Issuer, the
Issuer’s consent not to be unreasonably withheld. No such assignment will be made, however,
unless the Borrower causes there to be delivered to the Purchaser and the Issuer an Opinion of
Bond Counsel to the effect that such assignment will not cause interest on the Bond to be
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.

Section 7.2, Assignment by Issuer. As security for the payment of the Bond, the Issuer
hereby assigns and pledges to the Purchaser all of its right, title and interest in and to this
Agreement, including the right to receive payments hereunder (except pursuant to its Unassigned
Rights, including, without limitation, the right to receive payment of expenses, fees,
indemnification and the rights to make determinations and receive notices, as herein provided),
and hereby directs the Borrower to make said payments directly to the Purchaser. The Borrower
herewith assents to such assignment and pledge and will make payments directly to the
Purchaser without withholding, defense or set off by reason of any dispute between the Borrower
and the Issuer or Purchaser, and hereby agrees that its obligation to make payments hereunder
and to perform its other agreements contained herein are absolute and unconditional.

Section 7.3.  Transfer of Bond. The Bond may be transferred by the Purchaser in whole
or in part subject to (a) compliance with the terms of the Investor Letter executed and delivered
by the Purchaser on the Closing Date and Section 9.13(b) of the Covenant Agreement, (b) the
execution and delivery by any new registered owner of a new Investor Letter and (c) any such
new registered owner making the representations set forth in Section 2.3 hereof. If the Bond is
transferred in part, the parties hereto acknowledge that it may be necessary to amend this
Agreement and the form of the Bond to recognize that there are multiple registered owners and
to affect the role of an agent or majority bondholder for such registered owners.

ARTICLE VIIL

EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 8.1.  Events of Default. An “Event of Default” is any of the following:
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(a) There is a failure to make due and punctual payment of any interest on the Bond
on the date on which the same is due.

(b) There is a failure to make due and punctual payment of principal of or premium,
if any, on the Bond on the date on which the same is due, at maturity, upon acceleration, tender
or redemption or otherwise.

(c) There is a failure to make the due and punctual payment of purchase price for the
Bond on any Purchase Date on which the same is due.

(d)  The Issuer fails to perform any of its agreements in this Agreement or the Bond
(except a failure that results in an Event of Default under clause (a), (b) or (c) above) and to
remedy such default within 30 days after the earlier to occur of (i) written notice thereof from
the Purchaser or the Borrower to the Issuer or (ii) the date on which the Issuer has actual
knowledge thereof, unless the nature of the default is such that it cannot be remedied within the
thirty-day period and the Issuer has instituted corrective action within a period of time
reasonably agreed to by the Purchaser and diligently pursues such action until the default is
remedied.

(e) An “event of default” (as described in the Covenant Agreement) has occurred and
is continuing under the Covenant Agreement (after the expiration of any applicable cure period).

H The Borrower fails to perform any of its agreements in this Agreement (except for
a failure that results in an Event of Default under clause (a), (b) or (c) of this Section) and to
remedy such default within 30 days after the earlier to occur of (i) written notice thereof from the
Purchaser or the Issuer to the Borrower or (ii} the date on which the Borrower has actual
knowledge thercof.

(g) The Borrower pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law (as
defined below) (i) commences a voluntary case, (ii) consents to the entry of an order for relief
against it in an involuntary case, (iii) consents to the appointment of a Custodian (as defined
below) for the Borrower, or any substantial part of its Property or (iv) makes a general
assignment for the benefit of its creditors.

(h) A petition is filed with respect to the Borrower by a Person other than the
Borrower under any Bankruptcy Law and is not dismissed within 60 days after such filing.

(1) A court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any Bankruptcy
Law that (i) is for relief against the Borrower in an involuntary case, (ii) appoints a Custodian for
the Borrower or any substantial part of its Property or (iii) orders the winding up or liquidation of
the Borrower.

m Any representation or warranty made by the Borrower herein or in any statement
or certificate furmished to the Issuer or the Purchaser of the Bond in connection with the sale
thereof or furnished by the Borrower pursuant hereto is found to have been untrue in any
material respect as of the date of the issuance or making thereof.
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(k)  Default under any instrument under which there may be issued or by which there
may be secured or evidenced any indebtedness of the Borrower if that default either (i) is caused
by a failure to make any payment when due on such debt, after giving effect to any applicable
grace periods or (ii) results in the acceleration, or would permit the acceleration of, of such debt
prior to its express maturity.

)] Any final judgment or judgments which are not paid in full by insurance, with
written acknowledgement of such coverage having been provided by the provider of such
insurance coverage to the Purchaser, shall be entered or filed against the Borrower or against any
of its Property and remains unsatisfied, unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of 30 days.

(m)  An event of default occurs and is continuing under any Borrower Agreement and
the Bond (after the expiration of any applicable cure period).

(n) An event of default occurs and is continuing under any other agreement under
which the Purchaser or any of its subsidiaries, affiliates or successors loans money, directly or
indirectly, via conventional loan or a municipal bond purchase or otherwise, to the Borrower, or
under any agreement or instrument securing such a loan (after the expiration of any applicable
cure period).

As used in this Section 8.1, the term “Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11 of the United
States Code or any similar federal or State law for the relief of debtors, and the term *“Custodian™
means any receiver, lrustee, assignee, liquidator, custodian or similar official under any
Bankruptcy Law.

Section 8.2.  Acceleration. If any Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the
Purchaser, by written notice to the Issuer and the Borrower (except for an Event of Default under
Section 8.1(g), (h) or (i) hereof, for which a declaration can be made without any notice), may
declare the principal of, premium if any, and accrued interest on the Bond to be due and payable
immediately, and such principal, premium, if any, and interest shall thereupon become and be
immediately due and payable.

The Purchaser may rescind an acceleration and its consequences if all existing Events of
Default have been cured or waived, so long as such rescission does not conflict with any
Judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 8.3.  Other Remedies. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the
Purchaser may pursue any available remedy by proceeding at law or in equity to collect the
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bond or to enforce the performance of any
provision of the Bond or this Agreement; provided, however, that payments of principal of,
premium, if any, or interest on the Bond are payable by the Issuer solely from payments to be
made by the Borrower and available for such purpose as described hereunder.

A delay or omission by the Purchaser in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon an
Event of Default shall not impair the right or remedy or constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in

the Event of Default. No remedy is exclusive of any other remedy. All available remedies are
cumulative.
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Section 8.4.  Waiver of Past Defaults. The Purchaser, by written notice to the Issuer
and the Borrower, may waive an existing Event of Default and its consequences. If the
Purchaser waives an Event of Default, it shall be deemed to no longer be continuing, but no such
waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other Event of Default or impair any right consequent
to it.

Section 8.5.  Purchaser May File Proofs of Claim. The Purchaser may file such proofs
of claim and other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the
claims of the Purchaser allowed in any judicial proceedings relative to the Borrower, its creditors
or its Property and, unless prohibited by law or applicable regulations, may vote on behalf of the
holder in any election of a trustee in bankruptcy or other person performing similar functions.

Section 8.6.  Attorneys' Fees and Expenses. If the Borrower should default under any
provision of this Agreement and the Issuer or the Purchaser should employ attorneys or incur
other expenses for the collection of the payments due under this Agreement, the Borrower shall,
on demand, pay to the Issuer or the Purchaser, as the case may be, the reasonable fees of such
attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred by the Issuer or the Purchaser, as the
case may be.

Section 8.7.  No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to
the Issuer or the Purchaser is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies,
but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other
remedy given under this Agreement, now or hereafter existing, at law or in equity or by statute.
No delay or omission to exercise any right or power and accruing upon any Event of Default
hereunder shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but
any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed
expedient.

ARTICLE IX.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.1.  Notices. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice,
request, complaint, demand, communication or other paper shall be sufficiently given and shall
be deemed given when the same is (a) deposited in the United States mail and sent by first class
mail, postage prepaid, or (b) delivered, in each case to the parties at the addresses set forth below
or at such other address as a party may designate by notice to the other parties:

[f to the Issuer by first class mail: City of Canton
2 North Main Street
Canton, Illinois 61520
Attention: Mayor

With a copy to: City of Canton
2 North Main Street

Canton, Illinois 61520
Attention: City Attorney
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If to the Borrower: Graham Hospital Association
210 West Walnut Street
Canton, Illinois 61520
Attention: Robert G. Senneff, President &
Chief Executive Officer
Telephone: (309) 649-5175
Email: rsenneffi@’grahamhospital.org

With a copy to: Graham Hospital Association
210 West Walnut Street
Canton, Illinois 61520
Attention: Julie Reeder, Chief Financial
Officer
Telephone: (309) 649-5240
Email: jreeder(@grahamhospital.org

If to the Purchaser: Clayton Holdings, LLC
1000 Walnut Street, BB17-5
Kansas City, Missouri 64106
Attention: Anna Jo Davis
Telephone: (816) 234-8949
Email: annajo.davisi@commercebank.com

Any addressee may designate additional or different addresses for purposes of this
Section.

Section 9.2.  Binding Effect. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be
binding upon the Issuer, the Borrower, the Purchaser and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 9.3, Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be
unenforceable at any time, that shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement or the
enforceability of that provision at any other time.

Section 9.4.  Amendments. Except as otherwise provided herein, after the issuance of
the Bond, this Agreement may not be effectively amended or terminated without the written
consent of the parties hereto.

Section 9.5.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed exclusively by and
construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State applicable to contracts to be wholly
performed therein.

TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAWS, EACH OF THE PARTIES
HERETO HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE
OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY, INCLUDING CONTRACT
CLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS, AND ALL OTHER COMMON
LAW OR STATUTORY CLAIMS.
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Section 9.6.  Captions; References fo Sections. The captions in this Agreement are for
convenience only and do not define or limit the scope or intent of any provisions or Sections of
this Agreement. References to Articles and Sections are to the Articles and Sections of this
Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires.

Section 9.7.  Complete Agreement. This Agreement represents the entire agreement
among the Issuer, the Purchaser and the Borrower with respect to its subject matter. Certain tax
matters relating to the Bond and the use of the Project are set forth in the Tax Agreement. The
Borrower has made certain additional covenants to the Purchaser as set forth in the Covenant
Agreement.

Section 9.8.  Term of this Agreement; Discharge. This Agreement shall be in full force
and effect from the date hereof, and shall continue in effect until the payment in full of all
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bond; all fees, charges, indemnities and
expenses of the Issuer, the Bond Registrar and the Purchaser have been fully paid or provision
made for such payment (the payment of which fees, charges, indemnities and expenses shall be
evidenced by a written certification of the Borrower that it has fully paid or provided for all such
fees, charges, indemnities and expenses), and all other amounts due hereunder have been duly
paid or provision made for such payment. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
Bond may be deemed paid in full in advance of the actual payment thereof if an irrevocable
escrow is funded for such purpose in form and substance satisfactory to the Purchaser. All
representations, certifications and covenants by the Borrower as to the indemnification of various
parties and the payment of fees and expenses of the Issuer and the Bond Registrar as described in
Section 3.15 hereof, and all matters affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bond shail survive the
termination of this Agreement.

Upon the termination of this Agreement as aforesaid, all amounts on deposit in any funds
or accounts created hereunder (if any) shall be paid in the following order: (a) to the Purchaser,
to the extent any amounts remain owing to the Purchaser hereunder or under the Covenant
Agreement, and shall be credited against any indebtedness evidenced by the Bond or the other
Borrower Agreements; (b) to the Issuer, to the extent any amounts remain owing to the Issuer
hereunder; and (c) to the Borrower.

Section 9.9.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts,
each one of which shall constitute an original and all of which collectively shall constitute but
one instrument,

Section 9.10.  Payments/Actions Due on Non-Business Days. 1f any date for the payment
of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bond, or the taking of any other action
required or permitted to be taken hereunder, is not a Business Day, then such payment shall be
due, or such action shall or may be taken, as the case may be, on the first Business Day
thereafter.

Section 9.11. No Warranty by Issuer or Purchaser. THE BORROWER RECOGNIZES
THAT THE ISSUER AND THE PURCHASER EACH HAS NOT MADE AN INSPECTION
OF THE PROJECT OR OF ANY FIXTURE OR OTHER ITEM CONSTITUTING A
PORTION THEREOF, AND THE ISSUER AND THE PURCHASER EACH MAKES NO
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WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED OR OTHERWISE, WITH
RESPECT TO THE SAME OR THE LOCATION, USE, DESCRIPTION, DESIGN,
MERCHANTABILITY, CONDITION, WORKMANSHIP, OR FITNESS, SUITABILITY OR
USE FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, CONDITION OR DURABILITY THEREOF.
THE BORROWER FURTHER RECOGNIZES THAT THE ISSUER AND THE PURCHASER
EACH HAS NO TITLE INTEREST TO ANY PART OF THE PROJECT AND THAT THE
ISSUER AND THE PURCHASER EACH MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND AS TO THE BORROWER’S TITLE THERETO OR
OWNERSHIP THEREOF OR OTHERWISE, IT BEING AGREED THAT ALL RISKS
INCIDENT THERETO ARE TO BE BORNE BY THE BORROWER. IN THE EVENT OF
ANY DEFECT OR DEFICIENCY OF ANY NATURE IN THE PROJECT OR ANY FIXTURE
OR OTHER ITEM CONSTITUTING A PORTION THEREOF, WHETHER PATENT OR
LATENT, NEITHER THE ISSUER NOR THE PURCHASER SHALL HAVE ANY
RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY WITH RESPECT THERETO. THE PROVISIONS OF
THIS SECTION HAVE BEEN NEGOTIATED AND ARE INTENDED TO BE A COMPLETE
EXCLUSION AND NEGATION OF ANY WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS BY
THE ISSUER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECT OR ANY
FIXTURE OR OTHER ITEM CONSTITUTING A PORTION THEREOF, WHETHER
ARISING PURSUANT TO THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE OF THE STATE OR
ANOTHER LAW NOW OR HEREAFTER IN EFFECT OR OTHERWISE.

Section 9.12.  Covenunt Agreement. The Issuer hereby acknowledges that it understands
that the Purchaser and the Borrower are parties to the Covenant Agreement,

The Borrower hereby acknowledges that in the Tax Agreement it has covenanted that it
will not take any action, omit to take any action or permit the taking or omission of any action
within its control (including, without limitation, making or permitting any use of the Bond
Proceeds) if taking, permitting or omitting to take such action would cause the Bonds to be
arbitrage bonds within the meaning of the Code or would otherwise cause the interest on the
Bonds to be included in the gross income of the recipients thereof for federal income tax
purposes.
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In Witness Whereof, the Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser have caused this Bond
and Loan Agreement to be executed in their respective corporate names as of the date first above
written.

CITY OF CANTON, FULTON COUNTY,

ILLINOIS
By:
Its: ayor
[SEAL]
Attest:
|
By: s
Its:

GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, an
Illinois not-for-profit corporation

By: )
Its: President/Chief Executive Officer

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, LLC

Signature Page to
Bond and Loan Agreement
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In Witness Whereof, the Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser have caused this Bond
and Loan Agreement to be executed in their respective corporate names as of the date first above
written.

CITY OF CANTON, FULTON COUNTY,

ILLINOIS
By: S
Its:  Mayor

[SEAL]

Attest:

By:

Its:  City Clerk

GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, an
Illinois not- corgofation

By:
Its: President/Chief Executive Officer

CLAYTON HOLDINGS, LL.C

By:
Its:

Sigmature Page to
Bond and Loan Agreement
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In Witness Whereof, the Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser have caused this Bond
and Loan Agreement to be executed in their respective corporate names as of the date first above
written.

CITY OF CANTON, FULTON COUNTY,

ILLINOIS
By:
Its:  Mayor
[SEAL]
Attest:
By:

Its:  City Clerk

GRAHAM HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, an
Illinois not-for-profit corporation

By:
Its: President/Chief Executive Officer

CLAYTON HO

By:
Its:

Signature Page to
Bond and Loan Agreement
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Attachment 33

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we hereunto affix our signatures and the seal of the Bond Registrar,
this | 5thday of May , 2024,

ZIONS BANCORPORATION, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION

Chicago, lllinois

Its V)
Aftest:

-y

s Seapr U Psipn¥, TS Rl DiweSipn

{SEAL OF BOND REGISTRAR)

a}; {ﬁ&r j.’imamv'm: —

[CERTIFICATE OF BOND REGISTRAR]
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Attachment 35

Financial Viability Ratios have been calculated for Graham Hospital Association and are included as page
2 of this Attachment.

As documented in the ratios provided on page 2 of this Attachment, Graham Hospital Association is in
compliance with the following Financial Viability Ratios as described in 77 Ill. Administrative Code
1120.1130 (c) : Percent Debt to Total Capitalization, Projected Debt Service Coverage, Days Cash on
Hand and Cushion Ratio.

Although Graham Hospital’s Audited Financial statements indicate that our long-term investments are
of sufficient size to meet the hospital’s debt obligations and to ensure that Graham Hospital Association
will not default, we have provided a variance for the two Financial Viability Ratios that fail short of the
Administrative Code requirements. This variance can be found on page 3 of this Attachment.

Attachment 35-Page 1 of 8
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Attachment 35

. o 2021 2022 2023
Current Ratio 1.49 1.56 1.19
Current Assets S 28,514,198 | S 26,905,342 | S 24,082,034
Current Liahilities S 19,100,173 | S 17,244,907 | & 20,313,476
'Net Margin Percentage 3.5% 3.0% 1.1%
Net Income S 3,440,257 | $ 3,158,962 | 1,236,834
Net Revenue S 98,844,232 | $ 104,989,766 | $ 113,504,675

| Percent Debt to Total Capitalization 27.8% 28.2% 29.6%
Aggregate Indebtedness $ 59,311,283 | $ 57,138991 |5 67,532,935
Unrestricted Net Assets plus Aggregate Debt | $ 213,065,909 | § 202,834,078 | § 228,365,566

Projected Debt Service Coverage il 360 ER[ 290

Income Available for Debt Services 5 10,058,352 |$ 22,711,779 | $ 13,319_!_5,_2_3_55__'

Debt Service Requirements S 2,792,058 [ S 3,096,454 | § 4,620,320 |
Days Cash on Hand T 5011 4268 388.7
Cash & Investments $ 123,180,000 | $ 112,144,000 | S 114,282,577
Average Daily Expense S 245841 |S 262,753 | $ 293,981
Cushion Ratio 39.08 29.58 25.72
Cash & Investments 5 128,317,701 S 111,799,179 | § 114,282,577
Principal Payments $ 1837661 | S 2,195,562 | 5 2,286,604
Interest Expense ] 1,446,067 | 5 1,583,760 | 5 2,157,040

Attachment 35-Page 2 of 8



Attachment 35

@@G RAH A M Phone (309)847-5240
G g HEALTH SYSTEM o o

Debra Savage

Health Facilities and Services Review Board
525 West Jefferson Street, Floor 2
Springfield, IL 62761

Re: Graham Hospital Association’s Ambulatory Surgery Center
Administrative Code Section 77 IIl. 1120.130 - Financial Varlance

Ms. Savage:

The undersigned, as an authorized representative of Graham Hospital Association, in accordance with Administrative
Code 1120.130, attest that the organization Is responsible for assuming all debt related to the proposed Ambulatory
Surgery Center.

i also certify that we continually meet the covenants for our outstanding debt and provide quarterly complfance
certificates validating that our ratios are in line with covenant requirements. A copy our most recent debt covenant
compliance certificate, with our reguired ratios, is provided immediately following this variance certification.

Sinc A

I

Robert G. Senneff
President & CEQ
Graham Hospital Association

rsenneff@grahamhospital.org
{309)647-5240

oo

Graham Hospital - Graham Medical Group - Graham Weliness Center
Graham Home Medlcal Equipment - Graham School of Nursing - Graham Foundation

Attachment 35-Page 3 0of 8
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Attachment 35

Graham Hospital Association
Compliance Calculations
For Continuing Covenant Agreement Dated November 1, 2015

Calculations as of June-24

A Section 6.29(a) (Asset Majntenance)

1 Unrestricted and Temporarily Restricted Cash and
2 Indebtedness of the Borrower
3 Calculated Ratio
4 Ratio of Line Al mustbe at least
5 Borrower in compliance {indicate yes or no)
B, i rvi v Rati
1 Income Available for Debt Service
2 Debt service Requirements for the four fiscal quarters of the
3 Debt Service Coverage Ratio
4 Line B3 must be greater than:
5 Borrower in compliance {indicate yes or ng)

c. Section 6,29 (c)Debt to Capitalization Ratio)

1 Aggregate indebtedness

2 Unrestricted Net Assets plus Aggregate Debt
3 Debt to Capitalization Ratio

4 Ratio must not be greater than

5 Borrower in compliance {indicate yes or no)

Y

$ 125,525,938
S 76,474,224
1.64
1.00

YES

] 8,546,151

5 4,762,089
1.79
1.25

YES

$ 76,474,224
$ 248,635,962
0.31
0.50

YES

Attachment 35-Page 4 of 8



A. Reasonableness of Financing Arrangements

@5) G RA H A M Phone(309)847-5240
©§ HEALTH SYSTEM -

2o www grahamhE ety

Debra Savage

Health Facilities and Services Review Board
525 West tefferson Street, Floor 2
Springfield, IL 62761

Re: Graham Hospital Association’s Ambulatory Surgery Center
Administrative Code Section 1X. 1120.140 - Economic Feasibility

Ms. Savage,

At its October 28, 2024 meeting, the Board of Trustees of Graham Hospital Association, approved the funding of up to
$4.0 million in cash and investments for construction and establishment of an Am butatory Surgery Center.

The availability of these funds can be found on the Consolidated Balance Sheet of Graham Hospital Assoctation for the
Year ending June 30, 2023. The funds are part of the $110.4 million of Internally Designated funds which appears on
page six of the 2023 Graham Hospital Association audit.

ncerel

Robert G, Senneff
President & CEQ
Graham Hospital Association

rsenneffi@grahamhospital.ong
{309)647-5240

Graham Hospital - Graham Medical Group + Graham Wetiness Center
Graham Homa Madica) Equig {+ Graham Scheool of Nursing - Graham Foundation

B. Conditions of Debt Financing

Attachment 35-Page 5 of 8
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©g HEALTH SYSTEM S s

Debra Savage

Health Facilities and Services Review Board
525 West Jefferson Street, Floor 2
Springfield, IL 62761

Re: Graham Hospital Association’s Ambulatory Surgery Center
Administrative Code Section IX, 1120.140 — Economic Feasibility

Ms. Savage:

The undersigned, as an authorized representative of Graham Hospital Association, in accordance with
Administrative Code 1120.140 and the requirements of Section 1X of the Certificate of Need Application, attest
that the sources of funding for this project will be a combination of the following:

¢ Bond Proceeds
» Cash and Investments

1 also certify that the selected form of debt financing is at the lowest net cost available at 4.46%, allowing us to
leave invested funds in the bank to continue to earn 6.0 % or more and grow our balance sheet to maintain
ratios that meet our debt covenants.

Sincerely,

Robert G. Senneff
President & CEO
Graham Hospital Association

rsenneff@grahamhospital.org

(309)647-5240
oo ]
Mo fH#

Graham Hospital - Graham Medical Group « Graham Wefiness Canter
Graham Home Medical Equipment « Graham School of Nursing - Graham Foundation

Attachment 35-Page 6 of 8



Graham Haospital Association — Serics 2024 Bond Issuance

Closing Memorandum \V VI U M

May 13, 2024 earITAL

Grahum Hospital Associations Scrics 2024 Bond Issuance wilk close and tund on May 15, 2024, The City
of Canlon, THinois will serve as the issuing authority. The City adopted the Bond Ordinance at their
regularty scheduled meeting on May 7, 2024,

"The par amount of the tax-exempt offering totals $11,322,000. Proceeds will be used to fund capital projects
at the hospital, support expansion eftorts in Galesburg, 1. (Knox County Resolution adopted on April 24,
2024), and pay cosls of issuance. Commerce Bank (d/b/a Clayton Holdings, LLC) will purchase the bonds,
The gll-in tax-cxcmpt rate for the bonds is 4.46% (detatled below),

Tax-Exompt Fixed Race Opdon Rates o1 of &/10/2024
Tax Exemnpt Allin Tax Exeropt
Term Factor Treawv Rate read FiredRate
SSven &) X 336%, =1 0% | = A46%

Following are the closing Sources & Uses, closing day dishursement schedule, and associated payment
insiructions;

Seties 2024 Bonds Sources & Uses Dish it at Closing

Bond Registrar Fee 3,000

Bond Proceeds for Project Uses 11,178,902  Munidpal Advisor B4,915
Bond Proceeds for Closing Costs 43,098  Bond Counsel 35,000
Total Uses 11,322,000 Bank Counscl 17,900
Bormower's Counsel 500

Uses BMO Counsel 1.500

PROJECT - MRI 687,556  Misc Closing Costs pox)
PROJECT - CT 2188456  Total Closing Dishursement 143,098

FROJECT - Galeshurg Building C - Phase 2 South
PROJECT - XIS . .

PROJECT - GMG Seminary / Grove Remodel 550,000

PROJLCY - GMG Seminary f Fremont Remodel 900,000
Bond Registar Fee 3,000
Municipal Advisor Fee #4915
Bond Caunsel 35,000
Bank Counsel 17,900
Borrowee’s Counse 500
BMO Counsel {Intercredior) 1,500
Misc. Closing Costs 283
Total Usas 11,322,000

www, viumcapital.com

Attachment 35-Page 7 of 8
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D. Projected Operating Costs per Case

Graham Health System
ASC Operating Cost per Case

Operating Costs:
Salaries S 1,651,400
Benefits 5 412,850
Supplies S 1,112,210
Total Cost 5 3,176,459
Cases 1,976
Cost per Case S 1,607.52

E. Total Effect of the Project on Capital Costs

Graham anticipates that there will be minimal capital spend (i.e. $5,000 or greater) when the
ASTC reaches target utilization as all supplies and equipment will be new and under warranty.

LR
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Attachment 36

1. The project’s material impact, if any, on the essential safety net services in the community, to
the extent that it is feasible for an applicant to have such knowledge.

Health Safety Net services have been defined as services provided to patients who are low-
income and otherwise vulnerable, including those uninsured and covered by Medicaid (Agency
for Healthcare Research and Quality, Public Health Services, U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services, “The Safety Net Monitoring Initiative,” AHRQ Pub. No. 03-P011, August 2003).

This project is for the establishment of a Non-Hospital Based Ambulatory Surgical Treatment
Center (ATSC) which will be located in Galesburg, lllinois which is in Knox County.

The primary purpose of this project is to improve access to care and the healthcare and well-
being of the project’s geographic service area (GSA) which consists of zip codes located within
17 miles of the proposed ASTC, as specified for health care facilities in Knox County in 77 Il
Administrative Code 1100.510(d){2}.

A list of these zip codes is found in Attachments 12 and 25, along with the number of inpatients
and observation patients at Graham Hospital Association during 2023. The patient origin data
indicated that nearly 81% of patients reside in the GSA.

A. Graham Health System’s Ambulatory Surgery Center is proposed to serve the same
patient population as Graham Hospital Association, as indicated by provider referral
letters for this facility, which can be found in Appendix A and discussed in Attachment
25. Additional provider referrals are included, from practitioners who performed
surgery on patients that reside within the GSA,

This project will increase essential safety net services in the community because
Graham’s Ambulatory Surgery Center is anticipated to have a similar payor mix to that
of Graham Hospital Association.

Graham Hospital Association’s payor mix is shown below:

molliah e M v bl

Percent of Revenue
Medicare 25.4%
| Medicaid ] e B5.0%
| Managed Care i i 47.6%|
Self Pay 1.9%

The Graham Health System Ambulatory Surgery Center is expected to provide a similar
percentage amount of charity care as Graham Hospital Association.

In 2023, the cost of charity care provided by Graham Hospital Association was 1.5% of
its net revenue and the charges for charity care it provided was 3.4% of its net revenue.

Attachment 36-Page 1 of 5



Attachment 36

2. The project’s impact on the ability of another provider or health care system to cross-
subsidize safety net services, if reasonably known to the applicant.

As discussed in the previous section, there are no existing ASTC facilities within the GSA.

The approval of the Graham Health System Ambulatory Surgery Center will have no impact on
the ability of another provider to cross-subsidize safety net services due to the population
within the GSA.

It is anticipated that this project will improve safety net services within the GSA.

3. How the discontinuation of a facility or service might impact the remaining safety net
providers in a given community, if reasonably known by the applicant,

This item is not applicable because Graham Hospital Association is not proposing to discontinue
any services or facilities.

Attachment 36-Page 2 of 5



Attachment 36

Charity Care Certification

g @G RAHAM Phone(309) 647-5240
2J HEALTH SYSTEM 0 e tem

wawgrahemheatsystenToy

Debra Savage

Health Facilities and Services Review Board
525 West Jefferson Street, Floor 2
Springfield, IL 62761

Ms. Savage:

Graham Hospital Assoclation certifies that it provided the following amounts of charity care for the three most recent
audited fiscal years prior to submission of this certificate of need application.

Charity Care Patients Served

2023 2022 2021

Inpatient 10 7 10

Outpatient 518 35 421

Total Patients | 528 322 431
Charity Care Cost

| 2023 2022 2021

inpatient! $ 314353 | § 422730 § 728,634

Qutpatient| $ 1211633 3 1318901 $ 2,263,631

Total Cost [s 1525906 | § 1,730,631 | § 2,090,265

The amounts of charity care have been calculated in accordance with the reporting requirements for charity care
reporting in the lllinois Community Benefits Act and are consistent with the information reported each year to the
lllinois Department of Public Health on the Annual Hospital Questionnaire and published in the Annual Hospital Profile
regarding "Inpatients and Qutpatients Served by Payor Source,” "Inpattent and Outpatient Net Revenue by Payor
Source,” and “Total Charity Care Expense.”

Sinc "

/

Robert G, Senneff

President & CEQ

Graham Hospltal Association
rsenne rahamhospital,

{309)647-5240
o ¥ Phdns)
N

Graham Hospllal - Graham Medical Group - Graham Wellness Centar
Graham Home Medical Equipment - Greham School of Nursing * Graham Foundation

Attachment 36-Page 3 of 5
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Attachment 36

Medicaid Certification

@\r@ G RA H A M Phone (309)647-5240
@3 HEALTH SYSTEM St v s

wwwgratamhealthayatem-org—

Debra Savage

Health Facilities and Services Review Board
525 West Jefferson Street, Floor 2
Springfield, IL 62761

Ms. Savage:

Graham Hospital Association certifies that it provided the following amounts of care to Medicaid patients for the three
most recent audited fiscal years prior to submission of this certificate of need application.

- Medicaid Patients Served : : -
- | (S w2 )
L Wpationt) . S0 55 =unen
) ___ Ovpstent w4 enans 6712
ITO!Q'PS"_B.'.I.G g Y] — 63,314  F— 57.830 .Efsu
Medicaid Cost

T w0z 2022 o 2021|

e inpatent| $ 2228220 | § 2048201 § 2,125,689
Outpatient| $ 7018932 | § 705200 § 5392133

(Total Revenue $ 10207152 | 91045915 8,517,822

The amounts of charity care have been calculated in accordance with the reporting requirements for charity care
reporting in the lllinois Community Benefits Act and are consistent with the information reported each year to the
Hlinois Department of Public Health on the Annual Hospital Guestionnaire and published in the Annual Hospital Profile
regarding “Inpatients and Outpatients Served by Payor Source,” “Inpatient and Outpatient Net Revenue by Payor
Source,” and “Total Charity Care Expense,”

T

Robert G. Senneff

President & CEQ

Graham Hospital Association
rsenneff@grahamhospital.o

(309)647-5240
o 4 Medur)
i

Graham Hospitat - Graham Medical Group - Graham Wellness Center
Graham Home Medical Equipment - Graham School of Nursing - Graham Foundation
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Attachment 36

1. Any information the applicant believes is directly relevant to safety net services, including
information regarding teaching, research and any other service.

The following has been provided in the Appendix of this Attachment as support of Graham
Hospital Association’s mission to provide charity care to our patients:

A copy of Graham Hospital Association’s 2023 Community Benefit plan.

A copy of Graham Hospital Association’s 2023 Schedule H. During 2023, Graham
Hospital Association provided $7.2 million dollars in net community benefit expense.

A copy of Graham Hospital Association’s Financial Assistance Policy.

Safety Net Information per PA 96-0031

CHARITY CARE

2023 2022 2021

Inpatient 10 7 10
Quipatient 518 315 421 |

Total Patients 528 a2 431
2023 2022 2021

Inpatient| $ 314,353 $ 422.730| $ 726,634

Outpatient| § 1,211,633 § 1,316,901 2,263,631

Total Cost $ 1,525,986 | $ 1,739,631 2,990,265

MEDICAID

2023 2022 2021

Inpatient 580 655 566

Outpatient 62,734 57,275 56,712

Total Patients 63,314 57,930 57,278
' 2023 2022 2021
Inpatient| $ 2,228,220 1 $ 2,048,291 2,125,689

Outpatient| $ 7,978,932 | § 7,056,290 | $ 6,392,133

Total Revenue 10,207,152 | § 9,104,581 8,517,822

215
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Appendix-Attachment 36

¢ Community Health Needs Assessment
¢ FY 2023 Schedule H — Community Benefit
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Early Childhood Adolescents Adults Seniors

INTRODUCTION

Graham Hospital was chartered in 1905. The hospital opened in 1909, in a facility
gifted by the Graham famity. The first surgery was performed in 1910 and by 1925,
the hospital was looking at its first facility expansion.

A second expansion in 1959 increased the number of available beds to 135 and in
1968, the hospital was expanded to accommodate 213 beds. In 1977, a three-story
expansion was built to house a new laboratory, surgery unit, and maternity suites
as well as the addition of new mechanical spaces and linen quarters. In 2005,
another addition was completed that now houses the Emergency Department
and Administrative offices.

During the 21 Century, primary and specialist access has been expanded

through the opening of new clinics in Canton, Farmington, Lewistown, Elmwood,
and Williamsfield.

In 2022, an era in which there are very few independent community hospitals
remaining, Graham Health System remains an independent health system
serving patients throughout central and western illinois, with operations in three
counties: Fulton, Mason, and Peoria.

Graham Health System | 5
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Today, Graham Hospital embraces the mission and values of the
Graham Health System:

—&———— — S
MISSION STATEMENT

% d To provide compassionate, quality health services, in a responsible

and charitable mannet, to the people and communities we serve,

e =i e RN S R v YL
/,5&.. S R P L PO PRI Lo i
VALUES
| Innovation - By innovation, we mean we continuously improve our
—— operations and environment by actively encouraging creative solutions,
Accountability - By accountability, we mean we accept responsibility
and follow through to completion.
ah Communication - By communication, we mean we openly share
information in all directions in a timely manner.
Q@ Compassion - By compassion, we mean we exhibit empathy and care
for others.
Eﬁﬁ Teamwork - By teamwork, we mean working together cohesively to
[ achieve our commaon goal,
b SR, G . — . &
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Provisions in the Affordable Care Act (ACA) require charitable hospitals to conduct
a Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA). The CHNA is a systematic
process involving the community to identify and analyze community health needs
as well as community assets and resources in order to plan and act upon priority
community health needs.

This assessment process results in a CHNA report which assists the hospitat

in planning, implementing, and evaluating hospital strategies and community
benefit activities. This Community Health Needs Assessment was developed

and conducted, in partnership with representatives from the community, by a
consultant provided through the Illincis Critical Access Hospital Network (ICAHN).

ICAHN is a not-for-profit 501(c)3) corporation established in 2003 for the purposes
of sharing resources, education, promoting operational efficiencies, and improving
healthcare services for member critical access and rural hospitals and their
communities.

ICAHN, with 57 member hospitals, is an independent network governed by a
nine-member board of directors, with standing and project development
committees facilitating the overall activities of the network. ICAHN continually
strives to strengthen the capacity and viability of its members and rural health
providers,

This Community Health Needs Assessment will serve as a guide for planning and
implementation of healthcare initiatives that will allow the hospital and its partners
to best serve the emerging health needs of Canton and the surrounding area.

The CHNA process was coordinated by the Executive Assistant.
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Two focus groups met to discuss the state of overall health and wellness in the
Graham Health System service area and to identify health concerns and needs in
the delivery of healthcare and health services in order to improve wellness and
reduce chronic illness for all residents. The focus groups included representation
of healthcare providers, community leaders, community services providers,
schools, a community college, faith-based organizations, local elected officials,
public health and others. Several members of these groups provide services

to underserved and unserved persons as all or part of their roles.

The findings of the focus groups were presented, along with secondary data
analyzed by the consultant, to a third group for identification and prioritization
of the significant health needs facing the community. The group consisted of
representatives of pubilic health, community leaders, healthcare providers,
and community services providers.

8 | Community Health Needs Assessment
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IDENTIFICATION AND PRIORITIZATION > ADDRESSING THE NEED

At the conclusion of their review and discussion, the identification and prioritization
group advanced the following needs:

Availability of Mental Improve Health Education Address [ssues
Health and Substance and Health Services in Related to
Abuse Services Local Schools Homelessnhess

1. The group first identified and prioritized availability of mental health
services, including:

- Increasing access to local treatment for mental health services of all
types for youth and adults

- Improving and increasing access to long-term mental healthcare
outside the community, including care for substance use disorders

- Providing community education about available local mental health
setvices

- Providing local access to a psychiatrist

2. The group nhext prioritized the need to improve health education and
health services in some local schools that are not currently sufficiently
staffed to fully meet these needs.

3. The third prioritized need was to address homelessness,
The results of the assessment process were then presented to senior staff at

Graham Health System through a facilitated discussion for development of a plan
to address the identified and prioritized needs.
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ADDRESSING THE NEED > CREATING THE PLAN
The group addressed the needs with the following strategies:

1. Availability of mental health services, including:

- Increasing access to local treatment for mental health services of all
types for youth and adults

- improving and increasing access to long-term mental healthcare
outside the community, including care for substance use disorders

- Providing community education about available local mental health
services

- Providing local access to a psychiatrist

¢ Graham Health System will add a mental health nurse practitioner
to the professional staff at the clinic.

* Graham Health System will collaborate with North Central Behavioral
Health Systems to provide a full-time, in-house crisis worker at
Graham Hospital in Canton.

* Graham Health System will seek to expand contacts for out-of-the-
area referrals for care for persons needing inpatient care for mental
health and substance use disorders.

» Graham Health System will explore telepsychiatry and tele-mental
health counseling.

» Graham Health System will collaborate with the Fulton County Health
Department and local schools to address mental health needs for
youth and community education about availability of local services
for youth, adult, and family.

2. Improve health education and health services in some local schools that are
not currently sufficiently staffed to fully meet these needs.

¢ Graham Health System will collaborate with Canton Union School
District to determine needs and develop solutions based on needs
of the schools.
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» Graham Health System will facilitate information-sharing opportunities
for school nurses working throughout the service area.

3. Address homelesshess

* Recognizing that this is a community-wide issue and beyond the
resources and services of the hospital, Graham Health System wiill
attempt to form and facilitate a community work-group of interested
agencies, local governments, schools, businesses, and individuals to

develop and implement strategies to explore the scope and address
this issue.

BACKGROUND

The Community Health Needs process is conducted every three years. In response
to issues identified and priotitized and the implementation strategy developed to

address them, Graham Health System has taken the following steps since the last
CHNA.

Priority #1:

Due to the prevalence of obesity among youth and adults in the service area,

the group identified and prioritized the need for nutrition education within the
community and also, access to healthy foods.

+ Over the last three years, the Pritikin program continued to grow and provide
nutrition education to enrolled patients

+ Graham Health System hired two dietitians to support patient nutritional
education needs in both the outpatient and inpatient settings.

» The Wellness Coordinator is working on new strategies, post-pandemic,
to expand the Community Wellness Program into new industries,
including youth programs.

e The Community Bike Program was successfully created with two bike locations
placed strategically in Canton. Further development of the program continues
as additional bike locations are added and marketing gams momentum.

Graham Health System | 11
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Priority #2:

The prevalence of diabetes in the service area and the need for physical health
and nutrition education for youth and adults and for access to reasonably priced
insulin and other diabetes medications for the underinsured and uninsured
were identified and prioritized.

» Overthe last three years, the Pritikin program continued to grow and
provide nutrition education to enrolied patients.

» Graham Health System hired two dietitians to support patient nutritional
education needs in both the outpatient and inpatient settings.

* In 2020, Graham Medical Group opened a Diabetic Clinic to focus on the
needs of its diabetic population. The clinic is currently directed by an APRN
(Advanced Practice Registered Nurse) who holds a certification in diabetic
education.

* In 2021, Graham Health System supported the education for an RN in the
Wound Clinic to complete her CDCES (Certified Diabetic Care and Education
Specialist) to offer enhanced support to diabetic patients.

* In 2021, Graham Health System invested in a new data management
program to offer more real-time reporting for Quality measures specific to
diabetic patients.

Priority #3:

The third prioritized heed was mental health including resources to address
suicide, local access to mental health providers at all levels, local mental health
support services, and local access to detoxification, rehabilitation, and recovery
for persons facing substance use disorders.

* In 2021, the Graham Medical Group started an Integrated Behavioral Health
Clinic to support the needs of its patients. The program focused on short-
term, goal-based therapy.

* Moving forward, Graham Health System is working to enhance the program
by having a PMHNP-led (Psychiatric Mental Health Nurse Practitioner) clinic
to offer more options for support and healing.

* In 2022, Graham Health System partnered with North Central Behavioral
Health Systems (NCBHS) to offer crisis intervention services in the
Emergency Department and inpatient setting.

12 | Community Health Needs Assessment

il



Priority #4:
The group next identified the need to address the number of local teen births.

* Accomplishments were severely constrained by the onset of COVID-19 in
March of 2020. Graham Health System reallocated the vast majority of its
financial and human resources to combat the epidemic. Graham Health
System worked in concert with both the Canton Union School District and
the Fulton County Health Department over an 18-20-month period on
education, vaccine acquisition, adult and pediatric vaccine clinics, etc.

Priority #5:

The group's final identified need was to increase local access for dentists
to serve underinsured and uninsured community members.

» Accomplishments were severely constrained by the onset of COVID-1g in
March of 2020. Graham Health System reallocated the vast majority of its
financial and human resources to combat the epidemic. Graham Health
System worked in concert with both the Connections Clinic and the Fulton
County Health Department over an 18-20-month period. Graham Health
System increased its financial suppotrt for the Connections Clinic. The clinic
has an account designated specifically for dental needs.

"l (T

l
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AREA SERVED BY GRAHAM HEALTH SYSTEM
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For the purpose of this CHNA, Graham Health System has defined its primary
service area and populations as the general population within the geographic
area in and surrounding Canton, defined in detail below. The hospital's patient
population includes all who receive care without regard to insurance coverage
or eligibility for assistance. Graham Health System's area of service is comprised
of around 1,175 square miles, with a population of approximately 47,242 people

and a population density of 92 people per square mile. The service area consists
of rural communities, inctuding:

Canton Avon Dunfermline Cuba [pava
Bushnell Banner Bryant Glasford Saint David
Lewistown Elmwood Table Grove Norris London Mills
Fairview Astoria Farmington Marietta Vermont

Ellisville  Williamsfield Havana Smithfield Liverpool
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Graham Health System Service Area - Key Facts

KEY FACTS EDUCATION
48,876 ;
Papulatian v :
Medlinn Ao :
v 35% "
$52,165 Her High Seboud Same College :
' Chplarea 36% 1 ?%
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Housahold Size Income Graduate of Dergrae i
BLISINESS EMPLOYMENT
L] & - - L] [ ] o,
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. - -
W W 28%
Blioe Crliag
1 ,6[}1 1 4,6‘{3 . . Unemployment
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Thie seealinit group: $200.000+ (3.0%})
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$15.000 - 324,997 10.2%  #2.3% -
$25,000 - 334,999 10.4%  +2.5% e
$35,000 - 449,999 15.2% +39% |
$50,000 - $74,999 209%  +54% P rsas |
$75.000 - $99.999 108%  -2.0% ol
$100,000 - $149,979 130%  -4.0% o=
$52,165 $27.510 $152,312 $150.000 . $197.999 42%  -37% —_—
$200.000+ 3.0% -6.0% I
Madian Household Pes Capita Income RMachian Net Worth

The infographic above highlights some of the key facts of that data and provides
a snapshot of the population served by Graham Health System. The data on

the following pages will take a deep dive into the demographics of Graham
Health System's service area and will offer insight to both the commonality and
complexity of the Graham Health System audience.

The average household size in the area, at 2.4, is lower than both Illinois (3.0}
and the U.S. (2.5) overall average. Median age is 44 years, which is higher than
itlinois and the U.S. benchmark. The highest level of education is high school
graduate, followed by some college.
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The area’s unemployment rate of 6.7% is higher than statewide and nationat
average. Also, as is the case in much of rural Illinois, median family household
income in the service area is lower than the statewide average.

Of the 38,873 population of the service area. 3,195 or 8.22% are veterans of the US.
Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, or the Coast Guard.

LOCAL IMPACT OF COVID

COVID-19 Confirmed Cases and Mortalities

The COVID-19 epidemic has overshadowed many local health functions since
March 2020. It has dramaticatly impacted overall health of the communities and
the delivery of healthcare and health-related services. The broad impact has been
seen throughout the communities, changing the way people work, shop, learn,
and communicate. This indicator reports incidence rate of confirmed COVID-19
cases per 100,000 population. Data for this indicator are updated daily and derived
from the Johns Hopkins University data feed. In the service area, there have been
9,930 total confirmed cases of COVID-19.

The rate of confirmed cases is 28,498.45 per 100,000 population, which is greater
than the state average of 23,.879.57. The mortality rate related to COVID-1g in the
service area of Graham Health System has generally exceeded the rate of the
state of lllinois. Data are current as of 2/28/2022.

Report Area Total Population Total Confirmed Cases
Fulton County, IL 34,844 9,930
Knox County, IL 50,112 12,454
McDoncugh County, IL 29,955 7,113
Masan County, IL 13,565 3,868
Peoria County, IL 180,621 45945 |——  Confirmed
Schuyler County, IL 6,907 1,937 COVID-19 Cases
Warren County, IL 17,032 3,967
Minois 12,741,080 3,031,048
United States 326,262 499 77,516,312
Note: This indicator is compared to the state average.
Data Source: Johns Hopkins University. Accessed via ESRI

Additionat data analysis by CARES. 2021, Source geography: County
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In the service area, there have been 124 total deaths among patients with

confirmed cases of the coronavirus disease COVID-1g. Data are current as
of 3/3/2022.

Report Area Total Population Total Deaths i
Fulten County, IL 34,844 124
Knox County, IL 50,112 207
McDonough County, IL 29,955 86 |
Mason County, iL 13,565 59
Peoria County, IL 180,621 501 COV'D.".lg
Mortalities
Schuyler County, IL 6,907 17
Warren County, IL 17,032 80
llinois 12,741,080 32,763
United States 326,262,499 931,115
Nole: This indicator is compared lo the state average.
Data Source: Johns Hopkins University. Accessed via ESRY,

Additionat data analysis by CARES. 2021. Source geography: County

COVID-19g Fully Vaccinated Adults

This indicator reports the percent of adults fully vaccinated for COVID-1g9.

Data is updated daily from the CDC API. Vaccine hesitancy is the percent of the
population estimated to be hesitant towards receiving a COVID-19 vaccine. The
Vaccine Coverage Index is a score of how challenging vaccine roll-out may be
in some communities compared to others. with values ranging from o (least
challenging) to 1 {most challenging). Data are current as of 3/3/2022.

Percent of Adults Fully Estimated Percent of Adults Hesitant About Vaccine

Report Area Last Update
Vaccinated Recelving COVID-19 Vaccination Coverage Index

Fulten County, IL 54.8% 9.65% 0.46 03/02/2022
Knox County, IL 67.8% 8.949% 0.48 03/02/2022
McDonough 51.9% 9.65% 0.54 03/02/2022
County, IL
Mason County, IL 62.8% 9.91% 0.20 03/02/2022
Peoria County, IL 71.1% 8.70% 0.25 03/02/2022
T;h"y'er County, 63.5% 9.91% 0.43 0370272022
Warren County, IL 58.09% 9.65% 0.38 03/02/2022
lhinois 74.8% 7.95% 0.37 03/02/2022

Mate: This indicator is compared to the stale average Data Source: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
and the National Center for Health Statistics, CDC GRASP, 2021,
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Data Collection Quantitative Quatitative Data Analysis

ESTABLISHING THE CHNA INFRASTRUCTURE AND PARTNERSHIPS

Data Collection

SECONDARY DATA

Description of Data Sources - Quantitative

Quantitative (secondary) data is collected from many resources including. but not
restricted to, the following:

Source Description

Behavioral Risk Factor | The BRFSS is the largest, continuously conducted telephone
Surveillance System health survey in the world. It enables the Center for Disease
Control and Prevention (CDC), state health departments,

and other health agencies to monitor modifiable risk factors
for chronic diseases and other leading causes of death.

SparkMap SparkMap is an online mapping and reporting platform
powered by the Center for Applied Research and Engagement
Systems (CARES) at the University of Missouri.

US Census National census data is collected by the US Census Bureau
every 10 years.

Centers for Through the CDC's National Vital Statistics System, states col-

Disease Control lect and disseminate vital statistics as part of the US's cldest

and most successful intergovernmentat public health data
sharing system,
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Source Description

County Health Each year, the overall health of each county in all 50 states

Rankings is assessed and ranked using the latest publicly available
data through a collaboration of the Robert Wood Johnson
Foundation and the University of Wisconsin Population Health
Institute.

American The American Community Survey (ACS), a product of the

Communities U.S. Census Bureau, helps local officials, community leaders,

Survey and businesses understand the changes taking place in their

communities. It is the premier source for detailed population
and housing information about our nation.

illinois Department of
Employment Safety

The lllincis Department of Employment Security is the state’s
employment agency. It collects and analyzes employment
information.

National Cancer
Institute

The National Cancer Institute coordinates the National Cancer
Program, which conducts and supports research, training,
health information dissemination, and other programs with
respect to the cause, diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of
cancer, rehabilitation from cancer, and the continuing care of
cancer patients, and the families of cancer patients.

Illinois Department
of Public Health

The lllinois Department of Public Health is the state
agency responsible for preventing and controlling disease
and injury, regulating medical practitioners, and promoting
sanitation,

HRSA

The Health Resources and Services Administration of the US
Department of Health and Human Services develops health
professional shortage criteria for the nation and uses that data
to determine the location of Health Professional Shortage
Areas and Medically Underserved Areas and Populations.

Local IPLANS

The Ilinois Project for Local Assessment of Needs (IPLAN) is
a community health assessment and planning process that
is conducted every five years by local health jurisdictions in
Illinois.

ESRI

ESRI (Environmental Systems Research Institute) is an
international supplier of Geographic Information System
(GIS) software, web GIS and geodatabase rmanagement
applications. ESRI allows for specialized inquiries at the
zZip code, or other defined, level.

Illincis State Board

The Illincis State Board of Education administers public

of Education education in the state of Illinois. Each year, it releases school
‘report cards” which analyze the makeup. needs,
and performance of local schools.

USDA USDA, among its many functions, collects and analyzes

information related to nutrition and local production and food
availability.
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Secondary data is initially collected through the SparkMap and/or ESRI systems
and then reviewed. Questions raised by the data reported from those sources are
compared with other federal, state and local data sources in order to resolve or
reconcile potential issues with reported data.

PRIMARY DATA

Two focus groups were convened at Graham Health System on January 13. 2022. The
first group included representation of healthcare providers, community leaders,
community services providers, scheols, faith-based organizations, local elected
officials, law enforcement, public health, and others, Several members of this
group provided services to underserved and unserved persons as all or part of
their roles.

In response to a request to identify positive developments in health and healthcare
in the service area of Graham Health System, the groups put forward the following:

Focus Group One - Healthcare Providers and Community Leaders

» Graham Health System has been doing a great job working with the
community for COVID vaccination

¢ Graham Health System has a new Surgery Department

¢ Graham Health System has established a scholarship program at
Spoon River College to provide for education and training for healthcare
employment in order to create a local resource for healthcare professionals

e Graham has expanded clinics and services to surrounding rural
communities

» Graham Health System has recruited young physicians and surgeons

e Graham Health System invests in the community and area economic
development in many ways

e Graham Health System has developed in-house wellness programs and
expanded access to those programs and resources to other workplaces
and the community

¢ Graham Health System has collaborated with local schools to address
COVID issues impacting the schools

Graham Health System | 21
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Graham Health System’s strength as a hospital provides confidence
to the community and serves as an economic development asset

Graham Health System has been aggressive in developing access to
local specialists and specialty services through building and expanding
partnerships and recruiting

Graham Health System offers a local shuttle for free access to medical
appointments and services at any healthcare facility across many counties

When asked to identify health needs in the community and the delivery of healthcare
and healthcare services, whether related to Graham Health System or not;

Explore collaborations or other approaches to provide nursing services in local
schools

Explore easier access to Graham Health System from the parking lot

Address community perception that the billing process at Graham Health
System leads to confusion and fear of inaccuracies

Review staff training in view of COVID, staff shortages, and new employee
numbers to be sure staff is knowledgeable about the buitding and department
locations and conscious of the need to be courteous and helpful to persons
seeking help or information

Review inside signage at Graham Health System, especially directional signage
Local access to a urologist

Explore ways to improve public communication and education about COVID
issues and other areas of public interest or concern about wellness and health
from Graham Health System and others

Improve communication between Graham Health System and ministers on
intake information about faith identification of incoming patients

Mental health

- More counselors

- Local services for treatment, recovery, and rehabilitation
- Long-term mental health services

Improved resources for persons in heed (for any reason) including food
and housing
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* Access to affordable housing, residential rental properties, and building lots
in Canton

» Explore ways to enhance relationships between Graham Health System
and senior citizens

* Graham Health System needs to continue its leadership role in local
economic and community development

 Explore re-establishing free clinics (vein clinics) when possible

The second group included medical professionals and partners including a
pharmacist, a community wellness organization, a senior services organization,

a care coordinator and others. The group reported the following recent positive
developments:

Focus Group Two - Medical Professionals and Partners

» Graham Health System is committed to. and acting on, community outreach
for healthcare and related services

* There are new providers at Graham Health System including specialists,
surgeons, and a family practitioner

» Technology. including telehealth and teleconference
» Pandemic funding has been helpful for senior service needs

s CCS has been able to help seniors understand and address Medicare
expenses

e There is a new health-oriented restaurant in Canton

¢ Collaboration among agencies and Graham Health System on addressing
community issues and service needs is very good

» The Champ program is helping to address diet issues for persons trying
to return to work

¢ Fulton County Health Department has collaborated well with schools
on issues related to teen pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections

+ Faith-based organization, social service agencies, Fulton County Health
Department, Graham Health System, and others collaborate to provide
monthly community resource days
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» Fulton County Health Department maintains an up-to-date services guide

» Graham Health System, Fulton County Health Department, community
agencies, and others collaborate monthly to share and update information
about events, services, and resource-sharing

The group then offered the following needs:

¢ Access to medication on evenings, nights, weekends, and holidays
and for homebound persons

e Services for persons recovering at home under the age of 65
* Access to COVID vaccines for homebound persons
* Mental health

- Counselors

- Access to inpatient treatment

- Transportation options for inpatient treatment

- Assistance for anxiety. depression, isolation for all ages but especially
assistance with anxiety for youth

¢ Local access to an endocrinologist
» Local cancer care rehabilitation

* Access to substance use disorder services beyond Graham Health System,
especially for homeless persons and registered sex offenders

= Therapy for COVID patients ready for discharge
 Explore ways to provide more monoclonat antibody treatments per day

« Explore ways to improve access to out-of-town ambulance transfers, urgent
and non-urgent

» Better access to affordable dental care
» Local access to dental specialists

¢ Access to COVID-related services for homebound persons and persons
in rural areas with limited access to travel

* Address an emerging resistance to heaith screenings

* Programming and services for youth and adults facing depression
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Age Group Disability

DATA ANALYSIS

DEMOGRAPHICS

Total Population by Age Group

Report Area Age 0-4 Age 5417 Ago18-24 Age 25-34 Age 35-44  Age 45-54 Age 55-64 Afo 65+
2022 Graham Hospital Servica Area 2,557 7,554 3,715 5,861 6,049 6,530 6,917 9,809
Fulton County, IL 1,665 5,297 2,687 4,251 4,454 4,659 5,034 7,045
Knox County, L 2,801 7.190 5,345 5,462 5,885 6,124 7,173 10,528
MeDonough County, IL 1,361 3,862 7,032 3,576 2,826 2,968 3,620 5,234
Mason County, IL 701 2,116 241 1,403 1,601 1,792 2,062 3,005
Peoria County, IL 12,687 30,798 16,385 25,226 22,076 22,006 23,523 30,069
Schuyler Counly, IL 290 1,014 454 730 870 1,021 1,046 1,528
Warren County, IL 1,003 2,753 2,183 1,733 2,077 1,945 2,266 3,186
Hiinois 767,193 2,124,333 1,192,806 1,770,290 1,644,531 1,672,220 1,656,724 1,942,534
Unitad States 19,767,670 53,661,722 30,646,327 45,030,415 40,978.831 42,072,620 41,756,414 50,783,796

Data Source: US Census Bureau. American Communily Survey. 2016-20. Source Geography: Tract
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Total Population by Age Groups, Graham Health System Service Area

® Age 0-4

u Age 5-17
E Age 18-24
= Age 25-34
® Age 35-44
B Age 45-54
® Age 55-64
B Age 65+

Total Population by Ethnicity

Report Araa
2022 Graham Hospital
Service Area
Fulten County, IL.
Knox Counly, IL
McDonough County, IL
Mason County, IL
Pagria County, IL
Schuyler County, IL
Warren 